
 

City Council Meeting – March 01, 2022   Page 1 of 6 

 

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

CITY HALL - COUNCIL BRIEFING ROOM AND CHAMBERS 

300 W. MAIN STREET 

TUESDAY, MARCH 01, 2022 AT 4:30 PM 

 

AGENDA 

The meeting will be held at City Hall, Council Briefing Room and Chambers, 300 W. Main St, Grand 

Prairie, Texas, and the Mayor or presiding member will be physically present. Council members may be 

participating remotely via video conference. 

CALL TO ORDER 

AGENDA REVIEW 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

The City Council may conduct a closed session pursuant to Chapter 551, Subchapter D of the Government 

Code, V.T.C.A., to discuss any of the following: 

(1)        Section 551.071 “Consultation with Attorney” - Short Term Rentals 

(2)        Section 551.072 “Deliberation Regarding Real Property” 

(3)        Section 551.074 “Personnel Matters” 

(4)        Section 551.087 “Deliberations Regarding Economic Development Negotiations.”  

City Council also reserves the right to discuss any agenda item in closed session when authorized by the 

above referenced provisions.  Any final action will be taken during open session. 

RECESS MEETING 

RECONVENE MEETING – 6:30 PM 

Invocation led by Pastor Randy Capote of South Park Baptist Church. 

Pledge of Allegiance to the US Flag and Texas Flag led by Council Member Lopez. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

The full agenda has been posted on the city's website, www.gptx.org, for those who may want to view this 

agenda in more detail. Citizens may speak for five minutes on any item on the agenda by completing and 

submitting a speaker card. 

1. Minutes of the February 15, 2022, City Council Meeting 

2. Assignment of Contract(s) for compound pharmaceuticals from Roadrunner Pharmacy to WA 

Butler Company dba Covetrus North America, LLC in the annual amount of $28,507.46 for 

one year, with the option to renew for one (1) additional one-year renewal, for a total of 

$57,014.92 if all extensions are executed. Authorize the City Manager to execute the renewal 

1



 

City Council Meeting – March 01, 2022   Page 2 of 6 

options with aggregate price fluctuations of the lesser of $50,000 or 25% of the original 

maximum price so long as sufficient funding is appropriated by the City Council to satisfy the 

City’s obligation during the renewal terms 

3. Purchase of Panasonic "Toughbook" rugged mobile laptops and docking stations for the Police 

Department from GTS Technology Solutions (GTS) in the amount of $145,347.02, through a 

cooperative agreement with the Department of Information Resources (DIR) 

4. Contract with Tyler Technologies for software support and maintenance in the amount of 

$9,766.00.  This agreement will be for one year with the option to renew for four (4) additional 

one-year periods totaling $53,959.00 if all extensions are exercised. Authorize the City Manager 

to execute the renewal options with aggregate price fluctuations of the lesser of up to $50,000 or 

25% of the original maximum price so long as sufficient funding is appropriated by the City 

Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during the renewal terms 

5. Parkview PID Contract with Site Landscape Development for landscape maintenance 

$35,460.02, beautification, $24,621.07, and irrigation system maintenance services, $3,500 for 

a one year term in the amount of $63,581.09 (Council District 1) 

6. Westchester PID Contract with Classic Construction and Restoration, Inc. for wall replacement 

for one year in the amount of $51,360 (Council Districts 2 and 6) 

7. Lake Parks PID Contract with Site Landscape Development for landscape maintenance 

$119,085.42, beautification, $85,000, and irrigation system maintenance services, $12,000 for a 

one year term in the amount of $216,085.42 (Council Districts 4 and 6) 

8. Authorize payment of $94,957.13 to McGriff Insurance Services, Inc. for renewal of the City’s 

Cyber Liability policy with Underwriters at Lloyd’s of London for the period of February 4, 

2022, through February 4, 2023. 

9. Appoint two (2) members and one (1) alternate member to the Joint Airport Zoning Board to 

amend the Height Hazard Map in accordance with update guidelines from the Federal Aviation 

Administration 

10. Participation Agreement with 1301 Parker Rd, LLC for Right of Way Improvements in the 

total amount of $131,014.75 

11. Final Reconciliation Change Order No. 3 with La Banda, LLC for Dickey Road Storm Drain 

Improvements West of S.W. 3rd Street in the net negative amount of $24,740.00 

12. Change Order/Amendment No. 1 with Excel 4 Construction in the net negative amount of 

($135,473.00) for pipe size revisions of sanitary sewer outfall reach north of Arkansas lane to 

Trinity River Authority (TRA) Cottonwood interceptors and a TRA fiber reinforced drop 

manhole on Skyway and Small Street Sewer Improvements 

13. Price agreement for Guard Rail Removal and Installation with Vann Elli, Inc., at an estimated 

annual cost of $290,100. This agreement will be for one year with the option to renew for four 

additional one-year periods totaling $1,450,500 if all extensions are exercised. Also authorize 

2



 

City Council Meeting – March 01, 2022   Page 3 of 6 

the City Manager to execute the renewal options with aggregate price fluctuations of the lesser 

of up to $50,000 or 25% of the original maximum price so long as sufficient funding is 

appropriated by the City Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during the renewal term(s) 

14. Price agreement for Traffic Signals/Fiber Optic Ground Boxes with Techline, Inc., at an 

estimated annual cost of $76,235. This agreement will be for one year with the option to renew 

for four additional one- year periods totaling $381,175 if all extensions are exercised. Also 

authorize the City Manager to execute the renewal options with aggregate price fluctuations of 

the lesser of up to $50,000 or 25% of the original maximum price so long as sufficient funding 

is appropriated by the City Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during the renewal term(s) 

15. Price agreement renewal #1 for Concrete Paving with Santos Construction, Inc. in an annual 

amount not to exceed $11,835,345.20, with a secondary, New Star Grading & Paving, Inc., not 

to exceed an amount of $16,010,955.30, and a tertiary, McMahon Contracting, L.P., not to 

exceed $12,295,231.42, if all extensions are exercised. Also authorize the City Manager to 

execute the renewal options with aggregate price fluctuations of the lesser of up to $50,000 or 

25% of the original maximum price so long as sufficient funding is appropriated by the City 

Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during the renewal term(s) 

16. Purchase and replacement for the Audio/Visual Setup and related components for The Summit 

ballrooms from Infinity Sound Ltd. In the amount of $64,587 through a BuyBoard contract 

17. Price agreement for HVAC services including testing air balance, equipment, installations, and 

repairs from Trane, Inc. through an interlocal agreement with Omnia Partners at an estimated 

cost of $750,000.00 for one year, and authorize the City Manager to execute any change orders 

with aggregate price fluctuations of up to $50,000.00 or 25% so long as sufficient funding is 

appropriated by the City Council to satisfy the city’s obligation during the renewal terms 

18. Price agreement for plumbing services from The Brandt Companies, LLC through an interlocal 

agreement with BuyBoard at an estimated cost of $100,000.00. This agreement will be for one 

year with the option to renew for one additional one-year period totaling $200,000.00 if all 

extensions are exercised. Authorize the City Manager to execute the renewal options with 

aggregate price fluctuations of up to $50,000.00 or 25% so long as sufficient funding is 

appropriated by the City Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during the renewal terms 

19. Price agreement for general contracting services from Thatch Engineering through a national 

cooperative agreement with TIPS at an estimated annual cost of $750,000.00. This agreement 

will be for one year with the option to renew for four additional one-year periods totaling 

$3,750,000.00 if all extensions are exercised. Authorize the City Manager to execute the 

renewal options with aggregate price fluctuations of up to $50,000.00 or 25% so long as 

sufficient funding is appropriated by the City Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during the 

renewal terms 

20. Lease Extension between the Grand Prairie Local Government Corporation and Calvary Baptist 

Church of Grand Prairie located at 401 W Church St, Grand Prairie, TX 75050 until December 

31, 2022 

3



 

City Council Meeting – March 01, 2022   Page 4 of 6 

PLANNING AND ZONING ITEMS TO BE TABLED 

21. SUP-22-09-0027 - Specific Use Permit/Site Plan - Restaurant with Drive-Through at 2380 W 

Camp Wisdom Road (City Council District 6). Specific Use Permit/Site Plan for a Restaurant 

with a Drive-Through on 1.28 acres. Lot 6, Block 1, Victory at Lakeridge Addition, City of 

Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas, zoned PD-283, within the Lake Ridge Corridor Overlay 

District, and addressed as 2380 W Camp Wisdom Road (On February 14, 2022, the Planning 

and Zoning Commission tabled this item to February 28, 2022) 

PLANNING AND ZONING FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION 

22. STP-21-11-0022 - Site Plan - Parkside on Carrier (City Council District 3). Site Plan for a 38-

unit age restricted multi-family development on 2.85 acres. Tract 60, Charles Gibbs Survey, 

Abstract No. 534, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, zoned General Retail and 

Multi-Family Two Districts, and addressed as 1217 S Carrier Parkway (On February 14, 2022, 

the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0) 

23. STP-21-12-0025 - Site Plan - International Leadership Texas High School (City Council 

District 4). Site Plan for a High School Campus with an 88,655 sq. ft., two-story building, 

athletic fields, and 12 temporary modular buildings on 27.82 acres. Lot 1, Block 1, IL Texas 

GP Addition and Lot 3, Block A, Sunbelt Addition, City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, 

Texas, zoned Agricultural and PD-319 and located within the SH-360 Corridor Overlay 

District, addressed as 2851 Ragland Rd (On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning 

Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0 with the condition that the building 

elevations meet Appendix F requirements) 

24. STP-22-01-0027 - Site Plan - Retail F at Epic East Towne Crossing (City Council District 2). 

Site Plan for a 12,000 sq. ft. building for retail and restaurant uses on 1.960 acres. Lot 11, 

Block A, Epic East Towne Crossing Phase II, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, 

zoned PD-364, within the SH 161 Corridor Overlay District, and addressed as 3142 S HWY 

161 (On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a 

vote of 7-0) 

25. STP-22-01-0026 - Site Plan - Centerline Supply (City Council District 1). Site Plan for an 

18,000 sq. ft. addition to an existing manufacturing building on 1.98 acres. Lots 1R and 5-10, 

Block C, Bell Crest Addition, City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas, zoned Planned 

Development-416 (PD-416) District, and addressed as 509 Jesse Street (On February 14, 2022, 

the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0)    

PUBLIC HEARING ZONING APPLICATIONS 

26. CPA-21-12-0002 - Comprehensive Plan Amendment - Villas at Bardin (City Council District 

4). Amendment to the Future Land Use Map to change the designation from Low Density 

Residential to Medium Density Residential. A portion of Block 4, Sheffield Village Addition, 

Phase IV, City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas, zoned PD-140B with an approximate 

address of 2801 W Bardin Rd (On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission 

recommended approval by a vote 7-0) 

4



 

City Council Meeting – March 01, 2022   Page 5 of 6 

27. ZON-21-11-0015 - Zoning Change/Concept Plan - Villas at Bardin (City Council District 4). 

Zoning Change from PD-140B for Single Family Detached Use to a Planned Development 

District for Townhome Use and a Concept Plan for a townhome development with 87 units on 

10 acres. A portion of Block 4, Sheffield Village Addition, Phase IV, City of Grand Prairie, 

Tarrant County, Texas zoned Planned Development (PD 140B) with Single-Family detached 

uses located in the southeast corner of Bardin Rd. and Magna Carta Blvd. with an approximate 

address of 2801 W Bardin Rd The (On February 14, 2022, The Planning and Zoning 

Commission recommended approval by a vote of 5-2)  

28. SUP-21-12-0024 – Specific Use Permit/Site Plan – Gateway Multi-Family (City Council 

District 5) Specific Use Permit/Site Plan for a multi-family development with 310 units on 5.72 

acres. Tracts 8, 8.1, 8.2, and 8.3 of Michael Farrans Survey, Abstract No. 469, City of Grand 

Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, zoned PD-217 with multi-family uses, within the Belt Line 

Corridor Overlay District, and generally located at the southwest corner of I-30 and the future 

extension of Stadium Dr. with an approximate address of 1175 Stadium Dr (On February 14, 

2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0) 

29. SUP-21-12-0023 - Specific Use Permit/Site Plan - Star Shell Convenience Store w/gas pumps, 

Restaurant with a Drive-Through and a Carwash. (City Council District 5). Specific Use Permit 

for a Carwash and a Restaurant with a Drive-Through and a Site Plan Amendment to expand 

the existing carwash tunnel, construct a 475 sq. ft. addition to the existing Convenience 

Store/Restaurant building, and add a drive-through lane for the restaurant. Lot 3, Block 1, Lone 

Star Plaza Addition, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, zoned PD-217 and PD-217A, 

located within the Belt Line Corridor Overlay District, and addressed as 925 N Belt Line Rd 

(On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval with 

staff conditions by a vote of 7-0) 

30. TAM-22-01-0001 - Text Amendment - Article 8: Landscape and Screening Standards. An 

Ordinance of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas, amending Article 8: Landscape and Screening 

Standards of the Unified Development Code to create an administrative exception process for 

alternative fence materials in residential zoning districts; Repealing all Ordinances or parts of 

Ordinances in conflict herewith; Containing a savings clause and a severability clause; and to 

become effective upon its passage and approval (On February 14, 2022, the Planning and 

Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0) 

ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 

Citizens may speak during Citizen Comments for up to five minutes on any item not on the agenda by 

completing and submitting a speaker card. 

ADJOURNMENT 

  

5



 

City Council Meeting – March 01, 2022   Page 6 of 6 

Certification 

In accordance with Chapter 551, Subchapter C of the Government Code, V.T.C.A, the City Council 

meeting agenda was prepared and posted February 25, 2022. 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Mona Lisa Galicia, City Secretary 

The Grand Prairie City Hall is accessible to people with disabilities. If you need assistance in 

participating in this meeting due to a disability as defined under the ADA, please call 972-237-8035 or 

email GPCitySecretary@gptx.org at least three (3) business days prior to the scheduled meeting to 

request an accommodation. 

6



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Gloria Colvin 

PRESENTER: Gloria Colvin, Deputy City Secretary 

TITLE: Minutes of the February 15, 2022, City Council Meeting 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7

Item 1.



City Council Meeting – February 15, 2022   Page 1 of 8 

 

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

CITY HALL - COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 300 W. MAIN STREET 
TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 15, 2022 AT 4:30 PM 

 

MINUTES 

CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor Jensen called the meeting to order at 4:30 p.m. 
 
 PRESENT 
 Mayor Ron Jensen 
 Mayor Pro Tem Mike Del Bosque 
 Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Cole Humphreys 
 Council Member District 1 Jorja Clemson 
 Council Member at Large Place 7 Jeff Copeland 
 Council Member at Large Place 8 Junior Ezeonu 
 Council Member District 6 Kurt Johnson 
 Council Member District 2 Dennis King 
 Council Member District 4 John Lopez 

STAFF PRESENTATIONS 

1. Major League Cricket/American Cricket Enterprises/USA Cricket and Grand Prairie Stadium 

 Presented 

2. EpicCentral Construction Update 

 Presented 

AGENDA REVIEW 

Mayor Pro Tem Del Bosque asked if there were any question on Consent Agenda items one through 
nineteen.  Council Member Copeland advised the Finance and Government Committee reviewed items 
ten, thirteen, fourteen through sixteen and recommend their approval.  Mayor Pro Tem Del Bosque 
advised the City Council Development Committee reviewed items twenty-three, twenty-four and twenty- 
five on Items for Individual Consideration and recommended the items be brought forth to City Council 
for consideration.  Council Member Copeland asked for a briefing of these items.  City Attorney Mahan 
mentioned these agenda items were presented to the City Council Development Committee and City 
Council on the same day for consideration due to the application deadline of March 1, 2022.  Mayor 
Jensen asked how the City Council Development Committee voted on these agenda items.  Mayor Pro 
Tem Del Bosque said the vote for agenda item twenty-three was two to one; agenda item twenty-four 
was two to one; and agenda item twenty-five was three to zero.  Council Member Copeland inquired the 
current zoning of these locations.  Mayor Jensen advised the zoning for agenda item twenty-three is 
multi family and agenda items twenty-four and twenty-five are not zoned.  Mayor Jensen mentioned he 
has an issue with agenda items twenty-four and twenty-five since they are not zoned.  Council Member 

8

Item 1.



City Council Meeting – February 15, 2022   Page 2 of 8 

Copeland asked for further presentation at City Council meeting.  Council Member Lopez said agenda 
item number seven is in Council District Two and agenda item eight is in Council District Four. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

Mayor Jensen called a closed session at 5:51 p.m. pursuant to Chapter 551, Subchapter D of the 
Government Code, V.T.C.A., to discuss Section 551.071 “Consultation with Attorney”, Section 551.072 
“Deliberation Regarding Real Property” and Section 551.087 “Deliberations Regarding Economic 
Development Negotiations.” 

RECESS MEETING 

Mayor Jensen adjourned the closed door session, opened the regular meeting and called a recess at 
6:33 p.m. 

RECONVENE MEETING – 6:40 PM 

Invocation led by Council Member Jorja Clemson. 

Pledge of Allegiance to the US Flag and Texas Flag led by Council Member Ezeonu. 

PRESENTATIONS 

3. Proclamation Acknowledging National School Counseling Week 

 Mayor Jensen presented the proclamation to the Counselors of GPISD and thanked them for 
all their hard work and guidance given to the students. 

 Presented 

4. Proclamation for Career and Technical Education (CTE) Month presented to Aniska Douglas, 
Executive Director of Grand Prairie Independent School District CTE 

 Mayor Jensen presented the proclamation to Aniska Douglas, Executive Director of GPISD 
CTE and thanked them for their efforts in providing the CTE programs to the GPISD students. 

 Presented 

5. Big Event Briefing 

 Sara Dedeluk presented a briefing on the Big Event to take place on March 26, 2022.  Council 
Member Clemson noted the City of Grand Prairie was the first municipality to hold an official 
Big Event. 

 Presented 

 

   

9

Item 1.



City Council Meeting – February 15, 2022   Page 3 of 8 

CONSENT AGENDA 

Mayor Pro Tem Del Bosque moved, seconded by Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Humphreys, to approve items 
six through nineteen noting the correction of agenda item number seven is in Council District Two and 
agenda item eight is in Council District Four.  The motion carried unanimously, 9-0. 

6. Minutes of the February 1, 2022, City Council Meeting and Amended Minutes of the January 
4, 2022, City Council meeting 

 Approved On Consent 

7. Forum Estates PID Contract with LandWorks for landscape maintenance $101,647, 
beautification, $50,000, and irrigation system maintenance services, $11,000 for a one year 
term in the amount of $162,647 (Council District 4) 

 Approved On Consent 

8. Oak Hollow/Sheffield Village PID Contract with SPSD for landscape maintenance $88,192.36, 
beautification, $20,000, and irrigation system maintenance services, $25,000 for a one year 
term in the amount of $133,192.36 (Council Districts 4 and 6) 

 Approved On Consent 

9. Change Order/Amendment No. 4 in the net negative amount of ($25,739.75) with Excel 
Trenching for 30”/36” Robinson Road Waterline 

 Approved On Consent 

10. Change Order/Amendment No. 4 with Hill & Wilkinson General Contractors in the amount of 
$116,915.86 for final project closeout change orders regarding Phase 3 Construction of the City 
Hall Municipal Campus 

 Approved On Consent 

11. Professional Services Contract with Halff Associates, Inc. for design and construction plan 
preparation for Wallingford PID Retaining Wall Improvements in the amount of $70,600 plus a 
5% contingency of $3,530 for a total amount of $74,130 

 Approved On Consent 

12. Price agreement renewal #1 for handicap ramp repairs, residential and school sidewalk repairs 
with New Star Grading, in an amount not to exceed $2,076,960, with a secondary, Axis 
Contracting, not to exceed an annual amount of $2,049,400, and a tertiary with Parking Lot 
Pros, not to exceed an annual amount of $2,125,680, if all extensions are exercised. Also 
authorize the City Manager to execute the renewal options with aggregate price fluctuations of 
the lesser of up to $50,000 or 25% of the original maximum price so long as sufficient funding 
is appropriated by the City Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during the renewal term(s) 

 Approved On Consent 

10

Item 1.



City Council Meeting – February 15, 2022   Page 4 of 8 

 
13. Professional services contract with Dunaway Associates, L.L.C. in the amount of $172,400 and 

approve a 5% contingency of $8,620, total cost of $181,020 for Phase I Construction 
Documentation and Construction Administration services for Turner Park. This item was 
presented to the Finance and Government Committee on February 1, 2022, and received a 
recommendation for approval by City Council 

 Approved On Consent 

14.   Ordinance amending the FY 2021/2022 Capital Improvements Projects Budget; Professional 
Engineering Contract with Freese & Nichols, Inc. in the amount of $720,000, plus a 5% 
contingency of $36,000 for a total of $756,000 for a Water Master Plan update and 
Water/Wastewater Impact Fee update  

  Adopted 

  ORD 11160-2022 

15.   Ordinance amending the FY 2021/2022 Capital Improvement Projects Budget; and a Professional 
Engineering Contract with Gresham Smith for Wastewater Master Plan Update in the amount of 
$1,421,004 plus 5% of contingency of $71,050 for a total of $1,492,054 

  Adopted 

  ORD 11161-2022 

16. Ordinance amending the FY2021/2022 Capital Improvement Projects Budget; Change Order 
No. 1 to the Design/Building Contract with Outside the Lines (OTL) in the amount of $250,000 
for material escalation costs associated with the interactive water, light, and video projection 
entertainment attraction for EpicCentral 

 
 Adopted 
  
 ORD 11162-2022 
 
17. Ordinance authorizing the execution of a Quitclaim Deed to the abutting property owner, ASD-CEI 

January Lane MM, LLC, of previously abandoned Old Duncan Perry right of way 

 Adopted 

 ORD 11163-2022 

18. Resolution authorizing 380 Agreement with Brookfield Properties and expenditure of up to 
$1,884,733 in property tax rebates for infrastructure improvements to develop 2003 MacArthur 
Boulevard (on January 18, 2022, Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone #1 voted unanimously to 
approve the request) 

 Adopted 

 RES 5255-2022 
 

11

Item 1.



City Council Meeting – February 15, 2022   Page 5 of 8 

19. Resolution Designating A Portion of EpicCentral As A “Public Entertainment Zone” 

 Adopted 

 RES 5256-2022 

PLANNING AND ZONING FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION 

20. STP-21-11-0024 - Site Plan – Retail Center (City Council District 2). Site Plan for a 10,150 Sq. 
Ft. retail building on 1.123 acres. Lot 2, Block A, 161 Toll Road Retail Corners Addition, City 
of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, Zoned PD-294, within the SH 161 Corridor Overlay 
District, with an approximate address of 3510 Highway 161 (On January 24, 2021, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0) 

 Chief City Planner Savannah Ware presented this item noting the applicant intends to 
construct a retail center that will include an optometrist’s office.  Ms. Ware mentioned the 
structure is south of Ikea and will be a multiple tenant business.  Applicant Gina Mclean, 721 
S. 5th Avenue, Mansfield, TX mentioned the structure will look like the drawing presented.  
Council Member King moved, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Del Bosque, to approve this item.  
The motion carried unanimously.  

 Approved 

21. STP-21-11-0013 - Site Plan - Prologis Warehouse on 161 (City Council District 5). Site Plan 
for a 144,488 sq. ft. industrial warehouse on one lot on 9.28 acres. Lot 1, Block A, Prologis 
January Lane Addition, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, Zoned PD-406 District, 
within the SH-161 Corridor Overlay District, and addressed as 1101 N. SH 161 (On December 
13, 2021, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 5-2) 

  Chief City Planner Savannah Ware presented this item noting City Council previously tabled 
this item to give the developer time to revise the site plan and move the truck dock doors from 
the north side of the building to the south.  Ms. Ware mentioned that on February 9, 2022 the 
applicant submitted revised plans depicting the truck dock doors on the south side of the 
building.  Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Humphreys moved, seconded by Council Member Ezeonu, to 
approve this item.  The motion carried unanimously.  Mayor Jensen thanked the application for 
their efforts in revising the site plan as requested. 

  Approved 

PUBLIC HEARING ZONING APPLICATIONS 

22. SUP-21-10-0016 - Specific Use Permit for Hookah Lounge – 906 W Pioneer Pkwy, Ste 250 
(City Council District 2). Specific Use Permit for Amusement Services to allow a hookah 
lounge. Lot 2, Block 1, Gibson Addition, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, Zoned 
PD-394 with General Retail (GR) uses, within the SH-161 Corridor Overlay District, and 
addressed as 906 W Pioneer Pkwy, Ste 250 (On December 13, 2021, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommended denial by a vote of 7-0) 

12

Item 1.



City Council Meeting – February 15, 2022   Page 6 of 8 

 Mayor Jensen mentioned council has received a full briefing and presentation on this item.  
Former Council Member Tony Shotwell, 309 NE 31st Street, Grand Prairie, TX representing 
the applicant.  Mr. Shotwell mentioned a new operational plan has been established and is 
present to answer any questions in this regard.  Mr. Shotwell said the applicant is selling the 
other location that has had issues.  Council Member King understands the revised operational 
plan and inquires on the sale of drinks. City Manager Steve Dye mentioned in a smoking 
facility you cannot prepare food or sell drinks due to a contamination issue.  Mr. Shotwell said 
alcohol will not be sold or consumed on property.  Council Member Johnson said can’t sell the 
sodas, and you can’t bring alcohol and doesn’t understand the concern.  Council Member 
Johnson inquired if staff would check identification and bags.  Mayor Jensen mentioned the 
concern is underage smoking.  Council Member Ezeonu mentioned the importance of using a 
wristband or a mark on the hand to identify the patrons that can and cannot smoke.  Council 
Member King asked if security would be present from sunset until an hour after closing.  Mr. 
Shotwell stated if necessary but did not see a need as no alcohol would be sold.  Council 
Members Lopez and Ezeonu recommended staff to monitor the parking lot an hour after 
closing.  Council Member Copeland noted that a security requirement at this time is an 
unreasonable burden and can be added if needed at the time of SUP renewal.  Council Member 
King inquired if there would be onsite gambling.  City Attorney Megan Mahan mentioned eight 
liners can be operated.  Mr. Shotwell stated there would be no gambling on site.  Council 
Member Lopez inquired on staff training.  Mr. Shotwell noted the operator takes full 
responsibility in training all personnel.  Council Member Copeland mentioned he would have 
zero leniency at the time of SUP review if there were any issues at this establishment.  Mayor 
Pro Tem Del Bosque noted that this is a smoking lounge with no alcohol.  Mayor Jensen 
mentioned we are being tough because of the history with the applicant and not the business 
and did not want to have any problems at this location.  Council Member King moved, 
seconded by Council Member Johnson, to close the public hearing and approve this item 
authorizing the Amusement Use of Hookah Lounge at 906 W. Pioneer Pkwy, Ste 250 with all 
the conditions we discussed which includes prohibiting alcohol, eight liners, and food service 
on site; checking id’s at the door and providing wristbands for those over 21; operating only 
between 10am and 12 midnight; employee are going to follow the law; and the SUP will be 
reviewed in 6 months.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 Adopted 

 ORD 11164-2022 

ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION 

23. Resolution of Support or Resolution of No Objection for a Senior Living Tax Credit Housing 
Development at 1410 Duncan Perry Road (City Council Development Committee reviewed on 
02/15/2022) 

 Mayor Jensen mentioned two speakers are present for this item.  Deputy Mayor Pro Tem 
Humphreys mentioned he needs an explanation on this item before consideration.  Director of 
Planning & Development Rashad Jackson advised city staff received an inquiry from 
Saigebrook Development and O-SDA Industries to approve a resolution of support for a Senior 
Tax Credit Housing Development called Lapiz Flats, a proposed 69-unit mixed income 

13

Item 1.



City Council Meeting – February 15, 2022   Page 7 of 8 

community serving seniors at least 55 and older.  Deputy Mayor Tem Humphreys mentioned he 
cannot support this item as he is in favor of the rehab tax credit in his district that would allow 
for affordable housing and rehab.  Housing and Neighborhood Services Director Esther 
Coleman noted this project does meet the tax credit policy criteria.  Ms. Coleman also 
mentioned the developer has good background, experience and has senior property project in 
Ft. Worth.  Applicant Rodney Anderson, 548 Edgeview Drive, Grand Prairie, TX informed 
council he would not bring a project that would have a variance.  Mr. Anderson noted he 
would appreciate council support for the letter of support.  Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Humphreys 
asked for support of operation rehab.  Mayor Pro Tem Del Bosque mentioned this item was 
presented to the City Council Development Committee at their meeting today.  Mayor Pro Tem 
Del Bosque moved, seconded by Council Member Lopez to approve the Resolution of Support.  
The motion carried with a vote of 8-1; Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Humphreys voted nay. 

 Adopted 

 RES 5257-22022 

24. Resolution of Support or Resolution of No Objection for a Senior Living Tax Credit Housing 
Development at 2904 S Carrier Pkwy (City Council Development Committee reviewed on 
02/15/2022) 

  
Director of Planning and Development Rashad Jackson mentioned city staff received an 
inquiry from Blue Sky Communities to approve a resolution of support for a senior living tax 
credit development called South Carrier Estates. South Carrier Estates would be a mixed 
income community with approximately 114 apartment units. A 3-story complex would be 
developed on the 4.17-acre site. Project details are attached. The property is currently zoned 
PD-168 for Commercial/Office uses. The future land use map calls for the property to develop 
as Commercial/Retail/Office.  Housing and Neighborhood Services Director Esther Coleman 
mentioned the developer is Blue Sky and all their projects are out of state.  Mayor Pro Tem Del 
Bosque moved, and Mayor Jensen acknowledge the motion failed due to no second. 

 Denied 

25. Resolution of Support or Resolution of No Objection for an Affordable Housing Development 
at 3200 Corn Valley (City Council Development Committee reviewed on 02/15/2022) 

  
Housing and Neighborhood Services Director Esther Coleman mention this does not meet the 
criteria.  Mayor Jensen noted it would also require a zoning change.  Mayor Pro Tem Del Bosque 
moved, seconded by Council Member Lopez, and Mayor Jensen acknowledge the motion fails 8-1; 
Mayor Jensen, Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Humphreys, Council Members Clemson, King, Ezeonu, 
Johnson, Copeland and Lopez voted may. 

 Denied 

 

 

 

14

Item 1.



City Council Meeting – February 15, 2022   Page 8 of 8 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 

David Nuckols, 8560 Sweetwater Drive, Dallas, TX spoke to voice his concern and disagreement with 
the Grand Prairie Police Department. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Jensen adjourned the meeting at 7:57 p.m. 

The foregoing minutes were approved at       City Council meeting. 

 
_______________________________ 
Gloria Colvin, Deputy City Secretary 

15

Item 1.



Page 1 of 2 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Anda Upchurch 

PRESENTER: Angi Mize, Purchasing Manager 

TITLE: Assignment of Contract(s) for compound pharmaceuticals from 

Roadrunner Pharmacy to WA Butler Company dba Covetrus North 

America, LLC in the annual amount of $28,507.46 for one year, with 

the option to renew for one (1) additional one-year renewal, for a total 

of $57,014.92 if all extensions are executed. Authorize the City 

Manager to execute the renewal options with aggregate price 

fluctuations of the lesser of $50,000 or 25% of the original maximum 

price so long as sufficient funding is appropriated by the City Council 

to satisfy the City’s obligation during the renewal terms 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

The purchase of compound pharmaceutical vet drugs for the animal shelter and spay/neuter clinic is to 

prevent disease and the spread of disease in the shelter.  All animals sheltered are vaccinated upon 

entering the facility. The spay/neuter clinic opened in July 2014 and since then all animals being 

adopted from Prairie Paws are sterilized and have a rabies vaccination.  The price agreement with 

Roadrunner Pharmacy will be utilized to purchase supplies needed for spay/neuter clinic operations, 

shelter vaccinations and ongoing expendable supplies. 

On June 5, 2018 City Council approved a price agreement for compound pharmaceutical vet drugs for 

the animal shelter and spay/neuter clinic from Roadrunner Pharmacy in the amount of $35,867.46 

annually for one year with the option to renew for four additional one-year periods totaling $179,337.30 

if all extensions are exercised. 

On June 28, 2018 City staff executed a change order to remove the liquid form of one medication and 

replace it with tablets. This change resulted in an overall decrease of $7,360.00 to the estimated annual 

amount, for a revised annual contract amount of $28,507.46. 

Since 2018, the price agreement has been renewed three times, with the current term expiring May 31, 

2022. 

On February 3, 2022, the City received notice that Roadrunner Pharmacy had been acquired by WA 

Butler Company dba Covetrus North America. If approved, an assignment of contract will be executed 

for WA Butler Company dba Covetrus North America to assume the contract at the same pricing, terms, 

and conditions, and any future renewals will be to WA Butler Company dba Covetrus North America.  

16

Item 2.



Page 2 of 2 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funding is available in FY 2021/2022 General Fund budget, Animal Services (283410) for veterinarian 

supplies (60235) and will be charged accordingly. Funding for future fiscal years will be paid from that 

year’s approved budget. 

17

Item 2.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Ryan Simpson 

PRESENTER: Ryan Simpson, Assistant Director of Police 

TITLE: Purchase of Panasonic "Toughbook" rugged mobile laptops and 

docking stations for the Police Department from GTS Technology 

Solutions (GTS) in the amount of $145,347.02, through a cooperative 

agreement with the Department of Information Resources (DIR) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

The Police Department is seeking to purchase twenty-six (26) rugged mobile laptops and docking 

stations, for installation in budgeted new and replacement Police vehicles.   

Chapter 271.102 of the Local Government Code authorizes local governments to participate in a 

cooperative purchasing program with another local government or local cooperative organization. In lieu 

of competitive bidding, items and services may be purchased through such agreements as the 

agreements have already been bid by the sponsoring entity or agency.  The City of Grand Prairie has 

master inter-local cooperative agreements with various entities including DIR. 

DIR provides statewide leadership and oversight for management of government information and 

communications technology. DIR has served in a leadership role to facilitate the state’s economic 

competitiveness through its ability to deliver quality information resources commodities and services at 

the lowest prices and best value for state and local government as well as the K-12 public and higher 

education systems 

GTS Technology Solutions through their DIR contract as an authorized reseller offers the Panasonic 

products the City requires. 

The contract, DIR-TSO-4025, will expire 11/10/2022. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funding for the purchase is available in the Police Department’s FY 2022 Equipment Acquisition Fund 

budget (287010), in the amount of $83,854.05; and General Fund budget (283210), in the amount of 

$61,492.97. 

18

Item 3.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Cindy Mendez 

PRESENTER: Cindy Mendez, Director of Public Health & Environmental Quality 

TITLE: Contract with Tyler Technologies for software support and maintenance 

in the amount of $9,766.00.  This agreement will be for one year with the 

option to renew for four (4) additional one-year periods totaling 

$53,959.00 if all extensions are exercised. Authorize the City Manager 

to execute the renewal options with aggregate price fluctuations of the 

lesser of up to $50,000 or 25% of the original maximum price so long as 

sufficient funding is appropriated by the City Council to satisfy the City’s 

obligation during the renewal terms 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

 
Public Health and Environmental Quality Divisions utilize Tyler Technologies software, The Digital 

Health Department, to track all health inspections, environmental inspections, complaints, and for 

reporting activities.  Tyler Technologies has been our software provider since 2007.  The software module 

and maintenance are considered a sole source.  

 

Local government code 252 provides an exemption from the competitive bid process when an item or 

service is available from only one source, of which Tyler Technologies is the sole vendor in providing 

this module and annual software support and maintenance services.  

 

Year                  Estimated Annual Cost   Estimated Cumulative Cost 
Year 1 – Maintenance   $9,766                           $9,766 

Year 2 - Maintenance   $10,254    $20,020 

Year 3 - Maintenance   $10,766    $30,786 

Year 4 - Maintenance   $11,304    $42,090 

Year 5 – Maintenance   $11,869    $53,959 

 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funding is available in the Annual IT Maintenance Fund 151010-63165.  Funding for future fiscal years 

will be paid from that year’s approved budgets. 

19

Item 4.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 3/1/2022 

REQUESTER: Lee Harriss 

PRESENTER: Lee Harriss, Special District Administrator 

TITLE: Parkview PID Contract with Site Landscape Development for 

landscape maintenance $35,460.02, beautification, $24,621.07, and 

irrigation system maintenance services, $3,500 for a one year term in 

the amount of $63,581.09 (Council District 1) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

The PID Board recommended that Site Landscape Development be awarded a contract in the amount of 

$63,581.09 for landscape maintenance $35,460.02, beautification, $24,621.07, and irrigation system 

maintenance services, $3,500. The term extends from March 1, 2022 through February 28, 2023.  Site 

Landscape Development had the contract last year and performed satisfactorily.   

Texas Local Government Code, Chapter 252.022 (a) (9) exempts public improvement districts from 

competitive bidding requirements. Per that statute, the PID Advisory Board is empowered to enter into 

contracts such as the one with Site Landscape Development, Inc. following approval by the City 

Council. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funds for this contract are available from annual assessments adopted by the City Council on September 

21, 2021, which are estimated to generate $89,647 for the fiscal year.                                                                                  

 

20

Item 5.



Exhibit A

GRAND PRAIRIE PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO. 12

Parkview
Five Year Service Plan 2022 - 2026

Income based on Assessment Rate of $0.215 per $100 of appraised value.

Service Plan projects a 1% increase in assessed value per year.

INCOME: Value Assess Rate Revenue

Appraised Value $41,696,374 0.215$          89,647$       

Description Account 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Beginning Balance (Estimated) 118,000$       113,265$      115,276$     116,985$    118,341$     

P.I.D. Assessment 42620 89,647$         90,544$        91,449$       92,364$      93,287$       

Developer Participation/Projects 46110 8,500             8,500            8,500           8,500          8,500           

City Contribution 49780 415                415               415              415             415              

TOTAL INCOME 98,562$         99,459$        100,364$     101,279$    102,202$     

Amount Available 216,562$       212,723$      215,640$     218,264$    220,543$     

 

EXPENSES:

Description 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Office Supplies 60020 100$              100$             100$            100$           100$            

Beautification 60490 6,000             6,000            6,000           6,000          6,000           

Wall Maintenance 60776 25,000           18,000          18,000         18,000        18,000         

Mowing Contractor 61225 35,460           35,460          35,460         35,460        35,460         

Collection Service ($2.90/acct) 61380 653                653               653              653             653              

Misc. 61485 225                225               225              225             225              

Admin./Management 61510 7,140             7,140            7,140           7,140          7,140           

Postage 61520 120                120               120              120             120              

Electric Power 62030 2,000             2,100            2,205           2,315          2,431           

Water Utility 62035 21,000           22,050          23,153         24,310        25,526         

Irrigation System Maint. 63065 3,500             3,500            3,500           3,500          3,500           

Decorative Lighting Maintenance 63146 1,500             1,500            1,500           1,500          1,500           

Property Insurance Premium 64080 400                400               400              400             400              

Liability Insurance Premium 64090 200                200               200              200             200              

Other Improvement 68020 -                 -               -               -              -               

-                 -               -               -              -               

TOTAL EXPENSES 103,298$       97,448$        98,655$       99,923$      101,254$     

Ending Balance* 113,265$       115,276$      116,985$     118,341$    119,289$     

Avg. Annual Assessment by Home Value:

Value         Yrly Assmnt.

$150,000 $323

$175,000 $376 Avg. Property Value: 185,317$     

$200,000 $430 Avg. Property Assessment: 398$            

$225,000 $484 No. of Properties: 225              

$250,000 $538

$275,000 $591

$300,000 $645

$325,000 $699

*Future wall replacement

C:\Users\lharriss\Documents\PID Parkview 3222\2022\Exhibit A-Budget 5yr service plan-FY22-PV.xlsm PV

21

Item 5.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Lee Harriss 

PRESENTER: Lee Harriss, Special District Administrator 

TITLE: Westchester PID Contract with Classic Construction and Restoration, 

Inc. for wall replacement for one year in the amount of $51,360 

(Council Districts 2 and 6) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

The PID Board recommended that Classic Construction and Restoration, Inc. be awarded a contract for 

tree services. The term extends from January 15, 2022 through January 31, 2023.   

Texas Local Government Code, Chapter 252.022 (a) (9) exempts public improvement districts from 

competitive bidding requirements. Per that statute, the PID Advisory Board is empowered to enter into 

contracts such as the ones with Arbor Masters Tree Service following approval by the City Council. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funds for this contract are available from annual assessments adopted by the City Council on September 

21, 2021, which are estimated to generate $1,088,222 for the fiscal year.                                                                                  

 

22

Item 6.



Exhibit A

GRAND PRAIRIE PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO. 1

Westchester
Five Year Service Plan 2022 - 2026 BUDGET

Income based on Assessment Rate of $0.10 per $100 of appraised value.

Service Plan projects a 2% increase in assessed value per year.

INCOME: Value Assess Rate Revenue

Appraised Value $1,088,222,390 0.10$           1,088,222$  

Description Account 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Beginning Balance (Estimated) 958,000$           536,829$     325,462$     165,137$     115,597$     

P.I.D. Assessment 42620 1,088,222$        1,109,986$  1,132,186$  1,154,830$  1,177,926$  

City Contribution 49780 33,500               33,500         33,500         33,500         33,500         

TOTAL INCOME 1,121,722$        1,143,486$  1,165,686$  1,188,330$  1,211,426$  

Amount Available 2,079,722$        1,680,315$  1,491,148$  1,353,467$  1,327,024$  

 

EXPENSES:

Description 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Office Supplies 60020 1,800$               1,800$         1,800$         1,800$         1,800$         

Decorations 60132 30,000               30,000         30,000         30,000         30,000         

Beautification
1

60490 322,000             322,000       322,000       322,000       322,000       

Wall Maintenance
2

60776 75,000               75,000         50,000         50,000         50,000         

Professional Engineering Services
3

61041 12,000               12,000         12,000         12,000         12,000         

Mowing Contractor
4

61225 276,000             276,000       276,000       276,000       276,000       

Tree Services
5

61226 86,250               86,250         86,250         86,250         86,250         

Collection Service ($2.90/Acct) 61380 9,593                 9,593           9,593           9,593           9,593           

Misc. 61485 1,000                 1,000           1,000           1,000           1,000           

Admin./Management 61510 27,000               27,000         27,000         27,000         27,000         

Postage 61520 50                      50                50                50                50                

Electric Power 62030 6,000                 6,300           6,615           6,946           7,293           

Water Utility
6

62035 126,500             132,825       139,466       146,440       153,762       

Irrigation System Maint.
7

63065 53,000               53,000         41,850         46,035         50,639         

Decorative Lighting Maintenance
8

63146 15,000               15,000         15,000         15,000         15,000         

Property Insurance Premium 64080 4,200                 4,410           4,631           4,862           5,105           

Liability Insurance Premium 64090 2,500                 2,625           2,756           2,894           3,039           

Fencing
9

68061 415,000             300,000       300,000       200,000       100,000       

Construction
10

68540 80,000               -              -              -              -              

-                    -              -              -              -              

TOTAL EXPENSES 1,542,893$        1,354,853$  1,326,011$  1,237,870$  1,150,531$  

Ending Balance 536,829$           325,462$     165,137$     115,597$     176,493$     

Avg. Annual Assessment by Home Value:

Value         Yrly Assmnt.

$100,000 $100 Avg. Property Value: 328,967$     

$150,000 $150 Avg. Property Assessment: 329$            

$200,000 $200 No. of Properties: 3,308           

$250,000 $250

$300,000 $300

$350,000 $350

$400,000 $400

$450,000 $450

7 Considering age of system with better managed $$; Westchester Crossing + I20 Carrier Rebuild/Rebuild; Evaluate

more efficient systmens in critical areas; Incorporate H2O program into Site management responsibility

8 Lighting repairs/replacements; Westchester Crossing Upgrade;  LED fixture upgrades
9 Wrought Iron Fence paint touch-up; Hills of Westchester Wall repair - ongoing; Rehab Existing Entrance Monuments;

Dechman @ Bardin Demolish/Build Entrance Monument; Dechman Extension Fence Installation

10 Add./Rehab Entry Monuments: Westchester Crossing; New Entrance Enhancements: Structures/Lighting; Art Projects;

Emergency Issues Out of Scope

1 2021 Winter Kill Removal; Chandra/Bardin Rehab; Westchester Genereal Landscaping Rehab; Westchester Parkway

Landscape Enhancement; Replace/Add Trees/Plantings - Dechman Extension; Entrance Enhancements; Mow tall grass

to tree line in wildflower area; Seeding of wildflower area; Repair Art Murals

3 Engineering risk management to hardscape projects; Easement concerns; Design of entrances, beds, enhancements; 

2 Vision: Site Line; Recurring Small Job Maintenance Contract; Metal Fence Repaint

4 Dechman Extension Scope Add;  Review/reduce mow areas; NO non-recuring expenses in budget acct

5 Additional tree maintenance and removal for replantings; Miseltoe mitigation; Periodic storm clean up;

6 Manage water usage;Scope Add: Dechman + Westchester Crossing + I20 Carrier Relandscape/Rehab ; Incorporate

H2O program into Site management responsibility

C:\Users\lharriss\Documents\PID Westchester 3211\2022\Exhibit A-Budget 5yr service plan-FY22-WC.xlsm 0.10
23

Item 6.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 3/1/2022 

REQUESTER: Lee Harriss 

PRESENTER: Lee Harriss, Special District Administrator 

TITLE: Lake Parks PID Contract with Site Landscape Development for 

landscape maintenance $119,085.42, beautification, $85,000, and 

irrigation system maintenance services, $12,000 for a one year term in 

the amount of $216,085.42 (Council Districts 4 and 6) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

The PID Board recommended that Site Landscape Development be awarded a contract in the amount of 

$216,085.42 for landscape maintenance $119,085.42, beautification, $85,000, and irrigation system 

maintenance services, $12,000. The term extends from May 1, 2022 through April 30, 2023.  Site 

Landscape Development had the contract last year and performed satisfactorily.   

Texas Local Government Code, Chapter 252.022 (a) (9) exempts public improvement districts from 

competitive bidding requirements. Per that statute, the PID Advisory Board is empowered to enter into 

contracts such as the one with Site Landscape Development, Inc. following approval by the City 

Council. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funds for this contract are available from annual assessments adopted by the City Council on September 

21, 2021, which are estimated to generate $415,751 for the fiscal year.                                                                                  

 

24

Item 7.



Exhibit A

GRAND PRAIRIE PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT NO. 7

Lake Parks
Five Year Service Plan 2022 - 2026 BUDGET

Income based on Assessment Rate of $0.11 per $100 of appraised value.

Service Plan projects a 1% increase in assessed value per year.

INCOME: Value Assess Rate Revenue

Appraised Value $377,955,148 0.11$           415,751$     

Description Account 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Beginning Balance (Estimated) 133,000$         157,608$     183,524$     210,646$    238,868$     

P.I.D. Assessment 42620 415,751$         419,908$     424,107$     428,348$    432,632$     

City Contribution 49780 12,179             12,179         12,179         12,179        12,179         

TOTAL INCOME 427,930$         432,087$     436,286$     440,527$    444,811$     

Amount Available 560,930$         589,695$     619,810$     651,174$    683,678$     

 

EXPENSES:

Description 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Office Supplies 60020 1,000$             1,000$         1,000$         1,000$        1,000$         

Decorations 60132 40,000             40,000         40,000         40,000        40,000         

Beautification 60490 85,000             85,000         85,000         85,000        85,000         

Wall Maintenance 60776 5,000               5,000           5,000           5,000          5,000           

Mowing Contractor 61225 116,671           116,671       116,671       116,671      116,671       

Collection Service ($2.90/acct) 61380 3,700               3,700           3,700           3,700          3,700           

Misc. 61485 1,400               1,400           1,400           1,400          1,400           

Admin./Management 61510 18,900             18,900         18,900         18,900        18,900         

Postage 61520 50                    50                50                50               50                

Electric Power 62030 16,000             16,800         17,640         18,522        19,448         

Water Utility 62035 41,000             43,050         45,203         47,463        49,836         

Pond/Canal Maintenance-Aquatic 63038 36,000             36,000         36,000         36,000        36,000         

Pond/Canal Maintenance-Equip 63039 10,000             10,000         10,000         10,000        10,000         

Irrigation System Maint. 63065 12,000             12,000         12,000         12,000        12,000         

Playground/Picnic Area Maintenance63135 4,500               4,500           4,500           4,500          4,500           

Decorative Lighting Maintenance 63146 10,000             10,000         10,000         10,000        10,000         

Property Insurance Premium 64080 900                  900              900              900             900              

Liability Insurance Premium 64090 1,200               1,200           1,200           1,200          1,200           

Fencing 68061 -                  -               -               -              -               

Lighting 68637 -                  -               -               -              -               

Construction Miscellaneous 68151 -                  -               -               -              -               

Construction 68540 -                  -               -               -              -               

TOTAL EXPENSES 403,321$         406,171$     409,164$     412,306$    415,605$     

Ending Balance* 157,608$         183,524$     210,646$     238,868$    268,073$     

Avg. Annual Assessment by Home Value:

Value         Yrly Assmnt.

$100,000 $110

$150,000 $165 Avg. Property Value: 296,203$     

$200,000 $220 Avg. Property Assessment: 326$            

$250,000 $275 No. of Properties: 1,276           

$300,000 $330

$350,000 $385

$400,000 $440

$450,000 $495

*Pond dredging, brick wall replacements (Matthew, Doryn, entrances)

C:\Users\lharriss\Documents\PID Lake Parks 3217\2022\Exhibit A-Budget 5yr service plan-FY22-LP.xlsm LP
25

Item 7.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Megan Mahan 

PRESENTER: Megan Mahan, City Attorney 

TITLE: Authorize payment of $94,957.13 to McGriff Insurance Services, Inc. 

for renewal of the City’s Cyber Liability policy with Underwriters at 

Lloyd’s of London for the period of February 4, 2022, through 

February 4, 2023. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

After the City suffered a ransomware attack in 2019, the City increased its cyber liability coverage in 

2020.  Due to an increase in cyber attacks globally and a continued decrease in insurers offering cyber 

liability policies to government entities, the cost of the City’s cyber liability policy increased from 

$63,741.94 to $94,957.13.  

Local Government Code §252.024 allows the City to use a licensed insurance broker as the sole broker 

of record to obtain proposals and coverages for insurance.  McGriff Insurance Services, Inc. is the City’s 

insurance broker of record and had requested proposals on the City’s behalf.  Underwriters at Lloyd’s of 

London is one of the few insurers willing to insure government entities and provided the City’s desired 

level of coverage at the best price.  

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funding in the amount of $94,957.13 is available from FY 2022/2023 Risk Fund HR Legal Services 

(212110) Liability Insurance Premium (64090). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26

Item 8.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Mark Divita 

PRESENTER: Mark Divita, Airport Director 

TITLE: Appoint two (2) members and one (1) alternate member to the Joint 

Airport Zoning Board to amend the Height Hazard Map in accordance 

with update guidelines from the Federal Aviation Administration 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

On February 4, 1985, the Joint Airport Zoning Board of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas, and the City of 

Arlington, Texas (“Joint Airport Zoning Board”) adopted the Grand Prairie Municipal Airport Hazard 

Zoning Ordinance (“Airport Ordinance”) which detailed various height and width requirements for 

buildings, runways, approach zones, and transition zones in and around the Grand Prairie Municipal 

Airport.  Due to updated guidelines from the Federal Aviation Administration, the Joint Airport Zoning 

Board must reconvene and amend the Airport Ordinance to effect changes to the Airport’s Height 

Hazard Map required by the FAA.     

As prescribed by the Airport Ordinance, the City of Grand Prairie and the City of Arlington shall each 

appoint to the Joint Airport Zoning Board two (2) members, Howard W. Gray and John Williams and 

one (1) alternate member Homer Webb.  There are presently no members of the Joint Airport Zoning 

Board or alternates appointed by the City of Grand Prairie or the City of Arlington.  Accordingly, the 

City of Grand Prairie must appoint two (2) members and one (1) alternate member to the Joint Airport 

Zoning Board. The City of Arlington is doing the same, reportedly at its first meeting in March.     

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

None 

 

 

 

 

 

27

Item 9.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Noreen Housewright 

PRESENTER: Gabe Johnson, Director of Engineering and Public Works 

TITLE: Participation Agreement with 1301 Parker Rd, LLC for Right of Way 

Improvements in the total amount of $131,014.75 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

Landowner 1301 Parker Rd, LLC has acquired 18.351 acres within the city limits of Grand Prairie.  To 

accommodate Landowner’s development of the property as a truck terminal, the City requires paving 

and drainage improvements to a part of Parker Road adjacent to the property.  The City also requires 

that the relevant right of way be expanded to a width of approximately 60 feet which includes or will 

include the City acquisition of land adjacent to the existing relevant right of way.  The Developer has 

asked the City to participate in 25% of the total project cost of $524,059.00, which equates to a payment 

of $131,014.75 from the City. 

Subchapter C of Chapter 212 of the Texas Local Government Code allows a municipality to be 

exempted from said competitive bidding procedures in cases where said municipality desires to enter 

into a contract with a developer of a subdivision of land in said municipality, wherein the municipality 

agrees to participate in the cost of public improvement projects, not including a building, if a City’s 

level of participation is limited to no more than 30% of the contract price. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funding will be provided from Storm Drainage Capital Projects Fund (401592) W.O. 02206203 (FY22 

Developer Participation) for drainage and paving improvements and unobligated fund balance in Water 

and Wastewater Capital Projects Funds for the Water and Sewer Improvements. 

 

28

Item 10.



Page 1 of 2 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Chris Agnew 

PRESENTER: Gabe Johnson, Director of Public Works and Romin Khavari, City 

Engineer 

TITLE: Final Reconciliation Change Order No. 3 with La Banda, LLC for 

Dickey Road Storm Drain Improvements West of S.W. 3rd Street in the 

net negative amount of $24,740.00 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

On Tuesday, September 1, 2021, the City of Grand Prairie awarded a contract for Dickey Road Storm 

Drain Improvements West of S.W. 3rd Street, (W.O. #619.64). for $2,139,761.00. 

 

Change order No. 1 was approved by City Council action on September 1, 2020.  The change order 

allowed for additional square yards of pavement replacement and additional sidewalk replacement, 

modified Type B storm drain junction boxes in place of Type A and NCTCOG junction boxes due to 

depth of installation, increased for three additional water service line relocations and increased for 47 

linear feet of additional wastewater main replacement and 54 linear feet for replacement of two 

wastewater service lines. The total change order amount of change order 1 was $30,130. 

 

Change Order No. 2 allowed for additional reinforced concrete pavement, curbs, and sidewalks.  It also 

addition new domestic water service at 3 locations. The total change order amount of change order 2 

was $26,243.00.   

 

The current Final Reconciliation Change Order No. 3 allows for final quantity adjustment for, 

10’recessed curb inlet, storm drain manhole, adjustment of 1” domestic water service with meter box, 

concrete encasement of water main, cast iron fittings and other miscellaneous items of work.  No 

increase, total decrease is $24,740 for a net negative of $24,740 and a cumulative of $24,740. 

 

Construction is complete. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

State statutes require City Council approval of a change order when the cumulative cost of change orders 

exceeds $50,000.  With approval of this change order, the City Manager will be able to approve the change 

order to a cumulative value of $50,000 without additional Council approval.   

 

29

Item 11.



Page 2 of 2 

Cumulative amount of Change Order 2 was $32,243.00 ($29,243.00 positive and $3,000.00 negative) and 

the current final reconciliation Change Order 3 is $24,740 ($0 positive and $24,740.00 negative) for a 

cumulative combined total of $56,983.00 which requires council approval. 

 
No funding is required for this final reconciliation change order.  

 

Original project funding was located in the Storm Drainage Capital Projects Fund (401592) W.O. 01906403 

(Dickey Road Storm Drain Improvements), Water Capital Projects Fund (500592) W.O. 01917503 (Dickey Rd 

WTER) and Wastewater Capital Projects Fund (500692) W.O. 01917603 (Dickey Rd WWST). 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30

Item 11.



Page 1 of 2 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: George Fanous, P.E. 

PRESENTER: Gabe Johnson, Director of Engineering and Public Works and Romin 

Khavari, City Engineer 

TITLE: Change Order/Amendment No. 1 with Excel 4 Construction in the net 

negative amount of ($135,473.00) for pipe size revisions of sanitary 

sewer outfall reach north of Arkansas lane to Trinity River Authority 

(TRA) Cottonwood interceptors and a TRA fiber reinforced drop 

manhole on Skyway and Small Street Sewer Improvements 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 
On November 16, 2021, the City Council approved a construction contract with Excel 4 construction for 

Skyway Drive and Small Street sewer improvements in the amount of $1,008,700.00; 5% Construction 

contingency of $50,435.00, material testing with Team Consultants in the amount of $21,717.00; in house 

engineering in the amount of $50,435.00 for a total of $1,131,287. 

 

This project provides for the installation of approximately 2900 linear feet of 8”,12” and 21” wastewater pipe 

in Skyway, Arkansas and Astar lanes and 1017 linear feet of 12” wastewater pipe in Small street from 

Beltline Road to N.E 11th Street. Pipe construction will utilize open-cut and trenchless methods. 

 

Proposed Change Order/Addendum No.1 in the net negative amount of ($135,473.00) provides for pipe 

size revisions of sanitary sewer outfall reach north of Arkansas lane to Trinity River Authority (TRA) 

Cottonwood interceptor; it also provides for TRA Fiber reinforced drop manhole. 

 

This change order Provides for a total increase of $127,894.00 and a total decrease of ($263,367.00) 

for a cumulative amount of $391,261.00 and a net negative amount of ($135,473.00). 

 

The completion date will be revised to July 20, 2022. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

No funding is required for the current Change Order/Amendment No. 1. Funds resulting from this 

Change Order/Amendment No. 1 will be moved to the contract contingency. 

31

Item 12.



Page 2 of 2 

State statutes require City Council approval of a change order when the cumulative cost of the change 

order exceeds $50,000.  With approval of this change order, the City Manager will be able to approve 

the change order to a cumulative value of $50,000 without additional Council approval.   

Original project funding is located in Wastewater Capital Projects Fund (500692) W.O. #02011601 (3-3 

12-inch gravity line Small) and Wastewater Capital Projects Fund (500692) W.O. #02011801 (3-4 12-

inch gravity line Skyway).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                            

32

Item 12.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Glenda Peterson, Sr Financial Analyst 

PRESENTER: Dane Stovall, Assistant Director, Public Works 

TITLE: Price agreement for Guard Rail Removal and Installation with Vann 

Elli, Inc., at an estimated annual cost of $290,100. This agreement will 

be for one year with the option to renew for four additional one-year 

periods totaling $1,450,500 if all extensions are exercised. Also 

authorize the City Manager to execute the renewal options with 

aggregate price fluctuations of the lesser of up to $50,000 or 25% of the 

original maximum price so long as sufficient funding is appropriated by 

the City Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during the renewal 

term(s) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

Guard rails are designed and installed to protect errant vehicles from leaving the roadway and striking a 

fixed object, steep slope, or body of water. Many of the guard rails within the City are in need of 

maintenance due to either natural deterioration or by vehicular accidents. 

Notice of bid # 22059 was advertised in the Fort Worth Star Telegram and Public Purchase; it was 

distributed to 20 vendors. There was one Grand Prairie vendor for available for this commodity. Three 

bids were received as shown on Attachment A. 

The low bid from Vann Elli, Inc. meets specifications and is recommended for award. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funds will be available in FY 2021/2022 Street Maintenance Capital Improvement Project Funds 

(400192), FY22 Guardrail Repairs funds will be available upon the sale of bonds. Funds are available 

from various departments throughout the City on an as-needed basis and will be charged accordingly 

through the end of the fiscal year. Funding for future fiscal years will be paid from that year’s approved 

budgets. 

33

Item 13.



GUARD RAIL INSTALLATION & REMOVAL 
RFB #22059 

TABULATION 

 
 

SCORE CARD 
 

 

Evaluation Score Card

Guard Rails Installation & Removal

RFB #22059

Joshua, TX Grand Prairie, TX Marshall, TX

Evaluation Criteria Maximum Score Score Score Score

Price 50.00 50.00 44.54 38.08 

The extent to which the goods or 

services meet the municipality's needs
15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 

The Reputation of the Bidder 10.00 10.00 8.00 9.00 

Past experience with the City of 

Grand Prairie or another municipality
10.00 10.00 3.33 3.33 

Qualifications 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 

Local Business Presence 5.00 0.00 5.00 0.00 

Total 100.00 95.00 85.87 75.41

Odum Services, 

LLC
Vann Elli, Inc. JE Casey, LLC

34

Item 13.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Glenda C Peterson, Sr Financial Analyst 

PRESENTER: Dane Stovall, Public Works, Assistant Director 

TITLE: Price agreement for Traffic Signals/Fiber Optic Ground Boxes with 

Techline, Inc., at an estimated annual cost of $76,235. This agreement 

will be for one year with the option to renew for four additional one- 

year periods totaling $381,175 if all extensions are exercised. Also 

authorize the City Manager to execute the renewal options with 

aggregate price fluctuations of the lesser of up to $50,000 or 25% of the 

original maximum price so long as sufficient funding is appropriated by 

the City Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during the renewal 

term(s) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

The in-ground vaults (Ground Boxes) are part of the traffic signal and fiber optic network cabling 

conduit system. These ground boxes provide access to points for the Traffic Signal Division to maintain 

and/or repair the cables. 

Notice of bid # 22055 was viewed by 16 vendors including one Grand Prairie vendor. There was only 

one bid received as shown on Attachment A. Based on the submittals Techline, Inc. is the apparent low 

bid. 

The low bid received from Techline, Inc. meets specifications and is recommended for award. 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funding for the price agreement with Techline, Inc. is available in the FY 2021/2022 General Operating 

Fund (251310), Traffic Signal Maintenance (63125) and will be charged accordingly on orders through 

the end of the fiscal year. Funding for future years will be paid from that year’s approved budgets. 

35

Item 14.



CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

OPERATING BUDGET EXPENDITURE INFORMATION 

 

 

 

 
 FUND:    General Operating Fund 

 

 AGENCY:    Public Works / Street Services 

 

  

 ACCOUNTING UNIT:  251310 – Traffic Signals 

 

 AVAILABLE:   63125 – Traffic Signal Maintenance @ $135,050 

 

 STAFF CONTACT:   Leland Miller – Street Service Manager 

 

 VENDOR NUMBER:   12272 

 

 VENDOR NAME:   Techline, Inc. 

 

 CONTINGENCY:   None 

36

Item 14.



GROUND BOXES 

RFB #22055 

TABULATION 

 

 

SCORECARD 

 

Item Description QTY UOM Unit Price Extended Price

1 Standard Ground Box with Lid 10 EA 1,158.00  11,580.00                

2 Traffic Signal Cabinet Base 5 EA 714.00     3,570.00                  

3 Communication Ground Box with Lid 5 EA 3,429.00  17,145.00                

4 Type A Ground Box with Lid 20 EA 256.00     5,120.00                  

5 Type C Ground Box with Lid 20 EA 289.00     5,780.00                  

6 Type D Ground Box with Lid 10 EA 343.00     3,430.00                  

7 Type E Ground Box with Lid 10 EA 286.00     2,860.00                  

8 Polymer Concrete Vault Assembly 10 EA 2,174.00  21,740.00                

9 Electric Ground Box with Lid 10 EA 249.00     2,490.00                  

10 Type A & E Lids 10 EA 112.00     1,120.00                  

11 Type C & D Lids 10 EA 140.00     1,400.00                  

12 Percentage Discount for Items Not Specified 1 EA 15%

Total 76,235.00$              

New Braunfels, TX

Bid Tabulation

Techline, Inc.

Ground Boxes

RFB #22055

Evaluation Score Card

Ground Boxes

RFB #22055
New Braunfels, 

TX

Evaluation Criteria Maximum Score Score

Price 50.00 50.00 

The extent to which the goods or 

services meet the municipality's needs
15.00 15.00 

The Reputation of the Bidder 10.00 10.00 

Past experience with the City of 

Grand Prairie or another municipality
10.00 10.00 

Qualifications 10.00 10.00 

Local Business Presence 5.00 0.00 

Total 100.00 95.00

Techline, Inc.

37

Item 14.



Page 1 of 2 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Glenda Peterson, Sr Financial Analyst 

PRESENTER: Dane Stovall, Assistant Director, Public Works 

TITLE: Price agreement renewal #1 for Concrete Paving with Santos 

Construction, Inc. in an annual amount not to exceed $11,835,345.20, 

with a secondary, New Star Grading & Paving, Inc., not to exceed an 

amount of $16,010,955.30, and a tertiary, McMahon Contracting, L.P., 

not to exceed $12,295,231.42, if all extensions are exercised. Also 

authorize the City Manager to execute the renewal options with 

aggregate price fluctuations of the lesser of up to $50,000 or 25% of the 

original maximum price so long as sufficient funding is appropriated by 

the City Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during the renewal 

term(s) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

On March 16, 2021 Council awarded an annual price agreement for Concrete Paving to Santos 

Construction Inc. for an annual amount of $11,835,345.20, with a secondary with New Star Grading & 

Paving, Inc. for an annual amount of $16,010,955.30, and a tertiary with McMahon Contracting, L.P., 

for an annual amount of $12,295,231.42. 

The above referenced agreement provides that Vendor may request a price increase through a price 

redetermination request, substantiated in writing, to become effective on the anniversary date of the 

contract to cover verifiable increases in cost to the applicable industry. 

The estimated annual amount to be paid to Santos Construction, Inc. shall be increased by the sum of 

$1,047,490 (7.77% increase), with the secondary, New Star Grading & Paving, Inc. an increase by the 

sum of $1,525,000 (8.42% increase) and to the tertiary with McMahon Contracting, L.P., an increase not 

to exceed $1,047,490 (6.16% increase). 

State statues require City Council approval of a change order when the cumulative cost of the change 

order exceed $50,000. With approval of this change order, the City Manager will be able to approve the 

change order to a cumulative value of $50,000 without additional Council approval. The City, as an 

owner, reserves the right to increase the amount of the work to be performed in a given contract by an 

amount not to exceed twenty-five (25%) percent of the original bid. 

38

Item 15.



Page 2 of 2 

 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funds are available in the Streets, Roads, Highway Maintenance ¼ cent Sales Tax Funds (232010), 

FY22 Street Maintenance Projects (02210503), Street Maintenance (63030), as well as the Capital 

Improvements Project Fund (400192), FY22 Street Assessment Implementation (02206703), Street 

Maintenance (63030). Projects by other departments that utilize this price agreement will be funded 

through those departments. All work will be charged accordingly on orders through the end of the fiscal 

year. Funding for future fiscal years will be paid from that year’s approved budgets. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

39

Item 15.



40

Item 15.



41

Item 15.



42

Item 15.



43

Item 15.



44

Item 15.



45

Item 15.



46

Item 15.



47

Item 15.



48

Item 15.



49

Item 15.



50

Item 15.



51

Item 15.



52

Item 15.



53

Item 15.



54

Item 15.



55

Item 15.



56

Item 15.



57

Item 15.



58

Item 15.



59

Item 15.



60

Item 15.



61

Item 15.



62

Item 15.



63

Item 15.



64

Item 15.



65

Item 15.



66

Item 15.



67

Item 15.



68

Item 15.



69

Item 15.



70

Item 15.



71

Item 15.



72

Item 15.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Chris Ginapp, Senior Recreation Superintendent 

PRESENTER: Duane Strawn, Director, Parks, Arts and Recreation 

TITLE: Purchase and replacement for the Audio/Visual Setup and related 

components for The Summit ballrooms from Infinity Sound Ltd. In the 

amount of $64,587 through a BuyBoard contract 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

As previously identified and provided for during the FY22 Budget process, the original audio/visual 

technology setup in the three ballrooms at The Summit has reached its lifetime capacity and must be 

replaced.  Staff received a proposal from Infinity Sound, Ltd.  in the amount of $64,587 for demo and 

disposal of the existing setup, installation of four (4) new Epson LCD Laser Projectors and other related 

components through their BuyBoard contract #563-18.   

 

Chapter 271.102 of the Local Government Code authorizes local governments to participate in a 

cooperative purchasing program with another local government or local cooperative organization. In lieu 

of competitive bidding, items and services may be purchased through such agreements as the 

agreements have already been bid by the sponsoring entity or agency.  The City of Grand Prairie has 

master inter-local cooperative agreements with various entities including BuyBoard. 

 

BuyBoard is able to save money by pooling the impressive purchasing power of their members, which 

include hundreds of school districts, municipalities, counties, other local governments, and nonprofits 

across Texas. They use the power of numbers as leverage to get better prices with the same vendors we 

use now.  

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funding is available for the purchase of the audio/visual setup for the Summit ballrooms in the Parks 

Capital Projects Fund (317193), WO #02204203 (FY22 Summit Building). 

 

 

 

 

73

Item 16.



Fund/Activity Account:

Project Title:

Current Request:

1 2 3 2+3 1+3

ACCOUNT CURRENT AVAILABLE CURRENT REVISED AMENDED

DESCRIPTION BUDGET BALANCE REQUEST BALANCE BUDGET

Minor Equip (60520) $62,910 $0 $0 $62,910

Bldg & Ground Maint (63010 $13,369 $0 $0 $13,369

Lighting (68637) $38,625 $38,625

Equip/Hardware/Sup(68640) $65,386 $65,386

TOTAL $180,290 $104,011 $0 $0 $76,279

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE

CAPITAL PROJECTS BUDGET SUMMARY

317193 - 02204203

FY22 Summit Building

$0.00

74

Item 16.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/1/2022 

REQUESTER: Venona McGee 

PRESENTER: Ray Riedinger, Facility Services Manager 

TITLE: Price agreement for HVAC services including testing air balance, 

equipment, installations, and repairs from Trane, Inc. through an 

interlocal agreement with Omnia Partners at an estimated cost of 

$750,000.00 for one year, and authorize the City Manager to execute 

any change orders with aggregate price fluctuations of up to $50,000.00 

or 25% so long as sufficient funding is appropriated by the City 

Council to satisfy the city’s obligation during the renewal terms 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

Facility Services will procure HVAC services, including testing air balance, equipment, installations, 

and repairs on an as-needed basis for citywide properties. Trane, Inc. has provided excellent quality of 

work on all projects.  

Chapter 271.102 of the Local Government Code authorizes local governments to participate in a 

cooperative purchasing program with another local government or local cooperative organization. In lieu 

of competitive bidding, items and services may be purchased through such agreements as the 

agreements have already been bid by the sponsoring entity or agency. The City of Grand Prairie has 

master interlocal cooperative agreements with various entities including Omnia Partners. 

Omnia Partners (formerly National IPA) contracts have been awarded via a thorough Request for 

Proposal (RFP) competitive solicitation by a public agency/governmental entity (e.g., state‚ city‚ 

county‚ public university or school district). The contracting process is the foundation of National IPA 

and sets us apart from other cooperatives. In order for even the most restrictive agencies nationwide to 

realize the best value offered by cooperative procurement‚ National IPA ensures that industry best 

practices‚ processes and procedures are applied. 

The Omnia Partners contract #15-JLP-023 began October 1, 2015 and will expire March 31, 2023.  

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funds are available in various departments’ budgets and will be charged accordingly through the end of 

the current fiscal year. Funding for future fiscal years will be paid from that year’s approved budgets. 

75

Item 17.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/1/2022 

REQUESTER: Venona McGee 

PRESENTER: Ray Riedinger, Facility Services Manager 

TITLE: Price agreement for plumbing services from The Brandt Companies, 

LLC through an interlocal agreement with BuyBoard at an estimated 

cost of $100,000.00. This agreement will be for one year with the 

option to renew for one additional one-year period totaling $200,000.00 

if all extensions are exercised. Authorize the City Manager to execute 

the renewal options with aggregate price fluctuations of up to 

$50,000.00 or 25% so long as sufficient funding is appropriated by the 

City Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during the renewal terms 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

This contract will be for Facility Services to utilize plumbing services in all citywide-owned properties 

on an as-needed basis. The Brandt Companies, LLC has provided outstanding work on multiple projects.  

Chapter 271.102 of the Local Government Code authorizes local governments to participate in a 

cooperative purchasing program with another local government or local cooperative organization. In lieu 

of competitive bidding, items and services may be purchased through such agreements as the 

agreements have already been bid by the sponsoring entity or agency. The City of Grand Prairie has 

master interlocal cooperative agreements with various entities including Omnia Partners. 

The BuyBoard is able to save money by pooling the impressive purchasing power of their members, 

which include hundreds of school districts, municipalities, counties, other local governments, and 

nonprofits across Texas. They use the power of numbers as leverage to get better prices with the same 

vendors we use now. 

The BuyBoard contract #638-21 began March 1, 2021, and will expire February 28, 2024.  

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funds are available in various departments’ budgets and will be charged accordingly through the end of 

the current fiscal year. Funding for future fiscal years will be paid from that year’s approved budgets. 

76

Item 18.



Page 1 of 2 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/1/2022 

REQUESTER: Venona McGee 

PRESENTER: Ray Riedinger, Facility Services Manager 

TITLE: Price agreement for general contracting services from Thatch 

Engineering through a national cooperative agreement with TIPS at an 

estimated annual cost of $750,000.00. This agreement will be for one 

year with the option to renew for four additional one-year periods 

totaling $3,750,000.00 if all extensions are exercised. Authorize the 

City Manager to execute the renewal options with aggregate price 

fluctuations of up to $50,000.00 or 25% so long as sufficient funding is 

appropriated by the City Council to satisfy the City’s obligation during 

the renewal terms 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

This contract will be for Facility Services to utilize for the purchase of general contracting services for 

citywide properties on an as-needed basis. Thatch Engineering is a General Contracting business 

specializing in building exterior consulting and MEP mechanical, electrical, and plumbing related to all 

building services. They provide various services, including concrete, metal work, fencing, lighting, 

insulation, roofing, waterproofing, electrical, plumbing, drywall, paint, tile, and remodeling. Thatch 

Engineering has provided excellent quality of work on all projects.  

Chapter 271.102 of the Local Government Code authorizes local governments to participate in a 

cooperative purchasing program with another local government or local cooperative organization. In lieu 

of competitive bidding, items and services may be purchased through such agreements as the 

agreements have already been bid by the sponsoring entity or agency. The City of Grand Prairie has 

master interlocal cooperative agreements with various entities including TIPS. 

The TIPS purchasing cooperatives have joined together government entities, in multiple states, to 

increase their buying power in acquiring products and services; lowering administrative procurement 

costs; and improving OVERALL business performance at each entity. Other benefits include: 

Centralized Vendor Listing; e-Commerce Store; Toll-Free Help Line; Competitively Bid Procurement 

Process and Vendor/Member Reporting Service. 

The TIPS contract #211001 began January 18, 2022, and will expire January 31, 2027.  

77

Item 19.



Page 2 of 2 

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

Funds are available in various departments’ budgets and will be charged accordingly through the end of 

the current fiscal year. Funding for future fiscal years will be paid from that year’s approved budgets. 

78

Item 19.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Terrence R. Harbin 

PRESENTER: Megan Mahan, City Attorney  

TITLE: Lease Extension between the Grand Prairie Local Government 

Corporation and Calvary Baptist Church of Grand Prairie located at 401 

W Church St, Grand Prairie, TX 75050 until December 31, 2022 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approval  

  

ANALYSIS: 

On January 15, 2021, the Grand Prairie Local Government Corporation entered a fifteen and a half 

month (15 ½) lease agreement with the tenant Calvary Baptist Church of Grand Prairie with a 

termination date of March 31, 2022. However, Calvary Baptist Church requested that the Grand Prairie 

Local Government Corporation extend the lease agreement. As a result, on December 14, 2021, the 

Grand Prairie Local Government Corporation approved a nine-month (9) lease extension to Calvary 

Baptist Church, ending on December 31, 2022, with an agreement that Calvary pays all utilities and 

maintains the property. Rent is one dollar ($1) for the term.  

FINANCIAL CONSIDERATION: 

None. 

 

 

 

 

 

79

Item 20.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Monica Espinoza, Executive Assistant 

PRESENTER: Savannah Ware, AICP, Chief City Planner 

TITLE: SUP-22-09-0027 - Specific Use Permit/Site Plan - Restaurant with 

Drive-Through at 2380 W Camp Wisdom Road (City Council District 

6). Specific Use Permit/Site Plan for a Restaurant with a Drive-Through 

on 1.28 acres. Lot 6, Block 1, Victory at Lakeridge Addition, City of 

Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas, zoned PD-283, within the Lake 

Ridge Corridor Overlay District, and addressed as 2380 W Camp 

Wisdom Road (On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning 

Commission tabled this item to February 28, 2022) 

APPLICANT: Patrick Filson, Kirkman Engineering 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Table 

 
 

 

80

Item 21.



Page 1 of 5 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Monica Espinoza 

PRESENTER: Savannah Ware, AICP, Chief City Planner 

TITLE: STP-21-11-0022 - Site Plan - Parkside on Carrier (City Council District 

3). Site Plan for a 38-unit age restricted multi-family development on 

2.85 acres. Tract 60, Charles Gibbs Survey, Abstract No. 534, City of 

Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, zoned General Retail and Multi-

Family Two Districts, and addressed as 1217 S Carrier Parkway (On 

February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission 

recommended approval by a vote of 7-0) 

APPLICANT: Mike Ash, JES Holdings 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

SUMMARY: 

Site Plan for a 38-unit age restricted multi-family development on 2.85 acres. Tract 60, Charles Gibbs 

Survey, Abstract No. 534, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, zoned General Retail and Multi-

Family Two Districts, and addressed as 1217 S Carrier Parkway. 

PURPOSE OF REQUEST: 

The applicant intends to construct an age-restricted multi-family development with 38 units in one 

building on 2.85 acres. Development at this location requires site plan approval by City Council because 

the property is for multi-family use.  

ADJACENT LAND USES: 

The following table summarizes the zoning designation and existing use for the surrounding properties. 

Table 1. Zoning and Land Use 

Direction Zoning Existing Use 

North PD-101 Vacant; Mini-Storage 

South GR; MF-2 City Park 

West C Carrier Parkway; Commercial 

East MF-2 Multi-Family Residential 

81

Item 22.



Page 2 of 5 

 

PROPOSED USE CHARACTERISTICS AND FUNCTION: 

The 38-unit age-restricted multi-family development will be accessible from the S Carrier Parkway via 

one ingress/egress access located on the western portion of the property. The property has split zoning, 

with most of the property being MF-2, and the building is situated on the multi-family zoned portion of 

the property. A church exists on the property and will be demolished. 

The Site Plan depicts one residential building with four stories and 38 units, a portico front entrance, and 

ample outdoor space. Other amenities include: 

 A large and small dog park 

 Community garden 

 Gazebo 

 Walking trails around the building 

 Fitness and business facility 

ZONING REQUIREMENTS: 

Density and Dimensional Requirements 

The following table evaluates the proposal against the MF-2 district’s density and dimensional standards 

in the UDC. The project does not meet all required standards.  
 

Table 2. Density and Dimensional Requirements 
Standard MF-2 Provided Meets? 

Max. Density (Units Per Acre) 18 13.33 Yes 

Min. Living Area (Sq. Ft.) 600 600 Yes 

Max % of One-Bedroom Units 60 32 Yes 

% of Two-Bedroom Units ------ 68 ------ 

Min. Area (SF) 12,000 124,146 Yes 

Min. Width (Ft.) 50 55 Yes 

Min. Depth (Ft.) 100 1,097 Yes 

Maximum Height (Ft.) 50 49.5 Yes 

Min. Front Setback (Ft.) 
30 (5 if fronts 

street) 

30 (5 if 

fronts 

street) 

 

Yes 

Min. Rear Setback (Ft.) 

45 + 1 for 

every ft. over 

35 

52 

 

No 

Min. Side Setback (Ft.) 

45 + 1 for 

every ft. over 

35 

52 

 

No 

   

Parking 

The applicant is using the parking standards for a retirement center to calculate the total required spaces. The 

proposal does not provide the required garage and carport parking. While the applicant is providing reduced 

parking with the traditional multi-family calculations, they are exceeding the retirement center calculations.  

The following table evaluates the parking requirements. 

82

Item 22.



Page 3 of 5 

 

Table 3. Parking Requirements 

Standard Required Provided Meets 

1.25 Parking Spaces/One-Bedroom 15 6 ------ 

2 Parking Spaces/Two & Three Bedroom 52 26 ------ 

Retirement Center – One Bedroom – ½ 

space per bedroom 
6 6 ------ 

Retirement Center – Two Bedroom - 1 

space per bedroom 
26 26 ------ 

Total Parking Spaces – MF Cal 67 65 No 

Total Parking Spaces – RC* 32 65 Yes 

Garages (% of Total) 30 0 No 

Carport (% of Total) 20 0 No 
  *Retirement Community 

Landscape and Screening 

The property is subject to landscape and screening requirements in Appendix W and Article 8 of the UDC. 

The property provides internal open space. The applicant will be installing a Type II fence along the street 

right-of-way and the southern property line along the park. A Type III fence will be provided for the 

remainder of the site.  

The applicant has provided a Tree Preservation and Mitigation Plan required by Article 8 of the UDC. The 

applicant is providing the needed mitigation for trees lost due to construction. 

The development meets all landscaping requirements, and the table below depicts this. 

Table 4. Landscape Requirements 

Standard Required Provided Meets 

Landscape Area (SF) 18,623 72,511 Yes 

Required Trees 38 38 Yes 

Mitigation Trees 32 32 Yes 

Trees (min. 3”) 70 75 Yes 

Total Shrubs (all gal.) 373 517 Yes 

Dumpster Enclosure Masonry enclosure Masonry enclosure Yes 

 Perimeter Fence Type II & III Type II & III Yes 

 

Exterior Building Materials 

The exterior building materials include limestone, fiber cement lap siding, and stucco. The building 

elevations provide contrasting colors between materials, with primarily earth tones used, and feature 

vertical and horizontal articulation.  

The building elevations meet the recommendations of Appendix W. 

Project Amenities 

Appendix W requires multi-family developments to provide amenities from three categories. If 

developers meet the exterior requirements of Appendix W, projects only need to meet two of three 

categories. Since the applicant is meeting the building elevation recommendations, the applicant must 

only provide two of three categories. The applicant is not providing all the required amenities from two 

of three categories. 

 Environmentally friendly features 

 High-quality features or designs 

83

Item 22.



Page 4 of 5 

 Technology 

 

The applicant is not proposing the app-enabled security features due to possible technology concerns for 

future residents.  

 

The table below summarize the amenities included in the project.  

Table 5. Appendix W Amenities 

Category Tier Amenity 

Environmentally Friendly Features 1 Permeable Paving 

Environmentally Friendly Features 1 Electric car charge station 

Environmentally Friendly Features 1 High-efficient Windows 

Environmentally Friendly Features 2 Roofing Materials 

Environmentally Friendly Features 2 Use of Recycled Materials 

Environmentally Friendly Features 2 Recycling Program 

Environmentally Friendly Features 2 Walking/Jogging Trails  

Environmentally Friendly Features 3 Additional Insulation   

Environmentally Friendly Features 3 LED Lighting 

Environmentally Friendly Features 3 Bicycle Parking 

Environmentally Friendly Features 3 Outdoor Spaces   

Environmentally Friendly Features 3 Dog Parks 

Technology N/A Wi-Fi Internet Access in Common Areas 

Technology N/A USB ports 

Technology N/A App - Communication 

VARIANCES: 

The applicant is requesting the following variances: 

1. Rear and Interior Side Setback: Article 6 of the UDC requires a 45 ft foot + 1 foot for every foot 

over 35 feet in height setback for rear setback. The applicant is proposing 52 feet. 

 

Staff does not oppose this request. Due to site constraints (floodplain), finding a buildable 

footprint is limited. 

 

2. Portico setback from Building: Article 6 of the UDC requires that accessory structuress be a 

minimum of 6 feet from the primary structure. Applicant is proposing 3 feet. 

 

3. Parking: Appendix W requires that multi-family developments provide 30 percent of required 

parking in the form of garages and 20 percent in the form of carports. The applicant is providing 

zero percent garages and carports.  

 

4. No Secondary Emergency Access: Appendix W requires that multi-family developments provide 

secondary emergency access point.  

 

Staff does not oppose this request. The Fire Department does not have any concerns with this as 

the proposal meets fire code requirements. 

 

84

Item 22.



Page 5 of 5 

5. Appendix W Checklist: Appendix W requires that multi-family developments provide a certain 

amount of amenity items. The applicant is not providing “App-enabled functionality for door 

locks, lighting, thermostat, appliances, or other electronics” under the technology list.  

Staff does not oppose this request. The applicant has stated that providing this type of technology 

might impose difficulty on residents who are not technology savvy and providing standards locks 

and features would be preferable. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote 

of 7-0. 

 The Development Review Committee recommends approval.  

85

Item 22.



Dickey Rd

S C
ar

rie
r P

kw
y

Vernoy Dr

Vi
lla

 C
t

Cl
ar

ice
 St

W Phillips Ct

Grandvilla Ln

Hi
gh

lan
d D

r

Sh
aw

ne
e T

rc

In
di

an
 H

ill
s D

r

´
Development Services

(972) 237-8255
www.gptx.org

City of Grand Prairie

T161

CASE LOCATION MAP
STP-21-11-0022 - Site Plan
Parkside at Carrier

Exhibit A - Location Map
Page 1 of 1

86

Item 22.



6
9

5

27

1010

6

10

PROPOSED
4-STORY BUILDING

38 UNITS
FF=486.5

GAZEBO
FF=485.06

PORTICO

REMOVE EXISTING
 CHURCH BUILDING

Dog Park
(Small Dogs)

DUMPSTER
ENCLOSURE

Concrete Pads For
Air Conditioners

Concrete Pads For
Air Conditioners

Flagpole

15' Utility Easement

Monument Sign

Existing Wooden Fence
With Razor Wire To Remain

(Type 3 Fence)
Prop Type 3

Wooden Fence

Prop Gate

Prop Type 2
Wrought Iron Fence

Prop Type 2
Wrought Iron Fence

Prop Callbox

Prop Type 2
Wrought Iron Fence

Prop Type 2
Wrought Iron Fence

Prop Type 3
Wooden Fence

Prop Type 3
Wooden Fence

Ex Overhead
Electric/Telephone

RETAINING WALL
(MAX HEIGHT 5.00')

RETAINING WALL
(MAX HEIGHT 1.00')

Dog Park
(Large Dogs)

Community
Garden

Electric Car Charging
Stations (2)

Bicycle Racks

25' SIDE SETBACK

52' SIDE SETBACK

52
' R

EA
R 

SE
TB

AC
K

52
' S

ID
E 

SE
TB

AC
K

25' SIDE SETBACK

25' SIDE SETBACK

52' SIDE SETBACK

CI

CI
CI

CI

8" HDPE8" HDPE

8" HDPE 8" HDPE

EXISTING
27" RCP

OUTFALL

EXISTING
2-18" RCP

CI

CI

18" RCP
STORM

18" RCP

STORM

24
" R

CP
 S

TO
RM

24
" R

CP
 S

TO
RM

18" RCP STORM

OUTFALL:
TXDOT
CH-FW-0

24" RCP STORM

OUTFALL:
TXDOT
CH-FW-0

NOTE: ALL DOWNSPOUTS SHALL BE COLLECTED UNDERGROUND

Maintenance Shed
FF=485.45

EMERGENCY VEHICLE TURN AROUND

S
al

ce
do

 G
ro

up
, I

nc
or

po
ra

te
d

C
iv

il 
E

ng
in

ee
rs

 - 
S

ur
ve

yo
rs

Salcedo Group, Inc.

SGI

CAUTION!!

Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

Salcedo Group, Inc. F-5482

Exhibit B - Site Plan
Page 1 of 1

87

Item 22.



25' SIDE SETBACK

52' SIDE SETBACK

52
' R

EA
R 

SE
TB

AC
K

52
' S

ID
E 

SE
TB

AC
K

25' SIDE SETBACK

25' SIDE SETBACK

52' SIDE SETBACK

S
al

ce
do

 G
ro

up
, I

nc
or

po
ra

te
d 

C
iv

il 
E

ng
in

ee
rs

 - 
S

ur
ve

yo
rs

Salcedo Group, Inc.

SGI

CAUTION!!

Know what's below.
      Call before you dig.

801 CHERRY ST, UNIT 11, STE 1300,
FORT WORTH, TX 76102

PHONE: 817-335-6511

. HIOPSTE

C
CT

TE

SA

ET

S
TA

I
RE
G

83

OF

1 2

ET
X

R
RLDRE

CAANDS
L

EP A

ET
R

K
E
N
Z I

E

LP 1.01 LP 1.02

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 1 of 8

88

Item 22.



25' SIDE SETBACK

25' SIDE SETBACK

25' SIDE SETBACK

6
QV

JE
8

1
UP

NAS
23

HBR
16 6

MSG

UP
2

5
QT

LCS
7

10
SGG

UP
2

LCS
18

NAS
66SGG

11HBR
24

14
MSG

EUF
30NAS

7
PEH

6HBR
5

13
NAS

6
SGG

2
LCS

2
MSG

7
HBR

PEH
18

HBR
7 LCS

7

6
TD

SOD (TYP.)

HARDWOOD MULCH (TYP.)

STEEL EDGE (TYP.)
REF. DETAIL H, SHEET LP 2.01

HARDWOOD MULCH (TYP.)

STEEL EDGE (TYP.)
REF. DETAIL H, SHEET LP 2.01

HARDWOOD MULCH (TYP.)

SOD (TYP.)

SOD (TYP.)

CONTRACTOR TO SOD TO
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE (TYP.)

CONTRACTOR TO SOD TO
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE (TYP.)

CONTRACTOR TO SOD TO
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE (TYP.)

STEEL EDGE (TYP.)
REF. DETAIL H, SHEET LP 2.01

100-YEAR FLOODPLAIN (TYP.)

TYPE 3
WOODEN FENCE

TYPE 2
WROUGHT IRON FENCE

TYPE 2
WROUGHT IRON FENCE

TREES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

JE 13 Eastern Red Cedar

QT 17 Texas Red Oak

QV 20 Southern Live Oak

TD 10 Bald Cypress

UP 15 Lacebark Elm

SHRUBS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

HBR 128 Brakelights Red Yucca

LCS 66 Compact Texas Sage

SGG 37 Cherry Sage

GRASSES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

MSG 60 Adagio Eulalia Grass

NAS 166 Mexican Feather Grass

PEH 60 Hameln Dwarf Fountain Grass

GROUND COVERS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

SOD 62,568 sf Common Bermuda Grass

EUF 470 Purple-leaf Winter Creeper

PLANT LEGEND

SE TBD STEEL EDGING

MULCH TBD SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

S
al

ce
do

 G
ro

up
, I

nc
or

po
ra

te
d 

C
iv

il 
E

ng
in

ee
rs

 - 
S

ur
ve

yo
rs

Salcedo Group, Inc.

SGI

CAUTION!!

Know what's below.
      Call before you dig.

801 CHERRY ST, UNIT 11, STE 1300,
FORT WORTH, TX 76102

PHONE: 817-335-6511

. HIOPSTE

C
CT

TE

SA

ET

S
TA

I
RE
G

83

OF

1 2

ET
X

R
RLDRE

CAANDS
L

EP A

ET
R

K
E
N
Z I

E

M
AT

C
H

LI
N

E,
 S

H
EE

T 
LP

 1
.0

2

REFER TO SHEET LP 1.02 FOR FULL PLANT SCHEDULE.

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 2 of 8

89

Item 22.



25' SIDE SETBACK

52' SIDE SETBACK

52
' R

EA
R 

SE
TB

AC
K

52
' S

ID
E 

SE
TB

AC
K

25' SIDE SETBACK

52' SIDE SETBACK6
MSG

147
EUF

QT
1

5
PEH

QT
3

3
UP

EUF
22

22
EUF

22
EUF

EUF
27

23
HBR

12
LCS

15
MSG

7
SGG

5
PEH

74
EUF

3
SGG

8
HBR

8
NAS HBR

14

LCS
6 MSG

3

EUF
7 13

NAS

NAS
10

EUF
111

HBR
15

10
PEH

8
LCS

5
MSG

3
HBR

16
PEH

6
NAS

6
HBR

EUF
8

MSG
6

LCS
6

15
NAS

3
MSG

1
JE

QV
16

QV

TD
4

QV
2

QT
3

5
UP

UP
1

UP
1

1
QV

QV
1

4
JE

QT
5

6
TD

3
QV

SOD (TYP.)

SOD (TYP.) SOD (TYP.)

SOD (TYP.)

SOD (TYP.)

SOD (TYP.)

SOD (TYP.)

HARDWOOD MULCH (TYP.)
HARDWOOD MULCH (TYP.)

HARDWOOD MULCH (TYP.)
HARDWOOD MULCH (TYP.)

SOD (TYP.)

CONTRACTOR TO SOD TO
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE (TYP.)

CONTRACTOR TO
SOD TO LIMITS OF
DISTURBANCE (TYP.)

CONTRACTOR TO SOD TO
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE (TYP.)

CONTRACTOR TO SOD TO
LIMITS OF DISTURBANCE (TYP.)

SOD (TYP.)

HARDWOOD
MULCH (TYP.)

100-YEAR FLOODPLAIN (TYP.)

100-YEAR FLOODPLAIN (TYP.)

UNDERGROUND
DETENTION

GAZEBO REFERENCE
ARCHITECTURE PLANS
SHEER A100

HARDWOOD
MULCH (TYP.)

HARDWOOD
MULCH (TYP.)

STEEL EDGE (TYP.)
REF. DETAIL H, SHEET LP 2.01

STEEL EDGE (TYP.)
REF. DETAIL H, SHEET LP 2.01

COMMUNITY GARDEN

LARGE DOG PARKSMALL DOG
PARK

TYPE 3
WOODEN FENCE

TYPE 3
EXISTING WOODEN
FENCE TO REMAIN

DOG PARK
FENCE (TYP.)TYPE 2

WROUGHT IRON FENCE

TYPE 3
WOODEN FENCE

TREE PROTECTION FENCING (TYP.)
REF. SHEET LP 2.02

AC UNIT PADS (TYP.)

MUTT MITT PET WASTE STATION - BEST CHOICE
COLOR: GREEN
PHONE: 800.697.6084
WEBSITE: https://muttmitt.com/

MUTT MITT PET WASTE STATION - BEST CHOICE
COLOR: GREEN
PHONE: 800.697.6084
WEBSITE: https://muttmitt.com/

TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SPECIFICATIONS REMARKS

JE 13 Juniperus virginiana / Eastern Red Cedar 3" cal, 10`-12` ht, 4` spr Full, Straight, Single Leader

QT 17 Quercus texana / Texas Red Oak 3" cal, 16` ht, 6` spr Full, Straight, Single Leader

QV 20 Quercus virginiana / Southern Live Oak 3" cal, 16` ht, 6` spr Full, Straight, Single Leader

TD 10 Taxodium distichum / Bald Cypress 3" cal, 14` ht, 5` spr Full, Straight, Single Leader

UP 15 Ulmus parvifolia / Lacebark Elm 3" cal, 14` ht, 6` spr Full, Straight, Single Leader

SHRUBS CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SPECIFICATIONS REMARKS

HBR 128 Hesperaloe parviflora `Brakelights` TM / Brakelights Red Yucca 18" ht, 18" spr, 24" oc FULL & MATCHING.

LCS 66 Leucophyllum frutescens `Compacta` / Compact Texas Sage 24" ht, 24" spr, 36" oc Full & Matching

SGG 37 Salvia greggii / Cherry Sage 24" ht, 24" spr, 36" oc Full & Matching

GRASSES CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SPECIFICATIONS REMARKS

MSG 60 Miscanthus sinensis `Adagio` / Adagio Eulalia Grass 24" ht, 36" oc FULL & MATCHING.

NAS 166 Nassella tenuissima / Mexican Feather Grass 18" ht, 24" oc FULL & MATCHING.

PEH 60 Pennisetum alopecuroides `Hameln` / Hameln Dwarf Fountain Grass 12" ht, 24" oc FULL & MATCHING.

GROUND COVERS CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SPECIFICATIONS REMARKS

SOD 62,568 sf Cynodon dactylon / Common Bermuda Grass N/A Sod to have tight, sand filled joints and be free of weeds.

EUF 470 Euonymus fortunei `Coloratus` / Purple-leaf Winter Creeper 8" ht, 8" spr, 12" oc Full

PLANT SCHEDULE

SE TBD Steel edging 3/16" X 4" black

MULCH TBD Shredded hardwood mulch 3" depth, all trees within sod have 4' diameter mulch ring

S
al

ce
do

 G
ro

up
, I

nc
or

po
ra

te
d 

C
iv

il 
E

ng
in

ee
rs

 - 
S

ur
ve

yo
rs

Salcedo Group, Inc.

SGI

CAUTION!!

Know what's below.
      Call before you dig.

801 CHERRY ST, UNIT 11, STE 1300,
FORT WORTH, TX 76102

PHONE: 817-335-6511

. HIOPSTE

C
CT

TE

SA

ET

S
TA

I
RE
G

83

OF

1 2

ET
X

R
RLDRE

CAANDS
L

EP A

ET
R

K
E
N
Z I

E

M
AT

C
H

LI
N

E,
 S

H
EE

T 
LP

 1
.0

1

SHEET

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 3 of 8

90

Item 22.



DOUBLE STAKE PLAN
1-1/2" UP TO 3" CALIPER

TREE TRUNK
NON-ABRASIVE TREE TIES
LOOPED IN A FIGURE 8
AROUND TREE TRUNK AND
STAKE

TREE STAKE

EACH TREE TIE SHALL BE
NAILED TO STAKE USING
GALVANIZED NAILS

NOTES:
1. THIS DETAIL IS FOR ABOVE GRADE TREE

STAKING ONLY. REF. OTHER DETAILS FOR
TYPICAL TREE PLANTING.

TREE TRUNK

NON-ABRASIVE TREE TIES
LOOPED  AROUND TREE
TRUNK AND STAKE

TREE STAKE

EACH TREE TIE SHALL BE
NAILED TO STAKE USING
GALVANIZED NAILS

PREVAILING
WIND

SINGLE STAKE PLAN
LESS THAN 1-1/2" CALIPER

PREVAILING WIND PREVAILING WIND

TREE CANOPY

TREE CANOPY

MULCH LAYER

SOIL BERM

ORIGINAL GRADE

PLANTING SOIL BACKFILL

TRUNK/ROOTBALL TO BE CENTERED AND
PLUMB/LEVEL IN PLANTING PIT

UNDISTURBED NATIVE SOIL

SECTION

TREE STAKES. STAKE LOCATION SHALL NOT
INTERFERE WITH BRANCHES.

6"

FINISHED GRADE

SI
NG

LE
 S

TA
KE

: 7
'-0

" M
IN

.
DO

UB
LE

 S
TA

KE
: 6

'-0
" M

IN
.

TR
IP

LE
 S

TA
KE

: 6
'-0

" M
IN

.

ROOT BALL
ROOT BALL

TRIPLE STAKE PLAN
3" CALIPER AND GREATER

2 NON-ABRASIVE TREE TIES. TREE TIES SHALL BE
6" ABOVE BENDING MOMENT OF TREE. TIES
SHOULD PROVIDE FLEXIBILITY OF TRUNK BUT NOT
ALLOW RUBBING OF TRUNK AGAINST STAKE.

Typical Tree Staking BScale: NTS

6"

2 X ROOTBALL WIDTH

4" MULCH LAYER. PLACE NO MORE THAN 1" OF MULCH ON
TOP OF ROOTBALL (REF. PLANTING SPECIFICATIONS FOR
MULCH TYPE)

3" HIGH x 8" WIDE BERM SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED AROUND
THE ROOT BALL. BERM SHALL BEGIN AT ROOT BALL
PERIPHERY, FIRMLY COMPACTED.

6" DIA. CLEAR OF MULCH AT ROOT FLARE. IF
REQUIRED, REMOVE EXCESS SOIL ON TOP OF
ROOTBALL (MAX 2") AND EXPOSE TREE ROOT FLARE.

ORIGINAL GRADE

SCARIFY BOTTOM AND LOOSEN SIDES OF PLANTING PIT

NATIVE LOOSENED PLANTING SOIL BACKFILL. DIG AND TURN
THE SOIL TO REDUCE COMPACTION TO THE AREA AND
DEPTH SHOWN. LIGHTLY TAMP SOIL AROUND ROOTBALL IN
6" LIFTS TO BRACE TREE. DO NOT OVER COMPACT. IN THE
TOP 1/3 DEPTH OF BACK FILL, MIX 1/2" LAYER OF COMPOST
INTO EACH 6" LIFT OF BACKFILL. WHEN THE PLANTING HOLE
HAS BEEN BACKFILLED, POUR WATER AROUND ROOTBALL
TO SETTLE THE SOIL. ADD ADDITIONAL SOIL AS NEEDED TO
MEET REQUIRED FINISH GRADE.

TRUNK/ROOTBALL TO BE CENTERED AND
PLUMB/LEVEL IN PLANTING PIT

UNDISTURBED NATIVE SOIL

MINIMUM

SECTION

FINISHED GRADE

4"

4' DIA. MULCH RING (MIN.) FOR INDIVIDUAL
TREES NOT IN LANDSCAPE BEDS

Typical Tree Planting (Up to 3" Caliper) AScale: NTS

6"8"

SET ROOTBALL ON UNDISTURBED STABLE
SUBSOIL SO THAT TOP OF ROOTBALL IS
2-3" ABOVE FINISHED GRADE.
STABILIZE/PLUMB TREE BY TAMPING SOIL
FIRMLY AROUND THE LOWER 1/4 OF THE
ROOTBALL.
· FOR CONTAINER STOCK: REMOVE

ENTIRE CONTAINER.
· FOR B&B STOCK: COMPLETELY

REMOVE TOP 1/2 OF THE ENTIRE
WIRE BASKET. COMPLETELY
REMOVE ALL BURLAP/SYNTHETIC
FABRICS AND STRAPPING.

6"

2 X ROOTBALL WIDTH

3" MULCH LAYER. NO MORE THAN 1" OF
MULCH ON TOP OF ROOTBALL (REF. PLANTING
SPECIFICATIONS FOR MULCH TYPE)

4" HIGH x 8" WIDE BERM SHALL BE
CONSTRUCTED AROUND THE ROOT BALL. BERM
SHALL BEGIN AT ROOT BALL PERIPHERY, FIRMLY
COMPACTED. BERM SHALL BE CENTERED ON
THE DOWNHILL SIDE IN A 240° ARC.

ORIGINAL GRADE

SCARIFY BOTTOM AND LOOSEN
SIDES OF PLANTING PIT

NATIVE LOOSENED PLANTING SOIL BACKFILL. DIG
AND TURN THE SOIL TO REDUCE COMPACTION TO
THE AREA AND DEPTH SHOWN. LIGHTLY TAMP
SOIL AROUND ROOTBALL IN 6" LIFTS TO BRACE
TREE. DO NOT OVER COMPACT. IN THE TOP 1/3
DEPTH OF BACK FILL, MIX 1/2" LAYER OF COMPOST
INTO EACH 6" LIFT OF BACKFILL. WHEN THE
PLANTING HOLE HAS BEEN BACKFILLED, POUR
WATER AROUND ROOTBALL TO SETTLE THE SOIL.

TRUNK/ROOTBALL TO BE CENTERED AND
PLUMB/LEVEL IN PLANTING PIT

UNDISTURBED NATIVE SOIL

FINISHED GRADE

ORIGINAL GRADE SHOULD PASS
THROUGH THE POINT  WHERE
THE TRUNK BASE MEETS THE

SUBSTRATE/SOIL

Tree Planting On 5-25% Slopes (20:1 to 4:1 Slopes) DScale: NTS

6"

8"

4"

6" DIA. CLEAR OF MULCH AT ROOT
FLARE. IF REQUIRED, REMOVE EXCESS

SOIL ON TOP OF ROOTBALL (MAX 2")
AND EXPOSE TREE ROOT FLARE.

4' DIA. MULCH RING (MIN.) FOR INDIVIDUAL
TREES NOT IN LANDSCAPE BEDS

SET ROOTBALL ON UNDISTURBED STABLE SUBSOIL SO THAT
TOP OF ROOTBALL IS 2-3" ABOVE FINISHED GRADE.
STABILIZE/PLUMB TREE BY TAMPING SOIL FIRMLY AROUND
THE LOWER 1/4 OF THE ROOTBALL.
· FOR CONTAINER STOCK: REMOVE ENTIRE CONTAINER.
· FOR B&B STOCK: COMPLETELY REMOVE TOP 1/2 OF

THE ENTIRE WIRE BASKET. COMPLETELY REMOVE ALL
BURLAP/SYNTHETIC FABRICS AND STRAPPING.

2 X ROOTBALL WIDTH

ORIGINAL GRADE

UNDISTURBED NATIVE SOIL

OPTIONAL:
· 12" DIA. AUGERED HOLE FILLED WITH 1/2" -

3/4" WASHED GRAVEL AND WRAPPED IN
FILTER FABRIC. PENETRATE HOLE
THROUGH OCCLUDING LAYER TO A DEPTH
TO ASSURE PROPER PERCOLATION.

· 4" PERFORATED PVC PIPE WITH GRATE CAP
AT MULCH LEVEL, WRAPPED IN FILTER
FABRIC, EXTEND TO BOTTOM OF SUMP.

NATIVE PLANTING BACKFILL

H
.P.

ROOTBALL

TRUNK

SLOPE TO DRAIN BOTTOM
OF PLANTING PIT.

LIMITS OF PLANTING PIT

PLAN

SECTION

12"

6"

MINIMUM

TOP OF ROOTBALL SHALL BE
POSITIONED 1/4 OF ROOTBALL

DEPTH ABOVE ORIGINAL GRADE

ADD ADDITIONAL SOIL AS NEEDED TO
PLANTING SOIL BACKFILL IN ORDER TO

CREATE A SMOOTH TRANSITION FROM THE
TOP OF THE RAISED ROOT BALL TO THE
ORIGINAL GRADE AT A 15% MAX SLOPE.

4" PERFORATED PVC STANDPIPE
WITH GRATE CAP AT MULCH LEVEL,
WRAPPED IN FILTER FABRIC, EXTEND
TO BOTTOM OF PLANTER PIT

12" AUGERED HOLE FOR DRAINAGE

FINISH GRADE

NOTES:
1. THIS DETAIL IS FOR TREE PLANTING IN POOR

DRAINAGE CONDITIONS ONLY. REF. DETAIL A
THIS SHEET FOR TYPICAL TREE PLANTING.

6" DIA. CLEAR OF MULCH AT ROOT FLARE. IF
REQUIRED, REMOVE EXCESS SOIL ON TOP OF
ROOTBALL (MAX 2") AND EXPOSE TREE ROOT FLARE.

3" MULCH LAYER. NO MORE THAN 1" OF MULCH ON TOP OF
ROOTBALL (REF. PLANTING SPECIFICATIONS FOR MULCH TYPE)

4" HIGH x 8" WIDE BERM SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED
AROUND THE ROOT BALL. BERM SHALL BEGIN AT
ROOT BALL PERIPHERY, FIRMLY COMPACTED.

Tree Planting (Poor Drainage Condition) CScale: NTS

4' DIA. MULCH RING (MIN.) FOR INDIVIDUAL
TREES NOT IN LANDSCAPE BEDS

SET ROOTBALL ON UNDISTURBED STABLE
SUBSOIL SO THAT TOP OF ROOTBALL IS
2-3" ABOVE FINISHED GRADE.
STABILIZE/PLUMB TREE BY TAMPING SOIL
FIRMLY AROUND THE LOWER 1/4 OF THE
ROOTBALL.
· FOR CONTAINER STOCK: REMOVE

ENTIRE CONTAINER.
· FOR B&B STOCK: COMPLETELY

REMOVE TOP 1/2 OF THE ENTIRE
WIRE BASKET. COMPLETELY
REMOVE ALL BURLAP/SYNTHETIC
FABRICS AND STRAPPING.

S
al

ce
do

 G
ro

up
, I

nc
or

po
ra

te
d 

C
iv

il 
E

ng
in

ee
rs

 - 
S

ur
ve

yo
rs

Salcedo Group, Inc.

SGI801 CHERRY ST, UNIT 11, STE 1300,
FORT WORTH, TX 76102

PHONE: 817-335-6511

. HIOPSTE

C
CT

TE

SA

ET

S
TA

I
RE
G

83

OF

1 2

ET
X

R
RLDRE

CAANDS
L

EP A

ET
R

K
E
N
Z I

E

NOTES:
1. REF. PLANTING  AND PLANTING SOIL

SPECIFICATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL
INFORMATION.

2. REF. TREE STAKING DETAIL THIS SHEET.

NOTES:
1. REF. PLANTING  AND PLANTING SOIL

SPECIFICATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL
INFORMATION.

2. REF. TREE STAKING DETAIL THIS SHEET.

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 4 of 8

91

Item 22.



3" MULCH LAYER (REF.
PLANTING SPECIFICATIONS)
4" HIGH x 8" WIDE BERM SHALL BE
CONSTRUCTED AROUND EDGE OF BED,
FIRMLY COMPACTED (ALONG
ADJACENT TURF AREAS IF NO
EDGING/PAVEMENT SHOWN ON PLANS)

FINISHED GRADE

UNDISTURBED NATIVE SOIL

MODIFIED SOIL (ENTIRE BED). DEPTH VARIES
( REF. PLANTING AND PLANTING SOIL PLANS
AND PLANTING SPECIFICATIONS). LIGHTLY
TAMP SOIL AROUND ROOTBALL IN 6" LIFTS
TO BRACE PLANT. DO NOT OVER COMPACT.
WHEN PLANTING HOLE HAS BEEN
BACKFILLED, POUR WATER AROUND
ROOTBALL TO SETTLE THE SOIL. ADD
ADDITIONAL SOIL AS REQUIRED TO MEET
REQUIRED FINISH GRADE

SECTION

SCARIFY BOTTOM AND SIDES OF
 PLANTING PIT

BEST FACE OF PLANT TO FACE
FRONT OF PLANTING BED

PLAN

FRONT
OF

BED

4"

EQ.

EQ.

GROUNDCOVER PLANTS TO BE
TRIANGULARLY SPACED UNLESS SHOWN
DIFFERENTLY ON PLANTING PLANS.

GROUNDCOVER PLANT

Typical Groundcover Planting AScale: NTS
1"

HScale: 1 1/2" = 1'-0"

METAL EDGING (AT TURF & LANDSCAPE BED)

MULCH LAYER REF. PLANTING
PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS

AMENDED PLANTING SOIL, REF.
PLANTING SOIL PLANS AND
PLANTING SPECIFICATIONS

METAL EDGING STAKES PER
MANUFACTURER SPECIFICATIONS

METAL EDGING 3/16"
COLOR: BLACK

UNDISTURBED NATIVE SOIL

TURF (SOD) LANDSCAPE BED

TOPSOIL, REF. PLANTING
SOIL PLAN AND PLANTING

SPECIFICATIONS

2X
ROOTBALL WIDTH

3" MULCH LAYER (REF. PLANTING SPECIFICATIONS), NO
MORE THAN 1" OF MULCH ON TOP OF ROOTBALL.

4" HIGH x 8" WIDE ROUND-TOPPED SOIL BERM (ABOVE
ROOT BALL SURFACE) SHALL BE CENTERED ON THE
DOWNHILL SIDE OF THE ROOT BALL IN A 180° ARC. BERM
SHALL BEGIN AT ROOT BALL PERIPHERY, FIRMLY
COMPACTED.

LEAVE 6" OF TOP OF ROOTBALL EXPOSED
AROUND BASE OF STEMS.

FINISHED GRADE. REFERENCE
GRADING PLAN

UNDISTURBED SUBSOIL

LOOSENED SOIL. DIG AND TURN THE SOIL TO REDUCE
THE COMPACTION TO THE AREA AND DEPTH SHOWN.
LIGHTLY TAMP SOIL AROUND ROOTBALL IN 6" LIFTS
TO BRACE SHRUB. DO NOT OVER COMPACT. WHEN
PLANTING HOLE HAS BEEN BACKFILLED, POUR
WATER AROUND ROOTBALL TO SETTLE THE SOIL.

ROOTBALL CENTERED IN PIT

EXISTING SLOPE

SHRUB

LOOSEN/SCARIFY SIDES OF
SLOPE/PLANTING HOLE

ORIGINAL SLOPE SHOULD
PASS THROUGH THE POINT
WHERE THE MAIN STEM(S)
MEET(S) SUBSTRATE/SOIL.

FINISH GRADE

SET ROOTBALL ON
UNDISTURBED STABLE

SUBSOIL

Shrub Planting On 5-50% (20:1 TO 2:1) Slope CScale: NTS

 2X
ROOTBALL WIDTH

3" MULCH LAYER (REF. PLANTING SPECIFICATIONS)

4" HIGH x 8" WIDE BERM SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED
AROUND THE ROOT  BALL. BERM SHALL BEGIN AT
ROOT BALL PERIPHERY, FIRMLY COMPACTED.

FINISHED GRADE.

UNDISTURBED NATIVE SOIL

SCARIFY BOTTOM AND SIDES OF PLANTING PIT

SET ROOTBALL ON UNDISTURBED STABLE SUBSOIL

LOOSENED SOIL. DIG AND TURN THE SOIL TO REDUCE THE
COMPACTION TO THE AREA AND DEPTH SHOWN. LIGHTLY
TAMP SOIL AROUND ROOTBALL IN 6" LIFTS TO BRACE
SHRUB. DO NOT OVER COMPACT. WHEN PLANTING HOLE
HAS BEEN BACKFILLED, POUR WATER AROUND ROOTBALL
TO SETTLE THE SOIL. ADD ADDITIONAL SOIL AS NEEDED
TO MEET REQUIRED FINISH GRADE.

PLANT ROOTBALL TO BE INSTALLED CENTERED
AND PLUMB/LEVEL IN PLANTING PIT

SECTION

BEST FACE OF SHRUB TO FACE
FRONT OF PLANTING BED

PLAN

4"

FRONT
OF

BED

EQ.

EQ.

SHRUBS TO BE TRIANGULARLY SPACED UNLESS
SHOWN DIFFERENTLY ON PLANTING PLANS.

SHRUB
LEAVE ROOTBALL EXPOSED AROUND BASE OF
STEMS.

Typical Shrub Planting BScale: NTS

MIN. 1/2 MATURE
SHRUB WIDTH

FIRE HYDRANT

5'-0" MIN. CLEAR
MIN. 1/2 MATURE

SHRUB WIDTH
5'-0" MIN. CLEAR SHRUB PLANTING

(TYP., REF. DETAIL
B THIS SHEET)

CLCL CL

Shrub Planting at Fire Hydrant EScale: NTS

MIN. 1/2 MATURE
SHRUB WIDTH

18"-24"
MIN. CLEAR

SHRUB PLANTING, REF.
DETAIL B THIS SHEET

BUILDING

SLOPE AWAY
PER

GRADING
PLAN

CL

Shrub Planting at Building Edge DScale: NTS

MIN. 1/2 MATURE
SHRUB WIDTH

BACK OF CURB

SHRUB PLANTING,
REF. DETAIL B THIS
SHEET

SIDEWALK ZONE
REF. PLANS

CL

Shrub Planting at Sidewalk FScale: NTS

24"
LANDSCAPE BED/

MULCH (TYP.) MIN. 1/2 MATURE
SHRUB WIDTH

BACK OF CURB

SHRUB PLANTING,
REF. DETAIL B THIS
SHEET

SHRUB PLANTING,
REF. DETAIL B THIS
SHEET

BACK OF CURB

24"
LANDSCAPE BED/

MULCH (TYP.)
MIN. 1/2 MATURE

SHRUB WIDTH

CL

CL

Shrub Planting at Curb GScale: NTS

S
al

ce
do

 G
ro

up
, I

nc
or

po
ra

te
d 

C
iv

il 
E

ng
in

ee
rs

 - 
S

ur
ve

yo
rs

Salcedo Group, Inc.

SGI801 CHERRY ST, UNIT 11, STE 1300,
FORT WORTH, TX 76102

PHONE: 817-335-6511

. HIOPSTE

C
CT

TE

SA

ET

S
TA

I
RE
G

83

OF

1 2

ET
X

R
RLDRE

CAANDS
L

EP A

ET
R

K
E
N
Z I

E

NOTES:
1. REF. PLANTING  AND PLANTING SOIL SPECIFICATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL

INFORMATION.
2. REF. PLANTING SCHEDULE AND PLANTING PLANS FOR SPACING/LAYOUT
3. WHEN SHRUBS ARE MASSED TOGETHER WITH GROUNDCOVER BEDS, ALL SOIL

IN BED TO BE AMENDED. (REF. PLANTING SPECIFICATIONS)

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 5 of 8

92

Item 22.



CROWN DRIP LINE OR OTHER LIMIT OF TREE AND PLANT PROTECTION AREA
SEE TREE PROTECTION PLAN FOR FENCE ALIGNMENT

MAINTAIN EXISTING GRADE
WITHIN THE TREE PROTECTION
FENCE UNLESS OTHERWISE
INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

MULCH LAYER

2'
-3

' M
IN

.
RE

F.
 P

LA
NS

REF. PLANS FOR LOCATION OF
BORING START/END POINT (OPEN
TRENCH SECTION)

CONTRACTOR TO BORE UNDER THE CROWN DRIPLINE OF THE TREE.
DO NOT BORE DIRECTLY UNDER THE TRUNK OF THE TREE.

REF. PLANS FOR OFFSET DIMENSION FROM TREE
TRUNK AND LENGTH OF BORE

TREE PROTECTION FENCE

TREE PROTECTION SIGN

ROOT PRUNING TRENCH(TYP., REF.
TREE AND PLANT PROTECTION
SPECIFICATIONS)6" (TYP.)

NOTES:
1. REF. DETAIL A THIS SHEET FOR TREE PROTECTION

FENCE INSTALLATION.
2. REF. TREE AND PLANT PROTECTION SPECIFICATIONS

FOR ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS.

TREE PROTECTION - UTILITY BORING UNDER CROWN DRIPLINE BScale: NTS

TRUNK PROTECTION, REF.
DETAIL D THIS SHEET

CROWN DRIP LINE OR OTHER LIMIT OF TREE AND PLANT PROTECTION AREA
SEE TREE PROTECTION PLAN FOR FENCE LAYOUT

MAINTAIN EXISTING GRADE WITHIN THE
TREE PROTECTION FENCE UNLESS
OTHERWISE INDICATED ON THE PLANS

TREE PROTECTION FENCE AND
POSTS (REF. TREE AND PLANT
PROTECTION SPECIFICATIONS)

5" THICK LAYER OF MULCH. DO NOT MULCH
AREA WITHIN 6" TO 12" OF TREE TRUNK
(REF. TREE AND PLANT PROTECTION
SPECIFICATIONS)

TREE PROTECTION
SIGN SPACED EVERY

50' O.C. MINIMUM
ALONG THE FENCE

(REF. ENLARGEMENT)

ROOT PRUNING TRENCH (TYP., REF. TREE
AND PLANT PROTECTION SPECIFICATIONS)

8'-0" (TYP.)

6" (TYP.)

NOTES:
1. SEE TREE  AND PLANT PROTECTION

SPECIFICATIONS FOR WATERING AND OTHER
ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS.

2. ALL TREE AND ROOT PRUNING SHALL BE
PERFORMED UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF
AN I.S.A. CERTIFIED ARBORIST. ARBORIST
SHALL MAKE ALL FINAL ROOT PRUNING
RECOMMENDATIONS TO OWNER'S
REPRESENTATIVE FOR APPROVAL PRIOR TO
PRUNING OPERATIONS.

3. NO EQUIPMENT SHALL OPERATE INSIDE THE
TREE PROTECTION FENCE INCLUDING DURING
FENCE INSTALLATION AND REMOVAL.

4. TREE PROTECTION FENCE LAYOUT AND
INSTALLATION TO BE APPROVED BY OWNER'S
REPRESENTATIVE PRIOR TO ANY
CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY.

TYPICAL TREE PROTECTION FENCING AScale: NTS

KEEP OUT
TREE PROTECTION AREA

NO ENTRY

PROJECT
ARBORIST
PHONE #

GENERAL
CONTRACTOR

PHONE #

· NO HEAVY
EQUIPMENT

· NO PARKING

· NO STORAGE
· NO DUMPING
· NO GRADING

24
"

36"

TREE PROTECTION SIGN ENLARGEMENT

ZONA DE PROTECCION
PARA ARBOLES

NO ENTRE

· NO EQUIPAMIENTO
PESADO

· NO ESTACIONAR

· NO ALMACENAJE
· PROHIBIDO TRIAR

BASURA
· NO EXCAVAR

ARBORISTA DEL
PROYECTO

TELEFONO #

CONTRATISTA
GENERAL

TELEFONO #

NOTE: CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE PHONE NUMBER INFORMATION

CROWN DRIPLINE

5 - 12" THICK LAYER OF MULCH
ON CONSTRUCTION ACCESS
ROAD; 5" THICK LAYER INSIDE
TREE PROTECTION AREA (REF.
TREE AND PLANT PROTECTION
SPECIFICATIONS).

CONSTRUCTION
ACCESS ROADTREE PROTECTION FENCE

NOTES:
1. REF. DETAIL A THIS SHEET FOR TREE PROTECTION

FENCE INSTALLATION.
2. REF. TREE AND PLANT PROTECTION SPECIFICATIONS

FOR ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS.
3. OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE TO APPROVE ANY

CANOPY THINNING AND/OR CANOPY RAISING
PRUNING TO ALLOW FOR CONSTRUCTION ACCESS
ROAD USE PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES.

4. PRIOR TO INSTALLATION OF ANY CONSTRUCTION
ACCESS ROAD, COORDINATE WITH OWNER'S
REPRESENTATIVE FOR FINAL APPROVAL OF ROAD
LOCATION. ALL ADJUSTED TREE PROTECTION
MEASURES MUST BE IN PLACE AND APPROVED BY
OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE PRIOR TO USE OF ROAD.

ROOT PRUNING TRENCH
(TYP. REF. TREE AND
PLANT PROTECTION

SPECIFICATIONS) 6" (TYP.)

TREE PROTECTION SIGN

FINAL APPROVAL OF ANY ROOT PRUNING AND
MULCH LAYER THICKNESS IN THIS ZONE TO BE FIELD

VERIFIED AND APPROVED BY OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE
PRIOR TO OPENING CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD.

 MAINTAIN EXISTING GRADE WITHIN THE
TREE PROTECTION FENCE UNLESS

OTHERWISE INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

TREE PROTECTION - CONSTRUCTION ACCESS ROAD CScale: NTS

MATTING IF ROAD USE REQUIRES
(REF. TREE AND PLANT
PROTECTION SPECIFICATIONS).

TREE AND PLANT PROTECTION
SEE TREE PRTOTECTION PLAN

FOR FENCE LAYOUT

FILTER FABRIC OR GEOGRID, IF LOAD
USE REQUIRES. REF TREE AND
PLANT PROTECTION SPECIFICATIONS

NOTES:
1. REF. TREE AND PLANT PROTECTION

SPECIFICATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

4'
-0

"

6"

VA
RI

ES
 B

AS
ED

ON
 R

OO
T 

FL
AR

E

TRUNK PROTECTION DScale: NTS

CLOSED CELL FOAM PAD

2" x 4" WOODEN PLANKS

STEEL STRAPS STAPLED TO PLANKS

6"

S
al

ce
do

 G
ro

up
, I

nc
or

po
ra

te
d 

C
iv

il 
E

ng
in

ee
rs

 - 
S

ur
ve

yo
rs

Salcedo Group, Inc.

SGI801 CHERRY ST, UNIT 11, STE 1300,
FORT WORTH, TX 76102

PHONE: 817-335-6511

. HIOPSTE

C
CT

TE

SA

ET

S
TA

I
RE
G

83

OF

1 2

ET
X

R
RLDRE

CAANDS
L

EP A

ET
R

K
E
N
Z I

E

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 6 of 8

93

Item 22.



S
al

ce
do

 G
ro

up
, I

nc
or

po
ra

te
d 

C
iv

il 
E

ng
in

ee
rs

 - 
S

ur
ve

yo
rs

Salcedo Group, Inc.

SGI801 CHERRY ST, UNIT 11, STE 1300,
FORT WORTH, TX 76102

PHONE: 817-335-6511

. HIOPSTE

C
CT

TE

SA

ET

S
TA

I
RE
G

83

OF

1 2

ET
X

R
RLDRE

CAANDS
L

EP A

ET
R

K
E
N
Z I

E

6. THE WORK SHALL BE COORDINATED WITH OTHER TRADES TO PREVENT CONFLICTS.  COORDINATE THE
PLANTING WITH THE IRRIGATION WORK TO ASSURE AVAILABILITY OF WATER AND PROPER LOCATION OF
IRRIGATION ITEMS AND PLANTS.

FIFTY PERCENT (50%) OF THE NITROGEN SHALL BE DERIVED FROM NATURAL ORGANIC SOURCES.  THE
FOLLOWING FERTILIZERS SHALL BE USED AND APPLIED AT RATES AS SUGGESTED BY MANUFACTURER'S
SPECIFICATIONS:

ALL PLANTS AND PLANTING INCLUDED UNDER THIS CONTRACT SHALL BE MAINTAINED BY WATERING,
CULTIVATING, SPRAYING, AND ALL OTHER OPERATIONS (SUCH AS RE-STAKING OR REPAIRING GUY
SUPPORTS) NECESSARY TO INSURE A HEALTHY CONDITION BY THE CONTRACTOR UNTIL CERTIFICATION OF
ACCEPTABILITY BY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OR OWNER. MAINTENANCE AFTER THE CERTIFICATION
OF ACCEPTABILITY SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SPECIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.
CONTRACTORS ARE REQUESTED TO PROVIDE A BID ESTIMATE TO COVER LANDSCAPE AND IRRIGATION
MAINTENANCE FOR A PERIOD OF 90 CALENDAR DAYS COMMENCING AFTER ACCEPTANCE.

UPON COMPLETION OF ALL PLANTING WORK AND BEFORE FINAL ACCEPTANCE, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL
REMOVE ALL MATERIAL, EQUIPMENT, AND DEBRIS RESULTING FROM HIS WORK.  ALL PAVED AREAS SHALL
BE BROOM CLEANED AND THE SITE LEFT IN A NEAT AND ACCEPTABLE CONDITION AS APPROVED BY
THE OWNER'S AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE.

B. WATER EVERY DAY FOR TEN (10) SUCCESSIVE DAYS, THEN WATER THREE (3) TIMES PER WEEK (AT
EVEN INTERVALS) FOR TWO (2) ADDITIONAL WEEKS.  ALL WATERING SHALL BE OF SUFFICIENT QUANTITY
TO WET OR RESTORE WATER TO DEPTH OF FOUR (4) INCHES. CONTRACTOR TO DETERMINE IF SITE IS IN A
DROUGHT RESTRICTION AREA AND MUST FOLLOW CITY/ COUNTY PROTOCOL IF ANY ARE IN PLACE.

A. WITHIN THE CONTRACT LIMITS, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PRODUCE A DENSE, WELL ESTABLISHED LAWN.
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE REPAIR AND RE-SODDING OF ALL ERODED, SUNKEN
OR BARE SPOTS UNTIL CERTIFICATION OF ACCEPTABILITY BY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OR OWNER.
REPAIRED SODDING SHALL BE ACCOMPLISHED AS IN THE ORIGINAL WORK (INCLUDING REGRADING IF
NECESSARY).

D. DURING DELIVERY, PRIOR TO AND DURING THE PLANTING OF THE LAWN AREAS, THE SOD PANELS SHALL
AT ALL TIMES BE PROTECTED FROM EXCESSIVE DRYING AND UNNECESSARY EXPOSURE OF THE ROOTS
TO THE SUN.  ALL SOD SHALL BE STACKED SO AS NOT TO BE DAMAGED BY SWEATING OR EXCESSIVE
HEAT AND MOISTURE.

C. SOD PANELS SHALL BE LAID TIGHTLY TOGETHER SO AS TO MAKE A SOLID SODDED LAWN AREA.
SOD SHALL BE LAID UNIFORMLY AGAINST THE EDGES OF ALL CURBS AND OTHER HARDSCAPE ELEMENTS,
PAVED AND PLANTED AREAS.  ADJACENT TO BUILDINGS, A FOUR INCH MULCH STRIP SHALL BE
PROVIDED.  IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING SOD LAYING, THE LAWN AREAS SHALL BE ROLLED WITH A LAWN
ROLLER CUSTOMARILY USED FOR SUCH PURPOSES, AND THEN THOROUGHLY IRRIGATED.  IF, IN THE OPINION
OF THE OWNER, TOP-DRESSING IS NECESSARY AFTER ROLLING TO FILL THE VOIDS BETWEEN THE SOD
PANELS AND TO EVEN OUT INCONSISTENCIES IN THE SOD, CLEAN SAND AS APPROVED BY THE
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OR OWNER SHALL BE UNIFORMLY SPREAD OVER THE ENTIRE SURFACE OF THE
SOD AND THOROUGHLY WATERED IN.

B. THE SOD SHALL BE CERTIFIED TO MEET THE STATE PLANT BOARD SPECIFICATIONS, ABSOLUTELY
TRUE TO VARIETAL TYPE, AND FREE FROM WEEDS, FUNGUS, INSECTS AND DISEASE OF ANY KIND.

A. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SOD ALL AREAS THAT ARE NOT PAVED OR PLANTED AS DESIGNATED ON
THE DRAWINGS WITHIN THE CONTRACT LIMITS, UNLESS SPECIFICALLY NOTED OTHERWISE.

3. SOIL PREPARATION:  PREPARE LOOSE BED FOUR (4) INCHES DEEP.  APPLY FERTILIZER AT RATE OF
TWENTY (20) POUNDS PER ONE THOUSAND (1000) SQUARE FEET.  APPLICATION SHALL BE UNIFORM,
UTILIZING APPROVED MECHANICAL SPREADERS.  MIX FERTILIZER THOROUGHLY WITH THE SOIL TO A
DEPTH OF THREE (3) INCHES.  HAND RAKE UNTIL ALL BUMPS AND DEPRESSIONS ARE REMOVED.  WET
PREPARED AREA THOROUGHLY.

2. LAWN BED PREPARATION:  ALL AREAS THAT ARE TO BE SODDED SHALL BE CLEARED OF ANY
ROUGH GRASS, WEEDS, AND DEBRIS, AND THE GROUND BROUGHT TO AN EVEN GRADE.  THE WHOLE
SURFACE SHALL BE ROLLED WITH A ROLLER WEIGHING NOT MORE THAN ONE-HUNDRED (100) POUNDS
PER FOOT OF WIDTH.  DURING THE ROLLING, ALL DEPRESSIONS CAUSED BY SETTLEMENT OF ROLLING
SHALL BE FILLED WITH ADDITIONAL SOIL, AND THE SURFACE SHALL BE REGRADED AND ROLLED UNTIL
PRESENTING A SMOOTH AND EVEN FINISH THAT IS UP TO THE REQUIRED GRADE.

1. THE WORK CONSISTS OF LAWN BED PREPARATION, SOIL PREPARATION, AND SODDING COMPLETE, IN
STRICT ACCORDANCE WITH THE SPECIFICATIONS AND THE APPLICABLE DRAWINGS TO PRODUCE A
GRASS LAWN ACCEPTABLE TO THE OWNER.

16. HERBICIDE WEED CONTROL:  ALL PLANT BEDS SHALL BE KEPT FREE OF NOXIOUS WEEDS UNTIL
FINAL ACCEPTANCE OF WORK.  IF DIRECTED BY THE OWNER, "ROUND-UP" SHALL BE APPLIED FOR
WEED CONTROL BY QUALIFIED PERSONNEL TO ALL PLANTING AREAS IN SPOT APPLICATIONS PER
MANUFACTURER'S PRECAUTIONS AND SPECIFICATIONS.  PRIOR TO FINAL INSPECTION, TREAT ALL
PLANTING BEDS WITH AN APPROVED PRE-EMERGENT HERBICIDE AT AN APPLICATION RATE
RECOMMENDED BY THE MANUFACTURER.

15. MULCHING:  PROVIDE A THREE (3) INCH MINIMUM LAYER OF SPECIFIED MULCH OVER THE ENTIRE
AREA OF EACH SHRUB BED, GROUND COVER AND VINE BED AND TREE PIT.

14. TREE GUYING AND BRACING SHALL BE INSTALLED BY THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE PLANS TO INSURE STABILITY AND MAINTAIN TREES IN AN UPRIGHT POSITION.  IF
THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR AND OWNER DECIDE TO WAIVE THE TREE GUYING AND BRACING, THE
OWNER SHALL NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT IN WRITING OF THEIR INTENTIONS AND AGREE TO HOLD
HARMLESS THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT IN THE EVENT ANY TREES FALL DOWN AND DAMAGE PERSON OR
PROPERTY.

13. SHRUBS AND GROUND COVER PLANTS SHALL BE EVENLY SPACED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
DRAWINGS AND AS INDICATED ON THE PLANT LIST.  CULTIVATE ALL PLANTING AREAS TO A MINIMUM
DEPTH OF 6", REMOVE AND DISPOSE ALL DEBRIS.  TILL INTO TOP 4" THE PLANTING SOIL MIX AS
SPECIFIED IN SECTION E.  THOROUGHLY WATER ALL PLANTS AFTER INSTALLATION.

12. PRUNING:  EACH TREE SHALL BE PRUNED TO PRESERVE THE NATURAL CHARACTER OF THE PLANT AS
SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS.  ALL SOFT WOOD OR SUCKER GROWTH AND ALL BROKEN OR BADLY DAMAGED
BRANCHES SHALL BE REMOVED WITH A CLEAN CUT.

6. LAWN MAINTENANCE:

1. ALL CONTAINER GROWN MATERIAL SHALL BE HEALTHY, VIGOROUS, WELL-ROOTED PLANTS AND
ESTABLISHED IN THE CONTAINER IN WHICH THEY ARE SOLD.  THE PLANTS SHALL HAVE TOPS WHICH ARE
OF GOOD QUALITY AND ARE IN A HEALTHY GROWING CONDITION.

2. WORK SHALL INCLUDE MAINTENANCE AND WATERING OF ALL PLANTING AREAS OF THIS CONTRACT UNTIL
CERTIFICATION OF ACCEPTABILITY BY THE OWNER.

1. THE WORK CONSISTS OF FURNISHING ALL LABOR, MATERIALS, EQUIPMENT, TOOLS, TRANSPORTATION,
AND ANY OTHER APPURTENANCES NECESSARY FOR THE COMPLETION OF THIS PROJECT AS SHOWN
ON THE DRAWINGS, AS INCLUDED IN THE PLANT LIST, AND AS HEREIN SPECIFIED.

4. PROTECTION OF PALMS (IF APPLICABLE):  ONLY A MINIMUM OF FRONDS SHALL BE REMOVED FROM
THE CROWN OF THE PALM TREES TO FACILITATE MOVING AND HANDLING.  CLEAR TRUNK (CT) SHALL BE
AS SPECIFIED AFTER THE MINIMUM OF FRONDS HAVE BEEN REMOVED.  ALL PALMS SHALL BE BRACED
PER DETAIL.

5. EXCAVATION OF TREE PITS SHALL BE DONE USING EXTREME CARE TO AVOID DAMAGE TO
SURFACE AND SUBSURFACE ELEMENTS SUCH AS UTILITIES OR HARDSCAPE ELEMENTS, FOOTERS AND
PREPARED SUB- BASES.

COMMERCIAL FERTILIZER SHALL BE A COMPLETE FORMULA; IT SHALL BE UNIFORM IN COMPOSITION, DRY
AND FREE FLOWING.  THIS FERTILIZER SHALL BE DELIVERED TO THE SITE IN THE ORIGINAL UNOPENED
CONTAINERS, EACH BEARING THE MANUFACTURER'S GUARANTEED STATEMENT OF ANALYSIS.

WATER NECESSARY FOR PLANTING AND MAINTENANCE SHALL BE OF SATISFACTORY QUALITY TO SUSTAIN
AN ADEQUATE GROWTH OF PLANTS AND SHALL NOT CONTAIN HARMFUL, NATURAL OR MAN-MADE ELEMENTS
DETRIMENTAL TO PLANTS. WATER MEETING THE ABOVE STANDARD SHALL BE OBTAINED ON THE SITE
FROM THE OWNER, IF AVAILABLE, AND THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE TO MAKE ARRANGEMENTS
FOR ITS USE BY HIS TANKS, HOSES, SPRINKLERS, ETC.  IF SUCH WATER IS NOT AVAILABLE AT THE SITE,
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE SUCH SATISFACTORY WATER FROM SOURCES OFF THE SITE AT NO
ADDITIONAL COST TO THE OWNER.

C. INSPECTION:  PLANTS SHALL BE SUBJECT TO INSPECTION AND APPROVAL AT THE PLACE OF
GROWTH, OR UPON DELIVERY TO THE SITE, AS DETERMINED BY THE OWNER, FOR QUALITY, SIZE, AND
VARIETY; SUCH APPROVAL SHALL NOT IMPAIR THE RIGHT OF INSPECTION AND REJECTION AT THE SITE
DURING PROGRESS OF THE WORK OR AFTER COMPLETION FOR SIZE AND CONDITION OF BALLS OR ROOTS,
LATENT DEFECTS OR INJURIES.  REJECTED PLANTS SHALL BE REMOVED IMMEDIATELY FROM THE SITE.
NOTICE REQUESTING INSPECTION SHALL BE SUBMITTED IN WRITING BY THE CONTRACTOR AT LEAST ONE
(1) WEEK PRIOR TO ANTICIPATED DATE.

A. PLANT SPECIES AND SIZE SHALL CONFORM TO THOSE INDICATED ON THE DRAWINGS.
NOMENCLATURE SHALL CONFORM TO STANDARDIZED PLANT NAMES, 1942 EDITION.  ALL NURSERY
STOCK SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH GRADES AND STANDARDS AS STATED IN THE LATEST EDITION OF
"AMERICAN STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK" BY THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF NURSERYMEN.  ALL
PLANTS SHALL BE FRESHLY DUG, SOUND, HEALTHY, VIGOROUS, WELL-BRANCHED AND FREE OF DISEASE
AND INSECTS, INSECT EGGS AND LARVAE AND SHALL HAVE ADEQUATE ROOT SYSTEMS.  TREES FOR
PLANTING IN ROWS SHALL BE UNIFORM IN SIZE AND SHAPE.  ALL MATERIALS SHALL BE SUBJECT TO
APPROVAL BY THE OWNER.  WHERE ANY REQUIREMENTS ARE OMITTED FROM THE PLANT LIST, THE PLANTS
FURNISHED SHALL BE NORMAL FOR THE VARIETY.  PLANTS SHALL BE PRUNED PRIOR TO DELIVERY ONLY
UPON THE APPROVAL OF THE OWNER.

SAMPLES OF MATERIALS AS LISTED BELOW SHALL BE SUBMITTED FOR APPROVAL, ON THE SITE OR
AS OTHERWISE DETERMINED BY THE OWNER.  UPON APPROVAL OF SAMPLES, DELIVERY OF
MATERIALS MAY BEGIN.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL UNAUTHORIZED CUTTING OR DAMAGE TO TREES
AND SHRUBS EXISTING OR OTHERWISE, CAUSED BY CARELESS OPERATION OF EQUIPMENT,
STOCKPILING OF MATERIALS, ETC.  THIS SHALL INCLUDE COMPACTION BY DRIVING OR PARKING INSIDE
THE DRIP-LINE OR THE SPILLING OF OIL, GASOLINE, OR OTHER DELETERIOUS MATERIALS WITHIN THE
DRIP-LINE.  NO MATERIALS  SHALL BE BURNED WHERE THE HEAT WILL DAMAGE ANY PLANT.  TREES
KILLED OR DAMAGED SO THAT THEY ARE MISSHAPEN AND/ OR UNSIGHTLY SHALL BE REPLACED AT
THE COST TO THE CONTRACTOR OF ONE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($100) PER CALIPER INCH ON AN
ESCALATING SCALE WHICH ADDS AN ADDITIONAL TWENTY  (20) PER CENT PER INCH OVER FOUR (4)
INCHES CALIPER AS FIXED AND AGREED LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.  CALIPER SHALL BE MEASURED SIX
(6) INCHES ABOVE GROUND LEVEL FOR TREES UP TO AND INCLUDING FOUR (4) INCHES IN CALIPER
AND TWELVE (12) INCHES ABOVE GROUND LEVEL FOR TREES OVER FOUR (4) INCHES IN CALIPER.

ALL EXISTING BUILDINGS, WALKS, WALLS, PAVING, PIPING, AND OTHER ITEMS OF CONSTRUCTION AND
PLANTING ALREADY COMPLETED OR ESTABLISHED SHALL BE PROTECTED FROM DAMAGE BY THIS
CONTRACTOR UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED.  ALL DAMAGE RESULTING FROM NEGLIGENCE SHALL BE
REPAIRED OR REPLACED TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE OWNER.

MATERIALS    SAMPLES

PLANTS      ONE (1) OF EACH VARIETY
TOPSOIL     ONE (1) CUBIC YARD
MULCH      ONE (1) CUBIC FOOT

2. PLANT MATERIALS

1. GENERAL

1. FINE GRADING UNDER THIS CONTRACT SHALL CONSIST OF FINAL FINISHED GRADING OF LAWN AND
PLANTING AREAS THAT HAVE BEEN ROUGH GRADED BY OTHERS.  BERMING AS SHOWN ON THE
DRAWINGS SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR, UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. AN ESTABLISHED CONTAINER GROWN PLANT SHALL BE TRANSPLANTED INTO A CONTAINER AND GROWN
IN THAT CONTAINER SUFFICIENTLY LONG FOR THE NEW FIBROUS ROOTS TO HAVE DEVELOPED SO THAT
THE ROOT MASS WILL RETAIN ITS SHAPE AND HOLD TOGETHER WHEN REMOVED FROM THE CONTAINER.
CONTAINER GROWN STOCK SHALL NOT BE HANDLED BY THEIR STEMS.

3. PLANT ROOTS BOUND IN CONTAINERS SHALL NOT BE ACCEPTABLE.

4. SUBSTITUTION OF NON-CONTAINER GROWN MATERIAL FOR MATERIAL EXPLICITLY SPECIFIED TO BE
CONTAINER GROWN WILL NOT BE PERMITTED UNLESS WRITTEN APPROVAL IS OBTAINED FROM THE OWNER
AND LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.

WHEN THE USE OF COLLECTED STOCK IS PERMITTED AS INDICATED ON THE PLANT LIST SCHEDULE,
THE MINIMUM SIZES OF ROOTBALLS SHALL BE EQUAL TO THAT SPECIFIED FOR THE NEXT LARGER SIZE OF
NURSERY GROWN STOCK OF THE SAME VARIETY.

PLANTS COLLECTED FROM WILD OR NATIVE STANDS SHALL BE CONSIDERED NURSERY GROWN WHEN THEY
HAVE BEEN SUCCESSFULLY REESTABLISHED IN A NURSERY ROW AND GROWN UNDER REGULAR NURSERY
CULTURAL PRACTICES FOR A MINIMUM OF TWO (2) GROWING SEASONS AND HAVE ATTAINED ADEQUATE
ROOT AND TOP GROWTH TO INDICATE FULL RECOVERY FROM TRANSPLANTING INTO THE NURSERY ROW.

QUANTITIES NECESSARY TO COMPLETE THE WORK ON THE DRAWINGS SHALL BE FURNISHED BY THE
CONTRACTOR. QUANTITY ESTIMATES HAVE BEEN MADE CAREFULLY, BUT THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OR
OWNER ASSUMES NO LIABILITY FOR OMISSIONS OR ERRORS. SHOULD A DISCREPANCY OCCUR BETWEEN
THE BIDDERS TAKE OFF AND THE PLANT LIST QUANTITY, THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT SHALL BE
NOTIFIED FOR CLARIFICATION PRIOR TO THE SUBMISSIONS OF BIDS.  ALL DIMENSIONS AND/OR SIZES
SPECIFIED SHALL BE THE MINIMUM ACCEPTABLE SIZE

4. SODDING

2. THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL FINE GRADE THE LAWN AND PLANTING AREAS TO BRING THE
ROUGH GRADE UP TO FINAL FINISHED GRADE ALLOWING FOR THICKNESS OF SOD AND/OR MULCH DEPTH.
THIS CONTRACTOR SHALL FINE GRADE BY HAND AND/OR WITH ALL EQUIPMENT NECESSARY INCLUDING A
GRADING TRACTOR WITH FRONT-END LOADER FOR TRANSPORTING SOIL WITHIN THE SITE.

3. ALL PLANTING AREAS SHALL BE GRADED AND MAINTAINED TO ALLOW FREE FLOW OF SURFACE WATER.
AREAS ADJACENT TO BUILDINGS SHALL SLOPE AWAY FROM THE BUILDINGS.

1. CLEANING UP BEFORE COMMENCING WORK: THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CLEAN UP WORK AND
SURROUNDING AREAS OF ALL RUBBISH OR OBJECTIONABLE MATTER.  ALL MORTAR, CEMENT, AND TOXIC
MATERIAL SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE SURFACE OF ALL PLANT BEDS.  THESE MATERIALS SHALL NOT BE
MIXED WITH THE SOIL.  SHOULD THE CONTRACTOR FIND SUCH SOIL CONDITIONS BENEATH THE SOIL
WHICH WILL IN ANY WAY ADVERSELY AFFECT THE PLANT GROWTH, HE SHALL IMMEDIATELY CALL IT TO THE
ATTENTION OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OR OWNER.  FAILURE TO DO SO BEFORE PLANTING SHALL
MAKE THE CORRECTIVE MEASURES THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR.

2. VERIFY LOCATIONS OF ALL UTILITIES, CONDUITS, SUPPLY LINES AND CABLES, INCLUDING BUT NOT
LIMITED TO:  ELECTRIC, GAS (LINES AND TANKS), WATER, SANITARY SEWER, STORMWATER LINES, CABLE AND
TELEPHONE.  PROPERLY MAINTAIN AND PROTECT EXISTING UTILITIES.

3. SUBGRADE EXCAVATION:  SITE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO REMOVE ALL EXISTING AND
IMPORTED LIMEROCK AND LIMEROCK SUB-BASE FROM ALL LANDSCAPE PLANTING AREAS TO A MINIMUM
DEPTH OF 36".  SITE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO BACKFILL THESE PLANTING AREAS TO ROUGH
FINISHED GRADE WITH CLEAN TOPSOIL FROM AN ON-SITE SOURCE OR AN IMPORTED SOURCE.  IF
LIMEROCK OR OTHER ADVERSE CONDITIONS OCCUR IN PLANTED AREAS AFTER 36"  DEEP EXCAVATION
BY SITE CONTRACTOR, AND POSITIVE DRAINAGE CAN NOT BE ACHIEVED, LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR
SHALL CONTACT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OR OWNER.

4. FURNISH NURSERY'S CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH ALL REQUIREMENTS AS HEREIN SPECIFIED AND
REQUIRED.  INSPECT AND SELECT PLANT MATERIALS BEFORE PLANTS ARE DUG AT NURSERY OR GROWING
SITE.

5. GENERAL:  COMPLY WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL, STATE, COUNTY, AND LOCAL REGULATIONS
GOVERNING LANDSCAPE MATERIALS AND WORK.  CONFORM TO ACCEPTED HORTICULTURAL PRACTICES
AS USED IN THE TRADE.  PLANTS SHALL BE PROTECTED UPON ARRIVAL AT THE SITE BY BEING
THOROUGHLY WATERED AND PROPERLY MAINTAINED UNTIL PLANTED.   PLANTS SHALL NOT REMAIN
UNPROTECTED FOR A PERIOD EXCEEDING TWENTY-FOUR (24) HOURS.  AT ALL TIMES WORKMANLIKE
METHODS CUSTOMARY IN GOOD HORTICULTURAL PRACTICES SHALL BE EXERCISED.

FINAL INSPECTION AT THE END OF THE GUARANTEE PERIOD SHALL BE ON PLANTING, CONSTRUCTION
AND ALL OTHER INCIDENTAL WORK PERTAINING TO THIS CONTRACT.  ANY REPLACEMENT AT THIS TIME
SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE SAME ONE (1) YEAR GUARANTEE (OR AS SPECIFIED BY THE LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT OR OWNER IN WRITING) BEGINNING WITH THE TIME OF REPLACEMENT AND ENDING WITH THE
SAME INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE HEREIN DESCRIBED.

4. IN THE EVENT THE OWNER DOES NOT CONTRACT WITH THE CONTRACTOR FOR LANDSCAPE (AND
IRRIGATION) MAINTENANCE, THE CONTRACTOR IS ENCOURAGED TO VISIT THE PROJECT SITE
PERIODICALLY DURING THE ONE YEAR WARRANTY PERIOD TO EVALUATE MAINTENANCE PROCEDURES
BEING PERFORMED BY THE OWNER, AND SHALL NOTIFY THE OWNER IN WRITING OF MAINTENANCE
PROCEDURES OR CONDITIONS WHICH THREATEN VIGOROUS AND HEALTH PLANT GROWTH.  IT IS
SUGGESTED SUCH SITE VISITS SHALL BE CONDUCTED A MINIMUM OF ONCE PER MONTH FOR A PERIOD
OF TWELVE (12) MONTHS FROM THE DATE OF ACCEPTANCE.

3. REPLACEMENT: ANY PLANT NOT FOUND IN A HEALTHY GROWING CONDITION AT THE END OF THE
GUARANTEE PERIOD SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE SITE AND REPLACED AS SOON AS WEATHER
CONDITIONS PERMIT.  ALL REPLACEMENTS SHALL BE PLANTS OF THE SAME KIND AND SIZE AS
SPECIFIED IN THE PLANT LIST.  THEY SHALL BE FURNISHED PLANTED AND MULCHED AS SPECIFIED
UNDER "PLANTING", AT NO ADDITIONAL COST TO THE OWNER.

2. THE LIFE AND SATISFACTORY CONDITION OF ALL OTHER PLANT MATERIAL (INCLUDING SOD) INSTALLED
BY THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE GUARANTEED BY THE CONTRACTOR FOR A MINIMUM OF 90
CALENDAR DAYS, COMMENCING AT THE TIME OF CERTIFICATION OF ACCEPTABILITY BY THE
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT OR OWNER.

1. THE LIFE AND SATISFACTORY CONDITION OF ALL PLANT MATERIAL INSTALLED BY THE LANDSCAPE
CONTRACTOR SHALL BE GUARANTEED BY THE CONTRACTOR FOR A MINIMUM OF ONE (1) CALENDAR
YEAR COMMENCING AT THE TIME OF CERTIFICATION OF ACCEPTABILITY BY THE LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT OR OWNER.

1. CONTRACTORS ARE REQUESTED TO PROVIDE A BID ESTIMATE FOR MAINTENANCE FOLLOWING THE
INITIAL 90-DAY MAINTENANCE PERIOD ON A COST PER MONTH BASIS.

3. PLANTS MARKED "BR" IN THE PLANT LIST SHALL BE DUG WITH BARE ROOTS.  THE ROOTS SHALL NOT
BE CUT WITHIN THE MINIMUM SPREAD SPECIFIED IN THE PLANT LIST.  CARE SHALL BE EXERCISED
THAT THE ROOTS DO NOT DRY OUT IN MOVING AND PRIOR TO PLANTING.

2. BALLED AND BURLAPPED PLANTS (B&B) SHALL BE DUG WITH FIRM, NATURAL BALLS OF SOIL OF
SUFFICIENT SIZE TO ENCOMPASS THE FIBROUS AND FEEDING ROOTS OF THE PLANTS.  NO PLANTS
MOVED WITH A BALL SHALL BE PLANTED IF THE BALL IS CRACKED OR BROKEN.  PLANTS BALLED AND
BURLAPPED OR CONTAINER GROWN SHALL NOT BE HANDLED BY STEMS.

1. PROTECT ROOTS OR BALLS OF PLANTS AT ALL TIMES FROM SUN AND DRYING WINDS, WATER AND
FREEZING, AS NECESSARY UNTIL PLANTING.  PLANT MATERIALS SHALL BE ADEQUATELY PACKED TO
PREVENT BREAKAGE AND DRYING OUT DURING TRANSIT.  TREES TRANSPORTED MORE THAN TEN (10)
MILES OR WHICH ARE NOT PLANTED WITHIN THREE (3) DAYS OF DELIVERY TO SITE SHALL BE SPRAYED
WITH AN ANTI-TRANSPIRANT PRODUCT ("WILTPRUF" OR EQUAL) TO MINIMIZE TRANSPIRATIONAL WATER LOSS.

MULCH MATERIAL SHALL BE MOISTENED AT THE TIME OF APPLICATION TO PREVENT WIND
DISPLACEMENT, AND APPLIED AT A DEPTH OF 3 INCHES.  SEE PLANT LIST FOR TYPE OF MATERIAL
AND GRADE.

IN ADDITION TO SURFACE APPLIED FERTILIZERS, ALL CONTAINER GROWN AND FIELD GROWN PLANT
MATERIAL SHALL RECEIVE "AGRIFORM" PLANTING TABLETS 24-10-5 FORMULA, 21 GRAM OR EQUAL.
 THESE TABLETS SHALL BE PLACED AT A DEPTH   OF ROOT BALL AT THE RATE AS SPECIFIED BY
MANUFACTURER.

1. SHRUBS AND TREES - MILORGANITE, OR APPROVED EQUAL

3. SOD - 8-8-8 FERTILIZER
2. ANNUALS AND GROUNDCOVERS - OSMOCOTE/SIERRA BLEND 14-14-14

7. ALL PLANTING PITS SHALL BE EXCAVATED TO SIZE AND DEPTH IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE USA
STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK 260.1, UNLESS SHOWN OTHERWISE ON THE DRAWINGS, AND BACKFILLED
WITH THE PREPARED PLANTING SOIL AS SPECIFIED HEREIN BEFORE (SECTION H).  TEST ALL TREE PITS
WITH WATER BEFORE PLANTING TO ASSURE PROPER DRAINAGE PERCOLATION IS AVAILABLE.  NO
ALLOWANCE WILL BE MADE FOR LOST PLANTS DUE TO IMPROPER DRAINAGE.  IF POOR DRAINAGE EXISTS,
UTILIZE PLANTING DETAIL THAT ADDRESSES THIS CONDITION.  TREES SHALL BE SET PLUMB AND HELD IN
POSITION UNTIL THE PLANTING MIXTURE HAS BEEN FLUSHED INTO PLACE WITH A SLOW, FULL HOSE STREAM.
ALL PLANTING SHALL BE PERFORMED BY PERSONNEL FAMILIAR WITH PLANTING PROCEDURE AND UNDER
THE SUPERVISION OF A QUALIFIED PLANTING FOREMAN.  PROPER "JETTING IN" SHALL BE ASSURED TO
ELIMINATE AIR POCKETS AROUND THE ROOTS.  "JET STICK" OR EQUAL IS RECOMMENDED.

8. TAKE ALL NECESSARY PRECAUTIONS TO AVOID DAMAGE TO BUILDINGS AND BUILDING STRUCTURES
WHILE INSTALLING TREES.

9. SOIL MIXTURE SHALL BE AS SPECIFIED IN SECTION H OF THESE SPECIFICATIONS.  IN ADDITION,
EACH PLANTING PIT SHALL RECEIVE 21-GRAM "AGRIFORM" PLANTING TABLETS PER MANUFACTURER'S
SPECIFICATIONS OR AS FOLLOWS:

10. TREES AND SHRUBS SHALL BE SET STRAIGHT AND AT SUCH A LEVEL THAT AFTER SETTLEMENT, THE
PLANT CROWN WILL STAND ONE (1) TO TWO (2) INCHES ABOVE GRADE.  EACH PLANT SHALL BE SET IN
THE CENTER OF THE PIT.  PLANTING SOIL MIXTURE SHALL BE BACKFILLED AND THOROUGHLY TAMPED
AROUND THE BALL AND SHALL BE SETTLED BY WATER AFTER TAMPING.

11. FILL HOLE WITH SOIL MIXTURE, MAKING CERTAIN ALL SOIL IS SATURATED.  TO DO THIS, FILL HOLE WITH
WATER AND ALLOW TO SOAK MINIMUM TWENTY (20) MINUTES, STIRRING IF NECESSARY TO GET SOIL
THOROUGHLY WET.  PACK LIGHTLY WITH FEET.  ADD MORE WET SOIL MIXTURE.  DO NOT COVER TOP OF
BALL WITH SOIL MIXTURE, ONLY WITH MULCH.  ALL BURLAP, ROPE, WIRES, ETC., SHALL BE REMOVED FROM
THE SIDES AND TOPS OF BALLS, BUT NO BURLAP SHALL BE PULLED FROM UNDERNEATH.

-  THREE (3) TABLETS PER 3 GAL. PLANT
-  FOUR (4) TABLETS PER 10 GAL. PLANT

-  TWO (2) TABLETS PER 1 GAL. PLANT

-  LARGER MATERIAL - TWO (2) TABLETS PER 1/2" OF TRUNK CALIPER

B. MEASUREMENTS: THE HEIGHT AND/OR WIDTH OF TREES SHALL BE MEASURED FROM THE GROUND OR
ACROSS THE NORMAL SPREAD OF BRANCHES WITH THE PLANTS IN THEIR NORMAL POSITION.  THIS
MEASUREMENT SHALL NOT INCLUDE THE IMMEDIATE TERMINAL GROWTH.  PLANTS LARGER IN SIZE THAN
 THOSE SPECIFIED IN THE PLANT LIST MAY BE USED IF APPROVED BY THE OWNER.  IF THE USE OF
LARGER PLANTS IS APPROVED, THE BALL OF EARTH OR SPREAD OF ROOTS SHALL BE INCREASED IN
PROPORTION TO THE SIZE OF THE PLANT.

GENERAL LANDSCAPE SPECIFICATIONS AND NOTES
A.  SCOPE OF WORK

B.  PROTECTION OF EXISTING STRUCTURES

C.  PROTECTION OF EXISTING PLANT MATERIALS OUTSIDE LIMIT OF WORK

D.  MATERIALS

E.  TOPSOIL

I.  WATER

J.  COMMERCIAL FERTILIZER

K.  MULCH

L.  DIGGING AND HANDLING

M.  CONTAINER GROWN STOCK

S.  LAWN SODDING

R.  PLANTING PROCEDURES

Q.  FINE GRADING

P.  MATERIALS LIST

O.  NATIVE STOCK

N.  COLLECTED STOCK

T.  CLEAN-UP

U.  PLANT MATERIAL MAINTENANCE

V.  MAINTENANCE (ALTERNATE BID ITEM)

W.  GUARANTEE

X.  FINAL INSPECTION AND ACCEPTANCE OF WORK

a. ORGANIC SOIL AMENDMENTS

1. MANURE:  WELL-ROTTED, UNLEACHED, STABLE OR CATTLE MANURE CONTAINING NOT MORE
THAN 25 PERCENT BY VOLUME OF STRAW, SAWDUST, OR OTHER BEDDING MATERIALS; FREE
OF TOXIC SUBSTANCES, STONES, STICKS, SOIL, WEED SEED, AND MATERIAL HARMFUL TO
PLANT GROWTH.

2. BACK TO NATURE COTTON BURR COMPOST OR APPROVED EQUIVALENT.

3. COMPOST: DECOMPOSED ORGANIC MATERIAL INCLUDING LEAF LITTER, MANURE, SAWDUST,
PLANT TRIMMINGS AND/OR HAY, MIXED WITH SOIL.

4. PECAN HULLS: COMPOSTED PECAN HULLS FOR LOCAL SOURCE.

5. BIOSOLIDS: USE GRADE 1 CONTAINING LOWER PATHOGEN LEVELS.

6. WORM CASTINGS: EARTHWORMS.

b. INORGANIC SOIL AMENDMENTS

1. LIME:  ASTM C602, CLASS O AGRICULTURAL LIMESTONE CONTAINING A MINIMUM OF 80
PERCENT CALCIUM CARBONATE EQUIVALENT WITH A MINIMUM OF 95 PERCENT PASSING NO. 8
SIEVE AND MINIMUM OF 55 PERCENT PASSING NO. 60 SIEVE.

2. SULFUR:  GRANULAR, BIODEGRADABLE, CONTAINING A MINIMUM OF 90 PERCENT SULFUR,
WITH A MINIMUM OF 99 PERCENT PASSING NO. 6 SIEVE AND A MAXIMUM OF 10 PERCENT
PASSING NO. 40 SIEVE.

3. IRON SULFATE:  GRANULATED FERROUS SULFATE CONTAINING A MINIMUM OF 20 PERCENT
IRON AND 10 PERCENT SULFUR.

4. AGRICULTURAL GYPSUM:  FINELY GROUND, CONTAINING A MINIMUM OF 90 PERCENT CALCIUM
SULFATE.

5. SAND:  CLEAN, WASHED, NATURAL OR MANUFACTURED, FREE OF TOXIC MATERIALS.

c. PLANTING SOIL MIX

1. PLANTING MIX MAY BE PROVIDED BY LIVING EARTH OR MINICK MATERIALS OR APPROVED
EQUAL.

2. PLANTING MEDIUM CONTAINING 75 PERCENT SPECIFIED TOPSOIL MIXED WITH 15 PERCENT
ORGANIC SOIL AMENDMENTS AND 10 PERCENT SHARP WASHED SAND.  INSTALL TO DEPTHS,
PER PLANTING DETAILS (12" MIN.) FINISHED GRADES OF PLANTING BEDS TO BE 2" BELOW
FINISHED GRADE OF ADJACENT PAVING OR AS SHOWN ON GRADING PLAN.

2.   SOD/SEED AREA TOPSOIL
ALL SOD AREAS TO RECEIVE 4" DEPTH (MIN) TOPSOIL  PRIOR TO INSTALLATION. TOPSOIL
SHALL BE NATURAL, FRIABLE, FERTILE, WITH 25% (MIN.) ORGANIC MATERIAL, AND FREE OF
TRASH, DEBRIS, STONES, WEEDS, AND TWIGS/BRANCHES. THE PARTICLE SIZES SHALL BE
SUCH THAT 98.5% OF THE TOPSOIL WILL PASS THROUGH A 1/2 INCH SCREEN, AND 99% MORE
SHALL PASS THROUGH A 3/4 INCH SCREEN. TOPSOIL SHALL BE REVIEWED/APPROVED BY
OWNER/LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT PRIOR TO INSTALLATION. CONTRACTOR TO SUBMIT SAMPLES
IN 1 GAL (MIN.) CONTAINER.

1. ASTM D5268, NATURAL, FRIABLE, FERTILE, FINE LOAMY SOIL POSSESSING CHARACTERISTICS OF
REPRESENTATIVE TOPSOIL IN THE VICINITY THAT PRODUCES HEAVY GROWTH.  TOPSOIL SHALL HAVE A PH
RANGE OF 5.5 TO 7.4 PERCENT, FREE FROM SUBSOIL, OBJECTIONABLE WEEDS, LITTER, SODS, STIFF CLAY,
STONES LARGER THAN 1-INCH IN DIAMETER, STUMPS, ROOTS, TRASH, HERBICIDES, TOXIC SUBSTANCES, OR
ANY OTHER MATERIAL WHICH MAY BE HARMFUL TO PLANT GROWTH OR HINDER PLANTING OPERATIONS.
TOP SOIL SHALL CONTAIN A MINIMUM OF THREE PERCENT ORGANIC MATERIAL.

2. SALVAGED OR EXISTING TOPSOIL: REUSE SUITABLE TOPSOIL STOCKPILED ON-SITE OR EXISTING TOPSOIL
UNDISTURBED BY GRADING OR EXCAVATION OPERATIONS. CLEAN TOPSOIL OF ROOTS, PLANTS, SOD,
STONES, CLAY LUMPS, AND OTHER EXTRANEOUS MATERIALS HARMFUL TO PLANT GROWTH.

3. VERIFY AMOUNT OF SUITABLE TOPSOIL STOCKPILED IF ANY, AND SUPPLY ADDITIONAL IMPORTED TOPSOIL
AS NEEDED.  FOUR (4) INCHES OF TOPSOIL TO BE PROVIDED FOR ALL TURF AREAS.  TWENTY FOUR (24)
INCHES OF TOPSOIL TO BE PROVIDED FOR ALL PLANTING BEDS.

4. IMPORTED TOPSOIL: SUPPLEMENT SALVAGED TOPSOIL WITH IMPORTED TOPSOIL FROM OFF-SITE SOURCES
WHEN EXISTING QUANTITIES ARE INSUFFICIENT.

5. OBTAIN TOPSOIL DISPLACED FROM NATURALLY WELL-DRAINED SITES WHERE TOPSOIL OCCURS AT LEAST 6
INCHES DEEP; DO NOT OBTAIN FROM AGRICULTURAL LAND, BOGS, OR MARSHES.

6. VERIFY BORROW AND DISPOSAL SITES ARE PERMITTED AS REQUIRED BY STATE AND LOCAL REGULATIONS.
OBTAIN WRITTEN CONFIRMATION THAT PERMITS ARE CURRENT AND ACTIVE.

7. OBTAIN PERMITS REQUIRED BY STATE AND LOCAL REGULATIONS FOR TRANSPORTING TOPSOIL. PERMITS
SHALL BE CURRENT AND ACTIVE.

8. AMEND EXISTING AND IMPORTED TOPSOIL AS INDICATED BELOW.

A. PROVIDE FRESH, CLEAN, NEW CROP LAWN SEED MIXTURE. FURNISH TO OWNER DEALERS GUARANTEED
STATEMENT OF COMPOSITION OF MIXTURE AND PERCENTAGE OF PURITY AND GERMINATION OF EACH VARIETY.

B. SEED MIXTURE: PROVIDE SEED OF GRASS SPECIES AND VARIETIES, PROPORTIONS BY WEIGHT AND MINIMUM
PERCENTAGES OF PURITY, GERMINATION, AND MAXIMUM PERCENTAGE OF WEED SEED. SEED MIXTURES VARY
BY REGION AND SEASON AND SHALL COMPLY WITH STATE DO AND LOCAL SOIL CONSERVATION SERVICE
STANDARDS FOR LAWN TURF.

C. DO NOT PERFORM SEEDING IN WINDY CONDITIONS.

D. SEEDING SHALL BE DISPERSED IN 2 DIRECTIONS AT RIGHT ANGLES TO EACH OTHER.

E. PERMANENTLY SEED AND MULCH CUT AND FILL SLOPES AS CONSTRUCTION PROCEEDS TO EXTENT
CONSIDERED DESIRABLE AND PRACTICAL. IN THE EVENT IT IS NOT PRACTICAL TO SEED AREAS, SLOPES SHALL
BE STABILIZED WITH STRAW MULCH AND TACKIFIER, BONDED FIBER MATRIX, NETTING, BLANKETS OR OTHER
MEANS TO REDUCE THE EROSIVE POTENTIAL OF THE AREA.

F. SEED LAWN AREAS BY SOWING EVENLY WITH APPROVED MECHANICAL SEEDER AT RATE OF MINIMUM OF 6
POUNDS PER 1,000 SQUARE FEET. AMOUNT WILL VARY BASED ON VARIETY AND/OR SPECIES. CULTI-PACKER OR
APPROVED SIMILAR EQUIPMENT MAY BE USED TO COVER SEED AND TO FORM SEEDBED IN ONE OPERATION. IN
AREAS INACCESSIBLE TO CUTI-PACKER, LIGHTLY RAKE SEEDED GROUND WITH FLEXIBLE RAKES AD ROLL WITH
WATER BALLAST ROLLER. AFTER ROLLING, MULCH WITH STRAW MULCH AT THE RATE OF 2 TONS PER ACRE.

G. SURFACE LAYER OF SOIL FOR SEEDED AREAS SHALL BE KEPT MOIST DURING GERMINATION PERIOD. WATER
SEEDED AREAS TWICE FIRST WEEK TO MINIMUM DEPTH OF 6 INCHES WITH FINE SPRAY AND ONCE PER WEEK
THEREAFTER AS NECESSARY TO SUPPLEMENT NATURAL RAIN TO EQUIVALENT OF 6 INCHES DEPTH.

H. CONTRACTOR TO REAPPLY SEED AS NECESSARY IN ORDER TO GET ALL SEEDED AREAS ESTABLISHED AS
INTENDED.

5. SEEDING

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 7 of 8

94

Item 22.



1

2

3

4

5

6

7
8

9

10

11

14

12

13

S
al

ce
do

 G
ro

up
, I

nc
or

po
ra

te
d 

C
iv

il 
E

ng
in

ee
rs

 - 
S

ur
ve

yo
rs

Salcedo Group, Inc.

SGI
Know what's below.

      Call before you dig.

SALCEDO GROUP, INC.
REGISTRATION NO. F-5482

CONCEPTUAL - FOR INTERIM
REVIEW ONLY.

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE FOR INTERIM REVIEW AND
NOT INTENDED FOR CONSTRUCTION, BIDDING, OR
PERMIT PURPOSES.  THEY WERE PREPARED BY, OR

UNDER THE SUPERVISION OF:

____________________________________________
MICHAEL A. SALCEDO - PE #134324                     DATE

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 8 of 8

95

Item 22.



SLAB ON GRADE
100' - 0"

T. O. 2nd
SUBFLOOR

110' - 11 7/8"

2nd BEARING
109' - 1 1/8"

T. O. 3rd
SUBFLOOR

121' - 11 3/4"

T. O. TRUSS
BEARING

142' - 0 3/4"

3rd BEARING
120' - 1"

T. O. 4th
SUBFLOOR

132' - 11 5/8"

4th BEARING
131' - 0 7/8"

A1
A-300

A3
A-301A2

A-301 A1
A-303

A4
A-304

POLYURETHANE FAUX 
WOOD TRUSS, TYP.

POLYURETHANE FAUX 
WOOD CORBEL, TYP.

POLYURETHANE FAUX 
WOOD ARBOR, TYP.

S-2

L-1

CS-1
S-1

ST-1

L-1

L-1

ST-1

ARCHITECTURAL 
SHINGLES

S-2
CS-1

ST-1

S-1

L-1 L-1

L-1

ST-1

ST-1

4
9
' -

 4
 3

/4
"

OVERHANG AND TENSION ROD 
COLOR TO MATCH EXTERIOR 
DOORS.

DOOR. TYP. RE: SCHED.

PENDANT, TYP. RE: 
ELECTRICAL

WINDOW, TYP. RE: 
SCHED.

FAUX WOOD ARBOR, 
TYP.

SLAB ON GRADE
100' - 0"

T. O. 2nd
SUBFLOOR

110' - 11 7/8"

2nd BEARING
109' - 1 1/8"

T. O. 3rd
SUBFLOOR

121' - 11 3/4"

T. O. TRUSS
BEARING

142' - 0 3/4"

3rd BEARING
120' - 1"

T. O. 4th
SUBFLOOR

132' - 11 5/8"

4th BEARING
131' - 0 7/8"

A3
A-301

A2
A-301

A1
A-303

A4
A-304POLYURETHANE FAUX 

WOOD TRUSS, TYP.

S-2

L-1

ST-1

CS-1

S-2

S-1

ST-1

S-1

S-2

L-1

L-1

L-1

L-1

L-1

L-1

S-2

ST-1

CS-1

ST-1ST-1

4
9
' -

 4
 3

/4
"

POLYURETHANE FAUX 
WOOD CORBEL, TYP.

DOOR. TYP. RE: SCHED.

PENDANT, TYP. RE: 
ELECTRICAL

WINDOW, TYP. RE: 
SCHED.

FAUX WOOD 
ARBOR, TYP.

8" PREFINISHED FIBER LAP SIDING, COLOR: 
HEATHERED MOSS, HARDIE BOARD

8" PREFINISHED FIBER LAP SIDING, COLOR: 
COUNTRYLANE RED, HARDIE BOARD

NATURAL CUT LIMESTONE, COLOR: LIGHT 

3 COAT STUCCO, COLOR: SW 0054

CAST STONE BANDING, WINDOW SILLS AND 
CAPS, COLOR TO MATCH STONE.

SPLIT FACE CMU, PAINT TO MATCH STONE.

PREFINISHED FIBER TRIM -
3-1/2" & 5-1/2" AT WINDOW 
11-1/4" AT BANDING
3-1/2" VERTICAL OUTSIDE / 

INSIDE CORNER TRIM

ARCHITECTURAL SHINGLES, COLOR: 
CHARCOAL, TIMBERLINE

MATERIAL LEGEND

S-1

S-2

L-1

ST-1

CS-1

C-1

T-1

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T
U

R
E

IN
T
E

R
IO

R
 D

E
S

IG
N

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G

P
L
A

N
N

IN
G

A
S

S
O

C
IA

T
E

S
&

p
.c

.

d
E

N
V

E
R
▲

K
A

N
S

A
S

 
C

IT
Y
▲

S
T
. 
L
O

U
IS

 
▲

A
T
L
A

N
T
A

r
o

s
e

m
a

n
n

SHEET TITLE

PROJECT NUMBER:

SHEET NUMBER:

PRINTS ISSUED

REVISIONS:

w
:

w
w

w
.r

o
se

m
a

n
n

.c
o

m

1
/2

8
/2

0
2

2
 2

:0
3
:0

2
 P

M
C

:\
R

e
v
it 

L
o

c
a

l C
a

ch
e

\2
0
2

1
\2

1
0

5
0

 P
a

rk
s
id

e
 o

n
 C

a
rr

ie
r 

r2
1

_
re

v
it7

E
C

8
2

U
.r

v
t

200

NORTH & SOUTH COLORED
ELEVATIONS

21050

01/28/22 SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL

P
A

R
K

S
ID

E
 O

N
 C

A
R

R
IE

R

1
2
1

7
 S

. 
C

A
R

R
IE

R
 P

K
W

Y
G

R
A

N
D

 P
R

A
IR

IE
, 
T

X

©
 2

0
2

1
 R

o
s
e

m
a

n
n

 &
 A

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s,

 P
.C

.

1
5

2
6

 G
ra

n
d

 B
o

u
le

v
a

rd

K
a

n
s
a

s
 C

it
y
, 

M
O

 6
4

1
0

8
-1

4
0

4

p
: 

8
1

6
.4

7
2

.1
4

4
8

1/8" = 1'-0"A1
NORTH ELEVATION - COLORED

1/8" = 1'-0"B1
SOUTH ELEVATION - COLORED

South Exterior Facade

Material Material SF Material Percentage

Glazing 1,468 18%

Natural Cut Limestone 1,867 22%

Pre-Finished Fiber Lap Siding - Color S-1 1,356 16%

Pre-Finished Fiber Lap Siding - Color S-2 1,603 19%

Stucco 2,095 25%

Total Area 8,389 100%

North Exterior Facade

Material Material SF Material Percentage

Glazing 1,944 23%

Natural Cut Limestone 3,312 39%

Pre-Finished Fiber Lap Siding - Color S-1 1,136 14%

Pre-Finished Fiber Lap Siding - Color S-2 1,036 12%

Stucco 1,064 12%

Total Area 8,492 100%

A-

Exhibit D - Building Elevations
Page 1 of 2

96

Item 22.



SLAB ON GRADE
100' - 0"

T. O. 2nd
SUBFLOOR

110' - 11 7/8"

2nd BEARING
109' - 1 1/8"

T. O. 3rd
SUBFLOOR

121' - 11 3/4"

T. O. TRUSS
BEARING

142' - 0 3/4"

3rd BEARING
120' - 1"

T. O. 4th
SUBFLOOR

132' - 11 5/8"

4th BEARING
131' - 0 7/8"

A1
A-301

A2
A-303

A5
A-304

ST-1

S-2

L-1L-1

ARCHITECTURAL SHINGLES

POLYURETHANE FAUX 
WOOD CORBEL, TYP.

CS-1

ST-1

ARCHITECTURAL SHINGLES

DOOR. TYP. RE: SCHED. WINDOW. TYP. RE: SCHED.

SLAB ON GRADE
100' - 0"

T. O. 2nd
SUBFLOOR

110' - 11 7/8"

2nd BEARING
109' - 1 1/8"

T. O. 3rd
SUBFLOOR

121' - 11 3/4"

T. O. TRUSS
BEARING

142' - 0 3/4"

3rd BEARING
120' - 1"

T. O. 4th
SUBFLOOR

132' - 11 5/8"4th BEARING
131' - 0 7/8"

A2
A-303

A5
A-304

ST-1

S-2

L-1

L-1

L-1

ARCHITECTURAL SHINGLES

POLYURETHANE FAUX 
WOOD CORBEL, TYP.

CS-1

S-2ST-1

ARCHITECTURAL SHINGLES

DOOR. TYP. RE: SCHED.WINDOW. TYP. RE: SCHED.

A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T
U

R
E

IN
T
E

R
IO

R
 D

E
S

IG
N

E
N

G
IN

E
E

R
IN

G

P
L
A

N
N

IN
G

A
S

S
O

C
IA

T
E

S
&

p
.c

.

d
E

N
V

E
R
▲

K
A

N
S

A
S

 
C

IT
Y
▲

S
T
. 
L
O

U
IS

 
▲

A
T
L
A

N
T
A

r
o

s
e

m
a

n
n

SHEET TITLE

PROJECT NUMBER:

SHEET NUMBER:

PRINTS ISSUED

REVISIONS:

w
:

w
w

w
.r

o
se

m
a

n
n

.c
o

m

1
/2

8
/2

0
2

2
 2

:0
3
:0

4
 P

M
C

:\
R

e
v
it 

L
o

c
a

l C
a

ch
e

\2
0
2

1
\2

1
0

5
0

 P
a

rk
s
id

e
 o

n
 C

a
rr

ie
r 

r2
1

_
re

v
it7

E
C

8
2

U
.r

v
t

201

EAST & WEST COLORED
ELEVATIONS

21050

01/28/22 SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL

P
A

R
K

S
ID

E
 O

N
 C

A
R

R
IE

R

1
2
1

7
 S

. 
C

A
R

R
IE

R
 P

K
W

Y
G

R
A

N
D

 P
R

A
IR

IE
, 
T

X

©
 2

0
2

1
 R

o
s
e

m
a

n
n

 &
 A

s
s
o

c
ia

te
s,

 P
.C

.

1
5

2
6

 G
ra

n
d

 B
o

u
le

v
a

rd

K
a

n
s
a

s
 C

it
y
, 

M
O

 6
4

1
0

8
-1

4
0

4

p
: 

8
1

6
.4

7
2

.1
4

4
8

1/8" = 1'-0"A1
EAST ELEVATION - COLORED

1/8" = 1'-0"B1
WEST ELEVATION - COLORED

East Exterior Facade

Material Material SF Material Percentage

Glazing 196 8%

Natural Cut Limestone 1,140 41%

Pre-Finished Fiber Lap Siding - Color S-2 587 21%

Stucco 829 30%

Total Area 2,752 100%

West Exterior Facade

Material Material SF Material Percentage

Glazing 197 7%

Natural Cut Limestone 1,093 40%

Pre-Finished Fiber Lap Siding - Color S-2 587 22%

Stucco 830 31%

Total Area 2,707 100%

REFERENCE A-200 FOR MATERIALS LEGEND

A-

Exhibit D - Building Elevations
Page 2 of 2

97

Item 22.



Category 1: Environmentally-friendly building materials, construction techniques, or other features 
Tier I (Pick Three) 

 i. “Smart” technology which automatically controls functions such as lights and thermostat to reduce energy loads during the day or at times of 
peak energy usage. 

 ii. Use of solar or other form of alternative energy to satisfy approximately 25% or more of on-site energy demand. 

 iii. Landscaping plan that makes use of native, drought resistant plantings not requiring the use of irrigation. In lieu of sod or turf, drought resistant 
plantings may be combined with coordinated hardscapes of high design quality and appearance for the purposes of meeting Tier I requirements. 

 iv. Reservation of existing natural areas comprising 5% or more of the overall project size, with such areas incorporating quality non-invasive tree 
stands, habitat or riparian areas, and not including existing floodplain or other areas already protected or inherently unsuitable for development. 

 v. Permeable pavement for 10% or more of total paving. 

 vi. Electric car charging station (minimum 2). 

 vii. High efficiency windows on residential and common buildings. 

 viii. Stormwater or grey water reclamation for on-site reuse equivalent to a minimum 100% of irrigation in accordance with section 8.4.1.11. 

Tier II (Pick Four) 

 i. Integration of commercial/retail/office space or live-work units. 

 ii. Permeable pavement for 5% or more of total paving. 

 iii. Roofing material with a minimum total solar reflectance of 0.70 and a minimum thermal emittance of 0.75 when measured using ASTM testing 
methods endorsed by the North Central Texas Council of Governments. 

 iv. Significant use of recycled or locally-sourced materials.  Locally-sourced is defined as a material having its origin within 50 miles of the project. 

 v. Preservation of existing non-invasive trees with a combined canopy square footage area totaling at least 5% of the overall project size (trees 
can come from any portion of the site other than areas which are already projected or inherently unsuitable for development, such as 
floodplain). 

 vi. Qualified recycling program available to every resident. 

 vii. Walking/jogging trails within the development.  Where possible, trails should utilize existing natural areas and provide linkages to existing or 
future area trail networks. 

 viii. Stormwater or grey water reclamation for on-site reuse equivalent to a minimum 50% of irrigation in accordance with section 8.4.1.11. 

Tier III (Pick Five) 

 i. Additional insulation. 

 ii. LED or low-wattage lighting. 

 iii. Bicycle parking. 

 iv. Use of additional native plantings totaling 10% or more of minimum landscape requirements. 

 v. Stormwater or grey water reclamation for on-site reuse in accordance with section 8.4.1.11. 

 vi. Solar-ready building design. 

 vii. Outdoor recreation spaces with communal features such as furniture, landscaping, gardens, televisions, movie screens, BBQ grills, pergolas, 
areas for fitness or sports activities, and interactive water features, not including standard unheated swimming pools, which are designed for 
water conservation or reuse. 

 viii. Big and small dog parks. 

Category 2: High-quality features or designs 
Tier I (Pick Four) 

 i. Granite countertops or similar in kitchens and bathrooms. 

 ii. Upgraded flooring throughout, consisting of masonry tile, such as porcelain or travertine, wood-look tile, true hardwood, stained concrete, or 
deep pile carpeting. 

 iii. Minimum 10 foot ceilings in living areas, kitchen, dining rooms, hallways, bathrooms and bedrooms. 

 iv. Upgraded woodwork throughout each unit, such as crown molding, wainscot, chair rails, window and door moldings. 

 v. Upgraded cabinetry. 

Tier II (Pick Five) 

 i. Arched forms separating rooms and living spaces. 

 ii. Upgraded light fixtures including recessed lighting or indirect lighting. 

 iii. Walk-in closets. 

 iv. Jetted bathtubs. 

 v. Upgraded bathroom and kitchen hardware, including faucets and sinks. 

 vi. Full-size stainless steel major appliances (oven, range, refrigerator, dishwasher, microwave oven). 

 vii. 8 foot doors leading to each room of a unit. 

Category 3: Technology (Provide All) 

 a. Integrated USB ports within all units. 

 b. App-enabled functionality for door locks, lighting, thermostat, appliances, or other electronics. 

 c. App-enabled communication between residents and management for the reporting of problems related to mechanical failures, safety 
concerns, or noise issues. 

 d. Wi-fi internet access provided to users of common amenities such as clubhouse, pool, walking trails, and fitness area. 

 

Appendix W Checklist for Multi-family Development

x

x
x

x

x
x

x

x
x
x

x

x

x

x

x

See attached Developer 
Comments

Exhibit E - Appendix W Checklist 
Page 1 of 2

98

Item 22.



DEVELOPER COMMENTS RE: APPENDIX W 

Category Three of the Appendix W Checklist for Multi-family  Development includes providing “app-

enabled functionality for door locks, lighting, thermostat, appliances, or other electrics.” Developer is 

requesting that this requirement be waived for this development. The development will be restricted to 

senior residents. In conversations with the management company, the management company has 

indicated that senior residents prefer simpler controls for locks, lights, thermostat, appliances, and other 

electronics. The management company has also indicated that senior residents have a hard enough time 

handling existing technology and that providing app-enabled functionality would not be a benefit to 

them but would make their lives more difficult. Accordingly, we are requesting  that this requirement be 

waived. 

 

Exhibit E - Appendix W Checklist 
Page 2 of 2

99

Item 22.



 
401 College Street § Grand Prairie, Texas 75050 

Telephone: 214.412.3122 §  Fax: 214.412.3089 § www.salcedogroupinc.com 1 

 

PARKSIDE ON CARRIER 
PROJECT NARRATIVE 
 

Parkside on Carrier will be developed on approximately 2.85 acres located at 1217 S Carrier 
Parkway, Grand Prairie, Dallas County, TX. It will be built on the site of the current City Chapel 
church which will be demolished. The development will consist of a single elevatored 4-story 
residential building with 38 units. The community will be marketed to and restricted to seniors 
aged 55+ will allow tenants to enjoy an amenity rich community. Each apartment will include a 
full kitchen, window coverings, ceiling fans, individually controlled heating and air conditioning 
systems, in-unit washer/dryer and floor covering throughout. 
 
Community amenities include 2,110 square feet of amenity space to include management offices, 
community warming kitchen and gathering space, fitness facility, and business center. In addition, 
each floor of the 4-story building will also include amenity space for craft activities or quiet 
enjoyment. The Owner is working with local non-profit organizations to provide resident services 
such as annual tax preparation, a monthly food pantry, health fair, exercise classes, social and 
recreation events. Inside the 4-story building, residents will enjoy the use of amenities, all designed 
to enable the residents a carefree lifestyle. Exterior amenities will include a gazebo/dog park, raised 
garden beds, and partial perimeter fencing.  
 
The building exterior will be constructed using materials designed to render the building virtually 
maintenance-free during its tax credit compliance period and beyond. Consisting of brick or stone 
façade, with the balance of pre-finished, cementitious siding, the building exterior will stand up to 
the elements and normal wear with virtually no visual effect. Underground detention will be 
provided on site. 

  

Salcedo Group, Inc. 
 

 
DATE: NOVEMBER 30, 2021 

 

401 College Street, Grand Prairie, Texas 75050 
Phone 214.412.3122 Fax 214.412.4089 
www.salcedogroupinc.com 
Texas P.E. F-5482 : TBPLS Firm License No. 10070800 
 
 

 

 

Exhibit F - Project Narrative
Page 1 of 1

100

Item 22.

http://www.salcedogroupinc.com/


Page 1 of 5 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Monica Espinoza 

PRESENTER: Savannah Ware, AICP, Chief City Planner 

TITLE: STP-21-12-0025 - Site Plan - International Leadership Texas High 

School (City Council District 4). Site Plan for a High School Campus 

with an 88,655 sq. ft., two-story building, athletic fields, and 12 

temporary modular buildings on 27.82 acres. Lot 1, Block 1, IL Texas 

GP Addition and Lot 3, Block A, Sunbelt Addition, City of Grand 

Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas, zoned Agricultural and PD-319 and 

located within the SH-360 Corridor Overlay District, addressed as 2851 

Ragland Rd (On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning 

Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0 with the condition 

that the building elevations meet Appendix F requirements) 

APPLICANT: International Leadership School – Grand Prairie, Inc. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Staff generally supports the request. Staff is not opposed to the height 

variance request but finds there could be more facade articulation. The 

proposed site plan is similar to the previous site plan approved for the 

existing building. 

  

SUMMARY: 

Site Plan for a High School Campus with an 88,655 sq. ft., two-story building, athletic fields, and 12 

temporary modular buildings on 27.82 acres. Lot 1, Block 1, IL Texas GP Addition and Lot 3, Block A, 

Sunbelt Addition, City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas, zoned Agricultural and PD-319 and 

located within the SH-360 Corridor Overlay District, addressed as 2851 Ragland Rd. 

Project Update: 

 On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval with the 

condition that the building elevations meet Appendix F requirements. 

 The applicant revised the building elevations to remove the CMU’s and add covered walkways. 

PURPOSE OF REQUEST: 

The applicant intends to construct a two-story building, athletic fields, and 12 temporary modular 

buildings on the school campus.  Proposed campus improvements include construction of a student and 

101

Item 23.



Page 2 of 5 

staff parking lot and an access drive with direct connection to SH 360 Service Road.  The Unified 

Development Code (UDC) requires City Council approval of site plan request within a designated 

Corridor Overlay District.  The proposal requires City Council approval because the property is located 

within the SH-360 Corridor Overlay District. 

The purpose of site plan approval is to ensure that development meets UDC requirements, provides 

adequate circulation, and uses quality site planning techniques.  The UDC identifies criteria for 

evaluating proposed developments.  Criteria include density and dimensional standards, landscaping and 

screening requirements, and architectural design for special districts. 

Development within a Corridor Overlay District must meet the requirements in Appendix F.  The 

guidelines and standards contained in Appendix F are intended to produce high-quality places that 

enhance the quality of life for people in Grand Prairie, strengthen economic development efforts, and 

contribute to the positive image of the city. 

ADJACENT LAND USES: 

The following table summarizes the zoning designation and existing land uses for the surrounding 

properties. 

Table 1. Adjacent Land Use and Zoning 
Direction Zoning Existing Use 

North Agricultural Religious Instruction 

South Agricultural Undeveloped 

West Agricultural SH 360 Service Rd 

East Agricultural Gas Well 

HISTORY: 

 October 14, 2014: City Council approved a Site Plan authorizing Phase I of the International 

Leadership Charter School, which included construction of a 75,705 sq. ft. school building and 

dormitory building on 23.797 acres (Case Number S141001). 

 October 22, 2015: The Development Review Committee (DRC) administratively approved a Site 

Plan authorizing a 13,500 sq. ft. expansion of the school building provided that the architectural 

design mirrors the Council approved Site Plan and that the proposed access to S.H. 360 be 

removed from the plan (Case Number S141001B). 

 November 17, 2015: City Council approved an amendment to the associated Concept Plan 

extending the deadline to construct architectural elements on the south and east facades to 2019 

(Case Number CP151001). 

 April 21, 2017: The Development Review Committee (DRC) administratively approved a Site 

Plan authorizing an expansion to the school building and construction of additional parking and a 

temporary building to accommodate the ROTC program (Case Number S141001B). 

 March 19, 2019: City Council approved a Site Plan Amendment to extend the deadline to 

construct required architectural elements (Case Number S141001C). 

 November 2, 2021:  City Council approved a site plan amendment to allow for the placement of 

8 modular buildings to the site, subject to the applicant obtaining City Council approval of a Site 

Plan for the new building and a building permit for the new building (Case Number S210905). 

 

102

Item 23.



Page 3 of 5 

PROPOSED USE CHARACTERISTICS AND FUNCTION: 

The applicant proposes to construct a new two-story, 88,655 sq. ft. high school building to serve 1,200 

students.  The existing school building suffers from substantial construction defects. The applicant intends 

to construct the new building south of the existing building where the existing athletic fields are located. 

After the new building is constructed, the applicant will demolish the existing building. The existing 

parking lot will remain intact and the applicant will construct new athletic fields on the area of the site 

previously occupied by the existing building. 

The site is accessible from Ragland Rd, and the applicant is proposing an additional commercial 

driveway that will provide access from the SH 360 Service Road. 

ZONING REQUIREMENTS: 

Density and Dimensional Requirements 

The property is subject to density and dimensional requirements in Article 6 of the Unified Development 

Code (UDC) when not specified by the Planned Development. The following table summarizes these 

requirements. The proposal meets the density and dimensional requirements. 

Table 2. Site Data Summary 

Standard Required 

Ag 

Proposed Meets 

Min. Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) 5 Acres  27.82 Yes 

Min. Lot Width (Ft.) 100  603 Yes 

Min. Lot Depth (Ft.) 150 1,563 Yes 

Front Setback (Ft.) 40 750 Yes 

Rear Setback (Ft.) 25 400 Yes 

Max. Height (Ft.) 25 41.5 No 

 

Parking Requirements 

The property is subject to parking requirements in Article 10 of the UDC. The following table summarizes 

these requirements. 

Table 3. Parking Summary 

Standard for High School 1,208 

Students, 120 Staff 

Maximum 

Allowed 

Provided Meets 

 (1/1.5 Students + 1/Staff 986 517 Yes 

 

Landscape and Screening 

The property is subject to landscape and screening requirements in Article 8 and Appendix F of the UDC. 

The table below summarizes these requirements.  

Table 4.  Landscape Summary 

Standard Required Proposed Meets 

Landscape Area (Sq. Ft.) 10% - 100,629 28% - 286,114 Yes 

Trees  1/500 Sq. Ft. - 201 201 Yes 

103

Item 23.



Page 4 of 5 

Building Design 

The proposed building materials include brick and Concrete Masonry Units (CMU’s). Appendix F states 
that the use of CMU’s shall be prohibited on a facade that faces or is mostly parallel to a street, usable 
open space, a public park, or a parking lot with 10 or more spaces. The north elevation has an articulated 
entry feature supported by traditional columns.    

Appendix F Menu Items 

The applicant has selected 12 of the 12 required elements from the Appendix F Checklist. Selections are 

as follows:  maintain the existing parking and parking lot trees. a ride-share program, enhanced 

windows, color contrast, an open space plan to include connections to pedestrian paths and the trail 

system, 83% native plants, and 34% pollinator friendly flowers. 

VARIANCES: 

The applicant is requesting the following variances: 

1. Building Height – The maximum allowable height is 25 ft. The proposed building has a height of 

43.5 ft. 

2. Building Articulation – Appendix F requires horizontal and vertical articulation on all four 

facades of a building. The proposed building design does not include vertical articulation on all 

sides. 

3. Covered Walkways – Appendix F requires covered walkways, awnings, canopies, or porticos 

along at least 25% of the length of all four facades. The proposed building design does not meet 

this requirement. The revised elevations do not require this variance. 

4. CMU’s on the North, South, and East Facades – Appendix F prohibits the use of CMU’s on the 

North, South, and East Facades. The proposed elevations include CMU’s. The revised building 

elevations do not require this variance. 

ANALYSIS: 

In response to the applicant’s circumstances and concerns for the condition of the existing building, 

Council provided direction and conditions associated with the request to place multiple modular 

buildings on the school campus to accommodate classrooms during construction transition.   

The rebuild plan presented generally adheres to UDC, but requires several variances to the building 

design requirements in Appendix F.  The orientation of the new building, location of athletic fields is 

compatible with adjacent land uses. The proposed drive connection will provide direct access to the 

campus from SH-360 Service Road and could improve traffic circulation for the campus. 

 

 

Parking Island with Tree 

(Each space within 100’ of Tree) 

1 per 10 spaces 

52 

 

52 

 

Yes 

Total Trees 253 253 Yes 

Shrubs 1-5 Gal/50 Sq. Ft. 2,013 2,109 Yes 

Flowering/Colorful Plantings 20% of Req.  34% Yes 

Native Plantings 70% of Req. 83% Yes 

104

Item 23.



Page 5 of 5 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote 

of 7-0 with the condition that the building elevations meet Appendix F requirements. 

 Staff generally supports the request. Staff is not opposed to the height variance request but finds 

there could be more facade articulation. The proposed site plan is similar to the previous site plan 

approved for the existing building. 

105

Item 23.



Ragland Rd

S H
wy

 36
0 S

b S H
wy

 36
0 N

b

N Day Miar Rd

Loyd Park Rd

´
Development Services

(972) 237-8255
www.gptx.org

City of Grand Prairie

T360

CASE LOCATION MAP
STP-21-12-0025 - Site Plan
International Leadership Academy

Exhibit A - Location Map
Page 1 of 1

106

Item 23.



FM

FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM

FM

FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W W W W W W W W W W
W W W W W

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE

UGE UGE UGE UGE
U

G
E

G
AS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS
GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

COMM

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM
COMM

COMM

COMM COMM COMM COMM

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE
UGE

UGE UGE UGE
UGE

U
G

EU
G

E

UGE

UGE

U
G

E

U
G

E

U
G

E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

UGE

SS SS SS SS SS

GAS

G
AS

GAS
GAS

G
AS

G
AS

SS

W

W

SS SS

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W

W

SS
SS

SS
S

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

FM

FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM

FM

FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W W W W W W W W W W
W W W W W

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE

UGE UGE UGE UGE
U

G
E

G
AS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS
GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

COMM

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM
COMM

COMM

COMM COMM COMM COMM

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE
UGE

UGE UGE UGE
UGE

U
G

EU
G

E

UGE

UGE

U
G

E

U
G

E

U
G

E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

UGE

SS SS SS SS SS

GAS

G
AS

GAS
GAS

G
AS

G
AS

SS

W

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

15

7

15

13

77

14

26

CHARTER HIGH
SCHOOL BUILDING
88,655.11 SF
TWO-STORY

BASEBALL FIELD

SOCCER FIELD

COLOR
GUARD
DRILL PAD
4,200 SF

JROTC DRILL PAD
11,400 SF

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL FL FL FL FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FLFL
FL

FL
FL

FLFLFL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL FL FL

FL

FL

FL FL
FL

FL FL
FL FL FL

FL

FL FL FL FL

FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL

FLFLFLFL

20

7

8 8 8 8

13

7

13 1313 13

7 7

15 15 15 15

7 7

15 16 15 15 15

15

8

12

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FLFL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL FL

FLFLFLFL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL

16

25 11

BASKETBALL
COURT

15

16

7.5' UTILITY EASEMENT
INST. NO. D215290669

O.P.R.T.C.T.

II

G
W
W

I

D
D

III

I

I

I

I

LS WS

S

I G

G

D

25
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 L

IN
E

XXXX

X

CONCRETE HOSE
STRUCTURE

LOT  1, BLOCK 1
IL TEXAS GP ADDITION
INST. NO. D215290669

O.P.R.T.C.T.

BM# 102
BM# 101

BM#
100

I

G

G

D

D

D

D

II

II

II

II

II

II

II D
I II

C
II

G

DTV

D G
G

G

G

G

G
G G

G
G

G
G

G

G

G

G

G

G

I
G

I

I

I

D

W

G

D

X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X

X

X
X

X

TEXAS 360 TURNPIKE

(A VARIABLE WIDTH RIGHT-OF-WAY)

25' BUILDING LINE
INST. NO. D210017057
O.P.R.T.C.T.

30' PERMANENT WATER &
SANITARY SEWER LINE EASEMENT
VOL. 15412, PG. 293
O.P.R.T.C.T.

SE
W

ER
 L

IN
E 

EA
SE

M
EN

T
C

AB
. A

, P
G

. 1
06

07
D

.R
.T

.C
.T

.

LOT  3, BLOCK A
SUNBELT ADDITION

INST. NO. D210017057
O.P.R.T.C.T.

EXISTING LAND USE: VACANT

LOT  2, BLOCK A
SUNBELT ADDITION

INST. NO. D210017057
O.P.R.T.C.T.

EXISTING LAND USE: GAS WELL SITE

LOT  1, BLOCK A
SUNBELT ADDITION

INST. NO. D210017057
O.P.R.T.C.T.

INTERNATIONAL AMERICAN EDUCATION FEDERATION,
INC.

INST. NO. D219001492
O.P.R.T.C.T.

TOTAL E&P USA BARNETT, LLC
INST. NO. D219001492

O.P.R.T.C.T.

TOTAL E&P USA BARNETT, LLC
INST. NO. D219001492

O.P.R.T.C.T.

R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

O
AD

(A
PP

AR
EN

T 
50

' R
.O

.W
.)

5' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
VOL. 6411, PG. 960

D.R.T.C.T.

EXISTING DECELERATION
LANE AND STRIPING

30.0'
FIRE LANE

PROPOSED DRIVE
CONNECTION TO
S.H. 360

EXISTING 30'X30'
ACCESS

EASEMENT

PROPOSED 0.09 ACRES OF
ADDITIONAL ACCESS EASEMENT
BY SEPARATE INSTRUMENT

R100'

R130'

R30
'

R30'

R100' R130'

R30'

R80'

EXISTING DRIVE
ENTRANCE

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
AT

E

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

SC
AL

E

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y
61

60
 W

AR
R

EN
 P

AR
KW

AY
, S

U
IT

E 
21

0,
 F

R
IS

C
O

, T
X 

75
03

4
PH

O
N

E:
 9

72
-3

35
-3

58
0

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

N
M

H

PR
S

AS
 S

H
O

W
N

©
 2

01
9 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.

01/28/2022

068908206

IL
-T

EX
AS

 G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE
 

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AN

D
 P

R
AI

R
IE

, T
EX

AS
N

M
H

TE
XA

S 
R

EG
IS

TE
R

ED
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
 F

IR
M

 F
-9

28

28
51

 R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

D

Not for construction or permit purposes.
FOR REVIEW ONLY

Engineer

P.E. No. Date

NEDA M. HOSSEINY
126707 01/28/2022

0
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

8040 80 160

LYNN

MANSFIELD - W
EBB

9.
1

ARLINGTON - W
EBB

AR
LI

NG
TO

N
GR

AN
D 

PR
AI

RI
E

M
ICHELL

GRINDSTONE

SI
LO

FINGER

ZUEFELDT

Bowman

Br
an

ch

NATHAN

LOWE

WREN

ELLOIT

GRIM
SLEY

CHRISMAN

M
cCAM

PBELL

ARLINGTON W
EBB HANGER

W
EBB FERRELL

RAGLAND

LYNN

CITY

LIM
IT

ARLINGTON
CITY

LIM
IT

M
ANSFIELD

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE

C
IT

Y
LI

M
IT

C
IT

Y

LI
M

IT

HOLLAND

HILL
C

H
APEL

SPRING MILLER

STACEY RENEE

STEPHIE ANN

SILO

RUIDOSA

W
ELC

H
FIELD

PERRY

MAN

NUGENT

LO
G

AN

Loyd Park

Webb Park

SUBJECT
SITE

VICINITY MAP

C-100

O
VE

R
AL

L 
SI

TE
 P

LA
N

SITE PLAN
1 OF 2

SITE PLAN
2 OF 2

WATER LINE
SANITARY SEWER LINE
STORM SEWER LINE
EX. WATER LINE
EX. SANITARY SEWER LINE
EX. STORM SEWER LINE
EX. UNDERGROUND GAS LINE
EX. UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC LINE
EX. UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE LINE

UGE

W
SS

GAS

LINE TYPE LEGEND

COMM

W
SS

SITE PLAN
I.L. TEXAS HIGH SCHOOL

LOT 1, BLOCK 1
TOTAL ACREAGE: 27.82 ACRES

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS
CITY PROJECT NO. STP-21-12-0025

SUBMITTED JANUARY 28, 2022

ENGINEER / SURVEYOR / APPLICANT:
KIMLEY-HORN & ASSOCIATES, INC.
13455 NOEL ROAD
TWO GALLERIA OFFICE TOWER,
SUITE 700
DALLAS, TEXAS 75240
PH (972) 770-1300
CONTACT: NEDA HOSSEINY, P.E.

OWNER: ARCHITECT:
PIVOT NORTH
1101 W. GROVE ST.
BOISE, IDAHO 83702
PH. (208) 690-3108
CONTACT: DAN HARRIGAN, LEED GA.

INTERNATIONAL AMERICAN
EDUCATION FEDERATION INC.
1651 N. GLENVILLE RD. STE 126
RICHARDSON, TX 75081
CONTACT: CHARLES KLEIN
PH: 713-309-5046

PORTABLES LEGEND

PROPOSED PORTABLE
BUILDING OUTLINE

EXISTING PORTABLE
BUILDING OUTLINE

RR RESTROOM

4' SATELLITE RAMP & DECK
SYSTEM WITH HANDRAILS

PROP PAVEMENT

PROP BFR

PORTABLES COUNT
(3) EXISTING PORTABLES
(8) PROPOSED PORTABLES
(1) RR PORTABLES
(12) TOTAL PORTABLES

(10) PHASE DRINKING FOUNTAINS

ELEMENT
USABLE OPEN SPACE & PEDESTRIAN WALKWAYS
SITE DESIGN & BUILDING ORIENTATION
BUILDING DESIGN
HEALTHY, SMART, SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITY
ALTERNATIVE COMPLIANCE
TOTAL MENU ITEMS

APPENDIX F - MENU ITEM SUMMARY TABLE
#  OF MENU ITEMS

1
1
6
3
1

12

PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED EASEMENT

PROPOSED FENCE

EXISTING FENCE

PROPOSED FIRE LANE STRIPING

PROPOSED FIRELANE (CONCRETE)

EXISTING FIRELANE (CONCRETE)

PROPOSED SIDEWALK (CONCRETE)

EXISTING SIDEWALK (CONCRETE)

PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT (FH)

PROPOSED FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION

BARRIER FREE RAMP (BFR)

NUMBER OF PARKING SPACES PER ROW

EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING STORM MANHOLE

EXISTING SAN. SWR. MANHOLE

EXISTING SIGN

EXISITING WATER VALVE

EXISTING IRRIGATION CONTROL VALVE

EXISTING GAS MARKER

10

50015568.903

WV

I

50016567.774

ICV

G

50017556.291

UGG (SUMMIT MIDSTREAM)

LEGEND

SITE DATA TABLE

NOTES:
ACREAGE: 27.82 AC.
ZONING: A AND PD-319
USE: EDUCATION
STUDENTS ENROLLED: 1208

LANDSCAPING:
LANDSCAPE AREA REQUIRED: 100,629.69 SF

10% OF TOTAL SITE AREA
LANDSCAPE AREA PROVIDED: 286,114.33 SF

28% OF TOTAL SITE AREA

BUILDINGS:
HIGH SCHOOL FOOTPRINT: 88,655.11 SF
HIGH SCHOOL HEIGHT: 41'-6" (TWO-STORY)
PORTABLE FOOTPRINT: 1536 SF (EACH)
PORTABLE HEIGHT: 13'-3 14 "

PARKING REQUIRED
1/1.5 STUDENTS (1208)
1/1 STAFF (120)

TOTAL PARKING REQUIRED

PARKING PROVIDED
EXISTING TO REMAIN
PROPOSED

TOTAL PARKING PROVIDED

ADA PARKING
REQUIRED (2% OF PARKING)
PROVIDED

*517 PARKING STALLS PROPOSED PER DIRECTION  OF ILT
OPERATIONS. CALCULATIONS BASED OFF OF 50% OF
STUDENT DRIVERS

PARKING CALCULATIONS TABLE
SPACES

806
120
986

330
187
517*

11
11

Exhibit B - Site Plan
Page 1 of 3

107

Item 23.



FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM

FM

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

SS

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE

UG
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

G
AS

GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS
GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

COMM

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM
COMM

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W W

W W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

S

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM

FM

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

SS

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE

UG
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

G
AS

GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS
GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

COMM

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM
COMM

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

W

FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL

FL
15

7

15

13

77

14

26

CHARTER HIGH
SCHOOL BUILDING
88,655.11 SF
TWO-STORY

BASEBALL FIELD

SOCCER FIELD

COLOR GUARD
DRILL PAD
4,200 SF

JROTC DRILL PAD
11,400 SF

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL

FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FLFL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL

FL
FLFL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL

FLFLFLFLFLFL
FL FL

FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL

FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL FL

FLFLFLFLFLFLFLFLFL

20

7

8 8 8 8

13

7

13 1313 13

7 7

15 15 15 15

7 7

15 16 15 15 15

15

8

12

FL
FL

FL
FL

FLFLFLFL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL

FL FL FL

FLFLFLFLFLFLFL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL FL FL FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

16

25 11

BASKETBALL
COURT

15

16

EX
 6

" W
AT

ER
 L

IN
E

7.5' UTILITY EASEMENT
INST. NO. D215290669

O.P.R.T.C.T.

18.0' 20.0'22.0'

9.
0'

9.
0'

20.0'

9.
0'

20.0'18.0' 22.0' 20.0'

9.
0'

9.
0'

9.
0' 9.
0'

28.0' 18.0'

5.
0'

8.
0'

18.0'20.0'

9.
0'

18.0'

5.
0'

8.
0'

18.0'28.0'

9.
0'

6.
0'

EXISTING PARKING

EX. 6' SIDEWALK

EX. 6' SIDEWALK

34.5'

74
.5

'

LOT  1, BLOCK 1
IL TEXAS GP ADDITION
INST. NO. D215290669

O.P.R.T.C.T.

BM# 102

D

D

D

I
I

I
I

I
I

II

I
I

I
I

II
D

I

G

G G

G

G

G

G

G

I

I

X

X

X

X

X

X

C
AB

. A
, P

G
. 1

06
07

D
.R

.T
.C

.T
.

LOT  2, BLOCK A
SUNBELT ADDITION

INST. NO. D210017057
O.P.R.T.C.T.

EXISTING LAND USE: GAS WELL SITE

6.0'

5.
0'

S.
W

.

5.0'
S.W.

5.0'
S.W.

10
.0

'
S.

W
.

5.0'
S.W.

5.
0'

S.
W

.

5.0'
S.W.

5.0'
S.W.

5.0'
S.W.

6.0'
S.W.

R10'

R28'

R28'

R26' R28'

EX. FH

EX. 15' WATER EASEMENT

EX. 8" WATER

EX
. 8

" W
AT

ER

EX. 8" WATER EX. STORM MANHOLE

PROP. 8" WATER
EX. STORM MANHOLE

EX. STORM MANHOLE

EX. GAS LINE

EX. CHAIN FENCE

EX. 10' CURB INLET

EX. 4" PRIVATE FORCE MAIN

EX WATER VALVE

8' SIDEWALK

22'X12' DOUBLE DUMPSTER
ENCLOSURE WITH 8' MASONRY

SCREENING WALL PER CITY
STANDARD DETAILS

8' SIDEWALK

ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGN WITH
VAN ACCESSIBLE SIGN (TYP.)

FRONT ENTRY

ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGN WITH VAN
ACCESSIBLE SIGN (TYP.)

8' SIDEWALK

PROP. 6'
SIDEWALK

SSWR CLEANOUT

SSWR CONNECTION

BFRBFRBFR

BFR

BFR

6" FIRE SERVICE

3" WATER METER

2"IRRIGATION METER

PROPOSED 15' WATER
EASEMENT

PROP. 28'
FIRE LANE

6" CURB

6" CURB

PROPOSED 15' WATER
EASEMENT

PROP. BFR

BFR

BFR

WATER LINE EASEMENT
INST. NO. D215290669

O.P.R.T.C.T.

WATER LINE EASEMENT
INST. NO. D215290669
O.P.R.T.C.T.

EX 8" WATER

4.
9'

PR
O

P.
 8

" W
AT

ER
PR

O
P.

 8
" W

AT
ER

6" CURB

6" CURB

WHEEL
STOPS (TYP.)

WHEEL
STOPS (TYP.)

PROP. 15' WATER
EASEMENT

COOLING TOWER
ENCLOSURE

EXISTING FIRELANE

PR
O

P.
 S

SW
R

EX
. 4

" F
O

R
C

E 
M

AI
N

DROP-OFF AREA

21.0' 10.0'

6.0'
S.W.

8.
0'

5.0'
S.W.

BFR

N
59

°3
9'

19
"E

72
7.

69
'

EX
IS

TI
N

G
24

.0
'

FI
R

EL
AN

E

R10'

PROP. BFR

SSWR CLEANOUT

S30°22'03"E 1507.35'

17.4' 18.4' 17.7'

24.0'

9.
3'

9.
1'

9.
1'

18.1' 17.9'

9.
0'

9.
0'

9.
0'

17.8'

9.
2'

9.
2'

18.3' 18.1' 17.9'

9.
1'

9.
1'

9.
1'

18.0'

24.2' 24.2'

18.0'

17.9'

9.
0'

18.2'

9.
1'

9.
1'

17.9' 17.8' 18.1'

9.
1'

9.
1'

8.
9'

17.6'

17.9'

9.
0'

18.0' 18.0'

9.
0'

9.
0'

17.5' 18.0'

9.
1'

9.
1'

17.5'

9.
0'

23.5' 24.1' 24.2'

18.0' 18.1'

9.
1'

9.
1'

18.2' 17.8'

9.
0'

9.
0'

18.0'

9.
0'

23.6' 24.2' 24.1'

23
.4

'

24
.0

'

R44'

R10'

R20'

N34°55'52"W 1537.59'

EX. FH

PROP. FIRE HYDRANT

PROP. FIRE HYDRANT PROP. FIRE HYDRANT

PROP. FIRE
HYDRANT

GREASE TRAP

SSWR MANHOLE

PROP. FIRE
HYDRANT

PROP. FIRE
HYDRANTPROP. FIRE

DEPARTMENT
CONNECTION

PROP. FIRE
HYDRANT

R30'
R30'

24
.0

'

22.0'

R32'

8.0'

20.0'

9.
0'

13.0' 13.0'

8' SIDEWALK

PROP. LOCATION OF
RELOCATED FH

8.0'

6.0'
S.W.

8.0' 12.2'

8.
0'

10
.1

'

22
.0

'

40.0'

12.0'

27
.0

'

PROP. 6' CHAIN
LINK FENCE (TYP.)

PROP. 6' CHAIN
LINK FENCE (TYP.)

PROP. 6' CHAIN
LINK FENCE (TYP.)

FM

FM

FM

FM FM

W

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

U
G

E

UGE

UGE

GAS GAS

GAS GAS

COMM COMM

UGE

UGE

UGE
UGE

SS

SS
SS

SS

SS

SS

FM

FM

FM

FM FM

W

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

U
G

E

UGE

UGE

GAS GAS

GAS GAS

COMM COMM

UGE

UGE

UGE
UGE

SS

SS
SS

SS

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL

FL FL

FL FL

EXISTING PORTABLE
NO CHANGES

2 RRs

EXISTING PORTABLE
NO CHANGES

W/O RRs

PROP. PORTABLE BLDG.
ADDITION W/O RRs

FFE = 566.70

I

S

X

X X

D

G

G

I

I X
X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X

EX. HEADWALL

EX SANITARY
SEWER MANHOLE

EX. WOODEN RAMP

EX. 8" SSWR
CONNECTION

PROP BFR
W/ 5' LANDING

34.0'

12
.0

'

21.2'

EXISTING 24' FIRELANE

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
AT

E

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

SC
AL

E

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y
61

60
 W

AR
R

EN
 P

AR
KW

AY
, S

U
IT

E 
21

0,
 F

R
IS

C
O

, T
X 

75
03

4
PH

O
N

E:
 9

72
-3

35
-3

58
0

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

N
M

H

PR
S

AS
 S

H
O

W
N

©
 2

01
9 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.

01/28/2022

068908206

IL
-T

EX
AS

 G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE
 

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AN

D
 P

R
AI

R
IE

, T
EX

AS
N

M
H

TE
XA

S 
R

EG
IS

TE
R

ED
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
 F

IR
M

 F
-9

28

28
51

 R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

D

Not for construction or permit purposes.
FOR REVIEW ONLY

Engineer

P.E. No. Date

NEDA M. HOSSEINY
126707 01/28/2022

0
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

4020 40 80

LYNN

MANSFIELD - W
EBB

9.
1

ARLINGTON - W
EBB

AR
LI

NG
TO

N
GR

AN
D 

PR
AI

RI
E

M
ICHELL

GRINDSTONE

SI
LO

FINGER

ZUEFELDT

Bowman

Br
an

ch

NATHAN

LOWE

WREN

ELLOIT

GRIM
SLEY

CHRISMAN

M
cCAM

PBELL

ARLINGTON W
EBB HANGER

W
EBB FERRELL

RAGLAND
LYNN

CITY

LIM
IT

ARLINGTON
CITY

LIM
IT

M
ANSFIELD

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE

C
IT

Y
LI

M
IT

C
IT

Y

LI
M

IT

HOLLAND

HILL
C

H
APEL

SPRING MILLER

STACEY RENEE

STEPHIE ANN

SILO

RUIDOSA

W
ELC

H
FIELD

PERRY

MAN

NUGENT

LO
G

AN

Loyd Park

Webb Park

SUBJECT
SITE

VICINITY MAP

1 OF 2

SI
TE

 P
LA

N

M
AT

C
H

LI
N

E 
SH

EE
T:

 2
 O

F 
2

WATER LINE
SANITARY SEWER LINE
STORM SEWER LINE
EX. WATER LINE
EX. SANITARY SEWER LINE
EX. STORM SEWER LINE
EX. UNDERGROUND GAS LINE
EX. UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC LINE
EX. UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE LINE

UGE

W
SS

GAS

LINE TYPE LEGEND

COMM

W
SS

SITE PLAN
I.L. TEXAS HIGH SCHOOL

LOT 1, BLOCK 1
TOTAL ACREAGE: 27.82 ACRES

ENGINEER / SURVEYOR / APPLICANT:
KIMLEY-HORN & ASSOCIATES, INC.
13455 NOEL ROAD
TWO GALLERIA OFFICE TOWER,
SUITE 700
DALLAS, TEXAS 75240
PH (972) 770-1300
CONTACT: NEDA HOSSEINY, P.E.

OWNER: ARCHITECT:
PIVOT NORTH
1101 W. GROVE ST.
BOISE, IDAHO 83702
PH. (208) 690-3108
CONTACT: DAN HARRIGAN, LEED GA.

INTERNATIONAL AMERICAN
EDUCATION FEDERATION INC.
1651 N. GLENVILLE RD. STE 126
RICHARDSON, TX 75081
CONTACT: CHARLES KLEIN
PH: 713-309-5046

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS
CITY PROJECT NO. STP-21-12-0025

SUBMITTED JANUARY 28, 2022

PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED EASEMENT

PROPOSED FENCE

EXISTING FENCE

PROPOSED FIRE LANE STRIPING

PROPOSED FIRELANE (CONCRETE)

EXISTING FIRELANE (CONCRETE)

PROPOSED SIDEWALK (CONCRETE)

EXISTING SIDEWALK (CONCRETE)

PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT (FH)

PROPOSED FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION

BARRIER FREE RAMP (BFR)

NUMBER OF PARKING SPACES PER ROW

EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING STORM MANHOLE

EXISTING SAN. SWR. MANHOLE

EXISTING SIGN

EXISITING WATER VALVE

EXISTING IRRIGATION CONTROL VALVE

EXISTING GAS MARKER

10

50015568.903WV

I

50016567.774

ICV

G

50017556.291

UGG (SUMMIT MIDSTREAM)

LEGEND

SITE DATA TABLE

NOTES:
ACREAGE: 27.82 AC.
ZONING: A AND PD-319
USE: EDUCATION
STUDENTS ENROLLED: 1208

LANDSCAPING:
LANDSCAPE AREA REQUIRED: 100,629.69 SF

10% OF TOTAL SITE AREA
LANDSCAPE AREA PROVIDED: 286,114.33 SF

28% OF TOTAL SITE AREA

BUILDINGS:
HIGH SCHOOL FOOTPRINT: 88,655.11 SF
HIGH SCHOOL HEIGHT: 41'-6" (TWO-STORY)
PORTABLE FOOTPRINT: 1536 SF (EACH)
PORTABLE HEIGHT: 13'-3 14 "

Exhibit B - Site Plan
Page 2 of 3

108

Item 23.



FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM

FM

W W W W

SS

UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

COMM COMM COMM

UGE UGE UGE UGE

UGE UGE UGE UGE

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

S

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM

FM

W W W W

SS

UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

COMM COMM COMM

UGE UGE UGE UGE

UGE UGE UGE UGE

FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL

FL
FL

FL

FL
FLFL

FL

FL FL

FL FL FL

FL FL

11

BASKETBALL
COURT

EX
 6

" W
AT

ER
 L

IN
E

7.5' UTILITY EASEMENT
INST. NO. D215290669

O.P.R.T.C.T.

EX. 6' SIDEWALK

34.5'

IL TEXAS GP ADDITION
NO. D215290669

BM# 102

D

I

I

X

X

X

X

10
.0

'
S.

W
.

5.0'
S.W.

5.
0'

S.
W

.

EX. 10' CURB INLET

EX WATER VALVE

22'X12' DOUBLE DUMPSTER
ENCLOSURE WITH 8' MASONRY

SCREENING WALL PER CITY
STANDARD DETAILS

SSWR CLEANOUT

SSWR CONNECTION

WATER LINE EASEMENT
INST. NO. D215290669

O.P.R.T.C.T.

COOLING TOWER
ENCLOSURE

PR
O

P.
 S

SW
R

EX
. 4

" F
O

R
C

E 
M

AI
N

DROP-OFF AREA

21.0' 10.0'

6.0'
S.W.

5.0'
S.W.

BFR

SSWR CLEANOUT

PROP. FIRE HYDRANT

PROP. FIRE
HYDRANT

GREASE TRAP

SSWR MANHOLE

PROP. FIRE
HYDRANT

6.0'
S.W.

22
.0

'

40.0'

12.0'

27
.0

'

FM
FM

FM

FM

FM

FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W W W W W W W W W W W

W

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

U
G

E

UGE

UGE

UGE
UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

GAS GAS

GAS GAS

COMM COMM COMM

COMM

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM
COMM

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE UGE UGE
UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGEUGEUGE

UGE UGE UGE

U
G

E

UGE

U
G

E

UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS

GAS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

GAS
GAS

GAS
GAS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

SS
SS

SS

W

W

W

W

SS

SS SS
SS SS SS

FM
FM

FM

FM

FM

FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W W W W W W W W W W W

W

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

U
G

E

UGE

UGE

UGE
UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

GAS GAS

GAS GAS

COMM COMM COMM

COMM

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM
COMM

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE UGE UGE
UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGEUGEUGE

UGE UGE UGE

U
G

E

UGE

U
G

E

UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS

GAS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

GAS
GAS

GAS
GAS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

SS
SS

SS

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL

FL

FL FL
FL

FL
FL

FL
FL FL FL

FL
FL

FLFL

FLFL

FL

FL FL FL
FL

FL
FL

FL FL FL FL
FL

FL FL FL FL
FL

FL FL

EXISTING PORTABLE
NO CHANGES

2 RRs

EXISTING PORTABLE
NO CHANGES

W/O RRs

PROP. PORTABLE BLDG.
ADDITION W/O RRs

FFE = 566.70

PROP. PORTABLE BLDG.
ADDITION

W/ RRs - HOOKED UP
FFE = 566.90

PROP. PORTABLE BLDG.
ADDITION W/ RRs -

HOOKED UP
FFE = 567.60

EXISTING PORTABLE-
RELOCATED & FLIPPED.

W/O RRs
FFE = 567.70

PROP. PORTABLE BLDG.
ADDITION

W/ RRs - HOOKED UP
FFE = 565.00

PROP. PORTABLE BLDG.
ADDITION

W/ RRs - HOOKED UP
FFE = 567.10

PROP. PORTABLE BLDG.
ADDITION W/O RRs

 FFE = 567.00

PROP. PORTABLE BLDG.
ADDITION W/O RRs

FFE = 566.50

PROP. PORTABLE BLDG.
ADDITION W/O RRs

FFE = 566.40

EX 8" WATER

APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF
DRAINAGE AND DETENTION
EASEMENT
INST. NO. D215290669
O.P.R.T.C.T.

S5
9°

37
'4

2"
W

60
7.

35
'

S30°22'03"E 1507.35'

II

G

W

W

I

D

D

III

I

I

I

I

LS WS

S

I
G

G

D

X

XXXXXXX

X

X

X

CONCRETE HOSE
STRUCTURE

BM# 101

BM# 100

X X

I

G

G

D

I I

C
I
I

G

DTV

G

G

G

G

G

G

I

I

D

W

G

D

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X

LOT  1, BLOCK A
SUNBELT ADDITION

INST. NO. D210017057
O.P.R.T.C.T.

TOTAL E&P USA BARNETT, LLC
INST. NO. D219001492

O.P.R.T.C.T. 25
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K

R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

O
AD

(A
PP

AR
EN

T 
50

' R
.O

.W
.)

EX. HEADWALL

EX. CHAIN FENCE

30' ACCESS EASEMENT
INST. NO. D210017057

O.P.R.T.C.T.

EX. WINGWALL

5' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
VOL. 6411, PG. 960

D.R.T.C.T.

TEXAS MIDSTREAM GAS
SERVICES 25' EASEMENT
AND R.O.W. AGREEMENT

INST. NO. D209049282
O.P.R.T.C.T.

EX. CHAIN FENCE

EX. POND OUTFALL STRUCTURE

EX. HEADWALL

TEXAS MIDSTREAM GAS
SERVICES 25' EASEMENT
AND R.O.W. AGREEMENT

INST. NO. D209049282
O.P.R.T.C.T.

EX. 4" FORCE MAIN

EX. 8" SSWR

EX. HEADWALL

EXISTING CHAIN LINK FENCE

EXISTING FIRELANE

EX. LIFT STATION

EX. ELECTRIC
VAULT WITH GATE

EX. STORM
MANHOLE

EX. MONUMENT SIGN

EX. FH

EX. FIRE HYDRANT

EX SANITARY
SEWER MANHOLE

EX. CURB INLET

EX IRRIGATION
CONTROL VALVES

EX SSWR MANHOLE

EX STORM MANHOLE

EX WATER VAULT

EX IRRIGATION CONTROL VALVE EX WATER
VALVE

EX. HEADWALL

EX. STOP SIGN

EX. WOODEN RAMP

EX. 8" SSWR
CONNECTION

EX. STORM
MANHOLE

EX
. 8

" W
AT

ER

EX. 8" WATER

(1) PHASE 1
RESTROOM PORTABLE

(10) PHASE 1 DRINKING FOUNTAINS

PROP. 4' SATELLITE RAMP
AND DECK SYSTEM W/
HANDRAILS (TYP.)

PROP. 23.5'x64'  (1,504 SF)
PORTABLE (TYP.)

PROP. 4' CONCTRETE
(TYP.)

PROP 4' SIDEWALK

PROP 4' SIDEWALK

PROP BFR
W/ 5' LANDING

64.0' (TYP.)

23
.5

'
(T

YP
.)

4.0'
(TYP.)

18.0'

12.0'

4.0'
(TYP.)

34.0'

12
.0

'

12
.5

'

10
9.

8'

21.2'

WATER LINE EASEMENT
INST. NO. D215290669

O.P.R.T.C.T.

WATER LINE EASEMENT
INST. NO. D215290669

O.P.R.T.C.T.

EX. WATER METER

EXISTING 24' FIRELANE

EX. DETENTION POND LIMITS

EX. DRIVE
ENTRANCE

EX. DRIVE EXIT

N34°55'52"W 1537.59'

EX
. R

O
W

 C
EN

TE
R

LI
N

E

24.8'

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
AT

E

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

SC
AL

E

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y
61

60
 W

AR
R

EN
 P

AR
KW

AY
, S

U
IT

E 
21

0,
 F

R
IS

C
O

, T
X 

75
03

4
PH

O
N

E:
 9

72
-3

35
-3

58
0

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

N
M

H

PR
S

AS
 S

H
O

W
N

©
 2

01
9 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.

01/28/2022

068908206

IL
-T

EX
AS

 G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE
 

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AN

D
 P

R
AI

R
IE

, T
EX

AS
N

M
H

TE
XA

S 
R

EG
IS

TE
R

ED
 E

N
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G
 F

IR
M

 F
-9

28

28
51

 R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

D

Not for construction or permit purposes.
FOR REVIEW ONLY

Engineer

P.E. No. Date

NEDA M. HOSSEINY
126707 01/28/2022

0
GRAPHIC SCALE IN FEET

4020 40 80

2 OF 2

SI
TE

 P
LA

N

M
AT

C
H

LI
N

E 
SH

EE
T:

 1
 O

F 
1

SITE PLAN
I.L. TEXAS HIGH SCHOOL

LOT 1, BLOCK 1
TOTAL ACREAGE: 27.82 ACRES

ENGINEER / SURVEYOR / APPLICANT:
KIMLEY-HORN & ASSOCIATES, INC.
13455 NOEL ROAD
TWO GALLERIA OFFICE TOWER,
SUITE 700
DALLAS, TEXAS 75240
PH (972) 770-1300
CONTACT: NEDA HOSSEINY, P.E.

OWNER: ARCHITECT:
PIVOT NORTH
1101 W. GROVE ST.
BOISE, IDAHO 83702
PH. (208) 690-3108
CONTACT: DAN HARRIGAN, LEED GA.

INTERNATIONAL AMERICAN
EDUCATION FEDERATION INC.
1651 N. GLENVILLE RD. STE 126
RICHARDSON, TX 75081
CONTACT: CHARLES KLEIN
PH: 713-309-5046

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS
CITY PROJECT NO. STP-21-12-0025

SUBMITTED JANUARY 28, 2022

LYNN

MANSFIELD - W
EBB

9.
1

ARLINGTON - W
EBB

AR
LI

NG
TO

N
GR

AN
D 

PR
AI

RI
E

M
ICHELL

GRINDSTONE

SI
LO

FINGER

ZUEFELDT

Bowman

Br
an

ch

NATHAN

LOWE

WREN

ELLOIT
GRIM

SLEY

CHRISMAN

M
cCAM

PBELL

ARLINGTON W
EBB HANGER

W
EBB FERRELL

RAGLAND

LYNN

CITY

LIM
IT

ARLINGTON
CITY

LIM
IT

M
ANSFIELD

AR
LI

N
G

TO
N

G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE

C
IT

Y
LI

M
IT

C
IT

Y

LI
M

IT

HOLLAND

HILL
C

H
APEL

SPRING MILLER

STACEY RENEE

STEPHIE ANN

SILO

RUIDOSA

W
ELC

H
FIELD

PERRY

MAN

NUGENT

LO
G

AN

Loyd Park

Webb Park

SUBJECT
SITE

VICINITY MAP

WATER LINE
SANITARY SEWER LINE
STORM SEWER LINE
EX. WATER LINE
EX. SANITARY SEWER LINE
EX. STORM SEWER LINE
EX. UNDERGROUND GAS LINE
EX. UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC LINE
EX. UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE LINE

UGE

W
SS

GAS

LINE TYPE LEGEND

COMM

W
SS

PORTABLES LEGEND

PROPOSED PORTABLE
BUILDING OUTLINE

EXISTING PORTABLE
BUILDING OUTLINE

RR RESTROOM

4' SATELLITE RAMP & DECK
SYSTEM WITH HANDRAILS

PROP PAVEMENT

PROP BFR

PORTABLES COUNT
(3) EXISTING PORTABLES
(8) PROPOSED PORTABLES
(1) RR PORTABLES
(12) TOTAL PORTABLES

(10) PHASE DRINKING FOUNTAINS

ELEMENT
USABLE OPEN SPACE & PEDESTRIAN WALKWAYS
SITE DESIGN & BUILDING ORIENTATION
BUILDING DESIGN
HEALTHY, SMART, SUSTAINABLE COMMUNITY
ALTERNATIVE COMPLIANCE
TOTAL MENU ITEMS

APPENDIX F - MENU ITEM SUMMARY TABLE
#  OF MENU ITEMS

1
1
6
3
1

12

PROPERTY LINE

PROPOSED EASEMENT

PROPOSED FENCE

EXISTING FENCE

PROPOSED FIRE LANE STRIPING

PROPOSED FIRELANE (CONCRETE)

EXISTING FIRELANE (CONCRETE)

PROPOSED SIDEWALK (CONCRETE)

EXISTING SIDEWALK (CONCRETE)

PROPOSED FIRE HYDRANT (FH)

PROPOSED FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION

BARRIER FREE RAMP (BFR)

NUMBER OF PARKING SPACES PER ROW

EXISTING FIRE HYDRANT

EXISTING STORM MANHOLE

EXISTING SAN. SWR. MANHOLE

EXISTING SIGN

EXISITING WATER VALVE

EXISTING IRRIGATION CONTROL VALVE

EXISTING GAS MARKER

10

50015568.903WV

I

50016567.774

ICV

G

50017556.291

UGG (SUMMIT MIDSTREAM)

LEGENDSITE DATA TABLE

NOTES:
ACREAGE: 27.82 AC.
ZONING: A AND PD-319
USE: EDUCATION
STUDENTS ENROLLED: 1208

LANDSCAPING:
LANDSCAPE AREA REQUIRED: 100,629.69 SF

10% OF TOTAL SITE AREA
LANDSCAPE AREA PROVIDED: 286,114.33 SF

28% OF TOTAL SITE AREA

BUILDINGS:
HIGH SCHOOL FOOTPRINT: 88,655.11 SF
HIGH SCHOOL HEIGHT: 41'-6" (TWO-STORY)
PORTABLE FOOTPRINT: 1536 SF (EACH)
PORTABLE HEIGHT: 13'-3 14 "

PARKING REQUIRED
1/1.5 STUDENTS (1208)
1/1 STAFF (120)

TOTAL PARKING REQUIRED

PARKING PROVIDED
EXISTING TO REMAIN
PROPOSED

TOTAL PARKING PROVIDED

ADA PARKING
REQUIRED (2% OF PARKING)
PROVIDED

*518 PARKING STALLS PROPOSED PER DIRECTION  OF ILT
OPERATIONS. CALCULATIONS BASED OFF OF 50% OF
STUDENT DRIVERS

PARKING CALCULATIONS TABLE
SPACES

806
120
986

330
188
518*

11
11

Exhibit B - Site Plan
Page 3 of 3

109

Item 23.



FM

FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM

FM

FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

WW

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W W W W W W W W W W W
W W W W W W W W

W

W
W

W
W

W

SS
SS SS SS SS SS SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SSSSSS

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

U
G

E

G
AS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS
GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

COMM

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

COMM

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE UGE
UGE UGE

U
G

E

U
G

E

UGEUGE

UGE U
G

E

U
G

E

U
G

E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE
UGE

UGE

SS SS SS SS SS SS SS

GAS

G
AS

G
AS

GAS
GAS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

SS
SS

W

W

FM

FM

W

WSS

SS SS SS

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W

SS
SS

SS
SS

S

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

D
D LSS

S

D

5' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
VOL. 6411, PG. 960

D.R.T.C.T.

TEXAS MIDSTREAM GAS
SERVICES 25' EASEMENT
AND R.O.W. AGREEMENT

INST. NO. D209049282
O.P.R.T.C.T.

APPROXIMATE LOCATION
OF DRAINAGE AND
DETENTION EASEMENT
INST. NO. D215290669
O.P.R.T.C.T.

XXXXX

X

X

WOODEN RAMP

LOT  1, BLOCK 1
IL TEXAS GP ADDITION
INST. NO. D215290669

O.P.R.T.C.T.

X

D

D

D

D

D

DTV

DD

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X
X

X
X

OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHEOHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHEOHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE

OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE

DETENTION POND

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

C
O

N
C

R
ET

E 
SI

D
EW

AL
K

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

2" PIPE

30
' W

AT
ER

LI
N

E 
& 

SA
N

IT
AR

Y
SE

W
ER

 L
IN

E 
EA

SE
M

EN
T

C
AB

. A
, P

G
. 1

06
07

D
.R

.T
.C

.T
.

IN
ST

.N
O

. D
21

51
78

85
7

O
.P

.R
.T

.C
.T

.

LOT  2, BLOCK A
SUNBELT ADDITION

INST. NO. D210017057

LOT  1, BLOCK A
SUNBELT ADDITION

INST. NO. D210017057
O.P.R.T.C.T.

TOTAL E&P USA BARNETT, LLC
INST. NO. D219001492

30' ACCESS EASEMENT
INST. NO. D210017057

O.P.R.T.C.T.
15' UTILITY EASEMENT

25
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K

CHARTER HIGH
SCHOOL BUILDING
88,655.11 SF
TWO-STORY

BASEBALL FIELD

SOCCER FIELD

COLOR
GUARD
DRILL PAD
4,200 SF

JROTC DRILL PAD
11,400 SF

BASKETBALL
COURT

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\

\\ \\

\\

\\\\

\\

\\

R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

O
AD

(A
PP

AR
EN

T 
50

' R
.O

.W
.)

\\

\\

\\

\\

\\

\\

\\

\\ SE TBD STEEL EDGE 3/16" X 4" BLACK

MULCH TBD SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH 3" DEPTH. ALL TREES WITHIN SOD
HAVE 4' DIAMETER MULCH RING

EXIST  52 EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN

TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SPECIFICATIONS CONT. REMARKS

AA 31 ACER X FREEMANII `JEFFSRED` / AUTUMN BLAZE MAPLE 3" CAL, 14` HT, 6` SPR 3" CAL FULL, STRAIGHT, SINGLE LEADER

QM 40 QUERCUS MUHLENBERGII / CHINKAPIN OAK 3" CAL, 14` HT, 6` SPR 3" CAL FULL, STRAIGHT, SINGLE LEADER, NATIVE

QV 36 QUERCUS VIRGINIANA / SOUTHERN LIVE OAK 3" CAL, 16` HT. 6` SPR 3" CAL FULL, STRAIGHT, SINGLE LEADER, NATIVE

UC 42 ULMUS CRASSIFOLIA / CEDAR ELM 3" CAL, 14` HT, 6` SPR 3" CAL FULL, STRAIGHT, SINGLE LEADER, NATIVE

SHRUBS CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SPECIFICATIONS CONT. REMARKS

AQ 493 ANISACANTHUS QUADRIFIDUS VAR. WRIGHTII / FLAME ACANTHUS 24" HT, 18" SPR, 30" OC FULL, 5 GAL. NATIVE, POLLINATOR

LF 281 LEUCOPHYLLUM FRUTESCENS 'COMPACTA' / COMPACT TEXAS SAGE 24" HT, 24" SPR, 36" O.C. FULL, 5 GAL. NATIVE, POLLINATOR

LP 352 LOROPETALUM CHINENSE 'SHANG-HI' / PURPLE DIAMOND FRINGE FLOWER 24" HT, 24" SPR, 36" O.C. FULL, 5 GAL.

GRASSES CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SPECIFICATIONS CONT. REMARKS

MUH 265 MUHLENBERGIA CAPILLARIS / PINK MUHLY 24" HT, 24" SPR, 36" OC FULL, 5 GAL. NATIVE

NAS 718 NASSELLA TENUISSIMA / MEXICAN FEATHER GRASS 18" HT, 18" SPR, 24" OC FULL, 5 GAL. NATIVE

GROUND COVERS CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SPECIFICATIONS

SEED 198,051 SF CYNODON DACTYLON / BERMUDA GRASS - HYDROSEED AREAS. SEE LANDSCAPE SPECIFICATIONS

SOD 68,228 SF CYNODON DACTYLON / BERMUDA GRASS - SOLID SOD, ROLLED TIGHT WITH SAND FILLED JOINTS. 100% WEED, PEST
AND DISEASE FREE.

PLANT SCHEDULE

REMARKS

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
AT

E

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

SC
AL

E

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y
61

60
 W

AR
R

EN
 P

AR
KW

AY
, S

U
IT

E 
21

0,
 F

R
IS

C
O

, T
X 

75
03

4
PH

O
N

E:
 9

72
-3

35
-3

58
0

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

C
JC

C
JCAS

 S
H

O
W

N

©
 2

01
9 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.

01/28/2022

068908206

IL
-T

EX
AS

 G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE
 

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AN

D
 P

R
AI

R
IE

, T
EX

AS
KL

P
TE

XA
S 

R
EG

IS
TE

R
ED

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 F
IR

M
 F

-9
28

28
51

 R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

D

01/28/20223128
KENZIE L. PORTER

Not for construction or permit purposes.
FOR REVIEW ONLY

P.L.A.
L.A. No. Date

GRAND PRAIRIE LANDSCAPE CODE & CORRIDOR OVERLAY DISTRICT REQUIREMENTS
SITE AREA: 1,006,296.9 SF

REQUIRED PROVIDED
REQUIRED LANDSCAPE AREA - APPENDIX W.3.II.G

10% OF TOTAL SITE AREA 100,629.69 SF 286,707.49 SF
((1,006,296.9 SF) X 10% = 100,629.69 SF)

TREES - APPENDIX W.3.II.G
ALL TREES MINIMUM 3" CALIPER YES YES
1 TREE PER 500 SF REQUIRED LANDSCAPE AREA
(100,629.69 SF / 500 = 201 TREES) 201 TREES 52  EXISTING TREES

     149  PROPOSED TREES

STREET TREES SPACED BETWEEN 25LF - 50 LF YES YES
1 TREE PER 10 PARKING SPACES YES YES
(518 SPACES / 10 = 52 TREES) 52 TREES 24  EXISTING TREES

     28  PROPOSED TREES
 ALL PARKING SPACES WITHIN 100 LF OF A TREE YES YES

MAX 10 PARKING SPACES WITHOUT ISLAND YES YES

SHRUBS - ARTICLE 8.7.3.D
1 SHRUB PER 50 SF REQUIRED LANDSCAPE AREA 2,013 SHRUBS 2,109 SHRUBS
(100,629.69 SF / 50 = 2,013 SHRUBS)
ALL SHRUBS MINIMUM 5 GALLONS YES YES
PARKING LOT SCREENED WITH MINIMUM 3' HEDGE YES YES

NATIVE PLANT SPECIES 70% 83.04%
POLLINATOR PLANT SPECIES 20% 34.28%

LP 1.01 LP 1.02 LP 1.03

LP 1.04 LP 1.05 LP 1.06

NO
RT

H

NOTE: PLANT QUANTITIES ARE PROVIDED FOR CONVENIENCE
ONLY. IN THE CASE OF A DISCREPANCY, THE DRAWING SHALL
TAKE PRECEDENCE.

NOTE: PLANTS ARE SPECIFIED BY HEIGHT AND SPREAD, NOT
CONTAINER SIZE. ALL PLANTINGS ARE EXPECTED TO MEET ALL
SPECIFICATIONS PROVIDED.

O
VE

R
AL

L 
LA

N
D

SC
AP

E
PL

AN

LP 1.00

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 1 of 7

110

Item 23.



W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

W

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

COMM

COMM

C
O

M
M

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

D

SOCCER FIELD

\\

NAS
36

MUH
12

LP
16

UC
19

AA
4 QV

3

QM
4

5
QM

56
NAS

86
AQ

5
AA

QV
5

LF
21

NAS
132LP

30 AQ
43

MUH
76 LF

43

15
LP

TREES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AA 31 AUTUMN BLAZE MAPLE

QM 40 CHINKAPIN OAK

QV 36 SOUTHERN LIVE OAK

UC 42 CEDAR ELM

SHRUBS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AQ 493 FLAME ACANTHUS

LF 281 COMPACT TEXAS SAGE

LP 352 PURPLE DIAMOND FRINGE FLOWER

GRASSES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

MUH 265 PINK MUHLY

NAS 718 MEXICAN FEATHER GRASS

GROUND COVERS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

SEED 198,051 SF BERMUDA GRASS

SOD 68,228 SF BERMUDA GRASS

PLANT LEGEND

\\ SE TBD STEEL EDGE

MULCH TBD SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

EXIST  52 EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
AT

E

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

SC
AL

E

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y
61

60
 W

AR
R

EN
 P

AR
KW

AY
, S

U
IT

E 
21

0,
 F

R
IS

C
O

, T
X 

75
03

4
PH

O
N

E:
 9

72
-3

35
-3

58
0

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

C
JC

C
JCAS

 S
H

O
W

N

©
 2

01
9 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.

01/28/2022

068908206

IL
-T

EX
AS

 G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE
 

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AN

D
 P

R
AI

R
IE

, T
EX

AS
KL

P
TE

XA
S 

R
EG

IS
TE

R
ED

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 F
IR

M
 F

-9
28

28
51

 R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

D

01/28/20223128
KENZIE L. PORTER

Not for construction or permit purposes.
FOR REVIEW ONLY

P.L.A.
L.A. No. Date

NO
RT

H

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E 
LP

 1
.0

2

MATCHLINE LP 1.04

NOTE: REFERENCE SHEET LP 1.00 FOR FOR FULL PLANT
SCHEDULE

EXISTING LANDSCAPE
TO REMAIN

SEED

SOD

SOD

SE (TYP.)

MULCH (TYP.)

MULCH (TYP.)

MULCH (TYP.)

CONTRACTOR TO REFRESH
MULCH IN EXISTING

PARKING LOT ISLAND (TYP.)

LA
N

D
SC

AP
E 

PL
AN

LP 1.01

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 2 of 7

111

Item 23.



FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

W
W

W
W

W

SS

SS

SS
SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM
COMM COMM COMM

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W W W

W W W W

W
W

W W W W

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

SS

W

S

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

S

LOT  1, BLOCK 1
IL TEXAS GP ADDITION
INST. NO. D215290669

O.P.R.T.C.T.

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

CHARTER HIGH
SCHOOL BUILDING
88,655.11 SF
TWO-STORY

\\ \\
\\

\\

\\
\\

\\

\\

\\ \\
\\

\\

\\
\\

\\

\\

AQ
19

LP
8 MUH

8

23
LF10

MUH
26

NAS

1
QM

3
MUH

NAS
40LF

25 MUH
28AQ

67 LP
40

1
QM

2
QM

10
LP40

NAS

QM
2

AQ
16

MUH
12

6
UC

3
QV

LP
5

NAS
39

5
MUH

26
NAS

NAS
40

LF
25

MUH
27

AQ
69

LP
42

NAS
9

MUH
6

NAS
25

MUH
4

8
AQ

7
LF

NAS
38

2
AA

QM
6 AA

5

14
NAS

TREES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AA 31 AUTUMN BLAZE MAPLE

QM 40 CHINKAPIN OAK

QV 36 SOUTHERN LIVE OAK

UC 42 CEDAR ELM

SHRUBS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AQ 493 FLAME ACANTHUS

LF 281 COMPACT TEXAS SAGE

LP 352 PURPLE DIAMOND FRINGE FLOWER

GRASSES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

MUH 265 PINK MUHLY

NAS 718 MEXICAN FEATHER GRASS

GROUND COVERS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

SEED 198,051 SF BERMUDA GRASS

SOD 68,228 SF BERMUDA GRASS

PLANT LEGEND

\\ SE TBD STEEL EDGE

MULCH TBD SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

EXIST  52 EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
AT

E

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

SC
AL

E

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y
61

60
 W

AR
R

EN
 P

AR
KW

AY
, S

U
IT

E 
21

0,
 F

R
IS

C
O

, T
X 

75
03

4
PH

O
N

E:
 9

72
-3

35
-3

58
0

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

C
JC

C
JCAS

 S
H

O
W

N

©
 2

01
9 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.

01/28/2022

068908206

IL
-T

EX
AS

 G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE
 

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AN

D
 P

R
AI

R
IE

, T
EX

AS
KL

P
TE

XA
S 

R
EG

IS
TE

R
ED

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 F
IR

M
 F

-9
28

28
51

 R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

D

01/28/20223128
KENZIE L. PORTER

Not for construction or permit purposes.
FOR REVIEW ONLY

P.L.A.
L.A. No. Date

NO
RT

H

MATCHLINE LP 1.05

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E 
LP

 1
.0

3

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E 
LP

 1
.0

1

NOTE: REFERENCE SHEET LP 1.00 FOR FOR FULL PLANT
SCHEDULE

SEED

SOD

SEED

MULCH (TYP.)

MULCH (TYP.)

SE (TYP.)

LA
N

D
SC

AP
E 

PL
AN

LP 1.02

MULCH (TYP.)

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 3 of 7

112

Item 23.



FM
FM

FM
FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM

FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

W
W

W

WW
WWWWW

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

W

W
W

W

W

W
W

SS

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

U
G

E

U
G

E

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM
COMM

COMM

COMM

COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM COMM

COMM

COMM

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

C
O

M
M

COMM

COMM

C
O

M
M

UGE UGE UGE UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE UGE UGE UGE

UGE UGE UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

UGEUGEUGEUGEUGEUGE

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE UGE UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS SS

G
AS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

W W

W

W

W

W

W

W
W

W

SS

SS
SS

W

SS SS SS SS
SS SS SS SS SS SS SS

D

D LSS

S

D

TEXAS MIDSTREAM GAS
SERVICES 25' EASEMENT
AND R.O.W. AGREEMENT

INST. NO. D209049282
O.P.R.T.C.T.

APPROXIMATE LOCATION
OF DRAINAGE AND
DETENTION EASEMENT

X

XXXXXXXXXXXXXX

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

G
AS

G
AS

WOODEN RAMP

X

X

X

X

X

DTV

X

X

X

X

X

OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE
OHEOHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHEOHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE

OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE OHE

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

O
AD

(A
PP

AR
EN

T 
50

' R
.O

.W
.)

LP
67

LF
63

UC
6

QV
7

QV
5

QM
6

5
AA

TREES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AA 31 AUTUMN BLAZE MAPLE

QM 40 CHINKAPIN OAK

QV 36 SOUTHERN LIVE OAK

UC 42 CEDAR ELM

PLANT LEGEND
SHRUBS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AQ 493 FLAME ACANTHUS

LF 281 COMPACT TEXAS SAGE

LP 352 PURPLE DIAMOND FRINGE FLOWER

GRASSES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

MUH 265 PINK MUHLY

NAS 718 MEXICAN FEATHER GRASS

GROUND COVERS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

SEED 198,051 SF BERMUDA GRASS

SOD 68,228 SF BERMUDA GRASS

\\ SE TBD STEEL EDGE

MULCH TBD SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

EXIST  52 EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
AT

E

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

SC
AL

E

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y
61

60
 W

AR
R

EN
 P

AR
KW

AY
, S

U
IT

E 
21

0,
 F

R
IS

C
O

, T
X 

75
03

4
PH

O
N

E:
 9

72
-3

35
-3

58
0

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

C
JC

C
JCAS

 S
H

O
W

N

©
 2

01
9 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.

01/28/2022

068908206

IL
-T

EX
AS

 G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE
 

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AN

D
 P

R
AI

R
IE

, T
EX

AS
KL

P
TE

XA
S 

R
EG

IS
TE

R
ED

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 F
IR

M
 F

-9
28

28
51

 R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

D

01/28/20223128
KENZIE L. PORTER

Not for construction or permit purposes.
FOR REVIEW ONLY

P.L.A.
L.A. No. Date

NO
RT

H

MATCHLINE LP 1.06

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E 
LP

 1
.0

2

NOTE: REFERENCE SHEET LP 1.00 FOR FOR FULL PLANT
SCHEDULE

SOD

SE (TYP.)

MULCH (TYP.)

CONTRACTOR TO REFRESH
MULCH IN EXISTING ISLAND (TYP.)

EXISTING LANDSCAPE
AND TREES TO REMAIN

LA
N

D
SC

AP
E 

PL
AN

LP 1.03

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 4 of 7

113

Item 23.



FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FMW
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W W

W W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

SSSSSS

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

UGE UGE UGE UGE UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

U
G

E

U
G

E

UGEUGE
UGEUG

E

UG
E

U
G

E

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

G
AS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

W

W
W

W W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W

D30
' W

AT
ER

LI
N

E 
& 

SA
N

IT
AR

Y
SE

W
ER

 L
IN

E 
EA

SE
M

EN
T

C
AB

. A
, P

G
. 1

06
07

D
.R

.T
.C

.T
.

BASEBALL FIELD

\\ \\

\\

\\
\\

\\ \\ \\

\\

QM
6

LP
14

MUH
12

LP
16AQ

19

NAS
14

AA
3 QV

4

90
AQ

32
LF

TREES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AA 31 AUTUMN BLAZE MAPLE

QM 40 CHINKAPIN OAK

QV 36 SOUTHERN LIVE OAK

UC 42 CEDAR ELM

SHRUBS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AQ 493 FLAME ACANTHUS

LF 281 COMPACT TEXAS SAGE

LP 352 PURPLE DIAMOND FRINGE FLOWER

GRASSES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

MUH 265 PINK MUHLY

NAS 718 MEXICAN FEATHER GRASS

GROUND COVERS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

SEED 198,051 SF BERMUDA GRASS

SOD 68,228 SF BERMUDA GRASS

PLANT LEGEND

\\ SE TBD STEEL EDGE

MULCH TBD SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

EXIST  52 EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
AT

E

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

SC
AL

E

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y
61

60
 W

AR
R

EN
 P

AR
KW

AY
, S

U
IT

E 
21

0,
 F

R
IS

C
O

, T
X 

75
03

4
PH

O
N

E:
 9

72
-3

35
-3

58
0

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

C
JC

C
JCAS

 S
H

O
W

N

©
 2

01
9 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.

01/28/2022

068908206

IL
-T

EX
AS

 G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE
 

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AN

D
 P

R
AI

R
IE

, T
EX

AS
KL

P
TE

XA
S 

R
EG

IS
TE

R
ED

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 F
IR

M
 F

-9
28

28
51

 R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

D

01/28/20223128
KENZIE L. PORTER

Not for construction or permit purposes.
FOR REVIEW ONLY

P.L.A.
L.A. No. Date

NO
RT

H

MATCHLINE LP 1.01

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E 
LP

 1
.0

5

NOTE: REFERENCE SHEET LP 1.00 FOR FOR FULL PLANT
SCHEDULE

EXISTING LANDSCAPE
TO REMAIN

SEED

SEED

SOD

MULCH (TYP.)

CONTRACTOR TO REFRESH
MULCH IN EXISTING

PARKING LOT ISLAND (TYP.)

SE (TYP.)

LA
N

D
SC

AP
E 

PL
AN

LP 1.04

SOD

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 5 of 7

114

Item 23.



FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM
FM

FM

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SSSSSSSSSSSSSS

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE
UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

UGE

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS GAS

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W W W W

SS
SS

SS

SSSS

W
W

W
W

W

W W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

D

D

X

X
X

X

X
X

XX
X

X

X

X

XCONCRETE SIDEWALK

C
O

N
C

R
ET

E 
SI

D
EW

AL
K

LOT  2, BLOCK A
SUNBELT ADDITION

COLOR
GUARD
DRILL PAD
4,200 SF

JROTC DRILL PAD
11,400 SF

BASKETBALL
COURT

\\ \\ \\

\\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\

\\

\\

\\

\\

\\

\\

\\

\\

\\ \\ \\ \\ \\

\\\\\\\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\

\\ \\ \\

\\ \\
\\

\\

\\

NAS
48

AQ
26

MUH
22

LP
16

9
UC

58
NAS

25
MUH

42
AQ

9
LP

77
NAS

15
MUH

26
LP

3
QV

1
QM

8
AQ

7
LF

6
QM

AA
7

UC
1

1
UC

TREES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AA 31 AUTUMN BLAZE MAPLE

QM 40 CHINKAPIN OAK

QV 36 SOUTHERN LIVE OAK

UC 42 CEDAR ELM

SHRUBS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AQ 493 FLAME ACANTHUS

LF 281 COMPACT TEXAS SAGE

LP 352 PURPLE DIAMOND FRINGE FLOWER

GRASSES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

MUH 265 PINK MUHLY

NAS 718 MEXICAN FEATHER GRASS

GROUND COVERS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

SEED 198,051 SF BERMUDA GRASS

SOD 68,228 SF BERMUDA GRASS

PLANT LEGEND

\\ SE TBD STEEL EDGE

MULCH TBD SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

EXIST  52 EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
AT

E

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

SC
AL

E

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y
61

60
 W

AR
R

EN
 P

AR
KW

AY
, S

U
IT

E 
21

0,
 F

R
IS

C
O

, T
X 

75
03

4
PH

O
N

E:
 9

72
-3

35
-3

58
0

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

C
JC

C
JCAS

 S
H

O
W

N

©
 2

01
9 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.

01/28/2022

068908206

IL
-T

EX
AS

 G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE
 

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AN

D
 P

R
AI

R
IE

, T
EX

AS
KL

P
TE

XA
S 

R
EG

IS
TE

R
ED

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 F
IR

M
 F

-9
28

28
51

 R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

D

01/28/20223128
KENZIE L. PORTER

Not for construction or permit purposes.
FOR REVIEW ONLY

P.L.A.
L.A. No. Date

NO
RT

H

MATCHLINE LP 1.02

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E 
LP

 1
.0

4

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E 
LP

 1
.0

6

NOTE: REFERENCE SHEET LP 1.00 FOR FOR FULL PLANT
SCHEDULE

SEED

SOD

SOD

SEED

SE (TYP.)
MULCH (TYP.)

SE (TYP.)

MULCH (TYP.)

LA
N

D
SC

AP
E 

PL
AN

LP 1.05

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 6 of 7

115

Item 23.



UGE

U
G

E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E
U

G
E

U
G

E

U
G

E

GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS GAS GAS GAS

GAS
GAS

GAS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

GAS
GAS

GAS
GAS

GAS
GAS

GAS
GAS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

G
AS

5' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
VOL. 6411, PG. 960

D.R.T.C.T.

INST. NO. D209049282
O.P.R.T.C.T.

APPROXIMATE LOCATION
OF DRAINAGE AND
DETENTION EASEMENT
INST. NO. D215290669
O.P.R.T.C.T.

D

D

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

DETENTION POND

2" PIPE

LOT  1, BLOCK A
SUNBELT ADDITION

INST. NO. D210017057
O.P.R.T.C.T.

30' ACCESS EASEMENT
INST. NO. D210017057

O.P.R.T.C.T.
15' UTILITY EASEMENT

25
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
 S

ET
BA

C
K

\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\
\\

\\

R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

O
AD

(A
PP

AR
EN

T 
50

' R
.O

.W
.)

QV
6

LF
35

LP
38

TREES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AA 31 AUTUMN BLAZE MAPLE

QM 40 CHINKAPIN OAK

QV 36 SOUTHERN LIVE OAK

UC 42 CEDAR ELM

PLANT LEGEND
SHRUBS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

AQ 493 FLAME ACANTHUS

LF 281 COMPACT TEXAS SAGE

LP 352 PURPLE DIAMOND FRINGE FLOWER

GRASSES CODE QTY COMMON NAME

MUH 265 PINK MUHLY

NAS 718 MEXICAN FEATHER GRASS

GROUND COVERS CODE QTY COMMON NAME

SEED 198,051 SF BERMUDA GRASS

SOD 68,228 SF BERMUDA GRASS

\\ SE TBD STEEL EDGE

MULCH TBD SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

EXIST  52 EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

N
o.

D
AT

E

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NO.

DATE

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

SC
AL

E

D
ES

IG
N

ED
 B

Y

C
H

EC
KE

D
 B

Y
61

60
 W

AR
R

EN
 P

AR
KW

AY
, S

U
IT

E 
21

0,
 F

R
IS

C
O

, T
X 

75
03

4
PH

O
N

E:
 9

72
-3

35
-3

58
0

W
W

W
.K

IM
LE

Y-
H

O
R

N
.C

O
M

C
JC

C
JCAS

 S
H

O
W

N

©
 2

01
9 

KI
M

LE
Y-

H
O

R
N

 A
N

D
 A

SS
O

C
IA

TE
S,

 IN
C

.

01/28/2022

068908206

IL
-T

EX
AS

 G
R

AN
D

 P
R

AI
R

IE
 

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AN

D
 P

R
AI

R
IE

, T
EX

AS
KL

P
TE

XA
S 

R
EG

IS
TE

R
ED

 E
N

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

 F
IR

M
 F

-9
28

28
51

 R
AG

LA
N

D
 R

D

01/28/20223128
KENZIE L. PORTER

Not for construction or permit purposes.
FOR REVIEW ONLY

P.L.A.
L.A. No. Date

NO
RT

H

MATCHLINE LP 1.03

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E 
LP

 1
.0

5

SE (TYP.)

MULCH (TYP.)

LA
N

D
SC

AP
E 

PL
AN

LP 1.06

NOTE: REFERENCE SHEET LP 1.00 FOR FOR FULL PLANT
SCHEDULE

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 7 of 7

116

Item 23.



Total Facade Area: 14,486 sf
2189sf Glazing & Doors 120sf Cast Stone (accent material)10323sf Brick (principal masonry material)

435sf EIFS (decorative element)

FRP Columns

Not included in facade area calculations; 

columns stand separated from main facade

25% = 96' - 10"

387' - 4"

14' - 6" 6' - 10" 14' - 8" 14' - 0" 14' - 8" 14' - 0" 14' - 8" 14' - 0" 14' - 8" 14' - 0" 14' - 8" 6' - 6" 13' - 10" 45' - 4" 13' - 10" 6' - 6" 14' - 8" 14' - 0" 14' - 8" 14' - 0" 14' - 8" 14' - 0" 14' - 8" 14' - 0" 14' - 8" 6' - 10" 14' - 6"

COVERED WALKWAY

45' - 4"

AWNING

13' - 4"

AWNING

13' - 4"

AWNING

13' - 4"

AWNING

13' - 4"

AWNING

13' - 4"

AWNING

13' - 4"

AWNING

13' - 4"

AWNING

13' - 4"

AWNING

13' - 4"

AWNING

13' - 4"

1219sf Stone Veneer (primary masonry material)

1395sf Glazing & Doors

Total Facade Area: 11,604 sf

2227sf Stucco (primary material) 1001sf Stone Veneer (primary masonry material) 6907sf Brick (principal masonry material)

25% = 81' - 9"

326' - 10"

28' - 8" 20' - 0" 14' - 8" 18' - 0" 14' - 8" 16' - 6" 10' - 8" 22' - 10" 18' - 0" 27' - 6" 8' - 10" 14' - 8" 8' - 10" 27' - 6" 18' - 0" 22' - 10" 4' - 8" 5' - 10" 14' - 8" 9' - 6"

COVERED WALKWAY

34' - 8 1/2"

COVERED WALKWAY

30' - 10"

PORTICO

18' - 0"

PORTICO

18' - 0"

38sf Cast Stone (accent material)

955sf Glazing & Doors
Total Facade Area: 12,611 sf

5155sf Stucco (primary material)

1405sf Cast Stone (primary masonry material)

5096sf Brick (principal masonry material)

25% = 90' - 9"

362' - 10"

5' - 6" 40' - 0" 11' - 0" 17' - 0" 14' - 7" 18' - 1" 14' - 8" 24' - 8" 34' - 8" 14' - 8" 18' - 0" 14' - 8" 28' - 8" 3' - 4" 14' - 8" 18' - 0" 14' - 8" 34' - 8" 21' - 4"

COVERED WALKWAY

223' - 8"

COVERED WALKWAY

13' - 0"

1269sf Glazing & Doors

Total Facade Area: 11,600 sf

28sf Cast Stone (accent material) 1632sf Stucco (primary material)7546sf Brick (primary masonry material)

25% = 81' - 9"

326' - 10"

PORTICO

18' - 0"

PORTICO

18' - 0"

COVERED WALKWAY

64' - 0 1/2"

1107sf Stone Veneer (primary masonry material)

9' - 6" 14' - 8" 5' - 10" 4' - 8" 22' - 10" 18' - 0" 27' - 6" 5' - 10" 20' - 8" 5' - 10" 43' - 8" 20' - 6" 18' - 0" 20' - 10" 15' - 2" 18' - 0" 18' - 0" 37' - 4"

T.O. ENCLOSURE

8'-0"

Stone Veneer

T.O. ENCLOSURE

8'-0"

Stone Veneer

Painted Metal Gate

T.O. ENCLOSURE

8'-0"

P
 r

 o
 j

 e
 c

 t
 :

S h e e t  N a m e :

P r o j e c t   N o :

D r a w n   B y :

C h e c k e d   B y :

D a t e :

R e v i s i o n s :

S h e e t   N o :

STAMP

PIVOT NORTH ARCHITECTURE, PLLC.
1101 W. GROVE STREET

BOISE, ID 83702
www.pivotnorthdesign.com

1 2 3 4 5 6

A

B

C

D

E

2
/
1
8
/
2
0
2
2
 
2
:0
8
:4
0
 
P
M

A
R

LI
N

G
T

O
N

 -
G

R
A

N
D

 P
R

A
IR

IE
 H

IG
H

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
E

P
LA

C
E

M
E

N
T

2
8

5
1

 R
A

G
LA

N
D

 R
O

A
D

, 
G

R
A

N
D

 P
R

A
IR

IE
, 

T
E

X
A

S

BUILDING DESIGN -

OVERLAY DISTRICT

21-036

AR

CS, DH

01/21/22

G3.00

D
D

 S
E

T
 -

N
O

T
 F

O
R

 R
E

G
U

LA
T

O
R

Y
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L,
 P

E
R

M
IT

T
IN

G
, 

O
R

 C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
IO

N

1/16" = 1'-0"G3.00

B2 North Elevation (Primary)

1/16" = 1'-0"G3.00

C2 East Elevation

1/16" = 1'-0"G3.00

D2 South Elevation

1/16" = 1'-0"G3.00

E2 West Elevation

Building Design Summary

Facade Glazing & Doors Primary Material(s) Accent Material(s)

North (Primary)

14,486 sf

2,389 sf

Finished Wall

12,097 sf Brick 10,323 sf 84%

Stone Veneer 1,219 sf 10%

EIFS (decorative) 435 sf 4%

Cast Stone 120sf 1%

Area Area Type Area % of Finished Wall Type Area % of Finished Wall

East

11,806 sf

1,431 sf 10,375 sf Brick 6,907 sf 66%

Stucco 2,227 sf 21%

Stone Veneer 1,001 sf 10%

Cast Stone 38 sf .4%

South

12,611 sf

955 sf 11,656 sf Stucco 5,155 sf 44%

Brick 5,096 sf 44%

Stone Veneer 1,405 sf 12%

West

11,600 sf

1,287 sf 10,313 sf Brick 7,546 sf 73%

Stucco 1,632 sf 16%

Stone Veneer 1,107 sf 11%

Cast Stone 28 sf .3%

Building Design Menu Items

Color Contrast

Brick and stone will provide contrasting colors

Corner Treatment

Recess of stair tower, enhanced windows, and articulation of masonry at corners provide emphasis

Articulated Public Entrance

Projected facade, double doors, and steps articulate the main entrance

Articulation Elements

Windows bays provide fenestration, change in texture (with brick coursing), and material change (with metal panels) for articulation

Enhanced Windows

Multiple types of windows provided on each facade

Design Elements

Variation in brick coursing and projection is used to create lintels and banding, and recession of the side entrances create overhang eaves

1/8" = 1'-0"G3.00

D1 Dumpster Enclosure - Rear

1/8" = 1'-0"G3.00

C1 Dumpster Enclosure - Side

1/8" = 1'-0"G3.00

B1 Dumpster Enclosure - Front

Covered Walkway/Awning/Portico
Total Length % of Facade Length

178' - 8" 46%

101' - 6" 31%

236' - 8" 65%

100' - 0" 31%

117

Item 23.



Page 1 of 4 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Monica Espinoza 

PRESENTER: Savannah Ware, AICP, Chief City Planner 

TITLE: STP-22-01-0027 - Site Plan - Retail F at Epic East Towne Crossing 

(City Council District 2). Site Plan for a 12,000 sq. ft. building for retail 

and restaurant uses on 1.960 acres. Lot 11, Block A, Epic East Towne 

Crossing Phase II, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, zoned 

PD-364, within the SH 161 Corridor Overlay District, and addressed as 

3142 S HWY 161 (On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning 

Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0) 

APPLICANT: Matt McAuliff, Winkelmann & Associates 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

SUMMARY: 

Site Plan for a 12,000 sq. ft. building for retail and restaurant uses on 1.960 acres. Lot 11, Block A, Epic 

East Towne Crossing Phase II, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, zoned PD-364, within the 

SH 161 Corridor Overlay District, and addressed as 3142 S HWY 161. 

PURPOSE OF REQUEST: 

The applicant intends to construct a 12,000 sq. ft. building for retail and restaurant uses in the Epic East 

Towne Crossing development. Site Plan approval by City Council is required for any project within an 

overlay district or planned development district. Site Plan approval is required for this project because it is 

located within the SH 161 Corridor Overlay District and zoned PD-364. 

The purpose of site plan approval is to ensure that development meets requirements in the Unified 

Development Code (UDC), provides adequate circulation, and uses quality site planning techniques. The 

UDC identifies criteria for evaluating proposed developments. Criteria include density and dimensional 

standards, landscaping and screening requirements, and architectural design for special districts. 

ADJACENT LAND USES: 

The following table summarizes the zoning designation and existing use for the surrounding properties. 

Table 1. Zoning and Land Use 

118

Item 24.



Page 2 of 4 

Direction Zoning Existing Use 

North Planned Development PD-364 Creek, Undeveloped 

South Planned Development PD-364 Parking Lot, Kohl’s 

West Planned Development PD-364 SH 161, Longhorn Steakhouse  

East Planned Development PD-91 Undeveloped 

HISTORY: 

 December 2, 2019: The Planning and Zoning Commission approved a Replat for Epic East 

Towne Crossing, Phase II (Case Number P191202).  

 September 11, 2017: The Planning and Zoning Commission approved a Final Plat for Epic East 

Towne Crossing Phase 1 (Case Number P170903). 

 August 7, 2017: The Planning and Zoning Commission approved a Preliminary Plat for Epic 

East Towne Crossing Phase 1 (Case Number P170804). 

 July 18, 2017: City Council approved PD-364, a planned development for commercial and multi-

family uses (Case Number Z170401). 

PROPOSED USE CHARACTERISTICS AND FUNCTION: 

The developer intends to construct a 12,000 sq. ft. building with multiple tenant spaces for restaurant 

and retail uses. At this time, the developer has not announced names of any future tenants. The proposal 

is part of the Epic East Towne Crossing development, which provides access to the site via a network of 

mutual access drives from SH 161, Mayfield Rd, and Warrior Trl. The site does not have direct access 

from SH 161. 

The site plan includes the building, parking spaces, drive aisles, and a dumpster enclosure. 

ZONING REQUIREMENTS: 

Density and Dimensional Requirements 

The property is subject to density and dimensional requirements in Article 6 of the Unified Development 

Code (UDC). The following table summarizes these requirements. The proposal meets the density and 

dimensional requirements. 

Table 2. Site Data Summary 

Standard Required Proposed Compliance 

Min. Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) 5,000 85,372 Yes 

Min. Lot Width (Ft.) 50 241 Yes 

Min. Lot Depth (Ft.) 100 345 Yes 

Front Setback (Ft.) 25 25 Yes 

Rear Setback (Ft.) 0 0 Yes 

Side Setback (Ft.) 10 10 Yes 

Max. Height (Ft.) 25 25 Yes 

Max. Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 0.5:1 0.14:1 Yes 

 

 

 

119

Item 24.



Page 3 of 4 

 

Parking Requirements 

The property is subject to parking requirements in Article 10 of the UDC. The following table summarizes 

these requirements. The proposal meets the parking requirements. 

Table 3. Parking Summary 

Standard Required Proposed Meets 

Restaurant Parking (1 space per 100 Sq. Ft.) 

Retail Parking (1 space per 275 Sq. Ft.) 

110 

 
110 Yes 

 

Landscape and Screening 

The property is subject to landscape and screening requirements in Article 8 and Appendix F of the UDC. 

The table below summarizes these requirements. The proposal meets or exceeds the landscape and 

screening requirements. 

Table 4. Landscape & Screening Requirements 

 

 

Building Design 

The exterior building materials include stone, two types of brick, texture coated tilt wall panels, and 

metal accents. The proposed elevations include 30% glazing on the west facade, which meets the 

window requirement for street-facing facades, and windows along 47% of the combined length of all 

facades, which substantially complies with the total windows requirement in Appendix F and exceeds 

what is required by PD-364. The proposed design uses changes in materials and textures, building 

articulation, and a combination of awnings and canopies to create visual interest. 

Appendix F Checklist 

Appendix F requires that applicants provide Menu Items from four categories: Usable Open and 

Pedestrian Walkways, Site Design and Building Orientation, Building Design, and Healthy, Smart, and 

Sustainable Community. The proposal includes 12.5 Menu Items and meets the Appendix F Menu Items 

requirements. Selected Menu Items include native plants, pollinator friendly flowers, a recycling 

program, materials mix, articulated public entrance, and a park once environment. 

VARIANCES: 

The applicant is not requesting any variances. 

Standard Required Provided Meets 

Landscape Area (%) 
10% 

(8,537 Sq. Ft.) 

17% 

(14,316 Sq. Ft.) 
Yes 

Front Yard 

75% of Required Landscape in Front Yard 
Yes Yes Yes 

Total Street, Buffer, Parking, and Pedestrian 

Walkway Trees 
28 28 Yes 

Shrubs (1 5-gallon shrub per 50 Sq. Ft. of 

required landscape area) 
171 174 Yes 

Landscape Buffer (Ft.) 30 30 Yes 

120

Item 24.



Page 4 of 4 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote 

of 7-0. 

 The Development Review Committee (DRC) recommends approval. 

 

121

Item 24.



S Hwy 161 Sb  

Mayfield Rd

S Hwy 161 Nb  

Es
pl

an
ad

e  

S Hwy 161 Svc Nb Rd

S Hwy 161 Svc Sb Rd

Meadows Dr

Meadow Park Ln

Sum
m

e rfield Ln

S Hwy 161 Svc Sb Rd

´
Development Services

(972) 237-8255
www.gptx.org

City of Grand Prairie

T161

§̈¦20

CASE LOCATION MAP
STP-22-01-0027 - Site Plan
3142 S Hwy 161 -Retail/Restaurant

Exhibit A - Location Map
Page 1 of 1

122

Item 24.



Exhibit B - Site Plan
Page 1 of 1

123

Item 24.



Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 1 of 1

124

Item 24.



Exhibit D - Building Elevations
Page 1 of 2

125

Item 24.



Exhibit D - Building Elevations
Page 2 of 2

126

Item 24.



Appendix F Menu Items Checklist 

The Appendix F Menu Items Checklist intended to help developers organize their Development Request submittal and 

communicate Menu Items choices to Staff.  This checklist is not intended to be used without first reading Appendix F.  

Developers must select a total of 12 Menu Items.  Unless otherwise indicated, each Menu Item counts as 1 Menu Item. 

Instructions: Complete checklist by indicating which Menu Items you select. After completing the checklist fill out the 

Menu Item Summary Table. 

Usable Open Space & Pedestrian Linkages 
 If Selected Menu Item Description 

 Enhanced Usable Open Space Usable Open Space that exceeds the minimum requirements with 
at least four Tier 1 amenities and three or more Tier 2 amenities. 

 Tier 1 Amenities: two types of seating, active water feature, 
furnished play area, dog park, sculpture, artwork, furnished 
outdoor game area, or comparable amenity proposed by the 
developer. 

 Seasonal plantings in decorative planters, textured paving, 
living wall, mural, decorative lighting, USB charging station, 
electrical hook-up to allow programming, or a comparable 
amenity proposed by the developer. 

 Circle or highlight the proposed amenities. 

 Above-and-Beyond Usable Open Space (2) Developers who are able to demonstrate to the Planning and 
Zoning Commission and City Council that the proposed Usable 
Open Space goes above-and-beyond the Enhanced Usable Open 
Space may count the space as two Menu Items. 

 Include project narrative or exhibit that lists the proposed 
amenities and describes why the space should be considered 
above-and-beyond Usable Open Space. 

 Public Art Piece Dedicate at least 1% of the total project cost to one major public 
art piece to be centrally located. 

 Public Art Series Dedicate at least 1% of the total project cost to multiple public art 
pieces to be located throughout the development. 

Site Design & Building Orientation (Select at Least Two Menu Items) 
 If Selected Menu Item Description 

 75% Parking Behind Buildings Buildings shall be placed towards the street with 75% of off-street 
parking located to the side or rear of buildings. 

 100% Parking Behind Buildings (1.5) Buildings shall be placed towards the street with 100% of off-
street parking located to the side or rear of buildings. 

 Add Parking Lot Trees Provide one parking lot tree per five spaces.  Parking lot trees 
should be capable of achieving 30% canopy coverage over the 
parking area within 10 years of planting. 

 Rain Gardens Provide bioretention areas, or rain gardens, between every other 
row of parking. 

 Permeable Surface Use permeable concrete and pavers on 15% of the surface 
parking lot. 

 Strategic Parking Submit on of the following Strategic Parking Plans: 
 Parking Reclamation Plan – Create a parking reclamation plan 

that includes specific strategies to reclaim surplus parking 
spaces to expand structures and usable open spaces or create 
new ones.  Developers should anticipate changes in parking 
demand and design their site to create opportunities for 
adaptable reuse. 

 Parking Flex Plan – Create a parking flex plan that shows how 
parking spaces can be temporarily used for something other 
than parking, such as festivals, outdoor dining, community 
gatherings, and other events.  The plan should identify the 
parking spaces and describe how they will be used. 

Exhibit E - Appendix F Menu Items
Page 1 of 4

127

Item 24.



 Phased Parking Plan – Create a phased parking plan and 
construct parking spaces in phases as demand requires.  Areas 
intended for future parking phases would remain as green 
spaces until converted to parking spaces.  If, after five years, 
future parking spaces have not been constructed, they shall 
become permanent green space. 

 Circle or highlight selected parking plan. 

 Ceremonial Drive Developments over 20 acres or developments that include 
multiple lots/buildings shall provide a grand promenade or 
ceremonial drive with trees planted every 30 feet. 

 Gateway Developments over 20 acres or developments that include 
multiple lots/buildings shall use site layout and building 
placement to create a gateway, frame usable open space, or 
create a view corridor with appropriate terminus. 

 Park Once Environment (1.5) Developments over 10 acres or developments that include 
multiple lots/buildings shall use site layout and building 
placement to create a park once environment. 

 Shared parking agreements between different lots/occupants 
must be in place. 

Building Design (Select at Least Six Menu Items) 
 If Selected Menu Item Description 

 Materials Mix A single material, color, or texture shall not exceed 60% of a 
single facade. 

 Stone Accent All four facades shall include a stone accent in a contrasting color 
and texture from the primary building material.  The combined 
area of the stone accent shall be at least 25% of the vertical 
surface area of all facades. 

 Color Contrast Each facade shall include at least two contrasting colors. 

 Specialty Accent Color and/or material shall be used to highlight entrances of 
multi-tenant buildings.  Specialty accents should reflect the 
personality or character of the occupant. 

 Corner Treatment Developers shall use at least three architectural elements to 
emphasize corners of the buildings: corner entrance, accent 
material, projecting cornice, tower element, enhanced windows, 
cupolas, gables, dormers, balconies, articulation, or a comparable 
element chosen by the developer.  Corner treatments must be 
one of the Menu Items for buildings at key intersections. 

 Circle or highlight the proposed architectural elements. 

 Articulated Public Entrance The primary building entrance shall be visibly prominent from a 
public street.  At least three of the following shall be used: 
recessed facade, projecting facade, raised canopy, taller door 
dimensions, double doors, lighting fixtures on either side of the 
entry, steps or stoops, changes in materials, arches, columns, 
eave treatment, transom windows, or a comparable element 
chosen by the developer. 

 Circle or highlight the proposed elements. 

 Buildings at Key Intersections Developers should highlight key intersections by using additional 
design elements to create gateways or landmarks.  Buildings at 
key intersections shall include at least three of the following 
features: corner plaza with plantings and seating, corner tower 
form, cupolas, large window openings, sloped or pitched roof 
form, richer colors, seasonal plantings, or a comparable element 
chosen by the developer. 

 Circle or highlight the proposed features. 

 Roof Profile Variation Developers shall use parapets or another technique to create a 
distinctive roof profile. 

 Articulation Elements Each facade shall include at least three of the following items 
every 60 feet: change in roofline, facade modulation, window 

Exhibit E - Appendix F Menu Items
Page 2 of 4

128

Item 24.



fenestration patterns, vertical columns, and change in material or 
texture. 

 Circle or highlight the proposed items. 

 Enhanced Windows All facades with windows shall include at least two types of 
windows that differ in the style, size, shape, or placement. 

 Canopy Variation Facades shall include multiple types of canopies.  Changes in 
shape, color, or material should be used to highlight an 
architectural feature or particular user while complementing the 
established design theme. 

 It is likely that individual tenants will determine the final design 
of the canopy.  If tenants are unknown at this time, submit an 
exhibit that illustrates variations in shape, color, and material 
within the intended design theme. 

 Design Elements Facades shall include at least three other design elements: 
trellises, towers, overhang eves, banding, pilasters, projecting 
cornices, columns, string courses, rustication, lintels, or a 
comparable element proposed by the developer. 

 Circle or highlight the proposed design elements. 

Healthy, Smart, and Sustainable Community (Select at Least Two Menu Items) 
 If Selected Menu Item Description 

 Mature Trees Provide mature trees for 30% of required trees.  The locations of 
the mature trees should be focused in usable open spaces and 
along pedestrian paths. 

 Connect to Parks and/or Trails Provide a connection to existing or proposed parks and/or trails.  
The connection should function as a continuation, not just a point 
of access.  The connection shall include appropriate amenities 
such as bike racks, pet waste disposal stations, water fountains, 
misting stations, or a comparable amenity proposed by the 
developer. 

 Circle or highlight the proposed amenities. 

 Community Garden Provide a community garden and participate in the City’s 
community gardens partnership program. 

 Parking Reclamation Plan Create a parking reclamation plan that includes specific strategies 
to reclaim surplus parking spaces to expand structures and usable 
open spaces or create new ones.  Developers should anticipate 
changes in parking demand and design their site to create 
opportunities for adaptable reuse. 

 Parking Flex Plan Create a parking flex plan that shows how parking spaces can be 
temporarily used for something other than parking, such as 
festivals, outdoor dining, community gatherings, and other 
events.  The plan should identify the parking spaces and describe 
how they will be used. 

 Phased Parking Plan Create a phased parking plan and construct parking spaces in 
phases as demand requires.  Areas intended for future parking 
phases would remain as green space until converted to parking 
spaces.  If, after five years, future parking phases have not been 
constructed, they shall become permanent green space. 

 Green Infrastructure Provide and maintain green infrastructure such as bioretention 
areas (rain gardens), planter boxes, or vegetated buffer strips 
consistent with NCTCOG’s integrated Stormwater Management 
(iSWM) Program. 

 Solar Energy Use solar energy to satisfy 25% or more of on-site energy 
demand. 

 Preserve Open Space Reserve existing natural areas comprising at least 5% of the 
overall project size.  Such areas should incorporate quality non-
invasive tree stands, habitat or riparian areas.  Such areas should 
not include existing floodplain or other areas already protected or 
inherently unsuitable for development. 

Exhibit E - Appendix F Menu Items
Page 3 of 4

129

Item 24.



 70% Native Plants Use native and drought tolerant species for at least 70% of 
planting materials. 

 Wi-Fi (.5) Provide Free Wi-Fi in common areas. 

 USB Charging Stations (.5) Provide USB charging stations in usable open spaces. 

 Smart Parking (.5) Provide web-connected sensors in pavement that help people 
find and/or reserve a parking space. 

 Ride-Sharing Drop-Off (.5) Provide designated spaces for ride-sharing pick-ups and drop-
offs. 

 Permeable Paving (.5) Use permeable pavement on 15% of the parking lot. 

 Green Roofs (.5) Provide a green roof that is at least 50% of total roof area. 

 Living Wall (.5) Provide a living wall that is at least 60% of the area of the facade 
on which it is constructed. 

 Recycling Program (.5) Institute a mandatory recycling program for occupants.  Provide 
recycling bins in addition to trash bins in common areas. 

 30% Native Plants (.5) Use native and drought tolerant species for at least 30% of 
planting materials. 

 Pollinator Friendly Flowers (.5) Use native plants that attract bees, butterflies, moths, and 
hummingbirds for at least 20% of required landscape materials. 

Alternative Compliance 

The Menu Items listed do not represent an exhaustive list.  Developers may propose a comparable item not listed.  If developers are 
able to prove that the proposed item meets the intent of Appendix F, Staff may recommend that the proposed item be counted as a 
Menu Item.  Indicate the proposed item, identify which of the four elements the proposed item will count towards, and provide a 
brief description. 

 If Selected Proposed Item/Element Description 

   

   

   

   

 

Menu Item Summary Table 
Element # of Menu Items 

Usable Open Space & Pedestrian Walkways  

Site Design & Building Orientation  

Building Design  

Healthy, Smart, Sustainable Community  

Alternative Compliance  

Total Menu Items:  

 

0
2.5
8

2

12.5
0

Exhibit E - Appendix F Menu Items
Page 4 of 4

130

Item 24.



Page 1 of 3 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Monica Espinoza 

PRESENTER: Savannah Ware, AICP, Chief City Planner 

TITLE: STP-22-01-0026 - Site Plan - Centerline Supply (City Council District 

1). Site Plan for an 18,000 sq. ft. addition to an existing manufacturing 

building on 1.98 acres. Lots 1R and 5-10, Block C, Bell Crest Addition, 

City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas, zoned Planned 

Development-416 (PD-416) District, and addressed as 509 Jesse Street 

(On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission 

recommended approval by a vote of 7-0)    

APPLICANT: Mathew Thomas, P.E., Thomas Engineering, Inc 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve with conditions 

  

SUMMARY: 

Site Plan for an 18,000 sq. ft. addition to an existing manufacturing building on 1.98 acres. Lots 1R and 

5-10, Block C, Bell Crest Addition, City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas, zoned Planned 

Development-416 (PD-416) District and addressed as 509 Jesse Street. 

PURPOSE OF REQUEST: 

The applicant intends to construct an 18,000 sq. ft. addition to the existing building, expand the parking 

lot, add landscaping, and build a masonry screening wall to accommodate the expansion of the existing 

business. 

ADJACENT LAND USES: 

The following Table 1 summarizes the zoning designation and existing use for the surrounding 

properties. 

Table 1. Adjacent Zoning and Land Uses 

Direction Zoning Existing Use 

North Commercial Commercial Flex Space 

South Commercial Office Warehouse Uses 

West Commercial Office Commercial-Centerline 

East Single-Family -4 Single Family Residential 

131

Item 25.



Page 2 of 3 

 

HISTORY: 

 

In May 2001, a Certificate of Occupancy was issued to Centerline Supply, Inc. for sign manufacturing.  

Currently, the sign manufacturing business activities extend from the original shop at 509 Jesse Street to 

the abutting five properties to the south.  Centerline Supply, Inc has business operations and activities on 

both sides of Jesse Street, from Anton Street extending south to W.E. Roberts Street. 

 July 13, 2021: City Council approved a rezone from Commercial to PD-416 for commercial uses 

and sign manufacturing (Case Number Z210502). 

PROPOSED USE CHARACTERISTICS AND FUNCTION: 

Centerline Supply, Inc. is a sign manufacturing business that manufactures street and highway signs.  

The proposed expansion includes a 18,000 sq. ft. building addition, improvements to an existing 

driveway, and construction of a new commercial driveway.  The addition will bring the facilities total 

sq. ft to 33,000 sq. ft. 

The site plan depicts 46 new off-street parking spaces, an off-street loading space, and a masonry 

dumpster enclosure. The applicant is proposing to construct a minimum eight ft. masonry screening wall 

on the eastern boundary of the property. 

ZONING REQUIREMENTS: 

Density and Dimensional Requirements 

Development is subject to Article 6 in the UDC and PD-416. The table below evaluates the density and 

dimensional standards of the proposed development.  The proposal meets the density and dimensional 

requirements.  

Table 2: Site Data Summary 

Standard Required Provided Meets 

Min. Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) 15,000 86,299 Yes 

Min. Lot Width (Ft.) 100 148 Yes 

Min. Lot Depth (Ft.) 150 579 Yes 

Front Setback (Ft.) 25 37.5 & 36 (Jesse St) Yes 

Rear Setback (Ft.) 12.5 12.5 Yes 

Max. Height (Ft.) 50 26 Yes 

Max. Floor Area Ratio 1:1 0.38:1 Yes 

 

Landscaping Requirements 

The property is subject to landscape and screening requirements in Article 8 of the UDC.  Table 3 

summarizes the landscaping requirements.  The site meets or exceeds these requirements. 

Table 3. Landscape & Screening Requirements 

Standard Required Provided Meets 

Area (Sq. Ft.) 8,630 10,728 Yes 

Trees  17 19 Yes 

Sherman Street Trees 3 3 Yes 

132

Item 25.



Page 3 of 3 

Jesse Street Trees 10 10 Yes 

Anton Street Trees 3 3 Yes 

Shrubs  170 170 Yes 

 

Parking Requirements 

The proposal meets the required total parking spaces. Based on the parking requirement calculations in 

Article 10, the development must provide a minimum of 55 spaces.  Table 4 summarizes the parking 

requirements. 

Table 4. Required Parking 

Use Standard Required Provided 

Manufacturing 

Plant 

1 Space/600 sq. ft.. 55 68 

VARIANCES: 

The applicant is not requesting any variances. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

 On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote 

of 7-0. 

 Development Review Committee (DRC) recommends approval with the following conditions: 

 

1. The applicant shall replat the property into a single lot. 

2. The applicant shall file the plat with the county before the City will issue a building permit. 

133

Item 25.



Je
ss

e S
t

Ro
ya

l A
v

Da
lw

ay
 D

r

We Roberts St

Tr
ail

er
de

ll R
d

W
or

th
wa

y D
r

Anton St

Ta
pl

ey
 St

He
in

z W
ay

Tu
sk

eg
ee

 St

Pa
ng

bu
rn

 St

CASE LOCATION MAP
Case Number Z210502
509 Jesse St ´

Development Services
(972) 237-8255
www.gptx.org

City of Grand Prairie

T161

§̈¦30

Exhibit A - Location Map
Page 1 of 1

STP-22-01-0026 - Site Plan

509 Jesse Street 134

Item 25.



Exhibit B - Site Plan
Page 1 of 1

135

Item 25.



///
///

///////////////////////////

AC

AC

T

T

G

GT

T

T

W

W

OHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHU
OHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHU

T

O
H

U
O

H
U

OHU

OHU

T

E

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
G

R
AN

D
 P

R
AI

R
IE

VO
L.

 6
34

0,
 P

G
. 5

73
D

.R
.T

.C
.T

.

LO
T 

11
, B

LO
C

K 
A

JE
FF

ER
SO

N
 H

EI
G

H
TS

VO
LU

M
E 

38
8-

C
, P

AG
E 

13
0

P.
R

.T
.C

.T
.

LO
T 

10
, B

LO
C

K 
A

JE
FF

ER
SO

N
 H

EI
G

H
TS

VO
LU

M
E 

38
8-

C
, P

AG
E 

13
0

P.
R

.T
.C

.T
.

LO
T 

1,
 B

LO
C

K 
A

JE
FF

ER
SO

N
 H

EI
G

H
TS

VO
LU

M
E 

38
8-

C
, P

AG
E 

13
0

P.
R

.T
.C

.T
.

VO
LU

M
E 

38
8-

C
, P

AG
E 

13
0

LO
T 

12
, B

LO
C

K 
A

JE
FF

ER
SO

N
 H

EI
G

H
TS

VO
LU

M
E 

38
8-

C
, P

AG
E 

13
0

P.
R

.T
.C

.T
.

LO
T 

13
, B

LO
C

K 
A

JE
FF

ER
SO

N
 H

EI
G

H
TS

VO
LU

M
E 

38
8-

C
, P

AG
E 

13
0

P.
R

.T
.C

.T
.

LO
T 

14
, B

LO
C

K 
A

JE
FF

ER
SO

N
 H

EI
G

H
TS

VO
LU

M
E 

38
8-

C
, P

AG
E 

13
0

P.
R

.T
.C

.T
.

LO
T 

15
, B

LO
C

K 
A

JE
FF

ER
SO

N
 H

EI
G

H
TS

VO
LU

M
E 

38
8-

C
, P

AG
E 

13
0

P.
R

.T
.C

.T
.

LO
T 

16
, B

LO
C

K 
A

JE
FF

ER
SO

N
 H

EI
G

H
TS

VO
LU

M
E 

38
8-

C
, P

AG
E 

13
0

P.
R

.T
.C

.T
.

7' PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT
VOLUME 388-C, PAGE 130

P.R.T.C.T.

276.35'60.16'

6 
W

6 
W

SS
SS

SS
SS

W
W

1

7

2

8

2

12 12 12

14 GULF MUHLY

11 DWF BURFORD HOLLY 11 DWF BURFORD HOLLY

11 DWF BURFORD HOLLY

66 DWF BURFORD HOLLY

6 BALD CYPRESS

5 CEDAR ELM

1 SHUMARD RED OAK

RIVER ROCK

JESSE STREET
(80' R.O.W.

AN
TO

N
 S

TR
EE

T
(5

0'
 R

.O
.W

.

SH
ER

M
AN

 S
TR

EE
T

(V
AR

IA
BL

E 
 R

.O
.W

.

2 CEDAR ELM

47 DWF BURFORD HOLLY

44 DWF BURFORD HOLLY

4 CEDAR ELM

OVERHEAD DOOR OVERHEAD DOOR OVERHEAD DOOR OVERHEAD DOOR

OVERHEAD ELECTRIC
UNDERGROUND SANITARY SEWER

UNDERGROUND WATER
PROPERTY LINE

BERMUDA TURF GRASS SOD

RIVER ROCK

W
SS

OHE

Scale: 1" = 20'
PLANTING PLAN 00 20' 40'

Jurisdiction of Project
REGULATORY AUTHORITIES:

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE
PLANNING DIVISION
GRAND PRAIRIE CITY HALL
P.O. BOX 534045, 300 WEST MAIN ST, GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS 75053
972 237-8255

TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING AND REGULATION
ELIMINATION OF ARCHITECTURAL BARRIERS
E.O. THOMPSON STATE OFFICE BUILDING
920 COLORADO
AUSTIN, TEXAS 78701
(512) 463-3211
(512) 475-2886 (FAX)

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE
ARTICLE 8, LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING
     
     A. LANDSCAPE AREAS MIN 10% OF BUILDING SITE.

(PROPOSED LIGHT INDUSTRIAL ZONING)  BLDG SITE = 86,299 SF
REQUIRED: 8,630 SF     PROVIDED: 10,728 SF

B.  1 TREE PER 500 SF OF REQUIRED LANDSCAPING AREA 
REQUIRED: 17 TREES
PROVIDED: 19 TREES

OF THESE REQUIRED TREES, ONE PARKING LOT TREE PER 20 SPACES
(68 SPACES)

REQUIRED: 3 PARKING LOT TREES
PROVIDED: 3 PARKING LOT TREES

C.  1 SHRUB PER 50 SQ FT OF REQUIRED LANDSCAPING AREA
REQUIRED: 170 SHRUBS
PROVIDED: 170 SHRUBS

D.  STREET TREES
SHERMAN ST

REQUIRED: 3 TREES,  PROVIDED: 3 TREES
JESSE ST

REQUIRED: 10 TREES PROVIDED: 10 TREES
ANTON ST

REQUIRED 3 TREES, PROVIDED: 3 TREES IN ALTERNATE 
LOCATION

E.  LANDSCAPE DOES NOT OBSTRUCT TRAFFIC VISIBILITY.

F.  NO EXISTING TREES ON SITE.

UNDERGROUND AUTOMATIC SPRINKLING SYSTEM PROVIDED.
SYSTEM DESIGNED AND INSTALLED ACCORDING TO TCEQ LAWS AND
REGULATIONS PROVIDING FOR 100% COVERAGE ON ALL LANDSCAPE AND TURF.
THE SYSTEM SHALL INCLUDE A FREEZE-RAIN SENSOR.

Landscaping Requirements

Irrigation Requirements

Site Location

DRAWING KEY

PLANT LIST

SITE

L-1.01

LANDSCAPE PLAN

LO
T 1

R, 
LO

TS
 5-

10
 BL

OC
K C

, B
EL

L C
RE

ST
 AD

DI
TIO

N
50

9 J
ES

SE
 ST

, G
RA

ND
 PR

AI
RI

E, 
TX

 75
05

1
CI

TY
 FI

LE
 NO

. P
-X

XX
X

CE
NT

ER
LIN

E S
UP

PL
Y

DEVELOPER
JESSE ST HOLDINGS LP

503 JESSE ST
GRAND PRAIRIE, TX 75051

ENGINEER
THOMAS SITE DEVELOPMENT ENGINEERING INC.

P.O. BOX 1261, COLLEYVILLE, TX 76034
ATTN: MATHEW THOMAS, PE   PH: (214) 680-2728

FE
LD

M
AN

DE
SI

GN
 S

TU
DI

O
S

P.
O

. B
ox

 8
32

34
6,

 R
ich

ar
ds

on
, T

ex
as

 7
50

8
3

M
ob

ile
: 9

72
 5

23
-4

94
4

ca
ro

l@
fe

ldm
an

de
sig

n.c
om

CASE  NO. STP-22-01-0026

PROPOSED LOT 1R1, BLOCK C; 1.98 AC.
BELL CREST ADDITION

AND BEING SITUATED IN THE
TAPLEY HOLLAND SURVEY, ABSTRACT NUMBER 750

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TARRANT COUNTY, TEXAS

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 1 of 1

136

Item 25.



Exhibit D - Exterior Elevation Plan
Page 1 of 1

137

Item 25.



Page 1 of 4 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

ORDINANCE 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Monica Espinoza 

PRESENTER: Savannah Ware, AICP, Chief City Planner 

TITLE: CPA-21-12-0002 - Comprehensive Plan Amendment - Villas at Bardin 

(City Council District 4). Amendment to the Future Land Use Map to 

change the designation from Low Density Residential to Medium 

Density Residential. A portion of Block 4, Sheffield Village Addition, 

Phase IV, City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas, zoned PD-

140B with an approximate address of 2801 W Bardin Rd (On February 

14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval 

by a vote 7-0) 

APPLICANT: Jerry Sylo, JBI Partners 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Staff is unable to recommend approval of this request due to its 

inconsistency with the Future Land Use Map. 

  

SUMMARY: 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment to change the Future Land Use Map from Low Density Residential to 

Medium Density Residential. A portion of Block 4, Sheffield Village Addition, Phase IV, City of Grand 

Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas zoned Planned Development (PD 140B) with Single-Family detached 

uses located in the southeast corner of Bardin Rd. and Magna Carta Blvd. with an approximate address 

of 2801 W Bardin Rd. On January 10, 2022, the Planning and Zoning commission tabled the case 

pending follow-up meetings with the neighborhood. 

PURPOSE OF REQUEST: 

The applicant wishes to rezone the subject parcel from a Planned Development (PD 140B) with a base 

zoning district of Single-Family (SF) zoning to Single-Family Townhouse.  This request is for a change 

from Low Density Residential to Medium Density Residential on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM).  

Low Density Residential represents a traditional single-family detached neighborhood and includes 

housing and living units for people with a range of incomes and needs.  Low density residential areas 

generally range between zero and six dwelling units per acre.  

Medium Density Residential represents single-family residential neighborhoods at densities between six 

and 12 dwelling units per acre. Medium density residential types take the form of townhomes, duplexes, 

138

Item 26.



Page 2 of 4 

and patio homes. Medium density residential can be used as a transitional use between low density areas 

and higher intensity uses, such as commercial, retail, and industrial activity. 

Any amendments to the Comprehensive Plan and accompanying Future Land Use Map are required to 

be reviewed by the Planning and Zoning Commission.  Section 1.11.5.1 of the Unified Development 

Code of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas stipulates that the Planning and Zoning Commission shall 

conduct a public hearing and make recommendations to the City Council on amendments to the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

HISTORY: 

• Concurrently: Zoning Change from Planned Development - (PD 140B) with Single-Family 

Detached Use to a Planned Development District for Townhome Use and a Concept plan for an 

87-unit single family townhome development on 10 acres (Case Number ZON-21-11-0015).  

ANALYSIS: 

On Tuesday, August 17, 2021, the City of Grand Prairie City Council adopted the Housing Analysis 

Policy and Guidelines. The policy states that all future residential development should conform with 

policy guidelines. The proposed development aligns with the following guidelines: 

 The proposal is accessible to amenities and services by walking or driving.  

 The proposal corresponds to new non-residential development. 

 The proposal reduces the economic burden on the resident by concentrating amenities and open 

spaces where use and maintenance can be shared. 

On January 26, 2022, The applicant and Kelly Horn with the Arlington ISD met with the neighborhood 

and the following items were voiced: 

 Kelly commented that there was not enough student population to build a school on the property. 

The two existing schools in the area are under capacity and the school-age population is trending 

down and those schools could be closed in the coming years. Also, residents are also choosing to 

send their children to charter schools and Mansfield ISD. Additionally, if a school were 

constructed, it would be three stories. 

 There was a consensus that the proposed neighborhood was attractive, both in terms of the 

homes and the neighborhood design. 

 The main concern brought up by the neighbors was traffic. More specifically, how Bardin Road 

tapers to a 2-lane bridge as it crosses 360 and the backup caused by the downsizing. There was 

agreement that the problem is not because of the new neighborhood, nor is it something that 

Grand Prairie can control since the bridge is not within Grand Prairie’s city limits. It was 

discussed how the townhomes will probably generate the least amount of traffic of any new type 

of development on this property. The applicant pointed out that if an elementary school was built 

and it had 500 children attend it, which is not unreasonable for an elementary school, the traffic 

count would be almost identical to the townhomes. The primary difference would be the school 

would create 2 major spikes in traffic (drop-off and pick-up), while the townhomes would create 

an increase of 56 cars/hour (1/minute) throughout the day. 

 

139

Item 26.



Page 3 of 4 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote 

of 7-0. 

 Staff is unable to recommend approval of this request due to its inconsistency with the Future 

Land Use Map. 

BODY: 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS AMENDING THE 2021 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP, A COMPONENT OF THE 2018 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, TO 

CHANGE THE CLASSIFICATION OF A PORTION OF BLOCK 4, SHEFFIELD VILLAGE 

ADDITION, PHASE IV, CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TARRANT COUNTY, TEXAS, ZONED 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT – 140B DISTRICT, LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL TO MEDIUM 

DENSITY RESIDENTIAL; AND MAKING THIS ORDINANCE CUMULATIVE; PROVIDING 

A SAVINGS AND SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND DECLARING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 
 

WHEREAS, Section 1.11.5.1 of the Unified Development Code of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas 

stipulates that the Planning and Zoning Commission shall conduct a public hearing and make 

recommendations to the City Council on amendments to the Comprehensive Plan; and 

  

WHEREAS, Notice was given of a public hearing on proposed amendments to the Comprehensive Plan 

to be held by the Planning and Zoning Commission of Grand Prairie, Texas, in the City Hall Plaza 

Building, at 6:30 P.M. on February 14, 2022, such Notice of the time and place of such hearing having 

been given at least ten (10) days prior to such hearing by publication in the Fort Worth Star Telegram, 

Fort Worth, Texas, a newspaper of general circulation in such municipality; and 
 

WHEREAS, after consideration of said amendment, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of 

Grand Prairie, Texas voted 7 to 0 to recommend to the City Council of Grand Prairie, Texas, that said 

Comprehensive Plan should be approved since its provisions are in the public interest and will promote the 

health, safety and welfare of the community; and 
 

WHEREAS, Notice was given of a further public hearing to be held by the City Council of the City of Grand 

Prairie, Texas, in the City Hall Plaza Building, at 6:30 P.M. on March 1, 2022, to consider the advisability 

of amending the Comprehensive Plan as recommended by the Planning and Zoning Commission, such Notice 

of the time and place of such hearing having been given at least fifteen (15) days prior to such hearing by 

publication in the Fort Worth Star Telegram, Fort Worth, Texas, a newspaper of general circulation in such 

municipality. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS THAT: 

  
SECTION 1. The Future Land Use Map for 2018 Comprehensive Plan for the City of Grand Prairie be 

amended, revised, and described as follows: 
 

A. Change the Future Land Use classification from LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL to 

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL on property delineated as a portion of Block 4, 

Sheffield Village Addition, phase IV, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas; as 

described and depicted in Exhibit A – Boundary Description. 
 

140

Item 26.



Page 4 of 4 

SECTION 2. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this ordinance is for any 

reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such provisions and such 

holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 
 

SECTION 3. All ordinances or parts of ordinances not consistent or conflicting with the provisions of 

this Ordinance are hereby repealed.  Provided that such repeal shall be only to the extent of such 

inconsistency and in all other respects this Ordinance shall be cumulative of other ordinances regulating 

and governing the subject matter covered in this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 4. The terms and provisions of this Ordinance are severable and are governed by Section 1-4 

of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas. 

 

SECTION 5. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, and 

publication. 
 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, 

TEXAS, ON THIS THE 1ST DAY OF MARCH 2022. 

 

ORDINANCE NO. # 

CASE NO. CPA-21-12-0002 

141

Item 26.



W Ih 20 Eb  

W Bardin Rd

Fenwick St

Mag
na

 Ca
rta

 Bl
vd

Linden Ln

W
als

h L
n

Briar Hill Dr

Earle Dr

To
cc

at
a S

t

Sti
nw

ick
 Ln

Trilene Dr

Chanute Dr

Ta
rp

on
 Ln

Ironwood Dr

North Hampton Dr

Serenade St

Rha
ps

od
y S

t

Spinner Ln
Sonata St

Ke
nt

sh
ire

 D
r

´
Development Services

(972) 237-8255
www.gptx.org

City of Grand Prairie

§̈¦20

CASE LOCATION MAP

Villas at Bardin

Exhibit A - Location Map
Page 1 of 1

Exhibit A - Boundary Description
Page 1 of 2

CPA21120002
Comprehensive Plan Update

142

Item 26.



5

7

0

5

6

8

5

6

8

5

6

8

5
7
0

568

5

6

6

5
6
6

5
6
4

5

6

6

5
6
4

5
6
2

5

6

0

5

6

0

5

6

2

5

6

4

5

7

0

568

570

5
6
8

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Being a parcel of land located in the City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas, a part of the John Moody Survey, Abstract Number 1007,
being part of Block 4, Sheffield Village, Phase IV, an addition to the City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas as recorded in Volume
388-190, Page 83, Plat Records of Tarrant County, Texas (PRTCT), and being all of the called 10.000 acre tract of land described in deed to
Arlington Independent School District (AISD) as recorded in Volume 12379, Page 578, Deed Records of Tarrant County, Texas (DRCTC),
and being further described as follows:

BEGINNING at the northeast corner of said 10.000 acre tract, said point being the northwest corner of Lot 16, Block A of Stone Brooke
Phase II at Sheffield Village, an addition to the City of Grand Prairie as recorded in Cabinet A, Slide 4111, Plat Records of Tarrant County,
Texas;

THENCE South 11 degrees 05 minutes 38 seconds West, 627.27 feet to a point at the southeast corner of said 10.000 acre tract, said point
being the south corner of Lot 23, Block A, and the west corner of Lot 24, Block A, of said Stone Brooke Phase II at Sheffield Village, said
point also being in the north line of Lot 17, Block 1, Sheffield Village, Phase III, an addition to the City of Grand Prairie as recorded in
Volume 388-174, Page 31, Plat Records of Tarrant County, Texas;

THENCE along the south line of said 10.000 acre tract as follows:
Northwesterly, 106.96 feet along a curve to the left having a central angle of 07 degrees 12 minutes 36 seconds, a radius of 850.00

feet and whose chord bears North 86 degrees 50 minutes 21 seconds West, 106.89 feet to a point for corner in the north line of Lot 18,
Block 1, of said Sheffield Village, Phase III;

South 89 degrees 33 minutes 21 seconds West, 681.50 feet to a point at the southwest corner of said 10.000 acre tract, said point
being at the intersection of the north right-of-way line of an alley dedicated by Sheffield Village, Phase V plat and the west right-of-way
line of Magna Carta Avenue, a 60 foot right-of-way;

THENCE along the west line of said 10.000 acre tract and along the east right-of-way line of Magna Carta Avenue as follows:
North 28 degrees 33 minutes 16 seconds East, 249.04 feet to a point for corner;
Northeasterly, 405.10 feet along a curve to the left having a central angle of 28 degrees 17 minutes 59 seconds, a radius of 820.16

feet and whose chord bears North 14 degrees 24 minutes 16 seconds East, 400.99 feet to a point at the most westerly northwest corner of
said 10.000 acre tract;

North 44 degrees 43 minutes 50 seconds East, 14.18 feet to a point at the most northerly northwest corner of said 10.000 acre tract,
said point being in the south right-of-way line of Bardin Road, a 100 foot right-of-way;

THENCE along the north line of said 10.000 acre tract and along the south right-of-way line of Bardin Road as follows:
North 89 degrees 33 minutes 21 seconds East, 527.34 feet to a point for corner;
Southeasterly, 153.01 feet along a curve to the right having a central angle of 05 degrees 39 minutes 22 seconds, a radius of 1,550.01

feet and whose chord bears South 87 degrees 36 minutes 58 seconds East, 152.95 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and containing
435,606 square feet or 10.000 acres of land.

"This document was prepared under 22 TAC 663.23, does not reflect the results of an on the ground survey, and is not to be used  to convey
or establish interests in real property except those rights and interests implied or established by the creation or reconfiguration  of the
boundary of the political subdivision for which it was prepared."

Exhibit A - Boundary Description
Page 2 of 2

143

Item 26.



Page 1 of 8 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

ORDINANCE 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Monica Espinoza, Executive Assistant 

PRESENTER: Savannah Ware, AICP, Chief City Planner 

TITLE: ZON-21-11-0015 - Zoning Change/Concept Plan - Villas at Bardin 

(City Council District 4). Zoning Change from PD-140B for Single 

Family Detached Use to a Planned Development District for 

Townhome Use and a Concept Plan for a townhome development with 

87 units on 10 acres. A portion of Block 4, Sheffield Village Addition, 

Phase IV, City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas zoned Planned 

Development (PD 140B) with Single-Family detached uses located in 

the southeast corner of Bardin Rd. and Magna Carta Blvd. with an 

approximate address of 2801 W Bardin Rd The (On February 14, 2022, 

The Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a 

vote of 5-2)  

APPLICANT: Jerry Sylo, JBI Partners 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Staff is unable to recommend approval of this request due to its 

inconsistency with the Future Land Use Map. 

  

SUMMARY: 

Zoning Change/Concept Plan request from PD-140B for Single-Family Detached Use to a Planned 

Development District for Townhome Use and a Concept Plan for a townhome development with 87 

units on 10 acres. A portion of Block 4, Sheffield Village Addition, Phase IV, City of Grand Prairie, 

Tarrant County, Texas zoned Planned Development (PD 140B) with Single-Family detached uses 

located in the southeast corner of Bardin Rd. and Magna Carta Blvd. with an approximate address of 

2801 W Bardin Rd.  

On January 10, 2022, the Planning and Zoning commission tabled the case pending follow-up meetings 

with the neighborhood. Following the neighborhood meeting, additional screening between the 

detention and rear entry homes on the southern portion of the site was added. Additionally, a variance 

for lot coverage was added from 60% to 70%. 

 

 

144

Item 27.



Page 2 of 8 

PURPOSE OF REQUEST: 

The applicant wishes to change the existing Single-Family (SF) zoning to townhome zoning with a 

minimum lot size of 1,930 square feet. In general, a zoning change allows the existing zoning map to be 

modified to permit the proposed development.  

The Planned Development District (PD) is intended to provide for design flexibility in combining and 

mixing land use units. It is not intended for nominal changes to the existing ordinance requirements that 

are established in the various zoning districts. A Planned Development District allows for deviation 

from standard ordinance requirements as long as those deviations continue to meet the intent of the 

ordinance. 

ADJACENT LAND USES: 

The following table summarizes the zoning designation and existing use for the surrounding properties. 

Table 1. Zoning and Land Use 

Direction Zoning Existing Use 

North 

PD-395 General Retail (GR) 
PD-140 Multi-Family (MF) and General 
Retail (GR) 
 

Undeveloped 
RCCG Grace Chapel/ Esporta Fitness 
Concorde Career College/The 
Residences at 3000 Bardin 

South PD-140 Single-Family (SF) Existing Residential 

West PD-140 Multi-Family (MR) Arioso Apartments & Townhomes 

East PD-140B Single-Family (SF) Existing Residential 

HISTORY: 

 Concurrently: Comprehensive Plan Amendment to change the Future Land Use Map from High 

Density Residential to Medium Density Residential (Case Number CPA-21-12-0002). 

 August 9, 1994:  City Council approved a zoning change from Planned Development (PD-140) 

with Commercial (C) and Office (O) uses to Single-Family (SF) and Multi-Family uses (Case 

Number Z940404). 

PROPOSED USE CHARACTERISTICS AND FUNCTION: 

The proposal includes 87 townhome units on individually platted lots with private streets that will be 

maintained by the HOA. Each townhome unit will have a rear-entry garage that provides two garage 

parking spaces. The main access is from one point on Magna Carta Avenue with additional exit 

only/emergency access points on Magna Carta Avenue and Bardin Road. 

The Concept Plan depicts the gated community with 1.5 acres of common open space. The site is 

designed so that townhomes front streets, open spaces, or interior muses. Architectural features include 

articulated facades and rooflines with varied materials as well as multiple window forms and roof 

features. 

145

Item 27.



Page 3 of 8 

The proposed development will be owner-occupied with individually plated lots. Additionally, an HOA 

will be created at the time of final platting that will maintain common landscaping, screening walls, 

private streets, and any signage. 

CONFORMANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

Future Land Use Map 

The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) is intended as an outlook for the future use of land and the character 

of development in the community. The FLUM designates this site area as Low Density Residential 

which represents at traditional single-family detached neighborhood with up to six dwelling units per 

acre in general. The proposed use does not correspond with the FLUM. Approval of this request requires 

an amendment to the FLUM, changing the designation from Low Density Residential to Medium 

Density Residential. This change is being process concurrently as Case Number CPA-22-12-0002. 

Medium Density Residential represents single-family residential neighborhoods at densities between six 

and 12 dwelling units per acre. Medium density residential types take the form of townhomes, duplexes, 

and patio homes. Medium density residential can be used as a transitional use between low density areas 

and higher intensity uses, such as commercial, retail, and industrial activity. The proposal offers a 

transition from high density residential to low density areas to the south and east. 

ZONING REQUIREMENTS: 

Density and Dimensional Requirements 

The property will be subject to the following requirements along with Article 10 (Parking and Loading 

Standards) and Appendix W (Residential Development Standards). The applicant is required to plat the 

property to show all easements and private streets. Table 2 depicts a comparison between the Unified 

Development Code (UDC) requirements and those proposed with notation regarding applicable 

variances. 

Table 2. Density and Dimensional Requirements 
Standard Article 6 

Density & Dim. 
(SF-Townhouse) 

Proposed Compliance 

Max. Density (DUA) 13.2 8.7 Yes 

Min. Living Area (Sq. Ft.) 70% = or >1,300 1,500 Yes 

Min. Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) 
1,680-3,299 = 30% (Max)  

= or >3,300 = 70% (Min) 

1,930 = 100% 

0% 

No 

Min. Lot Width (Ft.) 
21-29 FT = 30% (Max) 

= or >30 FT = 70% (Min) 

22 = 100% 

0% 

No 

Min. Lot Depth (Ft.) 
80-99 FT = 30% (Max) 

= or >100 FT = 70% (Min) 

88 = 100% 

0% 

No 

Min. Front Yard Setback (Ft.) 17 9 No 

Min. Rear Yard Setback (Ft.) 10 20 Yes 

Min. Garage Setback-Alley (Ft.) 10 20 Yes 

Min. Int. Side-Not Attached (Ft.) 5 5 Yes 

146

Item 27.



Page 4 of 8 

Min. Int. Side-Attached (Ft.) 0 0 Yes 

Min. Side-Street (Ft.) 15 10 No 

Max. Height (Ft.) 35 (3 Stories) 35 (3 Stories) Yes 

Max. Lot Coverage (%) 60 70 Variance 

Parking 

Table 3.  Parking Requirements 
Standard Appendix W 

(UDC) 
Proposed Compliance 

2 Garage Parking spaces 2 per unit 2 per unit Yes 

Guest Parking Spaces 1 per 5 units 2 per unit Yes 

VARIANCES: 

The applicant is requesting the following variances: 

1. Minimum Lot Area: 

a. Minimum lot area of 1,680-3,299 Sq. Ft. (Max. 30%) – Applicant is proposing 100% of 

the lots be within this range. 

b. Minimum lot area of 3,300 or greater square feet – Applicant is proposing 0% of the lots 

be within this range. 

2. Minimum Lot Depth: 

a. Minimum lot depth of 80-99 feet (Max. 30%) – The applicant is proposing 100% of the 

lots with an 88-foot depth. 

b. Minimum lot depth greater than 100 feet (Min. 70%) – Applicant is proposing 0% in this 

range. 

3. Minimum Lot Width: 

a. Minimum lot width of 21-29 feet (Max. 30%) – The applicant is proposing 100% of the 

lots with a 22-foot width. 

b. Minimum lot width greater than 30 feet (Min. 70%) – Applicant is proposing 0% lots 

within this range. 

4. Minimum side yard on street/corner of 15 feet – The applicant is proposing 10 feet. 

5. Maximum lot coverage of 60% - The applicant is proposing 70%. 

ANALYSIS: 

On Tuesday, August 17, 2021, the City of Grand Prairie City Council adopted the Housing Analysis 

Policy and Guidelines. The policy states that all future residential development should conform with 

policy guidelines. The proposed development aligns with the following guidelines: 

 The proposal is accessible to amenities and services by walking or driving.  

 The proposal corresponds to new non-residential development. 

 The proposal reduces the economic burden on the resident by concentrating amenities and open 

spaces where use and maintenance can be shared. 

On January 26, 2022, the applicant and Kelly Horn with the Arlington ISD met with the neighborhood 

and the following items were voiced: 

147

Item 27.



Page 5 of 8 

 Kelly commented that there was not enough student population to build a school on the property. 

The two existing schools in the area are under capacity and the school age population is trending 

down and those schools could be closed in the coming years. Also, residents are also choosing to 

send their children to charter schools and Mansfield ISD. Additionally, if a school were 

constructed, it would be three stories. 

 There was a consensus that the proposed neighborhood was attractive, both in terms of the 

homes and the neighborhood design. 

 The main concern brought up by the neighbors was traffic. More specifically, how Bardin Road 

tapers to a 2-lane bridge as it crosses 360 and the backup caused by the downsizing. There was 

agreement that the problem is not because of the new neighborhood, nor is it something that 

Grand Prairie can control since the bridge is not within Grand Prairie’s city limits. It was 

discussed how the townhomes will probably generate the least amount of traffic of any new type 

of development on this property. The applicant pointed out that if an elementary school was built 

and it had 500 children attend it, which is not unreasonable for an elementary school, the traffic 

count would be almost identical to the townhomes. The primary difference would be the school 

would create 2 major spikes in traffic (drop-off and pick-up), while the townhomes would create 

an increase of 56 cars/hour (1/minute) throughout the day. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote 

of 5-2. 

 Staff is unable to recommend approval of this request due to its inconsistency with the Future 

Land Use Map. However, staff notes that the proposal includes desirable elements such as rear-

entry garages and high-quality architecture. The development could also serve as a natural 

transition and buffer between high density residential and the abutting low density residential. 

BODY: 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE AND MAP TO REZONE A 

PORTION OF BLOCK 4, SHEFFIELD VILLAGE ADDITION, PHASE IV, CITY OF GRAND 

PRAIRIE, DALLAS COUNTY, TEXAS, FROM PLANNED DEVELOPMENT – 140B DISTRICT 

WITH SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED USE TO A PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

FOR TOWNHOME USE; SAID ZONING MAP AND ORDINANCE BEING ORDINANCE 

NUMBER 4779 AND PASSED ON NOVEMBER 20, 1990, REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES OR 

PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; CONTAINING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; 

CONTAINING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND TO BECOME EFFECTIVE UPON ITS 

PASSAGE AND APPROVAL 

WHEREAS, the owners of the property described herein below filed application with the City of Grand 

Prairie, Texas, petitioning an amendment of the Zoning Ordinance and map of said city so as to rezone 

and reclassify said property from its classification of Planned Development – 140B District with single-

family detached use to a Planned Development District for Townhome Use; and 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of Grand Prairie, Texas, held a public hearing on said 

application on February 14, 2022, after written notice of such public hearing before the Planning and 

Zoning Commission on the proposed rezoning had been sent to owners of real property lying within 300 

feet of the property on which the change of classification is proposed, said Notice having been given not 

less than ten (10) days before the date set for hearing to all such owners who rendered their said property 

148

Item 27.



Page 6 of 8 

for City taxes as the ownership appears on the last approved City Tax Roll, and such Notice being served 

by depositing the same, properly addressed and postage paid, in the City Post Office; and 

WHEREAS, after consideration of said application, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of 

Grand Prairie, Texas voted 5-2 to recommend approval to the City Council of Grand Prairie, Texas, of the 

request that the hereinafter described property be rezoned from its classification of Planned Development 

– 140B District with Single-Family Use to a Planned Development District for Townhome Use; and 

WHEREAS, Notice was given of a further public hearing to be held by the City Council of the City of 

Grand Prairie, Texas, in the City Hall Plaza Building at 6:30 P.M. on March 1, 2022 to consider the 

advisability of amending the Zoning Ordinance and Map as recommended by the Planning and Zoning 

Commission, and all citizens and parties at interest were notified that they would have an opportunity to 

be heard, such Notice of the time and place of such hearing having been given at least fifteen (15) days 

prior to such hearing by publication in the Fort Worth Star Telegram, Grand Prairie, Texas, a newspaper 

of general circulation in such municipality; and 

WHEREAS, all citizens and parties at interest have been given an opportunity to be heard on all the 

matter of the proposed rezoning and the City Council of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas, being informed 

as to the location and nature of the use proposed on said property, as well as, the nature and usability of 

surrounding property, have found and determined that the property in question, as well as, other property 

within the city limits of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas, has changed in character since the enactment of 

the original Zoning Ordinance from its classification of Planned Development – 140B District for single-

family use; and, by reason of changed conditions, does consider and find that this amendatory Ordinance 

should be enacted since its provisions are in the public interest and will promote the health, safety and 

welfare of the community. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND 

PRAIRIE, TEXAS THAT: 

SECTION 1. Ordinance Number 4779, being the Zoning Ordinance and Map of the City of Grand Prairie, 

Texas, showing the locations and boundaries of certain districts, and said Zoning Ordinance and Map 

having been made a part of an Ordinance entitled: 

“AN ORDINANCE AMENDING IN ITS ENTIRETY CHAPTER 28 OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES KNOWN AS THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, 

TEXAS, AS PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL ON THE 20TH DAY OF 

NOVEMBER, 1990, TOGETHER WITH ALL AMENDMENTS THERETO AND ENACTING A 

REVISED ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING AND PROVIDING FOR ZONING REGULATIONS; 

CREATING USE DISTRICTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN…” 

and passed and approved November 20, 1990, as amended, is hereby further amended to rezone from its 

classification of Planned Development – 140B District for Single-Family Use to a Planned Development 

District for Townhome Use; as described and depicted in Exhibit A - Boundary Description. 

SECTION 2.  The purpose of this planned development is to establish appropriate restrictions and 

development controls necessary to ensure predictable land development, safe and efficient vehicular and 

pedestrian circulation, compatible uses of land, and compliance with appropriate design standards.  

SECTION 3. The following shall apply to development in the Planned Development District: 

149

Item 27.



Page 7 of 8 

A. Any zoning, land use requirements and restrictions not contained within this Planned Development 

Ordinance shall conform to those requirements for Single Family Townhouse (SF-Townhouse) 

district and Appendix W in the Unified Development Code (UDC), as amended, and as detailed 

on Exhibit B - Concept Plan. 

 

B. The development shall be in substantial conformance, as determined by the Planning and 

Development Director or designee, with attached Exhibit B – Concept Plan. The Concept Plan is 

intended to be a graphic depiction of the likely lot and block configuration, street layout and 

amenity plan of the development.  It is not intended to constitute a final design or approval, implied 

or otherwise, of the development.  The ultimate development design will be based on the 

development standards herein contained and/or site limitations at the time of site plan review and 

final platting. 

 

C. The building elevations shall be in substantial conformance, as determined by the Planning and 

Development Director or designee, with attached Exhibit C – Conceptual Building Elevations. 

 

D. Development Standards 

 

Residential Townhomes shall be in conformance with the density, dimensional, and development 

standards of Single-Family Townhome (SF-Townhouse) district and Appendix W of the Unified 

Development Code (UDC), as amended, and as detailed on the Exhibit B – Concept Plan, 

incorporated herein by reference except for the following variances: 

1. Minimum Lot Area: 

a. Minimum lot area of 1,680-3,299 Sq. Ft. (Max. 30%) – Authorizing 100% of the lots 

to have a minimum lot area of 1,930 Sq. Ft. 

b. Minimum lot area of 3,300 or greater square feet (Min. 70%) – None required to be 

within this range. 

2. Minimum Lot Depth: 

a. Minimum lot depth of 80-99 feet (Max. 30%) – Authorizing 100% of the lots to have 

an 88-foot depth. 

b. Minimum lot depth greater than 100 feet (Min. 70%) – None required to be in this 

range. 

3. Minimum Lot Width: 

a. Minimum lot width of 21-29 feet (Max. 30%) – Authorizing 100% of the lots with a 

22-foot width. 

b. Minimum lot width greater than 30 feet (Min. 70%) – None required within this range. 

4. Minimum side yard on street/corner of 15 feet – Authorizing a minimum of 10 feet. 

5. Maximum lot coverage of 60% - Authorizing 70%. 

150

Item 27.



Page 8 of 8 

E. A Planned Development Site Plan shall be approved by the City of Grand Prairie City Council 

prior to the issuance of any building permits. 

 

F. A Preliminary Plat and Final Plat shall be reviewed and approved by the City of Grand Prairie 

Planning and Zoning Commission prior to the issuance of any building permits. 

SECTION 4. The terms and provisions of this Ordinance are severable and are governed by Section 1-4 

of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas. 

SECTION 5.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this ordinance is for any 

reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such provisions and such 

holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 

SECTION 6. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are specifically repealed.  

Provided that such repeal shall be only to the extent of such inconsistency and in all other respects this 

Ordinance shall be cumulative of other ordinances regulating and governing the subject matter covered in 

this Ordinance. 

SECTION 7. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and approval. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, 

TEXAS, ON THIS THE 1ST DAY OF MARCH 2022. 

Ordinance No.  #-2022 

Zoning Case No. ZON-21-11-0015 

Planned Development No. # 

151

Item 27.



W Ih 20 Eb  

W Bardin Rd

Fenwick St

Mag
na

 Ca
rta

 Bl
vd

Linden Ln

W
als

h L
n

Briar Hill Dr

Earle Dr

To
cc

at
a S

t

Sti
nw

ick
 Ln

Trilene Dr

Chanute Dr

Ta
rp

on
 Ln

Ironwood Dr

North Hampton Dr

Serenade St

Rha
ps

od
y S

t

Spinner Ln
Sonata St

Ke
nt

sh
ire

 D
r

´
Development Services

(972) 237-8255
www.gptx.org

City of Grand Prairie

§̈¦20

CASE LOCATION MAP
ZON-21-11-0015 - ZoningChange/Concept Plan
Villas at Bardin

Exhibit A - Location Map
Page 1 of 1

152

Item 27.



Exhibit B - Concept Plan
Page 1 of 2

153

Item 27.



5

7

0

5

6

8

5

6

8

5

6

8

5
7
0

568

5

6

6

5
6
6

5
6
4

5

6

6

5
6
4

5
6
2

5

6

0

5

6

0

5

6

2

5

6

4

5

7

0

568

570

5
6
8

50'

ROW

27'

PAVING

50'

ROW

27'

PAVING

20' LANDSCAPE BUFFER

2

0

'

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

A

P

E

 

B

U

F

F

E

R

88' TYP

8

8

'
 
T

Y

P

88'

TYP

88' TYP

40'

26'

20'

45'

1

3

0

'

2
0
'
 
A

L
L
E

Y

2
0
'
 
A

L
L
E

Y

20' ALLEY

20' ALLEY

2

0

'
 
A

L

L

E

Y

19'

OPEN

SPACE

0.2 AC±

OPEN

SPACE

0.2 AC±

OPEN

SPACE

0.4 AC±

DETENTION/

OPEN SPACE

0.5 AC±

OPEN

SPACE

0.2 AC±

EXIT ONLY /

EMERGENCY ACCESS

EXIT ONLY /

EMERGENCY ACCESS

GATED ENTRY WITH CALL

BOX AND TURNAROUND

2
4
'

P

A

V

I
N

G

2
4
'

P

A

V

I
N

G

1
2
'

4' SIDEWALK TYP

4' SIDEWALK TYP

4' SIDEWALK TYP

4' SIDEWALK TYP

NEIGHBORHOOD

MAILBOX LOCATION

NEIGHBORHOOD

MAILBOX LOCATION

88'

MIN

22'

MIN

27'

5'

20'

MIN

9' MIN

STREET

ALLEY

4' SIDEWALK

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Being a parcel of land located in the City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas, a part of the John Moody Survey, Abstract Number
1007, being part of Block 4, Sheffield Village, Phase IV, an addition to the City of Grand Prairie, Tarrant County, Texas as recorded in
Volume 388-190, Page 83, Plat Records of Tarrant County, Texas (PRTCT), and being all of the called 10.000 acre tract of land
described in deed to Arlington Independent School District (AISD) as recorded in Volume 12379, Page 578, Deed Records of Tarrant
County, Texas (DRCTC), and being further described as follows:

BEGINNING at the northeast corner of said 10.000 acre tract, said point being the northwest corner of Lot 16, Block A of Stone Brooke
Phase II at Sheffield Village, an addition to the City of Grand Prairie as recorded in Cabinet A, Slide 4111, Plat Records of Tarrant
County, Texas;

THENCE South 11 degrees 05 minutes 38 seconds West, 627.27 feet to a point at the southeast corner of said 10.000 acre tract, said
point being the south corner of Lot 23, Block A, and the west corner of Lot 24, Block A, of said Stone Brooke Phase II at Sheffield
Village, said point also being in the north line of Lot 17, Block 1, Sheffield Village, Phase III, an addition to the City of Grand Prairie as
recorded in Volume 388-174, Page 31, Plat Records of Tarrant County, Texas;

THENCE along the south line of said 10.000 acre tract as follows:
Northwesterly, 106.96 feet along a curve to the left having a central angle of 07 degrees 12 minutes 36 seconds, a radius of 850.00

feet and whose chord bears North 86 degrees 50 minutes 21 seconds West, 106.89 feet to a point for corner in the north line of Lot 18,
Block 1, of said Sheffield Village, Phase III;

South 89 degrees 33 minutes 21 seconds West, 681.50 feet to a point at the southwest corner of said 10.000 acre tract, said point
being at the intersection of the north right-of-way line of an alley dedicated by Sheffield Village, Phase V plat and the west right-of-way
line of Magna Carta Avenue, a 60 foot right-of-way;

THENCE along the west line of said 10.000 acre tract and along the east right-of-way line of Magna Carta Avenue as follows:
North 28 degrees 33 minutes 16 seconds East, 249.04 feet to a point for corner;
Northeasterly, 405.10 feet along a curve to the left having a central angle of 28 degrees 17 minutes 59 seconds, a radius of 820.16

feet and whose chord bears North 14 degrees 24 minutes 16 seconds East, 400.99 feet to a point at the most westerly northwest corner of
said 10.000 acre tract;

North 44 degrees 43 minutes 50 seconds East, 14.18 feet to a point at the most northerly northwest corner of said 10.000 acre
tract, said point being in the south right-of-way line of Bardin Road, a 100 foot right-of-way;

THENCE along the north line of said 10.000 acre tract and along the south right-of-way line of Bardin Road as follows:
North 89 degrees 33 minutes 21 seconds East, 527.34 feet to a point for corner;
Southeasterly, 153.01 feet along a curve to the right having a central angle of 05 degrees 39 minutes 22 seconds, a radius of

1,550.01 feet and whose chord bears South 87 degrees 36 minutes 58 seconds East, 152.95 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and
containing 435,606 square feet or 10.000 acres of land.

"This document was prepared under 22 TAC 663.23, does not reflect the results of an on the ground survey, and is not to be used  to
convey or establish interests in real property except those rights and interests implied or established by the creation or reconfiguration  of
the boundary of the political subdivision for which it was prepared."

Exhibit B - Concept Plan
Page 2 of 2

154

Item 27.



Exhibit C - Elevations
Page 1 of 1

155

Item 27.



Page 1 of 8 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

ORDINANCE 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Monica Espinoza, Executive Assistant 

PRESENTER: Savannah Ware, AICP, Chief City Planner 

TITLE: SUP-21-12-0024 – Specific Use Permit/Site Plan – Gateway Multi-

Family (City Council District 5) Specific Use Permit/Site Plan for a 

multi-family development with 310 units on 5.72 acres. Tracts 8, 8.1, 

8.2, and 8.3 of Michael Farrans Survey, Abstract No. 469, City of 

Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, zoned PD-217 with multi-family 

uses, within the Belt Line Corridor Overlay District, and generally 

located at the southwest corner of I-30 and the future extension of 

Stadium Dr. with an approximate address of 1175 Stadium Dr (On 

February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission 

recommended approval by a vote of 7-0) 

APPLICANT: David Godvin, OHT Partners 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  In general, the site plan aligns with the Unified Development Code 

(UDC) along with the Gateway-Omni Plan for the area. The 

Development Review Committee recommends approval. 

  

SUMMARY: 

Specific Use Permit/Site Plan for a multi-family development with 310 units on 5.72 acres. Tracts 8, 8.1, 

8.2, and 8.3 of Michael Farrans Survey, Abstract No. 469, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, 

zoned PD-217 with multi-family uses, within the Belt Line Corridor Overlay District, and generally 

located at the southwest corner of I-30 and the future extension of Stadium Dr. with an approximate 

address of 1175 Stadium Dr. 

PURPOSE OF REQUEST: 

The existing Planned Development (PD-217) requires a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for multi-family 

development. The applicant is proposing a multi-family development with 310 units. The complex 

features a combination four/five story structure with an interior parking garage. The plans include a 

resort style pool, fitness center, and clubhouse.  Additionally, there will be a large and small dog parks, 

community areas, and private yards on some ground floor units. 

 

156

Item 28.



Page 2 of 8 

ADJACENT LAND USES: 

The following table summarizes the zoning designation and existing use for the surrounding properties. 

Table 1. Zoning and Land Use 

Direction Zoning Existing Use 

North 
IH-30 and Planned Development (PD-217) 

and MF-1 
Vacant and Derby Park Apartments 

South Planned Development (PD-217) The Church on the Move Ministries 

West Planned Development (PD-217) 
North Texas Electrical Training 

IDEW Local Union 20 / Credit Union  

East Planned Development (PD-217) Vacant 

HISTORY: 

 September 17, 1996:  The City Council approved (PD-217) (Case Number 

CPA960901/Z960901). 

PROPOSED USE CHARACTERISTICS AND FUNCTION: 

The Concept Plan proposes a multi-family development with the following elements: 

 310 dwelling units; 

 Wrap-style parking garage; 

 Amenities-resort-style pool, shade structure, lounge areas, community clubhouse, and fitness 

center; and 

 Dog park for large and small dogs. 

CONFORMANCE WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 

Future Land Use Map 

The Future Land Use Map (FLUM) is designed to facilitate the efficient, sustainable, and fiscally sound 

development and redevelopment of Grand Prairie. The purpose of the FLUM is to serve as an outlook 

for the future use of land and the character of development in the community. The FLUM, along with 

other community objectives, is used to guide land use decisions. 

The FLUM designates this location as Mixed-Use. Areas with this land use designation are intended for 

an appropriately planned mixture of non-residential and residential uses. They are referred to as mixed-

use because it is envisioned that these areas would be integrated developments of retail, public, office, 

and entertainment, with a residential component appropriately blended into larger scale buildings that 

would otherwise be used to support those uses independently. Mixed-use areas are intended to provide 

flexibility for the City and the development community in order to encourage innovative, unique, and 

sustainable developments. Walkable connections to shopping and dining should be key components of 

the mixed-use areas. 

 

157

Item 28.



Page 3 of 8 

The Gateway at Grand Prairie Plan 

The Gateway at Grand Prairie Plan is a City-initiated master plan for the I-30 and Belt Line area. The 

plan was done in 2017 and managed by the City of Grand Prairie’s Economic Development Department. 

One of the objectives of the plan is to create a unique and appealing mixed use and lifestyle 

environment. The plan includes 124 acres in the I-30 Corridor and depicts retail, multi-family, office, 

and hotel uses. The plan depicts multi-family use at the subject property. 

ZONING REQUIREMENTS: 

Density and Dimensional Requirements 

Table 2 illustrates that the Planned Development (PD-217) development standards along with other 

UDC requirements not addressed in PD-217.  

Table 2. Density and Dimensional Requirements 
Standard PD 217 and UDC* Proposed Complies 

Min. Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) 15,000 249,019 Yes 

Min. Lot Width (Ft.) 150 456 Yes 

Min. Lot Depth (Ft.) 100 588 Yes 

Min. Front Yard on Street (Ft.) 25 25 Yes 

Min. Side Yard (Ft.) 5 37 Yes 

Maximum Height (Ft.) No Limit 4 / 5 stories Yes 

Maximum Density (DU/AC) 26 (MF-3) * 54 Variance 

Minimum Living Area (Sq. Ft.) 

 

600* 600 Yes 

Maximum % Single Bed Units 

 

60%* 77% Variance 

Parking Requirements 

The table below summarizes the parking requirements. The proposal does not meet all of the parking 

requirements. 

Table 3.  Parking 
Standard Article 10 / UDC Provided Meets 

1.25 Parking Spaces/One-Bedroom 239 units - 299 299 Yes 

2 Parking Spaces/Two-Bedroom-Three-

Bedroom 
71 units -142 142 Yes 

Total Multi-Family Parking Spaces 441 461 Yes 

Covered Parking 20% 240 (52%) Yes 

Garage Parking (individual) 30% 0 (0%) Variance 

Guest Parking 10% 21 (4.6%) Variance 

Landscape and Screening 

The property meets the landscape and screening requirements from Appendix W, and Article 8 of the UDC. 

Screening includes wrought iron fencing with masonry columns along all sides of the property. 

158

Item 28.



Page 4 of 8 

Table 4. Landscape & Screening Requirements 

Standard Required Provided Meets 

Total site:  249,018 Sq. Ft. 

Landscape Area 20% 
49,804 50,439 Yes 

Street Trees 

(25-50 Ft. Spacing) 
11 11 Yes 

Parking Lot Trees 

(1/20 Spaces) 

133 Open spaces 

7 14 Yes 

Site Trees (Total) 

(1 tree/500 Sq. Ft.) 
100 43 Variance 

Shrubs 

1-5 gal. per 50 Sq. Ft. 

Of require Landscape Area 

997 1,220 Yes 

Fence along ROW 

Wrought Iron 

W/ Masonry 

Columns 

Decorative Metal 

Fence with Brick Column 
Yes 

Other Perimeter Fencing 
Fiber Cement 

or Wood 

Wood with steel powder 

coated post 
Yes 

Dumpster Enclosure 
Masonry 

Enclosure 

Concierge pickup with 

compactor located in 

parking garage 

Yes 

Building Design 

Building materials include a combination of brick, various forms of fiber cement lap siding, and metal 

panel. The structure exhibits color variations along with articulation to create visual interest. 

Additionally, the recessed balconies project a clean appearance.  

Project Amenities 

Appendix W requires multi-family developments to provide amenities from three categories:  

 Environmentally friendly features 

 High-quality features or designs 

 Technology 

The project provides the required amenities, which is summarized in the table below. 

Table 5. Appendix W Amenities 

Amenity 
Tier 

Environmentally 

Friendly-Building 
High Quality 

Features or Designs 
Technology 

“Smart”-light and thermostat controls 1   

Electric car charging station (2 min.) 1   

Permeable pavement 5% or more of total 2   

Electric car charging station (2 minimum) 1   

High efficiency windows 

on residential and common bld. 
2   

Permeable pavement 5% or more of total 2   

Efficient Roofing-.7 reflectance / .75 emittance 2   

Recycled / locally sourced materials 2   

Recycling Program for Residents 2   

Additional insulation 3   

159

Item 28.



Page 5 of 8 

LED or low-wattage lighting 3   

Bicycle Parking 3   

Outdoor recreation spaces with amenities 3   

Big and small dog parks 3   

Granite countertops or similar  1  

Upgraded Flooring  1  

Upgraded Woodwork  1  

Upgraded cabinetry  1  

Upgraded Light Fixtures  2  

Walk-in Closets  2  

Upgraded Bathroom and Kitchen Hardware  2  

Full-Size Stainless-Steel Major Appliances  2  

8-foot doors leading to each room of a unit  2  

Integrated USB ports within all units   3 

App- functionality: door locks, thermostat, etc   3 

App – Communication with management   3 

Wi-Fi Internet Access in Common Areas   3 

 

VARIANCES: 

1. Maximum Density on MF-3 is 26 Dwelling Units per acre – The applicant is proposing 54. 

2. Maximum Single bedroom units is 60% - The applicant is proposing 77%. 

3. Garage Parking (Individual):  30% of total required – Applicant is proposing 0 individual 

garages. The parking garage provides 52% covered parking which exceeds the 20% requirement.  

4. Guest parking requirement of 10% - The applicant is providing 4.6%. 

5. Site tree requirement of 1 per 500 sq. ft. (100 required for site) – The applicant is providing 43 

trees due to a visibility easement along IH-30 near an existing billboard. 

ANALYSIS: 

PD-217 was created in 1996 to create a unified area with a distinct identity as a family oriented 

recreational destination. PD-217 allows multi-family use with City Council approval of a Specific Use 

Permit. The Gateway is a more recent vision for the area and shows multi-family use at the subject 

property. The proposed development aligns with the Gateway plan. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 On February 14, 2022, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote 

of 7-0. 

 In general, the site plan aligns with the Unified Development Code (UDC) along with the 

Gateway plan for the area. The Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council should 

assess the justification for the variance to the maximum allowable density based on the location 

and future plans for the area. If justified, the Development Review Committee recommends 

approval with the following condition: 

The applicant shall address waste removal to the satisfaction of Environmental 

Services and Solid Waste. 

 

160

Item 28.



Page 6 of 8 

BODY: 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS AMENDING THE ZONING 

ORDINANCE AND MAP BY SHOWING THE LOCATION, BOUNDARY, AND USE OF 

CERTAIN PROPERTY FOR A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT FOR MULTI-FAMILY 

DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE BELT LINE CORRIDOR OVERLAY DISTRICT: BEING 

TRACTS 8, 8.1, 8.2, AND 8.3 OF MICHAEL FARRANS SURVEY, ABSTRACT NO. 469, CITY OF 

GRAND PRAIRIE, DALLAS COUNTY, TEXAS; SAID ZONING MAP AND ORDINANCE 

BEING NUMBERED ORDINANCE NUMBER 4779 AND PASSED ON NOVEMBER 20, 1990; 

REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

PROVIDING A PENALTY; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE AND A SEVERABILITY 

CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE AFTER PUBLICATION 

 

WHEREAS, the owners of the property described herein below filed application with the City of Grand 

Prairie, Texas, petitioning an amendment of the Zoning Ordinance and Map of said city so as to amend the 

zoning designation of said site to include a Specific Use Permit for a Multi-Family Development; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of Grand Prairie, Texas, held a public hearing on said 

application on February 14, 2021, after written notice of such public hearing before the Planning and Zoning 

Commission on the proposed Specific Use Permit had been sent to owners of real property lying within 300 

feet of the property on which the creation of a Specific Use Permit for a Restaurant with a Drive-Through is 

proposed, said Notice having been given not less than ten (10) days before the date set for hearing to all such 

owners who rendered their said property for City taxes as the ownership appears on the last approved City 

Tax Roll, and such Notice being served by depositing the same, properly addressed and postage paid, in the 

City Post Office; and 

 

WHEREAS, after consideration of said application, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of 

Grand Prairie, Texas voted 7 to 0 to recommend to the City Council of Grand Prairie, Texas, that said Zoning 

Ordinance and Map be amended to allow a Specific Use Permit for a Multi-Family Development; and 

 

WHEREAS, Notice was given of a further public hearing to be held by the City Council of the City of 

Grand Prairie, Texas, in the City Hall Plaza Building at 6:30 o'clock P.M. on March 1, 2022, to consider the 

advisability of amending the Zoning Ordinance and Map as recommended by the Planning and Zoning 

Commission, and all citizens and parties at interest were notified that they would have an opportunity to be 

heard, such Notice of the time and place of such hearing having been given at least fifteen (15) days prior to 

such hearing by publication in the, Fort Worth Star Telegram, Fort Worth, Texas, a newspaper of general 

circulation in such municipality; and 

 

WHEREAS, all citizens and parties at interest have been given an opportunity to be heard on all the matter 

of the Specific Use Permit and the City Council of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas, being informed as to 

the location and nature of the specific use proposed on said property, as well as the nature and usability of 

surrounding property, have found and determined that the property in question, as well as other property 

within the city limits of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas, has changed in character since the enactment of 

the original Zoning Ordinance to the extent that a specific use may be made of said property as herein 

provided and by reason of changed conditions, does consider and find that this amendatory Ordinance should 

be enacted since its provisions are in the public interest and will promote the health, safety and welfare of 

the community. 

 

161

Item 28.



Page 7 of 8 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND 

PRAIRIE, TEXAS THAT: 

 

SECTION 1.  Ordinance Number 4779, being the Unified Development Code of the City of Grand Prairie, 

Texas, showing the locations and boundaries of certain districts, and said Zoning Ordinance and Map having 

been made a part of an Ordinance entitled: 

 

 "THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, 

TEXAS, AS PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL ON THE 20TH 

DAY OF NOVEMBER, 1990, TOGETHER WITH ALL AMENDMENTS THERETO 

AND ENACTING A REVISED ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING AND PROVIDING 

FOR ZONING REGULATIONS; CREATING USE DISTRICTS IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN..." 

 

passed and approved November 20, 1990, as amended, is hereby further amended so as to establish a 

Specific Use Permit for a Multi-Family Development on Tracts 8, 8.1, 8.2, and 8.3 of Michael Farrans 

Survey, Abstract No. 469, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, as depicted in Exhibit A – Boundary 

Description, attached hereto. 

 

SECTION 2.  The purpose of this Ordinance is to provide the appropriate restrictions and development 

controls that ensure this Specific Use Permit is compatible with the surrounding development and zoning 

and to also ensure that the development complies with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Unified 

Development Code. 
  
SECTION 3. For development and operations of a Multi-Family Development, the following standards 

and conditions are hereby established as part of this ordinance: 
 

1. The development shall adhere to the City Council approved Exhibit B - Site Plan, Exhibit C - 

Landscape Plan, Exhibit D - Building Elevations, and Exhibit E - Appendix W Checklist Items of this 

ordinance, which are herein incorporated by reference. 

 

2. The City Council has granted the variances listed below. 

a. Variance to the maximum allowable density to allow 54 dwelling units per acre. 

b. Variance to the maximum allowable percentage of single bedroom units to allow 77% single 

bedroom units. 

c. Variance to required percentage of individual garage parking spaces to allow a common 

parking garage for 52% of required parking spaces. 

d.  Variance to required guest parking to allow 4.6% guest parking. 

e. Variance to the required number of site trees to allow a landscape plan with 43 trees. 

 

3. The developer shall address waste removal to the satisfaction of Environmental Services and Solid 

Waste. 

 

SECTION 4.  The operations of a Multi-Family Development shall comply with the following: 

 

1. By this Ordinance, this Specific Use Permit shall automatically terminate in accordance with Section 

5.4.1 of the Unified Development Code if a Certificate of Occupancy is not issued for said use within 

one (1) year after City Council adoption of this Ordinance, or upon cessation of said use for a period 

162

Item 28.



Page 8 of 8 

of six (6) months or more. 

 

2. It shall be unlawful for the owner, manager, or any person in charge of a business or other 

establishment to violate the conditions imposed by the City Council when a Specific Use Permit is 

granted, and the violation of those conditions could result in a citation being issued by the appropriate 

enforcement officers of the City of Grand Prairie.  Violation of this provision may be punishable in 

accordance with Section 1-8 of the Code of Ordinances of the City.  

 

3. This Specific Use Permit shall run with the land and therefore may be transferred from owner to 

owner; however, each new owner shall obtain a new Certificate of Occupancy. 

 

4. The Certificate of Occupancy shall note the existence of this Specific Use Permit by its number and 

title. 

 

5. The operation of the facility shall be in strict compliance with all requirements of the Environmental 

Services Department, Building Inspections, Police Department and Fire Administration. 

 

6. Any unsafe or unauthorized operations or activities may be determined as grounds for revocation of 

the Specific Use Permit by the City Council. 

 

SECTION 5.  That it is further provided that in the case a section, clause, sentence or part of this 

Ordinance shall be deemed or adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, then such 

invalidity shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remainder of this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 6.  That a violation of this Ordinance is a misdemeanor punishable in accordance with Section 

1-8 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas.  The penalty provided herein shall be 

cumulative of other remedies provided by State law, and the power of injunction as provided in Texas 

Local Government Code Section 54.016, as amended, may be exercised in enforcing this ordinance 

whether or not there has been a complaint filed.   

 

SECTION 7.  That the Unified Development Code of the City of Grand Prairie, as amended, shall be and 

remain in full force and effect save and except as amended by this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 8.  That the terms and provisions of this Ordinance are severable and are governed by Section 

1-4 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas. 

 

SECTION 9.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are specifically repealed. 

 

SECTION 10.  That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, 

and publication. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, 

TEXAS, ON THIS THE 1ST DAY OF MARCH 2022. 

 

ORDINANCE NO. #-2022  

SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. # 

CASE NO. SUP-21-12-0024 

163

Item 28.



W Ih 30 Eb  

W Ih 30 Wb  

W
Tarrant Rd

E Palace Pkwy

Ge
nt

ry
Pl

St
ad

iu
m

 D
r

E Tarrant Rd
Private  

Saddle Hill Dr

Co
ok

 D
r

Veranda Ct

E Ih 30 Eb  

W Palace Pkwy

Lexington Cir

E Ih 30 Wb  

Bridle P a th

Hunts Point  

Private  

´
Development Services

(972) 237-8255
www.gptx.org

City of Grand Prairie

T161

§̈¦30

CASE LOCATION MAP
SUP-21-12-0024 - SUP/Site Plan
Gateway Multi-Family

Exhibit A - Location Map
Page 1 of 1

Exhibit A - Boundary Description
Page 1 of 2

164

Item 28.



PROPOSED  BILLBOARD   V
ISIBILITY   E

ASEMENT

AIR RELEASE VALVE

AIR RELEASE VALVE

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
 
 
F

U
T

U
R

E
 
 
 
S

T
A

D
I
U

M
 
 
 
D

R
I
V

E

LOT 2, BLOCK 1

NORTH TEXAS ELECTRICAL CENTER

VOLUME 2003004, PAGE 110

P.R.D.C.T.

LOT 3, BLOCK 1

NORTH TEXAS ELECTRICAL

CENTER

INSTRUMENT NO. 200900100497

D.R.D.C.T.

PORTION OF GRTP, LTD.

VOLUME 97039, PAGE 3052,

D.R.D.C.T.

AND

VOLUME 2004150, PAGE 2750

O.P.R.D.C.T.

5.717 AC (249,019 SF)

FIRST CHRISTIAN CHURCH OF

GRAND PRAIRIE

VOLUME 4712, PAGE 479

D.R.D.C.T.

PORTION OF GRTP, LTD.

VOLUME 97039, PAGE 3052,

D.R.D.C.T.

AND

VOLUME 2004150, PAGE 2750

O.P.R.D.C.T.

INTERSTATE  HIGHWAY  30

VOLUME 4397, PAGE 182

D.R.D.C.T.

(CALLED VARIABLE WIDTH RIGHT-OF-WAY)

POINT OF BEGINNING

DRAWN BY:

DATE:

PROJECT NO.

SHEET

Graham Associates,Inc.

CONSULTING ENGINEERS & PLANNERS

600 SIX FLAGS DRIVE, SUITE 500

ARLINGTON, TEXAS 76011  (817) 640-8535

TBPE FIRM: F-1191/TBPLS FIRM: 101538-00

SHEET           OF      

MICHAEL FARRANS SURVEY

5.717 ACRES

ABSTRACT NO. 469

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE

TARRANT COUNTY, TEXAS

GAI 2830-1008

November 19, 2021

1
1

1

“ ” 

ALTA/NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY

“

” 

”

“ ”

“ ”

“ ”

“ ” 

”

“ ”

“ ”

T

H

I

S

 

D

O

C

U

M

E

N

T

 

S

H

A

L

L

 

N

O

T

 

B

E

R

E

C

O

R

D

E

D

 

F

O

R

 

A

N

Y

 

P

U

R

P

O

S

E

 

A

N

D

 

S

H

A

L

L

N

O

T

 

B

E

 

U

S

E

D

 

O

R

 

V

I

E

W

E

D

 

O

R

 

R

E

L

I

E

D

 

U

P

O

N

A

S

 

A

 

F

I

N

A

L

 

S

U

R

V

E

Y

 

D

O

C

U

M

E

N

T

PR
ELI
MI
NA
RY

Exhibit A - Boundary Description
Page 2 of 2

165

Item 28.



UP

LEASING

CLUB

MAIL

FITNESS

ELEV.

GARAGE ENTRY

WORK ROOM

INTERSTATE

HIGHWAY 30

VOL. 4397, PG. 182

D.R.D.C.T.

VARIABLE WIDTH

R.O.W.

PORTION OF

GRTP, LTD.

VOL. 97039, PG. 3052

D.R.D.C.T.

AND

VOL. 2004150 PG. 2750

O.P.R.D.C.T.

ROCKLEE

DEVELOPMENT

CORPORATION,

ET AL

VOL. 83691,

PG. 1921,

D.R.D.C.T.

FIRST CHRISTIAN CHURCH OF

GRAND PRAIRIE

VOL. 4712, PG. 479

D.R.D.C.T.

LOT 3, BLOCK 1

NORTH TEXAS
ELECTRICAL CENTER
INST.# 200900100497

O.P.R.D.C.T.

LOT 2, BLOCK 1

NORTH TEXAS
ELECTRICAL CENTER
VOL. 2003004, PG. 110

D.R.D.C.T.

STATE OF

TEXAS

INST.#

201600017755

O.P.R.D.C.T.

PORTION OF

GRTP, LTD.

VOL. 97039, PG. 3052

D.R.D.C.T.

AND

VOL. 2004150 PG. 2750

O.P.R.D.C.T.

GRAND

PRAIRIE

INDEPENDENT

SCHOOL

DISTRICT

INST.#

201400298180

O.P.R.D.C.T.

5.72 ACRES

ZONED: PD-217-PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

GATEWAY-MF

310 UNITS

UP

LEASING

CLUB

MAIL

FITNESS

ELEV.

GARAGE ENTRY

WORK ROOM

PREPARED BY

Graham Associates,Inc.

CONSULTING ENGINEERS & PLANNERS

600 SIX FLAGS DRIVE, SUITE 500

ARLINGTON, TEXAS 76011  (817) 640-8535

TBPE FIRM: F-1191/TBPLS FIRM: 101538-00

February 2, 2022

SITE PLAN

GATEWAY-MF

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
F

U
T

U
R

E

S
T

A
D

I
U

M
 
D

R
I
V

E

SUP-21-12-0024

Exhibit B - Site Plan
Page 1 of 1

166

Item 28.



UP

LEASING

CLUB

MAIL

FITNESS

ELEV.

GARAGE ENTRY

WORK ROOM

IN
T

E
R

S
T

A
T

E
 I-3

0

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
F

U
T

U
R

E

S
T

A
D

I
U

M
 
D

R
I
V

E

5.72 ACRES

ZONED PD-217-PLANNED DEVELOPMENT

PORTION OF GRTP, LTD.

VOL. 97039, PG. 3052

D.R.D.C.T.

AND

VOL. 2004150 PG. 2750

O.P.R.D.C.T.

W
A

T
E

R
 A

N
D

 S
E

W
E

R
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

W
A

T
E

R
 A

N
D

 S
E

W
E

R
 E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

P
R

O
P

E
R

TY
 LIN

E

PROPERTY LINE

S
0
°
 
5
2
'
 
2
7
"
E

 
3
3
3
.
1
8

N
0
°
 
2
0
'
W

 
3
6
7
.
3
2
'

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 
L
I
N

E

S
85° 36' 11" E

 264.82'

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 
L
I
N

E

S

3

5

°

 

5

2

'

 

5

9

"

 

E

 

3

8

.

6

7

'

S89° 20' 38"W 448.38'

LOT 2, BLOCK 1

NORTH TEXAS ELECTRICAL CENTER

VOL. 2003004, P.G. 110

D.R.D.C.T.

FIRST CHRISTIAN CHURCH OF GRAND PRAIRIE

VOL. 4712, PG. 479

D.R.D.C.T.

GRAND PRAIRIE INDEPENDENT

SCHOOL DISTRICT

INST. # 201400298180

O.P.R.D.C.T.

PORTION OF GRTP, LTD.

VOL. 97039, PG. 3052

D.R.D.C.T.

AND VOL. 2004150 PG. 2750

O.P.R.D.C.T.

LOT 3, BLOCK 1

NORTH TEXAS ELECTRICAL CENTER

VOL. 200900100497

O.P.R.D.C.T.

E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

VISIBILITY EASEMENT

VISIBILITY EASEMENT

2

4

'

-

0

"

F

I

R

E

 

L

A

N

E

24'-0"

FIRE LANE

2
4
'
-
0
"

F
I
R

E
 
L
A

N
E

RETAINING WALL

STONE RETAINING WALL

LARGE CANOPY TREES

SPACED 25'-0" O.C.

5'-0" WIDE

SIDEWALK

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE GENERAL EASEMENT

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE GENERAL EASEMENT

6'-0" WIDE

SIDEWALK

PRIVATE YARD

(TYP.)

PARKING GARAGE

STONE RETAINING WALL

STAIRS (TYP.)

CLUB

AMENITY COURTYARD WITH

SWIMMING POOL, SHADE STRUCTURE,

LOUNGE & DINING AREAS

AMENITY COURTYARD

WITH LOUNGE SEATING

AMENITY COURTYARD

WITH LOUNGE SEATING

3'-0" HT. PRIVATE YARD

FENCE (TYP.)

PRIVATE YARD

(TYP.)

PRIVATE YARD

(TYP.)

4'-0" HT. POOL

ENCLOSURE FENCE

DECORATIVE VEHICULAR

PAVEMENT AT CROSSWALK

GARAGE ENTRY

O
V

E
R

H
E

A
D

 E
LE

C
T

R
IC

E
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

DECORATIVE PEDESTRIAN

PAVEMENT AT ENTRY

PLANTER FEATURE

DECORATIVE PEDESTRIAN

PAVEMENT AT ENTRY

PROJECT SIGNAGE /

ENTRY FEATURE

PLANTER FEATURE

DECORATIVE PEDESTRIAN

PAVEMENT AT ENTRY

PROJECT SIGNAGE /

ENTRY FEATURE

PLANTER FEATURE

DECORATIVE VEHICULAR

PAVEMENT AT CROSSWALK

6'HT WOOD SCREEN FENCE

REF. DETAILS

6'HT DECORATIVE METAL

VEHICULAR GATE

6'HT WOOD SCREEN FENCE

REF. DETAILS

6'HT DECORATIVE METAL FENCE

WITH MASONRY COLUMNS

REF. DETAILS

2

L3

1

L
3

1

L3

6'HT DECORATIVE METAL

VEHICULAR GATE

FITNESS

LEASING

PRIVATE YARD

(TYP.)

ENTRY FEATURE

WALLS

FEATURE PLANTING

 AT ENTRY

G
R

A
N

D
 
P

R
A

I
R

I
E

 
G

A
T

E
W

A
Y

G
R

A
N

D
 
P

R
A

I
R

I
E

,
 
T

E
X

A
S

21065

JANUARY 21, 2022

ZONING

Architecture Demarest

2320 Valdina Street

Studio B

Dallas, TX 75207

ARCHITECT

Oden Hughes

5440 Harvest Hill Rd

Suite 101

Dallas, TX 75230

OWNER

Graham Associates, Inc

600 Six Flags Drive

Suite 500

Arlington, TX 76011

CIVIL

Rev:

 
D

r
a
w

i
n
g
 
n
a
m

e
:
 
O

:
\
0
4
-
P

r
o
j
e
c
t
s
\
2
1
0
6
5
 
-
 
G

r
a
n
d
 
P

r
a
i
r
i
e
 
G

a
t
e
w

a
y
 
-
 
T

r
a
c
t
 
A

\
0
1
 
Z

o
n
i
n
g
\
0
4
 
C

A
D

\
0
2
 
S

h
e
e
t
s
\
0
7
-
Z

o
n
i
n
g
\
2
1
0
6
5
 
-
 
L
-
 
Z

o
n
i
n
g
_
D

R
.
d
w

g
 
 
 
L
2
 
 
 
J
a
n
 
2
1
,
 
2
0
2
2
 
 
5
:
1
0
p
m

 
 
 
b
y
:
 
m

l
e
v
k
u
l
i
c
h

Project Number:

Bud Creative, LLC

3800 Main Street, Suite B

Dallas, Texas 75226

P: 570.954.1964

Date:

Issue:

Sheet Title:

Sheet Number:

Date: Description:

L2

I
HA

L L

C

E E

M

KV UL ICH
HIST

E C
CT

TE

SA

ET

S
TA

I
RE
G

83

OF

5 2
ET
X

R

LD
RE

CAANDS EP A

01/21/2022

N O R T H

60'30'15'

SCALE: 1"=30'

0'

LANDSCAPE PLAN

1

VICINITY MAP

INTERSTATE 30

N
 
C

A
R

R
I
E

R
 
P

K
W

Y

S
 
B

E
L
T

 
L
I
N

E
 
R

D
.

E TARRANT RD

HIGH SCHOOL DR

LANDSCAPE

PLAN

SUP-21-12-0024

Large Dog Park Small Dog Park

Visibility Easement

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 1 of 1

167

Item 28.



Exhibit D - Building Elevations
Page 1 of 4

168

Item 28.



Exhibit D - Building Elevations
Page 2 of 4

169

Item 28.



APPROXIMATE  LOCATION  EXISTING   BILLBOARD   VISIBILITY   EASEMENT

L

P

L

P

L

PP P

L L

UP

L

L

P

.

L

P

..

L

P

.

L

P

.

L

P

.

L

L

P

.

L

P

L L

.

L

P

P

.

L

P

Level 1N T.O.C

0' - 0"

Level 2N T.O.D

11' - 7 7/8"

Level 3N T.O.D

22' - 5"

Level 4N T.O.D

33' - 0 7/8"

Level 1C T.O.C

-11' - 9 1/8"

MP 1

BR 1

FC 3

BR 1

FC 3FP 1

BR 1

FC 1

FP 1

BR 1BR 1

MP 1

64
' -

 1
1"

64
' -

 1
1"

FC 2MP 1 FC 2

FC 1

FC 2

MP 1

BR 1

FC 3 FC 3

BR 1

FC 3

FC 2

BR 1

FC 1

Level 1N T.O.C

0' - 0"

Level 2N T.O.D

11' - 7 7/8"

Level 3N T.O.D

22' - 5"

Level 4N T.O.D

33' - 0 7/8"

Level 1C T.O.C

-11' - 9 1/8"

MP 1

FC 3

BR 1

BR 1

FC 3

BR 1

FC 3

BR 1

FP 1

FC 1
FP 1

BR 1

BR 1

64
' -

 1
0"

52
' -

 2
"

FC 3

FC 1

BR 1

FP 1

BR 1

FC 3

FP 2

BR 1

0' 8' 20'2' 4' 12' 28' 44'

Scale: 1/16" = 1'-0"

BRICK 

BR 1

FC 1

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING 1

FC 2

ELEVATION LEGEND KEY PLANGRAPHIC SCALE

FP 2

MP 1

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING 2

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING 3

METAL PANEL

FIBER CEMENT PANEL 

FC 3

FP 1

MATERIAL PERCENTAGE

FIBER CEMENT PANEL 

SUP-21-12-0024

LEASING MAIL

GARAGE ENTRANCE

GARAGE

Level 1N T.O.C

0' - 0"

Level 2N T.O.D

11' - 7 7/8"

Level 3N T.O.D

22' - 5"

Level 4N T.O.D

33' - 0 7/8"

Level 4N T.O.P

42' - 2"

53
' -

 2
"

FC 3

BR 1

FP 2

FC 2

Drawing No.

Title

Permit-Seal

Issued

Revision

YYYY.MM.DD

YYYY.MM.DD

Scale Revision

COPYRIGHT (C) 2021 ARCHITECTURE DEMAREST, L.P. ALL IDEAS, DESIGNS, ARRANGEMENTS, PLANS, AND SPECIFICATIONS INDICATED OR REPRESENTED BY THIS 

DRAWING AS INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE ARE AND SHALL REMAIN THE EXCLUSIVE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OF ARCHITECTURE DEMAREST, L.P. AND WERE 

CREATED, EVOLVED AND DEVELOPED FOR USE ON AND IN CONNECTION WITH THIS SPECIFIED PROJECT ONLY.  NONE OF SUCH IDEAS, DESIGN, ARRANGEMENTS 

OR PLANS SHALL BE USED ON ANY OTHER PROJECT OR EXTENSIONS OF THIS PROJECT OR USED BY OR DISCLOSED TO ANY PERSON, FIRM OR ANY PURPOSE 

WHATSOEVER WITHOUT THE WRITTEN PERMISSION FORM AND APPROPRIATE COMPENSATION TO ARCHITECTUREDEMAREST, L.P.  WRITTEN DIMENSIONS ON 

THESE DRAWINGS SHALL HAVE PRECEDENCE OVER SCALED DIMENSIONS.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BEAR SOLE RESPONSIBILITY FOR VERIFYING ALL

DIMENSIONS ON THIS PROJECT AND NOTIFIYING ARCHITECTURE DEMAREST, L.P. OF ANY DEVIATIONS.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BEAR SOLE RESPONSIBILITY FOR 

CONSTRUCTION MEANS, METHODS, TECHNIQUES, SEQUENCES, PROCEDURES, CONFIRMING COORDINATION AND FOR SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AND PROGRAMS IN 

CONNECTION WITH THIS PROJECT.  ARCHITECTURE DEMAREST, L.P. WILL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CONSTRUCTION MEANS, METHODS, TECHNIQUES, 

SEQUENCES, PROCEDURES, OR FOR SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AND PROGRAMS IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PROJECT. 

Copyright Reserved

Consultants

2320 Valdina Street,
Dallas, TX 75207
Tel: 214.748.6655
www.architecturedemarest.com

C
lie

n
t/P

ro
je

ct

ORIGINAL SHEET -  (24"x36")

Drawn By Reviewed By

7

E

6 5 4 3 2 1

D

C

B

A

F

8

PRELIMINARY

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

Not for permits, pricing or other
official purposes.

This document has not been completed 
or checked and is for general 
information or comment only.

As indicated

2/
7/

20
22

 1
2:

18
:4

7 
P

M

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

P
R

O
JE

C
T

 N
U

M
B

E
R

: 2
1

.0
53

O
D

E
N

 H
U

G
H

E
S

G
R

A
N

D
 P

R
A

IR
IE

 G
A

T
E

W
A

Y

G
R

A
N

D
 P

R
A

IR
IE

, T
E

X
A

S

Author Checker

A-10

T
D

LR
: ?

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 IS

S
U

E
  -

[Y
Y

Y
Y

.M
M

.D
D

]

Scale: 1/16" = 1'-0"1 EXTERIOR ELEVATION - NORTH ELEVATION B

Scale: 1/16" = 1'-0"3 EXTERIOR ELEVATION - EAST ELEVATION

N

3

1

2

NORTH ELEVATION

BRICK (BR 1) 31%
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 1) 18%
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 2) 5%
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 3) 23%
FIBER CEMENT PANEL (FP 1) 10%

FIBER CEMENT PANEL (FP 1) 2%
METAL PANEL (MP 1) 11%

TOTAL 100%

NEUTRAL MATERIALS

NON-NEUTRAL MATERIALS

EAST ELEVATION

NEUTRAL MATERIALS

NON-NEUTRAL MATERIALS

BRICK (BR 1) 34%
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 1) 6%
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 2) 6%
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 3) 19%
FIBER CEMENT PANEL (FP 1) 12%

FIBER CEMENT PANEL (FP 1) 9%
METAL PANEL (MP 1) 14%

TOTAL 100%

Scale: 1/16" = 1'-0"2 EXTERIOR ELEVATION - NORTH ELEVATION A

Exhibit D - Building Elevations
Page 3 of 4

170

Item 28.



L

L

P

.

L

L

P

.

.

L

P

L

P P P P

L

P

.
P

UP

.

L

P

.

P

P

.

L

P

L L L

LL L

.

L

P

L

LL L

Level 2N T.O.D

11' - 7 7/8"

Level 3N T.O.D

22' - 5"

Level 4N T.O.D

33' - 0 7/8"

Level 5

43' - 8 3/4"

Level 5 T.O.P

52' - 9 7/8"
MP 1

FP 1

BR 1

FC 1

FC 3

BR 1

FC 2

52
' -

 2
"

64
' -

 1
1"

BR 1

FC 2

BR 1

FC 1

FC 3

BR 1

FP 1

FC 1

BR 1

FC 1

FC 3

BR 1

FP 1

FP 2

FC 2 FC 2

FC 1

Level 2N T.O.D

11' - 7 7/8"

Level 3N T.O.D

22' - 5"

Level 4N T.O.D

33' - 0 7/8"

Level 5

43' - 8 3/4"

Level 5 T.O.P

52' - 9 7/8"

52
' -

 2
"

52
' -

 2
"

FP 2

BR 1

FC 1

BR 1

FC 3FC 3

FC 1

BR 1

FC 1

FC 3

BR 1

FC 3

BR 1

FP 2

BR 1

FP 2

BR 1

FC 1

FC 1

FP 1

0' 8' 20'2' 4' 12' 28' 44'

Scale: 1/16" = 1'-0"

BRICK 

BR 1

FC 1

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING 1

FC 2

ELEVATION LEGEND KEY PLANGRAPHIC SCALE

FP 2

MP 1

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING 2

FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING 3

METAL PANEL

FIBER CEMENT PANEL 

FC 3

FP 1

MATERIAL PERCENTAGE

FIBER CEMENT PANEL 

SUP-21-12-0024

Drawing No.

Title

Permit-Seal

Issued

Revision

YYYY.MM.DD

YYYY.MM.DD

Scale Revision

COPYRIGHT (C) 2021 ARCHITECTURE DEMAREST, L.P. ALL IDEAS, DESIGNS, ARRANGEMENTS, PLANS, AND SPECIFICATIONS INDICATED OR REPRESENTED BY THIS 

DRAWING AS INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE ARE AND SHALL REMAIN THE EXCLUSIVE INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OF ARCHITECTURE DEMAREST, L.P. AND WERE 

CREATED, EVOLVED AND DEVELOPED FOR USE ON AND IN CONNECTION WITH THIS SPECIFIED PROJECT ONLY.  NONE OF SUCH IDEAS, DESIGN, ARRANGEMENTS 

OR PLANS SHALL BE USED ON ANY OTHER PROJECT OR EXTENSIONS OF THIS PROJECT OR USED BY OR DISCLOSED TO ANY PERSON, FIRM OR ANY PURPOSE 

WHATSOEVER WITHOUT THE WRITTEN PERMISSION FORM AND APPROPRIATE COMPENSATION TO ARCHITECTUREDEMAREST, L.P.  WRITTEN DIMENSIONS ON 

THESE DRAWINGS SHALL HAVE PRECEDENCE OVER SCALED DIMENSIONS.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BEAR SOLE RESPONSIBILITY FOR VERIFYING ALL

DIMENSIONS ON THIS PROJECT AND NOTIFIYING ARCHITECTURE DEMAREST, L.P. OF ANY DEVIATIONS.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BEAR SOLE RESPONSIBILITY FOR 

CONSTRUCTION MEANS, METHODS, TECHNIQUES, SEQUENCES, PROCEDURES, CONFIRMING COORDINATION AND FOR SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AND PROGRAMS IN 

CONNECTION WITH THIS PROJECT.  ARCHITECTURE DEMAREST, L.P. WILL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CONSTRUCTION MEANS, METHODS, TECHNIQUES, 

SEQUENCES, PROCEDURES, OR FOR SAFETY PRECAUTIONS AND PROGRAMS IN CONNECTION WITH THIS PROJECT. 

Copyright Reserved

Consultants

2320 Valdina Street,
Dallas, TX 75207
Tel: 214.748.6655
www.architecturedemarest.com

C
lie

n
t/P

ro
je

ct

ORIGINAL SHEET -  (24"x36")

Drawn By Reviewed By

7

E

6 5 4 3 2 1

D

C

B

A

F

8

PRELIMINARY

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

Not for permits, pricing or other
official purposes.

This document has not been completed 
or checked and is for general 
information or comment only.

As indicated

2/
7/

20
22

 1
2:

12
:0

8 
P

M

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

P
R

O
JE

C
T

 N
U

M
B

E
R

: 2
1

.0
53

O
D

E
N

 H
U

G
H

E
S

G
R

A
N

D
 P

R
A

IR
IE

 G
A

T
E

W
A

Y

G
R

A
N

D
 P

R
A

IR
IE

, T
E

X
A

S

Author Checker

A-11

T
D

LR
: ?

C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 IS

S
U

E
  -

[Y
Y

Y
Y

.M
M

.D
D

]

Scale: 1/16" = 1'-0"1 EXTERIOR ELEVATION - WEST ELEVATION

Scale: 1/16" = 1'-0"2 EXTERIOR ELEVATION - SOUTH ELEVATION

N

1

2

SOUTH ELEVATION

BRICK (BR 1) 20%
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 1) 26%
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 2) -
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 3) 28%
FIBER CEMENT PANEL (FP 1) 7%

FIBER CEMENT PANEL (FP 2) 19%
METAL PANEL (MP 1) -

TOTAL 100%

NEUTRAL MATERIALS

NON-NEUTRAL MATERIALS

WEST ELEVATION

NEUTRAL MATERIALS

NON-NEUTRAL MATERIALS

BRICK (BR 1) 25%
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 1) 10%
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 2) 21%
FIBER CEMENT LAP SIDING (FC 3) 14%
FIBER CEMENT PANEL (FP 1) 21%

FIBER CEMENT PANEL (FP 2) 3%
METAL PANEL (MP 1) 6%

TOTAL 100%

Exhibit D - Building Elevations
Page 4 of 4

171

Item 28.



Category 1: Environmentally-friendly building materials, construction techniques, or other features 
Tier I (Pick Three) 

 i. “Smart” technology which automatically controls functions such as lights and thermostat to reduce energy loads during the day or at times of 
peak energy usage. 

 ii. Use of solar or other form of alternative energy to satisfy approximately 25% or more of on-site energy demand. 

 iii. Landscaping plan that makes use of native, drought resistant plantings not requiring the use of irrigation. In lieu of sod or turf, drought resistant 
plantings may be combined with coordinated hardscapes of high design quality and appearance for the purposes of meeting Tier I requirements. 

 iv. Reservation of existing natural areas comprising 5% or more of the overall project size, with such areas incorporating quality non-invasive tree 
stands, habitat or riparian areas, and not including existing floodplain or other areas already protected or inherently unsuitable for development. 

 v. Permeable pavement for 10% or more of total paving. 

 vi. Electric car charging station (minimum 2). 

 vii. High efficiency windows on residential and common buildings. 

 viii. Stormwater or grey water reclamation for on-site reuse equivalent to a minimum 100% of irrigation in accordance with section 8.4.1.11. 

Tier II (Pick Four) 

 i. Integration of commercial/retail/office space or live-work units. 

 ii. Permeable pavement for 5% or more of total paving. 

 iii. Roofing material with a minimum total solar reflectance of 0.70 and a minimum thermal emittance of 0.75 when measured using ASTM testing 
methods endorsed by the North Central Texas Council of Governments. 

 iv. Significant use of recycled or locally-sourced materials.  Locally-sourced is defined as a material having its origin within 50 miles of the project. 

 v. Preservation of existing non-invasive trees with a combined canopy square footage area totaling at least 5% of the overall project size (trees 
can come from any portion of the site other than areas which are already projected or inherently unsuitable for development, such as 
floodplain). 

 vi. Qualified recycling program available to every resident. 

 vii. Walking/jogging trails within the development.  Where possible, trails should utilize existing natural areas and provide linkages to existing or 
future area trail networks. 

 viii. Stormwater or grey water reclamation for on-site reuse equivalent to a minimum 50% of irrigation in accordance with section 8.4.1.11. 

Tier III (Pick Five) 

 i. Additional insulation. 

 ii. LED or low-wattage lighting. 

 iii. Bicycle parking. 

 iv. Use of additional native plantings totaling 10% or more of minimum landscape requirements. 

 v. Stormwater or grey water reclamation for on-site reuse in accordance with section 8.4.1.11. 

 vi. Solar-ready building design. 

 vii. Outdoor recreation spaces with communal features such as furniture, landscaping, gardens, televisions, movie screens, BBQ grills, pergolas, 
areas for fitness or sports activities, and interactive water features, not including standard unheated swimming pools, which are designed for 
water conservation or reuse. 

 viii. Big and small dog parks. 

Category 2: High-quality features or designs 
Tier I (Pick Four) 

 i. Granite countertops or similar in kitchens and bathrooms. 

 ii. Upgraded flooring throughout, consisting of masonry tile, such as porcelain or travertine, wood-look tile, true hardwood, stained concrete, or 
deep pile carpeting. 

 iii. Minimum 10 foot ceilings in living areas, kitchen, dining rooms, hallways, bathrooms and bedrooms. 

 iv. Upgraded woodwork throughout each unit, such as crown molding, wainscot, chair rails, window and door moldings. 

 v. Upgraded cabinetry. 

Tier II (Pick Five) 

 i. Arched forms separating rooms and living spaces. 

 ii. Upgraded light fixtures including recessed lighting or indirect lighting. 

 iii. Walk-in closets. 

 iv. Jetted bathtubs. 

 v. Upgraded bathroom and kitchen hardware, including faucets and sinks. 

 vi. Full-size stainless steel major appliances (oven, range, refrigerator, dishwasher, microwave oven). 

 vii. 8 foot doors leading to each room of a unit. 

Category 3: Technology (Provide All) 

 a. Integrated USB ports within all units. 

 b. App-enabled functionality for door locks, lighting, thermostat, appliances, or other electronics. 

 c. App-enabled communication between residents and management for the reporting of problems related to mechanical failures, safety 
concerns, or noise issues. 

 d. Wi-fi internet access provided to users of common amenities such as clubhouse, pool, walking trails, and fitness area. 

 

Exhibit E  Appendix W Checklist
Page 1 of 1

172

Item 28.



Page 1 of 8 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

ORDINANCE 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Monica Espinoza, Executive Assistant 

PRESENTER: Savannah Ware, AICP, Chief City Planner 

TITLE: SUP-21-12-0023 - Specific Use Permit/Site Plan - Star Shell 

Convenience Store w/gas pumps, Restaurant with a Drive-Through and 

a Carwash. (City Council District 5). Specific Use Permit for a Carwash 

and a Restaurant with a Drive-Through and a Site Plan Amendment to 

expand the existing carwash tunnel, construct a 475 sq. ft. addition to 

the existing Convenience Store/Restaurant building, and add a drive-

through lane for the restaurant. Lot 3, Block 1, Lone Star Plaza 

Addition, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, Texas, zoned PD-217 

and PD-217A, located within the Belt Line Corridor Overlay District, 

and addressed as 925 N Belt Line Rd (On February 14, 2022, the 

Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval with staff 

conditions by a vote of 7-0) 

APPLICANT: Melinda Nelson & Kofi Addo, Victron Energy, Inc. 

OWNER: Walid Alameddine, Victron Stores, L.P. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Staff is unable to recommend approval of this request due to concerns 

about how the proposed restaurant drive-through lane and expanded car 

wash tunnel impact the internal circulation of the site. 

  

SUMMARY: 

Specific Use Permit for a Carwash and a Restaurant with a Drive-Through and a Site Plan Amendment 

to expand the existing carwash tunnel, construct a 475 sq. ft. addition to the existing Convenience 

Store/Restaurant building, and add a drive-through lane for the restaurant.  

PURPOSE OF REQUEST: 

The purpose of this request for a Specific Use Permit is for a Carwash and a Restaurant with a Drive-

Through and a Site Plan Amendment to expand the existing carwash tunnel, construct a 475 sq. ft. 

addition to the existing Convenience Store/Restaurant building, and add a drive-through lane for the 

restaurant. 

173

Item 29.



Page 2 of 8 

The purpose of the Specific Use Permit process is to identify those uses which might be appropriate 

within a zoning district, but due to either their location, functional or operational nature, could have a 

potentially negative impact upon surrounding properties; and provide for a procedure whereby such uses 

might be permitted by further restricting or conditioning them so as to eliminate such probable negative 

impacts. 

The purpose for the site plan approval is to ensure that the development meets requirements in the 

Unified Development Code (UDC), provides adequate circulation, and uses quality site planning 

techniques. The UDC identifies criteria for evaluating proposed developments. Criteria include density 

and dimensional standards, landscaping and screening requirements, and architectural design for special 

districts. 

The City Council may, in the interest of the public welfare and to assure compliance with this ordinance, 

establish conditions of operation, location, arrangement, and construction of any authorized special use. 

In approving any specific use, the City Council may impose such development standards and safeguards 

as conditions warrant for the welfare and protection of adjacent properties, and citizenry as a whole as it 

may be affected by this use. 

It shall be unlawful for the owner, manager, or any person in charge of a business or other establishment 

to violate the conditions imposed by the City Council when a Specific Use Permit is granted. 

ADJACENT LAND USES: 

The following table summarizes the zoning designation and existing use for the surrounding properties. 

Table 1. Zoning and Land Use 
Direction Zoning Existing Use 

North PD-217 IH-30/Car Dealership 

South PD-217A Restaurant 

West PD-217 Undeveloped 

East PD-217 Restaurant/Commercial 

HISTORY: 

 September 17, 1996:  City Council approved PD-217 creating a planned development district for 

Mixed-Use including Entertainment, Retail Office Uses and a SUP for Car Dealership on a 1,700 

acre-tract along the I-30/Belt Line Road Corridor that included the referenced property (Case 

Number CPA960901/Z960901). 

 April 20, 2004: The City Council approved PD-217A amending a planning development district 

for the property at 925 N. Belt Line Road (Lot 1, Block 2, Lone Star Plaza Addition) to allow for 

State Vehicle Inspection Station Use (Case Number Z040401). 

 April 26, 2012: The City’s Planning Department administratively approved the site plan for the 

development and operation of a Convenience Store with Gas Sales, and a restaurant within PD-

217A for GR Uses on the property consisting of 1.137 acres, Lot 1, Block 2, Lone Star Plaza 

Addition (Case Number S120501). 

PROPOSED USE CHARACTERISTICS AND FUNCTION: 

The 1.38-acre commercial center consists of:   

174

Item 29.



Page 3 of 8 

 3,963 sq. ft. convenience store with 12 gas pumps and a drive-through restaurant. 

 1,960 sq. ft. car wash tunnel. 

The site is accessible from N. Belt Line Road and mutual access easement on adjacent properties to the 

south. The applicant intends to operate a full-service car wash use and add a drive-through lane to the 

quick-serve restaurant. The car wash is located on the southern portion of the property and will replace 

an existing small self-serve automated wash with a 1,960 sq. ft. tunnel facility. There will be no outdoor 

detail area with vacuums. 

The applicant proposes a 495 sq. ft addition to the convenience store/restaurant. The fuel pump canopy 

will remain in place. Other improvements include the separate but parallel alignment of the drive-

through facilities serving the car wash and the restaurant. Both drive-throughs wrap around the rear 

(western) portion of the store and are separated by the fire lane and raised curbs to prevent cross entry 

from one service to the other. 

The drive-through lane for the restaurant does not provide any stacking spaces from the point of order 

for vehicles when the UDC requires a minimum of six. The point of order is located adjacent to the fire 

lane, which means that a customer’s vehicle will block the fire lane while they are placing their order 

and any queuing of vehicles will take place in the fire lane. 

ZONING REQUIREMENTS: 

Density and Dimensional Requirements 

The property is subject to density and dimensional requirements in Article 6 of the Unified Development 

Code (UDC). The following table summarizes these requirements. The proposal does not meet all the 

density and dimensional requirements. The proposal exceeds the maximum 25-foot height requirement. 

Table 2. Site Data Summary 

Standard Required Proposed Meets 

Min. Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) 5,000 49,592 Yes 

Min. Lot Width (Ft.) 50 185 Yes 

Min. Lot Depth (Ft.) 100 270  Yes 

Front Setback (Ft.) 25 35  Yes 

Rear Setback (Ft.) 0 10  Yes 

Max. Height (Ft.) 25 32   No 

Max. Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 0.35:1 0.11:1   Yes 

 

 Parking Requirements 

 

The property is subject to parking requirements in Article 10 of the UDC. The following table summarizes 

these requirements. The proposal meets the parking requirements. 

 

Table 3. Parking Summary  

Standard 
Maximum 

Allowed 
Provided Compliance 

Retail  9 9 Yes 

Restaurant 6 6 Yes 

175

Item 29.



Page 4 of 8 

Car Wash 4 3 Yes 

Total 19 18 Yes 

HC Spaces 2 2 Yes 

 

Landscaping and Screening Requirements 

The site is subject to Landscaping requirements of UDC, Article 8, the site meets the minimum 

landscape requirement. Table 4 summarizes the landscaping requirement. 

 

Table 4. Landscape & Screening Requirements 

 

 

ANALYSIS: 

The building’s new exterior elevations and design elements provide desired improvement along a primary 

gateway into Grand Prairie. However, the lack of vehicle stacking spaces for the restaurant drive-through 

may create traffic/circulation issues on the site.  Since the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, the 

applicant has revised the car wash’s roof sign to comply with UDC’s maximum height requirement for roof 

signs.  A trash receptacle accessible from the drive-through lane is provided. 

VARIANCES: 

The applicant is requesting the following variances: 

1. Vehicle Stacking Spaces – the UDC requires six stacking spaces for restaurant drive-throughs. The 

proposal does not include any. 

2. Maximum Allowable Height – the maximum allowable height for this location is 25 ft. The proposed 

carwash tunnel has a height of 32 ft. 

3. Height of Roof Sign – the UDC states that roof signs shall not exceed 15 ft. in height or 25% of the 

building height, whichever is less. The proposed car wash tunnel includes a roof sign that extends 18 

ft. above the height of the building, which is more than 25% of the building height. The revised 

building elevations do not require this variance. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 On February 14, 2002, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote 

of 7-0 with staff conditions. 

 Staff has concerns about how the proposed restaurant drive-through lane and expanded car wash 

tunnel impact the internal circulation of the site. Notably, the drive-through lane requires the fire 

Standard Required Provided Meets 

Landscape Area 10% (Sq. Ft.) 4,959 8,776 Yes 

 Trees (1/500 SF. of required landscape) 10 13 Yes 

Street Trees (I-30) 6 6 Yes 

Street Trees (Belt Line) 4 4 Yes 

Parking Lot Trees 1 3 Yes 

Shrubs (1 5-gallon shrub per 50 Sq. Ft. of 

required landscape area) 

100 120 Yes 

176

Item 29.



Page 5 of 8 

lane for ordering and stacking spaces. The car wash tunnel configuration creates potential 

conflicts between cars exiting the tunnel and other vehicles on site. 

However, should the Planning and Zoning Commission recommend approval of this request, 

staff recommends the following conditions: 

1. The applicant shall revise the roof sign to meet UDC requirements. 

2. The applicant shall provide a trash receptacle accessible from the drive-through lane. 

3. Businesses shall obtain the appropriate Certificate of Occupancies for all uses and 

register with the City’s Auto-Related Business (ARB) program. 

4. Development and operations shall comply with the site plan. 

BODY: 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS AMENDING THE ZONING 

ORDINANCE AND MAP BY SHOWING THE LOCATION, BOUNDARY, AND USE OF 

CERTAIN PROPERTY FOR A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT FOR A RESTAURANT WITH DRIVE- 

THROUGH AND  A CAR WASH BEING LOT 3, BLOCK 1, LONE STAR PLAZA ADDITION, 

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, DALLAS COUNTY, TEXAS; SAID ZONING MAP AND 

ORDINANCE BEING NUMBERED ORDINANCE NUMBER 4779 AND PASSED ON 

NOVEMBER 20, 1990; REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN 

CONFLICT HEREWITH; PROVIDING A PENALTY; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE AND 

A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE AFTER 

PUBLICATION 

 

WHEREAS, the owners of the property described herein below filed application with the City of Grand 

Prairie, Texas, petitioning an amendment of the Zoning Ordinance and Map of said city so as to amend the 

zoning designation of said site to include a Specific Use Permit for a Restaurant with Drive-Through and a 

Car Wash; 

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission of Grand Prairie, Texas, held a public hearing on said 

application on February 14, 2022, after written notice of such public hearing before the Planning and Zoning 

Commission on the proposed Specific Use Permit had been sent to owners of real property lying within 300 

feet of the property on which the creation of a Specific Use Permit for a Restaurant with Drive-Through and 

a Car Wash use is proposed, said Notice having been given not less than ten (10) days before the date set for 

hearing to all such owners who rendered their said property for City taxes as the ownership appears on the 

last approved City Tax Roll, and such Notice being served by depositing the same, properly addressed and 

postage paid, in the City Post Office; and 

 

WHEREAS, after consideration of said application, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of 

Grand Prairie, Texas voted 7 to 0 to recommend to the City Council of Grand Prairie, Texas, that said Zoning 

Ordinance and Map be amended to allow a Specific Use Permit for a Restaurant with Drive-Through and a 

Car Wash; and 

 

WHEREAS, Notice was given of a further public hearing to be held by the City Council of the City of 

Grand Prairie, Texas, in the City Hall Plaza Building at 6:30 o'clock P.M. on March 1, 2022, to consider the 

advisability of amending the Zoning Ordinance and Map as recommended by the Planning and Zoning 

Commission, and all citizens and parties at interest were notified that they would have an opportunity to be 

heard, such Notice of the time and place of such hearing having been given at least fifteen (15) days prior to 

177

Item 29.



Page 6 of 8 

such hearing by publication in the, Fort Worth Star Telegram, Fort Worth, Texas, a newspaper of general 

circulation in such municipality; and 

 

WHEREAS, all citizens and parties at interest have been given an opportunity to be heard on all the matter 

of the Specific Use Permit and the City Council of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas, being informed as to 

the location and nature of the specific use proposed on said property, as well as the nature and usability of 

surrounding property, have found and determined that the property in question, as well as other property 

within the city limits of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas, has changed in character since the enactment of 

the original Zoning Ordinance to the extent that a specific use may be made of said property as herein 

provided and by reason of changed conditions, does consider and find that this amendatory Ordinance should 

be enacted since its provisions are in the public interest and will promote the health, safety and welfare of 

the community. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND 

PRAIRIE, TEXAS THAT: 

 

SECTION 1.  Ordinance Number 4779, being the Unified Development Code of the City of Grand Prairie, 

Texas, showing the locations and boundaries of certain districts, and said Zoning Ordinance and Map having 

been made a part of an Ordinance entitled: 

 

 "THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, 

TEXAS, AS PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL ON THE 20TH 

DAY OF NOVEMBER, 1990, TOGETHER WITH ALL AMENDMENTS THERETO 

AND ENACTING A REVISED ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING AND PROVIDING 

FOR ZONING REGULATIONS; CREATING USE DISTRICTS IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN..." 

 

passed and approved November 20, 1990, as amended, is hereby further amended so as to establish a 

Specific Use Permit for a Restaurant with Drive-Through and a Car Wash use on 1.138 acres on Lot 3, Block 

1, Lone Star Plaza Addition, addressed as 925 N. Belt Line Road, City of Grand Prairie, Dallas County, 

Texas, as depicted in Exhibit A - Location Map, attached hereto. 

 

SECTION 2.  The purpose of this Ordinance is to provide the appropriate restrictions and development 

controls that ensure this Specific Use Permit is compatible with the surrounding development and zoning 

and to also ensure that the development complies with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Unified 

Development Code. 
  
SECTION 3. For development and operations of a Restaurant with Drive-Through and a Car Wash use 

with the following standards and conditions hereby established as part of this ordinance: 

1. The applicant shall provide a trash receptacle accessible from the drive-through lane. 

2. Businesses shall obtain the appropriate Certificate of Occupancies for all uses and register 

with the City’s Auto-Related Business (ARB) program. 

3. Development and operations shall comply with the approved Exhibit B – Site Plan, Exhibit 

C – Landscape Plan, and Exhibit D – Building Elevations which are attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference. 

 

SECTION 4.  That the operations of a Restaurant with Drive-Through and Car Wash use shall comply 

with the following: 

178

Item 29.



Page 7 of 8 

 

1. By this Ordinance, this Specific Use Permit shall automatically terminate in accordance with Section 

5.4.1 of the Unified Development Code if a Certificate of Occupancy is not issued for said use within 

one (1) year after City Council adoption of this Ordinance, or upon cessation of said use for a period 

of six (6) months or more. 

 

2. It shall be unlawful for the owner, manager, or any person in charge of a business or other 

establishment to violate the conditions imposed by the City Council when a Specific Use Permit is 

granted, and the violation of those conditions could result in a citation being issued by the appropriate 

enforcement officers of the City of Grand Prairie.  Violation of this provision may be punishable in 

accordance with Section 1-8 of the Code of Ordinances of the City.  

 

3. This Specific Use Permit shall run with the land and therefore may be transferred from owner to 

owner; however, each new owner shall obtain a new Certificate of Occupancy.  

 

4. The Certificate of Occupancy shall note the existence of this Specific Use Permit by its number and 

title. 

 

5. The operation of the facility shall be in strict compliance with all requirements of the Environmental 

Services Department, Building Inspections, Police Department and Fire Administration. 

 

6. Any unsafe or unauthorized operations or activities may be determined as grounds for revocation of 

the Specific Use Permit by the City Council. 

 

SECTION 5.  It is further provided that in the case a section, clause, sentence, or part of this Ordinance 

shall be deemed or adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, then such invalidity shall 

not affect, impair, or invalidate the remainder of this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 6.  A violation of this Ordinance is a misdemeanor punishable in accordance with Section 1-

8 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas.  The penalty provided herein shall be 

cumulative of other remedies provided by State law, and the power of injunction as provided in Texas 

Local Government Code Section 54.016, as amended, may be exercised in enforcing this ordinance 

whether or not there has been a complaint filed.   

 

SECTION 7.  The Unified Development Code of the City of Grand Prairie, as amended, shall be and 

remain in full force and effect save and except as amended by this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 8.  The terms and provisions of this Ordinance are severable and are governed by Section 1-4 

of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas. 

 

SECTION 9.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are specifically repealed. 

 

SECTION 10.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, and 

publication. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, 

TEXAS, ON THIS THE 1ST DAY OF MARCH 2022. 

 

179

Item 29.



Page 8 of 8 

ORDINANCE NO. #-2022  

SPECIFIC USE PERMIT NO. # 

CASE NO. SUP-21-11-0023 

 

180

Item 29.



E Ih 30 Eb  

E Ih 30 Wb  

N 
Be

lt 
Li

ne
 R

d

E Tarrant RdNe
 5t

h S
t

Ruby Rd

´
Development Services

(972) 237-8255
www.gptx.org

City of Grand Prairie

§̈¦30

CASE LOCATION MAP
SUP-21-12-0023 - SUP/Site Plan
Star Shell

Exhibit A - Location Map
Page 1 of 1

181

Item 29.



DU
MPS

TE
R

475 SQFT
ADDITION FOR

QSR

BUILDING AREA:
3488 SQFT

BURGER KING

FAST FOOD RESTAURANT

BUILDING AREA:  1,960 SQFT

T

T
T

RIM ELEVATION: 438.38'

FINISHED FLOOR
ELEV: 442.68'

RIM ELEVATION: 441.78'

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

OHE

CANOPY WITH 6 MPDS

12
.0

0'
19.91'

9.
00

'

R30'

R1'

R2'

R3'

9.0
0'

19.00'

R5'

R3'

12.00'

R3'

R37'

R20'

5.
42

'

5.
02

'

1N

1N

1N

1N
2N

3N

3N

3N

4N

4N

4N

5N

6N

7N

4N

9.97'

5

3

2

3.
59

'

12.93'

14
.21

'

7.37'

36.94'

82
.5

3'

53.35'

17.96'

8.
86

'

10
.2

8'

R18'

R32'

R45' R34'

R20'R20'

R30'

R25'

R2'

R20'

R3'

R3' 20
.0

0'

24.00'

24.00'

23.17'

25.84'

4N

8N

81
.2

5'
30

.5
3'

5.
00

'

R5'

R5'

R4'

R4'

6.
00

'

20.68'

93.33'

ZONING: PD-217

ZONING: PD-217

8

9N

10N

EXISTING LEGEND

PARKING DATA

                                                                              RESTAURANT
                                                                              (DINNING & WAITING AREA OF 598 SF)
                                                                              = 1 PER 100 SF
                            REQUIRED SPACES:               = 6
                            SPACES PROVIDED:               = 6

                                                                              RETAIL AREA (2474 SF)
                                                                              (CONVENIENCE STORE WITH GAS PUMPS)
                                                                              = 1 PER 275 SF
                         REQUIRED SPACES:                  = 9
                         SPACES PROVIDED:                  = 9
    

                                                                              CAR WASH   = 1 PER 150 SF = 14
                                                                              (2/3 OF MINIMUM FOR AWAITING CAR WASH) = 10
                                                                              CAR WASH PARKING
                            REQUIRED SPACES:               = 4
                            SPACES PROVIDED:               = 3

TYPICAL DIMENSIONS: 9' WIDTH
20' DEPTH

PROPOSED LEGEND      

PROPOSED BUILDING

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

STD. 6" CONCRETE CURB

PARKING SPACE COUNT

FIRE LANE STRIPING

PROPERTY BOUNDARY

SITE DATA TABLE

SITE LOCATION 925 N Belt Line Rd

ZONING PD-217A

LOT AREA 49,592 (1.138 AC)

BUILDING AREA

CONVENIENCE STORE WITH GAS/PUMPS 2,474 SF

RESTAURANT 1,040 SF

CAR WASH 1,960 SF

LANDSCAPE AREA 9,588 SF (19.33%)

IMPERVIOUS AREA 40,004 SF

LOT COVERAGE (FLOOR AREA RATIO) 10.92%

FLOOD ZONE CLASSIFICATION ZONE 'X'

FLOOD ZONE MAP NO. 48113C0315L

EXISTING LAND USE RESTAURANT WITH
DRIVE-THROUGH/CAR WASH

PROPOSED LAND USE RESTAURANT/CAR WASH

ADJACENT ZONING (N,E,S,W) PD-217, PD-217, PD-217, PD-217

NOTES
1N LANDSCAPE AREA

2N     HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE

3N END CURB

4N     STANDARD CONCRETE PAVING

5N DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE
6N MENU ORDER BOARD AND SPEAKER

7N ORDER PICKUP WINDOW

8N      BOLLARD

9N    ELECTRIC CHARGING STATION

10N  ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING SPACE

1

N   NORTH/NORTHING
S   SOUTH
E   EAST/EASTING
W   WEST
°    DEGREES
'    MINUTES/FEET
"    SECONDS/INCHES

 Ex._WL  WATER LINE
 Ex._SS   SEWER LINE
 Ex._SD   STORM DRAIN LINE

 #
TITLE COMMITMENT ITEM

 Ex._OHE  OVERHEAD UTILITY

 Ex.GAS   GAS LINE

 Ex.TEL   UNDERGROUND
      TELEPHONE

POWER POLE

SANITARY SEWER
MANHOLE

SIGN

LIGHT

CLEAN-OUT

STORM MANHOLE

FIRE HYDRANT
WATER VALVE

ELECTRIC METER

IRRIGATION CONTROL
VALVE
TRAFFIC SIGNAL
BOLLARD
GRATE INLET

TRANSFORMER
GAS METER

 GDRL   GUARD RAIL
 CHLK   CHAIN LINK FENCE
 WIRE    WIRE FENCE
 WOOD  WOOD FENCE
 METAL   METAL FENCE
 IRON   IRON FENCE

 SILT   SILT FENCE

TELEPHONE RISER
MAIL BOX

GAS MARKER

WATER METER

FIRE WATER CONNECTION
WATER MANHOLE

GAS MANHOLE
UTILITY PIN FLAG

      GUY WIRE

FEMA BASE FLOOD ELEVATION
500'

FEMA ZONE

 Ex._UGE  BURIED ELECTRIC
 Ex.CATV  BURIED CABLE LINE
 Ex.FOC   BURIED FIBER OPTIC

AIR CONDITIONER UNIT

 PIPE   PIPE RAIL FENCE

D.R.D.C.T.
DEED RECORDS
DALLAS COUNTY, TEXAS

M.R.D.C.T.
MAP RECORDS
DALLAS COUNTY, TEXAS

O.P.R.D.C.T.
OFFICIAL PUBLIC RECORDS
DALLAS COUNTY, TEXASVICINITY MAP

NOT TO SCALE

V
:\0

70
46

6 
- W

as
h 

M
as

te
rs

 C
ar

 W
as

h 
G

ra
nd

 P
ra

iri
e 

TX
\0

70
46

6-
01

-0
01

 (E
N

G
) -

 W
as

h 
M

as
te

rs
 C

ar
 W

as
h 

G
ra

nd
 P

ra
iri

e 
TX

\E
ng

in
ee

rin
g\

E
ng

in
ee

rin
g 

P
la

ns
\0

70
46

6-
01

-0
01

 - 
S

ite
 P

la
n.

dw
g,

 L
ay

ou
t1

,  
Ja

nu
ar

y 
28

, 2
02

2,
 4

:0
5 

P
M

, a
m

an
u

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

--
-

--
-

--
-

W
A

S
H

 M
A

S
T

E
R

S
 C

A
R

 W
A

S
H

 &
 T

A
C

O
 C

A
S

A
 R

E
S

T
A

U
R

A
N

T
92

5 
N

 B
E

LT
 L

IN
E

 R
D

 G
R

A
N

D
 P

R
A

IR
IE

, T
X

 7
50

50

 ©
 2

02
1 

B
ow

m
an

 C
on

su
lti

ng
 G

ro
up

, L
td

.
T

B
P

E
 F

irm
 R

eg
is

tr
at

io
n 

N
o.

 F
-1

43
09

SP1

AM AM KAN

070466-01-001

P
ho

ne
: (

97
2)

 4
97

-2
99

2
w

w
w

.b
ow

m
an

co
ns

ul
tin

g.
co

m
56

01
 D

em
oc

ra
cy

 D
r

S
ui

te
 2

05
Pl

an
o,

 T
ex

as
 7

50
24

S
IT

E
 P

LA
N

ENGINEER

BOWMAN CONSULTING GROUP, LTD
5601 Democracy Drive, Suite 205

Dallas, Texas 75225
[Phone] 972.497.2990

Contact: Kofi Addo, P.E.

OWNER

EBLA INVESTMENT, L.P.
P.O.BOX 2599

Waxahachie, TX 75168
[Phone] 469.517.2000

Contact: Walid Alameddine

DEVELOPER

VICTRON ENERGY, INC.
105 YMCA Drive

Waxahachie, TX 75165
[Phone] 469.517.2051

Contact: Melinda Nelson

CASE NUMBER: STP-21-12-0023

NOTE:
SITE SHALL COMPLY WITH AND/OR EXCEED UDC's APPENDIX F.

Exhibit B - Site Plan
Page 1 of 1

182

Item 29.



S
S

S
S

S
S

S

S

S

S S S S S S S S S S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

T

RIM ELEVATION: 438.38'

RIM ELEVATION: 441.78'

O

H

E

O

H

E

O

H

E

O

H

E

O

H

E

W

W

W

W W

D

U

M

P

S

T

E

R

475 SQFT

ADDITION FOR QSR

BUILDING AREA:

3488 SQFT

BUILDING AREA:  1,960 SQFT

6

EXT

4

EXT

2

EXT

1

CE

1

CE

1

EXT

1

EXT

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

-
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

W
A

S
H

 M
A

S
T

E
R

 C
A

R
 W

A
S

H
92

5 
N

 B
E

LT
 L

IN
E

 R
D

 G
R

A
N

D
 P

R
A

IR
IE

, T
X

 7
50

50

 ©
 2

02
1 

B
ow

m
an

 C
on

su
lti

ng
 G

ro
up

, L
td

.
T

B
P

E
 F

irm
 R

eg
is

tr
at

io
n 

N
o.

 F
-1

43
09

P R E L I M I N A R Y  N O T   F O R   C O N S T R U C T I O N

DR DR RM

070466-01-001

P
ho

ne
: (

97
2)

 4
97

-2
99

2
w

w
w

.b
ow

m
an

co
ns

ul
tin

g.
co

m
5
6
0
1
 
D

e
m

o
c
r
a
c
y
 
D

r

S
u
i
t
e
 
2
0
5

P
l
a
n
o
,
 
T
e
x
a
s
 
7
5
0
2
4

SCALE : 1" = 20'

40 20 2010 0 N

E

S

W BEACON
CIVIL ENGINEERING

LANDSCAPE CALCULATIONS

TOTAL SITE AREA 49,592 SF

LANDSCAPE AREA REQUIRED 4,959 SF (10% OF SITE AREA)

LANDSCAPE AREA PROVIDED 8,776 SF  (17.7%)

TOTAL STREET FRONTAGE 271 LF IH-30

STREET TREES REQUIRED 6 TREES (1 TREE PER 50 LF OF FRONTAGE)

STREET TREES PROVIDED 6 TREES (ALL EXISTING)

TOTAL STREET FRONTAGE 161 LF NORTH BELT LINE RD.

STREET TREES REQUIRED 4 TREES (1 TREE PER 50 LF OF FRONTAGE)

STREET TREES PROVIDED 4 TREES (ALL EXISTING)

SITE TREES REQUIRED 10 TREES (1 TREE PER 500 SF OF REQUIRED LANDSCAPE)

SITE TREES PROVIDED 13 TREES

SITE SHRUBS REQUIRED 100 SHRUBS (1 SHRUB PER 50 SF OF REQUIRED LANDSCAPE AREA)

SITE SHRUBS PROVIDED 120+ SHRUBS (ALL EXISTING)

TOTAL PARKING SPACES 18

PARKING LOT TREES REQUIRED 1 TREES (1 TREE PER 20 SPACES)

PARKING LOT TREES PROVIDED 3 TREES

NOTE:  TOTAL REQUIRED PARKING LOT TREES INCLUDED IN SITE TREE TOTALS.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL ROOT BARRIERS NEAR ALL NEWLY-PLANTED TREES THAT ARE

LOCATED WITHIN FIVE (5) FEET OF PAVING OR CURBS.  ROOT BARRIERS SHALL BE "CENTURY" OR

"DEEP-ROOT" 24" DEEP PANELS (OR EQUAL).  BARRIERS SHALL BE LOCATED IMMEDIATELY ADJACENT

TO HARDSCAPE.  INSTALL PANELS PER MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS.  UNDER NO

CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL THE CONTRACTOR USE ROOT BARRIERS OF A TYPE THAT COMPLETELY

ENCIRCLE THE ROOTBALL.

ROOT BARRIERS

MULCHES

AFTER ALL PLANTING IS COMPLETE, CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL 3" THICK LAYER OF 1-1/2"

SHREDDED WOOD MULCH, NATURAL (UNDYED), OVER LANDSCAPE FABRIC IN ALL PLANTING AREAS

(EXCEPT FOR TURF AND SEEDED AREAS).  CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT SAMPLES OF ALL MULCHES TO

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND OWNER FOR APPROVAL PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  ABSOLUTELY NO

EXPOSED GROUND SHALL BE LEFT SHOWING ANYWHERE ON THE PROJECT AFTER MULCH HAS BEEN

INSTALLED (SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS AND REQUIREMENTS OF THE "GENERAL GRADING AND

PLANTING NOTES" AND SPECIFICATIONS).

GENERAL GRADING AND PLANTING NOTES

1. BY SUBMITTING A PROPOSAL FOR THE LANDSCAPE PLANTING SCOPE OF WORK, THE CONTRACTOR CONFIRMS THAT HE

HAS READ, AND WILL COMPLY WITH, THE ASSOCIATED NOTES, SPECIFICATIONS, AND DETAILS WITH THIS PROJECT.

2. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR REMOVING ALL EXISTING VEGETATION (EXCEPT WHERE NOTED TO

REMAIN).

3. IN THE CONTEXT OF THESE PLANS, NOTES, AND SPECIFICATIONS, "FINISH GRADE" REFERS TO THE FINAL ELEVATION OF

THE SOIL SURFACE (NOT TOP OF MULCH) AS INDICATED ON THE GRADING PLANS.

a. BEFORE STARTING WORK, THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THAT THE ROUGH GRADES OF ALL

LANDSCAPE AREAS ARE WITHIN +/-0.1' OF FINISH GRADE.  SEE SPECIFICATIONS FOR MORE DETAILED INSTRUCTION

ON TURF AREA AND PLANTING BED PREPARATION.

b. CONSTRUCT AND MAINTAIN FINISH GRADES AS SHOWN ON GRADING PLANS, AND CONSTRUCT AND MAINTAIN

SLOPES AS RECOMMENDED BY THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT.  ALL LANDSCAPE AREAS SHALL HAVE POSITIVE

DRAINAGE AWAY FROM STRUCTURES AT THE MINIMUM SLOPE SPECIFIED IN THE REPORT AND ON THE GRADING

PLANS, AND AREAS OF POTENTIAL PONDING SHALL BE REGRADED TO BLEND IN WITH THE SURROUNDING GRADES

AND ELIMINATE PONDING POTENTIAL.

c. THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL DETERMINE WHETHER OR NOT THE EXPORT OF ANY SOIL WILL BE NEEDED,

TAKING INTO ACCOUNT THE ROUGH GRADE PROVIDED, THE AMOUNT OF SOIL AMENDMENTS TO BE ADDED (BASED

ON A SOIL TEST, PER SPECIFICATIONS), AND THE FINISH GRADES TO BE ESTABLISHED.

d. ENSURE THAT THE FINISH GRADE IN SHRUB AREAS IMMEDIATELY ADJACENT TO WALKS AND OTHER WALKING

SURFACES, AFTER INSTALLING SOIL AMENDMENTS, IS 3" BELOW THE ADJACENT FINISH SURFACE, IN ORDER TO

ALLOW FOR PROPER MULCH DEPTH.  TAPER THE SOIL SURFACE TO MEET FINISH GRADE, AS SPECIFIED ON THE

GRADING PLANS, AT APPROXIMATELY 18" AWAY FROM THE WALKS.

e. ENSURE THAT THE FINISH GRADE IN TURF AREAS IMMEDIATELY ADJACENT TO WALKS AND OTHER WALKING

SURFACES, AFTER INSTALLING SOIL AMENDMENTS,  IS 1" BELOW THE FINISH SURFACE OF THE WALKS.  TAPER THE

SOIL SURFACE TO MEET FINISH GRADE, AS SPECIFIED ON THE GRADING PLANS, AT APPROXIMATELY 18" AWAY

FROM THE WALKS.

f. SHOULD ANY CONFLICTS AND/OR DISCREPANCIES ARISE BETWEEN THE GRADING PLANS, GEOTECHNICAL REPORT,

THESE NOTES AND PLANS, AND ACTUAL CONDITIONS, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL IMMEDIATELY BRING SUCH ITEMS

TO THE ATTENTION OF THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT, GENERAL CONTRACTOR, AND OWNER.

4. ALL PLANT LOCATIONS ARE DIAGRAMMATIC.  ACTUAL LOCATIONS SHALL BE VERIFIED WITH THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

OR DESIGNER PRIOR TO PLANTING.  THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL ENSURE THAT ALL REQUIREMENTS OF THE

PERMITTING AUTHORITY ARE MET (I.E., MINIMUM PLANT QUANTITIES, PLANTING METHODS, TREE PROTECTION METHODS,

ETC.).

a. THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR DETERMINING PLANT QUANTITIES; PLANT QUANTITIES SHOWN

ON LEGENDS AND CALLOUTS ARE FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY.  IN THE EVENT OF A DISCREPANCY BETWEEN

THE PLAN AND THE PLANT LEGEND, THE PLANT QUANTITY AS SHOWN ON THE PLAN (FOR INDIVIDUAL SYMBOLS) OR

CALLOUT (FOR GROUNDCOVER  PATTERNS) SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE.

b. NO SUBSTITUTIONS OF PLANT MATERIALS SHALL BE ALLOWED WITHOUT THE WRITTEN PERMISSION OF THE

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT.  IF SOME OF THE PLANTS ARE NOT AVAILABLE, THE LANDSCAPE CONTRACTOR SHALL

NOTIFY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT IN WRITING (VIA PROPER CHANNELS).

c. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL, AT A MINIMUM, PROVIDE REPRESENTATIVE PHOTOS OF ALL PLANTS PROPOSED FOR THE

PROJECT.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL ALLOW  THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND THE OWNER/OWNER'S

REPRESENTATIVE TO INSPECT, AND APPROVE OR REJECT, ALL PLANTS DELIVERED TO THE JOBSITE.  REFER TO

SPECIFICATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS FOR SUBMITTALS.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN THE LANDSCAPE IN A HEALTHY CONDITION FOR 90 DAYS AFTER ACCEPTANCE BY THE

OWNER.  REFER TO SPECIFICATIONS FOR CONDITIONS OF ACCEPTANCE FOR THE START OF THE MAINTENANCE PERIOD,

AND FOR  FINAL ACCEPTANCE AT THE END OF THE MAINTENANCE PERIOD.

6. SEE SPECIFICATIONS AND DETAILS FOR FURTHER REQUIREMENTS.

(800) 680-6630
15455 Dallas Pkwy., Ste 600

Addison, TX 75001
www.EvergreenDesignGroup.com

EVERGREEN
D E S I G N    G R O U P

LP-1

L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
 
P

L
A

N
T

I
N

G

L HINI
R

ST
E

A

C
CT

TE

SA

D

ET

S
TA

I
RE
G

61

OF

9 8
ET
X

E

R

LD
RE

CAANDS

E

EP A
ECE

1-27-22

TREES CODE COMMON / BOTANICAL NAME SIZE CONTAINER QTY

EXT Existing Tree to be retained exist. exist. 14
protect as necessary

CE Cedar Elm / Ulmus crassifolia CONT. 3" Cal 2
parking lot tree

SHRUB AREAS CODE COMMON / BOTANICAL NAME SIZE SPACING QTY

EXG Existing Shrubs to remain exist. exist. 120+
protect as necessary

GROUND COVERS CODE COMMON / BOTANICAL NAME SIZE QTY

CD Bermuda Grass / Cynodon dactylon `tif 419` sod 8,056 sf
or match existing turf or as req'd to provide

full coverage as shown

PLANT_SCHEDULE

Missing shrubs will be replaced

Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
Page 1 of 1

183

Item 29.



Exhibit D - Building Elevations
Page 1 of 2

184

Item 29.



Exhibit D - Building Elevations
Page 2 of 2

185

Item 29.



Exhibit E -Rendering
Page 1 of 1

186

Item 29.



Page 1 of 4 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

ORDINANCE 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 03/01/2022 

REQUESTER: Monica Espinoza, Executive Assistant 

PRESENTER: Savannah Ware, AICP, Chief City Planner  

TITLE: TAM-22-01-0001 - Text Amendment - Article 8: Landscape and 

Screening Standards. An Ordinance of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas, 

amending Article 8: Landscape and Screening Standards of the Unified 

Development Code to create an administrative exception process for 

alternative fence materials in residential zoning districts; Repealing all 

Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict herewith; Containing a 

savings clause and a severability clause; and to become effective upon 

its passage and approval (On February 14, 2022, the Planning and 

Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0) 

APPLICANT: City of Grand Prairie 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

SUMMARY: 

An Ordinance of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas, amending Article 8: Landscape and Screening 

Standards of the Unified Development Code to create an administrative exception process for alternative 

fence materials in residential zoning districts; Repealing all Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in 

conflict herewith; Containing a savings clause and a severability clause; and to become effective upon 

its passage and approval. 

PURPOSE OF REQUEST: 

The purpose of the request is to amend Article 8: Landscaping and Screening Standards of the Unified 

Development Code to create an administrative exception process for alternative fence materials in 

residential zoning districts. Staff has gradually seen an uptick in alternative fence material requests in 

residential zoning districts. For example, in July 2021, staff received a request from a resident for a 

solid, powder-coated, galvanized metal picket fence in a residential zoning district. Furthermore, staff 

has received requests for high-quality, precast concrete wall materials for residential privacy fencing.  

The UDC does not clearly define what is considered acceptable residential grade fencing material for 

non-required fences in residential zoning districts. This amendment to Article 8 will help provide clarity 

and allow staff to review requests on a case-by-case basis, with the Chief Building Official having the 

final decision. If an applicant is unhappy with the final decision, they can appeal their request to the 

187

Item 30.



Page 2 of 4 

Zoning Board of Adjustments and Appeals. Staff has reviewed benchmark cities, and this process is in 

line with other municipalities.  

With the new section, the Chief Building Official would review the request based on the following 

criteria: 

 The proposed material must be manufactured in a factory, have an above-average lifespan, and 

meet building code requirements. 

 A manufacturer’s specification sheet is required with the submittal of the permit. 

 Visual elevations must be submitted. 

o If metal is used, a durable finish must be applied at the factory. 

o If precast masonry is used, it must simulate a material like wood or stone. 

 The proposed material must comply with the intent of the UDC. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0. 

The Development Review Committee (DRC) recommends approval. 

The City Council Development Committee (CCDC) recommended approval by a vote of 3-0.  

BODY: 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, TEXAS, AMENDING ARTICLE 8: 

LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING STANDARDS OF THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE TO 

CREATE AN ADMINISTRATIVE EXCEPTION PROCESS FOR ALTERNATIVE FENCE 

MATERIALS IN RESIDENTIAL ZONING DISTRICTS OF THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT 

CODE, ESTABLISHED BY ORDINANCE NUMBER 4779, PASSED ON NOVEMBER 20, 1990; 

REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT HEREWITH; 

PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE AND A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND TO BECOME 

EFFECTIVE UPON ITS PASSAGE, APPROVAL, AND PUBLICATION 

WHEREAS, Section 1.11.3.1 of the Unified Development Code of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas states: 

“Amendments to the text of the Unified Development Code shall be initiated only by action of the City 

Council or City Council Development Committee directing the City Manager or designee to initiate such 

a request on behalf of the City, or by the initiative of the City Manager or designee”; and 

 

WHEREAS, after consideration of said amendments, the City Manager of the City of Grand Prairie, 

Texas directed city staff to initiate the preparation of an ordinance amending the Unified Development 

Code for submittal to the Planning and Zoning Commission of Grand Prairie, Texas for consideration of 

a recommendation to the City Council; and 

WHEREAS, on January 11, 2022, city staff presented the proposed ordinance amendments to Article 8: 

Landscaping and Screening Standards of the Unified Development Code to the City Council Development 

Committee of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas for consideration of a proposal to initiate said amendments; 

and  

WHEREAS, on January 11, 2022, the City Council Development Committee of the City of Grand Prairie, 

Texas recommended approval of the proposed amendments; and  

188

Item 30.



Page 3 of 4 

WHEREAS, Notice was given of a public hearing on said amendments to be held by the Planning and 

Zoning Commission of Grand Prairie, Texas, in the City Hall Plaza Building at 6:30 P.M. on February 14, 

2022, such Notice of the time and place of such hearing having been given at least ten (10) days prior to 

such hearing by publication in the Fort Worth Star Telegram, Fort Worth, Texas, a newspaper of general 

circulation in such municipality; and 

WHEREAS, after consideration of said amendments, the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City 

of Grand Prairie, Texas voted 7-0 to recommend approval to the City Council of Grand Prairie, Texas, 

that said amendments should be approved since its provisions are in the public interest and will promote 

the health, safety and welfare of the community; and 

WHEREAS, Notice was given of a further public hearing to be held by the City Council of the City of 

Grand Prairie, Texas, in the City Hall Plaza Building, at 6:30 P.M. on March 1, 2022 to consider the 

advisability of amending the Code of Ordinances and the Unified Development Code as recommended by 

the Planning and Zoning Commission, such Notice of the time and place of such hearing having been 

given at least fifteen (15) days prior to such hearing by publication in the Fort Worth Star Telegram, Fort 

Worth, Texas, a newspaper of general circulation in such municipality. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND 

PRAIRIE, TEXAS THAT: 

SECTION 1. Article 8: Landscape and Screening Standards of the Unified Development Code of the City 

of Grand Prairie, Texas be amended as shown in Exhibit A – Article 8 of this ordinance, with proposed 

additions of text being shown in underlined print, and deleted text being shown with a single line 

strikethrough. 

SECTION 2. Unchanged sections of affected Articles and Appendices, shall remain in full force and 

effect, save and except for necessary modifications to the “Table of Contents” affecting page numbering, 

and for necessary modifications to related terminology or phrases that have been modified by this 

amendment that will affect a similar modification to interrelated terminology and phrases cross-referenced 

in other Articles in the Unified Development Code. 

SECTION 3. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance is for any 

reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such provisions and such 

holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 

SECTION 4. All of the regulations provided in this ordinance are hereby declared to be governmental 

and for the health, safety and welfare of the general public. Any member of the City Council or any City 

official or employee charged with the enforcement of this ordinance, acting for the City of Grand Prairie, 

Texas, in the discharge of his duties, shall not thereby render himself personally liable; and he is hereby 

relieved of all personal liability for any damage that might occur to persons or property as a result of any 

act required or permitted in the discharge of his said duties. 

SECTION 5. Any person, firm, association of persons, company, corporation, or their agents, servants, 

or employees violating or failing to comply with any of the provisions of this article shall be fined in an 

amount not to exceed two thousand dollars ($2,000.00), and each day any violation of noncompliance 

continues shall constitute a separate and distinct offense. The penalty provided herein shall be cumulative 

or other remedies provided by state law, and the power of injunction as provided in V.T.C.A. Local 

Government Code Section 54.016 and as may be amended, may be exercised in enforcing this article 

whether or not there has been a complaint filed. 

189

Item 30.



Page 4 of 4 

SECTION 6. The terms and provisions of this Ordinance are severable and are governed by Section 1-4 

of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Grand Prairie, Texas. 

SECTION 7. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval and 

publication. 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE, 

TEXAS, ON THIS THE 1ST DAY OF MARCH 2022. 

ORDINANCE NO.  #-2022 

CASE NO. TAM-22-01-0001 

 

 

190

Item 30.



Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie, Texas Planning Department 

 

 

Article 8 LANDSCAPE AND 
SCREENING 

LAST UPDATE:  DRAFT 

CASE NUMBER: TAM-22-01-0001 

ORDINANCE NO. XXXXX-2022 

191

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-1 

  
 
 

 Table of Contents 

  Page No. 

Section 1 Purpose 2 

Section 2 Definitions 2 

Section 3 Applicability 9 

Section 4 Irrigation Plan 13 

Section 5 Landscape Enhancements 27 

Section 6 Landscaping for Residential Development 29 

Section 7 Submittal Requirements 30 

Section 8 Public Improvement Districts 35 

Section 9 Screening 35 

Section 10 Fencing 47 

Section 11 Fencing Exceptions 58 

Section 12 Dimensional Gap Between Abutting Residential Fences 59 

Section 13 Fence Maintenance 59 

Section 14 Gated Entryway 60 

Section 15 Exhibits and Recommended Varieties 61 

Section 16 Tree Protection and Mitigation 72 

 
 
 

192

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-2 

 

SECTION 1 - PURPOSE 
 
8.1.1. It is the purpose of this article to preserve the existing natural environment, minimize the 

amount of irrigation whenever possible, and provide landscape amenities, setbacks and 
screening that promote a positive urban image, quality development and enhanced 
property values.  It is also the intent of this article and the City of Grand Prairie to preserve 
existing trees whenever possible and discourage clear cutting of lots for development.  
Landscaping shall also be used to promote safety and foster a pedestrian environment as 
appropriate.  All landscaping shall have the characteristics of an organism, in the manner 
of a living plant. 

 
 
SECTION 2 - DEFINITIONS 
 
8.2.1. For the purpose of this article, the following definitions shall supersede all previous 

interpretations in the Unified Development Code. 
 

Agricultural Use: The use of land to produce plant or animal products, such as growing 
crops, raising and pasturing of livestock, or farming.  It does not include the processing of 
plant or animal products after harvesting or the production of timber or forest products. 
 
Air Gap:  A complete physical separation between the free flowing discharge end of a 
potable water supply pipeline and an open or non-pressure receiving vessel. 

 
Artificial Lot: Portion of a one acre or larger tract that contains the area to be developed 
as an individual project and that encompasses all improvements, including parking 
related to the project, or as further defined in Section 8.5.1.B. 

 
Atmospheric Vacuum Breaker:  An assembly containing an air inlet valve, a check seat, 
and an air inlet port.  The flow of water into the body causes the air inlet valve to close 
the air inlet port.  When the flow of water stops the air inlet valve falls and forms a check 
against back-siphonage.  At the same time, it opens the air inlet port allowing air to enter 
and satisfy the vacuum.  Also known as an Atmospheric Vacuum Breaker Back-Siphonage 
Prevention Assembly. 
 
Backflow Prevention:  The mechanical prevention of reverse flow, or back siphonage, of 
non-potable water from an irrigation system into the potable water source. 
 
Backflow Prevention Assembly:  Any assembly used to prevent backflow into a potable 
water system.  The type of assembly used is based on the existing or potential degree of 
health hazard and backflow condition. 
 
Buffer Yard: A buffer yard is a strip of land, together with a specified amount of planting, 
that  may be required between land uses to eliminate or minimize impact between the 
uses.  Only those structures used for buffering and/or screening purposes shall be located 

193

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-3 

within a buffer yard.  The buffer yard shall not include any paved area except for 
pedestrian sidewalks or vehicular drives that may intersect the buffer yard and which shall 
be the minimum width necessary to provide pedestrian or vehicular access.   
 
Building Area:  That portion of a building site exclusive of the required yard areas on 
which a structure or building improvements may be erected and including the actual 
structure, driveway, parking lot, pool and other construction as shown on a site plan. 
 
Building Pad:  The actual foundation area of a building and a reasonable area around the 
foundation necessary for construction and grade transitions. 
 
Clear Cutting:  The removal of all of the trees or a significant majority of the trees within 
an area of land. 
 
Completion of Irrigation System Installation:  When the landscape irrigation system has 
been installed, all minimum standards have been met, all tests have been performed, and 
the irrigator is satisfied that the system is operating correctly. 
 
Consulting: The act of providing advice, guidance, review or recommendations related to 
landscape irrigation systems or other professional services. 
 
Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED):  An urban design concept that 
emphasizes natural surveillance, territorial reinforcement, control of natural access and 
the use of design features that prohibit entry or access to targeted areas. 
 
Critical Root Zone (CRZ):  The area of undisturbed natural soil around a tree defined by a 
concentric circle with a radius equal to the distance from the trunk to the outermost 
portion of the  drip line (see Exhibit 3). 
 
Cross-Connection:  An actual or potential connection between a potable water source and 
an irrigation system that may contain contaminates or pollutants or any source of water 
that has been treated to a lesser degree in the treatment process. 
 

Cut/Fill:  Areas where the natural ground level has been excavated (cut) or fill brought in. 
 
Design:  The act of determining the various elements of a landscape irrigation system that 
will include, but not be limited to, elements such as collecting site specific information, 
defining the scope of the project, defining plant watering needs, selecting and laying out 
emission devices, locating system components, conducting hydraulics calculations, 
identifying any local regulatory requirements, or scheduling irrigation work at a site.  
Completion of the various components will result in an irrigation plan. 
 
Design Pressure:  The pressure that is required for an emission device to operate 
properly.  Design pressure is calculated by adding the operating pressure necessary at an 

194

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-4 

 

emission device to the total of all pressure losses accumulated from an emission device 
to the water source. 
 
Director:   The Development Review Committee, or his or her designated agent. 
 
Double Check Valve:  An assembly that is composed of two independently acting, 
approved check valves, including tightly closed resilient seated shutoff valves attached at 
each end of the assembly and fitted with properly located resilient seated test cocks.  Also 
known as a Double Check Valve Backflow Prevention Assembly. 
 
Drip Line:   A vertical line running through the outermost portion of the canopy of a tree 
and extending to the ground.  (see Exhibit 3) 
 
Electrified fence: A fence energized with an electrical current. 

Emission Device:  Any device that is contained within an irrigation system and that is used 
to apply water.  Common emission devices in an irrigation system include, but are not 
limited to, spray and rotary sprinkler heads, and drip irrigation emitters. 
 
Employed:  Engaged or hired to provide consulting services or perform any activity 
relating to the sale, design, installation, maintenance, alteration, repair, or service to a 
professional service such as irrigation systems.  A person is employed if that person is in 
an employer-employee relationship as defined by Internal Revenue Code, 26 United 
States Code Service, §3212(d) based on the behavioral control, financial control, and the 
type of relationship involved in performing employment related tasks. 
 
Gross Site Area:   Area used to calculate landscape requirements.  This area is calculated 
as follows: 
 

For Undeveloped Sites:   All areas of a site, except required buffer yards. 
  
For Developed Sites:  All areas of the expanded site, except required buffer yards 
and requirements of Section 8.3.1.2. 

 
Head-to-Head Spacing:  The spacing of spray or rotary heads equal to the manufacturer’s 
published radius of the head. 
 
Health Hazard:  A cross-connection or potential cross-connection with an irrigation 
system that involves any substance that may, if introduced into the potable water supply, 
cause death or illness, spread disease, or have a high probability of causing such effects. 
 
Hydraulics:  The science of dynamic and static water; the mathematical computation of 
determining pressure losses and pressure requirements of an irrigation system. 
 

195

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-5 

Inspector:  A licensed plumbing inspector, water district operator, other governmental 
entity, or irrigation inspector who inspects irrigation systems and performs other 
enforcement duties for a municipality or water district as an employee or as a contractor.   
 
Installer:   A person who actually connects an irrigation system to a private or public raw 
or potable water supply system or any water supply, who is licensed according to Title 30, 
Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 (relating to Occupational Licenses and 
Registrations). 
 
Irrigation Inspector:  A person who inspects irrigation systems and performs other 
enforcement duties for a municipality or water district as an employee or as a contractor 
and is required to be licensed under Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 
(relating to Occupational Licenses and Registrations). 
 
Irrigation Plan:  A scaled drawing of a landscape irrigation system, which lists required 
information, the scope of the project, and represents the changes made in the installation 
of the irrigation system. 
 
Irrigation Program:   Pursuant to House Bill (HB) 1656, HB 4, and Senate Bill (SB) 3,of the 
80th Legislative Session, the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ) adopted 
Rule #2007-027-344-CE, effective on January 1, 2009 Chapter 344 of the Texas 
Commission on Environmental Quality requires municipalities with a population of 20,000 
or more to adopt a landscape irrigation program. 
 
Irrigation Services:  Selling, designing, installing, maintaining, altering, repairing, 
servicing, permitting, providing consulting services regarding, or connecting an irrigation 
system to a water supply. 
 
Irrigation System:  An assembly of component parts that is permanently installed for the 
controlled distribution and conservation of water to irrigate any type of landscape 
vegetation in any location, and/or to reduce dust or control erosion.  This term does not 
include a system that is used on or by an agricultural operation as defined by Texas 
Agricultural Code, §251.002. 
 
Irrigation Technician:  A person who works under the supervision of a licensed irrigator 
to install, maintain, alter, repair, service or supervise installation of an irrigation system, 
including the connection of such system in or to a private or public, raw or potable water 
supply system or any water supply, and who is required to be licensed under Title 30, 
Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 (relating to Occupational Licenses and 
Registrations). 
 
Irrigation Zone:  A subdivision of an irrigation system with a matched precipitation rate 
based on plant material type (such as turf, shrubs, or trees), microclimate factors (such as 
sun/shade ratio), topographic features (such as slope) and soil conditions (such as sand, 
loam, clay, or combination) or for hydrological control. 
 

196

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-6 

 

Irrigator:  A person who sells, designs, offers consultations regarding, installs, maintains, 
alters, repairs, services or supervises the installation of an irrigation system, including the 
connection of such system to a private or public, raw or potable water supply system or 
to any water supply and who is required to be licensed under Title 30, Texas 
Administrative Code, Chapter 30 (relating to Occupational Licenses and Registrations). 
 
Irrigator-in-Charge:  The irrigator responsible for all irrigation work performed by an 
exempt business owner, including, but not limited to obtaining permits, developing 
design plans, supervising the work of other irrigators or irrigation technicians, and 
installing, selling, maintaining, altering, repairing, or servicing a landscape irrigation 
system. 
 
Landscape Irrigation:  The science of applying the necessary amount of water to promote 
or sustain healthy growth of plant material or turf. 
 
License:  An occupational license that is issued by the Texas Commission on 
Environmental Quality under Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30 to an 
individual that authorizes the individual to engage in an activity that is covered by Title 
30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 30. 
 
Mainline:  A pipe within an irrigation system that delivers water from the water source to 
the individual zone valves. 
 
Maintenance Checklist:  A document made available to the irrigation system’s owner or 
owner’s representative that contains information regarding the operation and 
maintenance of the irrigation system, including, but not limited to checking and repairing 
the irrigation system, setting the automatic controller, checking the rain or moisture 
sensor, cleaning filters, pruning grass and plants away from irrigation emitters, using and 
operating the irrigation system, the precipitation rates of each irrigation zone within the 
system, any water conservation measures currently in effect from the water purveyor, 
the name of the water purveyor, a suggested seasonal or monthly watering schedule 
based on current evapotranspiration data for the geographic region, and the minimum 
water requirements for the plant material in each zone based on the soil type and plant 
material where the system is installed. 
 
Major Maintenance, Alteration, Repair, or Service:  Any activity that involves opening to 
the atmosphere the irrigation main line at any point prior to the discharge side of any 
irrigation zone control valve.  This includes, but is not limited to, repairing or connecting 
into a main supply pipe, replacing a zone control valve, or repairing a zone control valve 
in a manner that opens the system to the atmosphere. 
 
Master Valve:  A remote control valve located after the backflow prevention device that 
controls the flow of water to the irrigation system mainline. 
 

197

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-7 

Matched Precipitation Rate:  The condition in which all sprinkler heads within an 
irrigation zone apply water at the same rate. 
 
Municipal/Public Domain Property:  Examples of this would include City Hall, City R.O.W., 
public parks, Corps of Engineers property, State of Texas R.O.W., library, fire stations, 
water tower sites or similar properties. 
 
New Development:  New development shall include any new construction on a vacant 
lot, or any new construction that expands or enlarges an existing lawful nonconforming 
use.  Any expansion or enlargement of a lawful nonconforming use shall upgrade 
landscaping and screening on the site to meet all applicable regulations of Article 8 of the 
Unified Development Code. 
 
New Installation:  With reference to irrigation systems, is an irrigation system installed at 
a location where one did not previously exist. 
 
Parkway:  The area of public right-of-way located between the curb or edge of pavement 
and the property line. 
 
Pass-Through Contract:  A written contract between a contractor or builder and a 
licensed service provider such as an irrigator or exempt business owner to perform part 
or all of a professional service such as the irrigation services relating to an irrigation 
system. 
 
Permeable Pavement:   A paving material that permits water penetration to a soil depth 
of 18 inches or more.  Permeable pavement may consist of nonporous surface materials 
poured or laid in sections not exceeding one square foot in area and collectively 
comprising less than two-thirds of the total surface area. 
 
Potable Water:  Water that is suitable for human consumption. 
 
Pressure Vacuum Breaker:  An assembly containing an independently operating internally 
loaded check valve and an independently operating loaded air inlet valve located on the 
discharge side of the check valve.  It is also known as a Pressure Vacuum Breaker Back-
siphonage Prevention Assembly. 
 
Protective Barrier:  Permanent fence or wall that restricts direct access to the energized 
portions of an electrified fence. Permanent shall mean not being able to be removed, 
lifted or relocated without the use of a tool or equipment. 

Protective Fencing:  Snow fencing, chain link fence, orange vinyl construction fencing or 
similar  fencing with a minimum four-foot approximate height. 
 
Reclaimed Water:  Domestic or municipal wastewater which has been treated to a quality 
suitable for beneficial use, such as landscape irrigation. 
 

198

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-8 

 

Records of Landscape Irrigation Activities:  The irrigation plans, contracts, warranty 
information, invoices, copies of permits, and other documents that relate to the 
installation, maintenance, alteration, repair, or service of a landscape irrigation system. 
 
Reduced Pressure Principle Backflow Prevention Assembly:  An assembly containing two 
independently acting approved check valves together with a hydraulically operating 
mechanically independent pressure differential relief valve located between the two 
check valves and below the first check valve. 
 
Replacement Tree:  A tree that is selected and planted in accordance with Section 8.6.2. 
 
Secure area: The area bounded by the electrified fence. 

Static Water Pressure:  The pressure of water when it is not moving. 
 
Stormwater Facilities:  Structures designed to manage stormwater runoff: storm water 
ponds and wetlands, bio-retention areas, infiltration trench and surface sand filters, 
enhanced swales and grass channels, filter strips and stream buffers, and green roofs. 
 
Supervision:  As applied to irrigation systems, means the on-the-job oversight and 
direction by a licensed irrigator who is fulfilling his or her professional responsibility to 
the client and/or employer in compliance with local or state requirements.  Also a licensed 
installer working under the direction of a licensed irrigator or, beginning January 1, 2009, 
an irrigation technician who is working under the direction of a licensed irrigator to install, 
maintain, alter, repair or service an irrigation system.  
 
Target Hardening:  The use of landscape features, such as planters, foliage, trees, CPTED 
fences, or artwork, to make a designated site impenetrable. 
 
Temporary Landscaping:  Stabilization of raw soil when seasonal conditions do not permit 
establishment of required landscaping.  Erosion control blankets/mats, mulch, straw 
anchoring, compost blankets, straw rolls, curlex blankets, straw erosion mats, spun 
bonded fabrics, may be  used to hold the soil in place.  During winter, temporary 
grass or turf (such as rye, fescue, etc.) may be planted until the required permanent turf 
is installed.  
 
Territorial Reinforcement:  The use of landscape plantings, pavement designs, gateway 
treatments and CPTED fences to define property lines and distinguish private spaces from 
public spaces. 
 
Tree:  Any self-supporting woody perennial plant which will attain a trunk diameter of 
three inches or more when measured at a point four and one-half feet above ground level 
and normally an overall height of at least 15 feet at maturity, usually with one main stem 
or trunk and many branches.  
 

199

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-9 

Tree, Specimen:  A tree, other than an understory tree, which has a diameter of six inches 
or greater measured four and one-half feet above the ground; and an understory tree 
that has a diameter of two inches or greater measured four and one-half feet above the 
ground.  The diameter of a multi-trunk tree shall be determined by adding the total 
diameter of the largest trunk to one-half the diameter of each additional trunk. 
  
Tree, Street:  Trees, on land lying between property lines on either side of all streets, 
avenues, or ways within the City. 
  
Tree, Understory:  A tree that has significant positive characteristics worthy of 
preservation and that does not typically attain great size. 
 
Water Conservation:  The design, installation, service, and operation of an irrigation 
system in a manner that prevents the waste of water, promotes the most efficient use of 
water, and applies the least amount of water that is required to maintain healthy 
individual plant material or turf, reduce dust, and control erosion. 
 
Xeriscape:  Landscaping characterized by the use of vegetation that is drought-tolerant 
or a low water use in character and that sets landscape maintenance principles that 
promote good horticultural practices and efficient use of water.  
 
Zone Flow:  A measurement, in gallons per minute or gallons per hour, of the actual flow 
of water through a zone valve in an irrigation system, calculated by individually opening 
each zone valve and obtaining a valid reading after the pressure has stabilized.  For design 
purposes, the zone flow is the total flow of all nozzles in the zone at a specific pressure. 
 
Zone Valve:  An automatic valve that controls a single zone of a landscape irrigation 
system. 

 

 

SECTION 3 - APPLICABILITY 
 
8.3.1. The provisions of this Article apply to all development within the corporate limits of the 

City, subject to the exemptions in Section 8.3.1.5.B.  Existing landscaping and screening 
that was lawfully in place on or before December 1, 2006, but which does not conform 
to amended regulations of this revised article shall be lawful non-conforming in regards 
to landscaping and screening requirements.   

 
8.3.1.1. Residential Landscaping 

 
A. Construction of new structures for which a building permit is required 

except construction or expansion of one-family and two-family dwellings.  
Landscape requirements do not apply to structures that do not create or 
expand building square footage or to temporary structures such as job 
shacks associated with construction activities.  

 

200

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-10 

 

B. Single-family detached, single-family attached and single-family townhome 
residential uses shall conform to the requirements prescribed in this 
section. 

 
C. Residential developers and property owners may select a native/adaptive 

vegetation, traditional vegetation or combination landscaping option at 
the time of development.  Non-potable and/or grey water may be used in 
a landscaping plan designed by a licensed landscape architect using a drip 
irrigation (zoned) system with separate flows for turf and plant areas.  
Controls shall be weather-based with moisture, wind, and freeze sensors.  
The underground irrigation system shall be a minimum of 12 inches below 
grade level and designed by a licensed professional Irrigator, a registered 
Landscape Architect, Architect, or Engineer.  (refer to Article 8751; Texas 
Revised Civil Statutes and the Texas Board of Irrigators)  

 
D. Where possible single-family neighborhoods adjacent residential 

development will be buffered through the use of landscaping, berms, 
fences, walls or open space to mitigate adverse effects. 

 
E. Residential lots with front or side yards adjoining a designated collector or 

arterial thoroughfare shall have a rain, wind, and freeze sensor installed 
with every new irrigation system. 

 
8.3.1.2. Non-Residential Landscaping 

 
A. A minimum of 75% of all required landscape areas shall be located in the 

front yard between the building line and the front property line.  For lots 
with multiple street frontages, a minimum of 75% of all required landscape 
areas shall be located in the yards abutting the street with the greatest 
pavement width, unless the Development Review Committee approves a 
modification to this requirement.  When an artificial lot or a building 
expansion is separated from a property abutting a street frontage, the 
required landscape areas may be located anywhere on the site subject to 
this section. 

 
B. Expansion of structures used for non-residential uses that increase the 

footprint of existing structures by less than 30%, and that add less than 
3,000 square feet to existing structures are not subject to additional 
landscaping requirements.  

 
C. Expansions that exceed either the 30% or the 3,000 square foot criteria are 

subject to the landscape requirements stipulated in this Article. 
 

201

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-11 

D. Parking lot construction and or expansion by more than 30% of the parking 
area will be required to meet the same landscaping standards as the district 
in which they are located or the use associated with the parking.  

 
E. All landscape materials shall be installed prior to the issuance of a 

certificate of occupancy.  Upon completion of installation of all plant 
materials, the owner or agent shall notify the Department of Planning and 
Development of the completion of the installation and shall request an 
inspection.  Verification by the Building Inspection Division of the 
installation being in compliance with this article and/or the approved 
landscape plan shall be required prior to obtaining a certificate of 
occupancy unless otherwise authorized.  

 
F. Modification of Landscape Requirements: The Development Review 

Committee or their designee may approve minor changes of this section 
due to unusual topographic constraints, sight restrictions, sitting 
requirements, preservation of existing stands of native trees or similar 
conditions.  These minor changes may vary the location of required 
landscape materials, but may not reduce the amount of required landscape 
area or the required amount of landscape materials.  The landscape plan 
shall be submitted and shall specify the modifications requested and 
present a justification for such modifications. 

 
8.3.1.3. Landscaping Adjacent to Public Right-of-Way 

 
A.  Street Trees:  Street trees shall be provided in all districts, excluding Single 

Family and Two Family Districts (except where indicated by this Section), 
and along designated arterials and collectors as identified on the 
Thoroughfare Plan.   

 
B. Visibility:  Trees shall not be planted within the visibility triangle areas of 

any street, valley and/or driveway intersections (subject to 
transportation’s current ordinance).  At the time of building permit review, 
the Director of Transportation or a designee may extend the visibility 
triangle areas adjacent to street, alley, and/or driveway intersections 
accessing or near a curvilinear street section in which sight easement and 
visibility demands are greater than for a straight street section.  All trees 
and landscaping must also comply with any sight easement restrictions 
established on the property. 

 
C. Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED):  The City will 

reduce the probability of crime by requiring lighting, maintaining sightlines, 
reducing fence height, and any other means deemed necessary by the 
Development Review Committee on a case-by-case basis. 

 

202

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-12 

 

D. Screening:   Landscaping, berms, fencing, walls, and open space will be the 
primary method for screening public spaces from private land uses. 

 
8.3.1.4. Revitalization of Older Developed Areas 

 
To revitalize an area, landscaping shall be provided that is compatible with the 
zoning district and urban design standards to which the area is being 
revitalized.  Landscaping shall also include environmental design elements for 
crime prevention. 

 
8.3.1.5. Exceptions, Exemptions and Appeals 

 
A. Exceptions 
 

1. An application for an exception to the landscaping and screening 
standards and the tree requirements for an existing developments 
may be granted by the Zoning Board of Adjustments and Appeals if 
one of the two following circumstances exist: 

 
a. The existing development does not have adequate 

permeable area to support the required landscaping. 
 
b. The existing on-site landscaping, and/or the proposed 

landscaping meets the intent of the City's landscaping 
requirements. 

 
B. Exemptions.  The following situations are not subject to the landscaping 

and screening requirements stipulated in this Article: 
 

1. Expansion of existing one-family and two-family dwellings; 
 
2. Structures that do not create or expand building square footage or 

to temporary structures such as job shacks associated with 
construction activities. 

 
3. Expansion of structures used for non-residential uses that increase 

the footprint of existing structures by less than 30%, or that add 
less than 3,000 square feet to existing structures.  Expansions that 
exceed either the 30% or the 3,000 square foot criteria are subject 
to these landscape requirements. 

 
4. Change in use of an existing structure, unless the structure is 

expanded in accordance with Section 8.3.1.5.C. 
 

203

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-13 

5. Except as stated elsewhere, all properties zoned for single-family, 
single-family attached and single-family townhome uses in which a 
preliminary or final plat has been approved before June 1, 2006 
shall be exempt from the requirements of Article 8.  This exemption 
does not apply to schools, churches or government facilities on 
residentially zoned properties. 

 
6. Stormwater Facilities:  Structures designed to manage stormwater 

runoff (e.g. storm water ponds and wetlands, bio-retention areas, 
infiltration trench and surface sand filters, enhanced swales and 
grass channels, filter strips and stream buffers, and green roofs).  
Stormwater facilities will be landscaped as outlined in Article 17 of 
the iSWM Design Manual for Site Development (see current 
version of Drainage Design Manual). 

 
C. Appeals 

 
1. A hearing before the Planning and Zoning Commission shall be set 

for the next meeting following the filing of an appeal by the 
applicant with the Director. 

 
2. The City Council shall hear all appeals of decisions made by the 

Planning and Zoning Commission.  All decisions of the Council in 
this regard shall be final. 

 
3. The Planning Director shall have the discretion to modify 

landscaping requirements in the CPTED area(s) to promote natural 
access control and surveillance, territorial reinforcement and 
target hardening. 

 
 
SECTION 4 – LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION PROGRAM 
 
8.4.1. The provisions of this article are to be in compliance with TCEQ Landscape Irrigation Rule 

2007-027-344-CE, effective January 1, 2009, as established by the 80th Legislative Session 
in consultation with the Irrigator Advisory Council.  The rule sets standards for irrigation 
system design, installation, operation, water conservation, and duties and 
responsibilities of licensed irrigators and irrigator inspectors.  It also exempts certain 
irrigation systems from permitting requirements. 

 
8.4.1.1. Valid license required:   

 
Any person who connects an irrigation system to the water supply within the 
city or the city’s extraterritorial jurisdiction, commonly referred to as the ETJ, 
must hold a valid license, as defined by Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, 
Chapter 30 and required by Chapter 1903 of the Texas Occupations Code, or 

204

Item 30.

http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=553


ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-14 

 

as defined by Chapter 365, Title 22 of the Texas Administrative Code and 
required by Chapter 1301 of the Texas Occupations Code. 

 
8.4.1.2. Exemptions:   

 
A property owner is not required to be licensed in accordance with Texas 
Occupations Code, Title 12, §1903.002C(1) if he or she is performing irrigation 
work in a building or on a premises owned or occupied by the person as the 
person’s home.  A home or property owner who installs an irrigation system 
must meet the standards contained in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, 
Chapter 344 regarding spacing, water pressure, spraying water over 
impervious materials, rain or moisture shut-off devices or other technology, 
backflow prevention and isolation valves.   

 
8.4.1.3. Permit Required:  

 
Any person installing an irrigation system within the territorial limits or 
extraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ) of the city is required to obtain a permit from 
the Planning and Development Department of the City of Grand Prairie.  Any 
plan approved for a permit must be in compliance with the requirements of 
this article of the Unified Development Code. 

 
Exemptions: 

 
1. An irrigation system that is of an on-site sewage disposal system, 

as defined by Section 355.002, Health and Safety Code; or 
 
2. An irrigation system used on or by an agricultural operation as 

defined by Section 251.002, Agriculture Code; or 
 

3. An irrigation system connected to a groundwater well used by the 
property owner for domestic use. 

 
8.4.1.4. Backflow Prevention Methods and Devices 
 

A.  Any irrigation system that is connected to the potable water supply must be 
connected through a backflow prevention method approved by the Texas 
Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ).  The backflow prevention device 
must be approved by the American Society of Sanitary Engineers; or the 
Foundation for Cross-Connection Control and Hydraulic Research, University of 
Southern California; or the Uniform Plumbing Code; or any other laboratory that 
has equivalent capabilities for both the laboratory and field evaluation of 
backflow prevention assemblies.  The backflow prevention device must be 
installed in accordance with the laboratory approval standards or if the approval 
does not include specific installation information, the manufacturer's current 
published recommendations.  

205

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-15 

 
B. If conditions that present a health hazard exist, one of the following methods must 

be used to prevent backflow;  
 

1. An air gap may be used if:  
a. There is an unobstructed physical separation; and 
b. The distance from the lowest point of the water supply outlet to the 

flood rim of the fixture or assembly into which the outlet discharges 
is at least one inch or twice the diameter of the water supply outlet, 
whichever is greater. 

 

2. Reduced pressure principle backflow prevention assemblies may be 
used if:  
a. The device is installed at a minimum of 12 inches above ground in a 

location that will ensure that the assembly will not be submerged; 
and  

b. Drainage is provided for any water that may be discharged through 
the assembly relief valve. 

  

3. Pressure vacuum breakers may be used if:  
a. No back-pressure condition will occur; and  
b. The device is installed at a minimum of 12 inches above any 

downstream piping and the highest downstream opening. Pop-up 
sprinklers are measured from the retracted position from the top of 
the sprinkler. 

 

4. Atmospheric vacuum breakers may be used if:  
a. No back-pressure will be present;  
b. There are no shutoff valves downstream from the atmospheric 

vacuum breaker;  
c. The device is installed at a minimum of six inches above any 

downstream piping and the highest downstream opening.  Pop-up 
sprinklers are measured from the retracted position from the top of 
the sprinkler;  

d. There is no continuous pressure on the supply side of the 
atmospheric vacuum breaker for more than 12 hours in any 24-hour 
period; and  

e. A separate atmospheric vacuum breaker is installed on the discharge 
side of each irrigation control valve, between the valve and all the 
emission devices that the valve controls.  

 
C. Backflow prevention devices used in applications designated as health hazards 

must be tested upon installation and annually thereafter.  

 
[If the city chooses to permit the use of double check valves:] 

 
D. If there are no conditions that present a health hazard, double check valve 

backflow prevention assemblies may be used to prevent backflow if the device is 
tested upon installation and test cocks are used for testing only. 

206

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-16 

 

 
E. If a double check valve is installed below ground:  

 

1. Test cocks must be plugged, except when the double check valve is 
being tested;  

 
2. Test cock plugs must be threaded, water-tight, and made of non-ferrous 

material;  
 

3. A y-type strainer is installed on the inlet side of the double check valve;  
 

4. There must be a clearance between any fill material and the bottom of 
the double check valve to allow space for testing and repair; and  

 
5. There must be space on the side of the double check valve to test and 

repair the double check valve.  

 
F. If an existing irrigation system without a backflow-prevention assembly requires 

maintenance, alteration, repair, or service, the system must be connected to the 
potable water supply through an approved, properly installed backflow 
prevention method before any major maintenance, alteration, repair, or service 
is performed.  

 

G. If an irrigation system is connected to a potable water supply through a 
double check valve, pressure vacuum breaker, or reduced pressure 
principle backflow assembly and includes an automatic master valve on the 
system, the automatic master valve must be installed on the discharge side 
of the backflow prevention assembly. 

 
H. The irrigator shall ensure the backflow prevention device is tested by a 

licensed Backflow Prevention Assembly Tester prior to being placed in 
service and the test results provided to the local water purveyor and the 
irrigation system's owner or owner's representative within ten business 
days of testing of the backflow prevention device. 

 
8.4.1.5. Specific Conditions and Cross-Connection Control 

 
A. Before any chemical is added to an irrigation system connected to the potable 

water supply, the irrigation system must be connected through a reduced 
pressure principle backflow prevention assembly or air gap.  

 
B. Connection of any additional water source to an irrigation system that is 

connected to the potable water supply can only be done if the irrigation system is 
connected to the potable water supply through a reduced-pressure principle 
backflow prevention assembly or an air gap.  

 

207

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-17 

C. Irrigation system components with chemical additives induced by aspiration, 
injection, or emission system connected to any potable water supply must be 
connected through a reduced pressure principle backflow device.  

 

D. If an irrigation system is designed or installed on a property that is served by an 
on-site sewage facility, as defined in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Chapter 
285, then:  

 
1. All irrigation piping and valves must meet the separation distances from 

the On-Site Sewage Facilities system as required for a private water line 
in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Section 285.91(10);  

 
2. Any connections using a private or public potable water source that is not 

the city’s potable water system must be connected to the water source 
through a reduced pressure principle backflow prevention assembly as 
defined in Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Section 344.50; and  

 
3. Any water from the irrigation system that is applied to the surface of the 

area utilized by the On-Site Sewage Facility system must be controlled on 
a separate irrigation zone or zones so as to allow complete control of any 
irrigation to that area so that there will not be excess water that would 
prevent the On-Site Sewage Facilities system from operating effectively.  

 
8.4.1.6. Water Conservation 

 
All irrigation systems shall be designed, installed, maintained, altered, 
repaired, serviced, and operated in a manner that will promote water 
conservation as defined in the Definitions section of this ordinance. 

 
8.4.1.7. Irrigation Plan Design:  Minimum Standards 

 
A. An irrigator shall prepare an irrigation plan for each site where a new irrigation 

system will be installed.  A paper or electronic copy of the irrigation plan must be 
on the job site at all times during the installation of the irrigation system.  A 
drawing showing the actual installation of the system is due to each irrigation 
system owner after all new irrigation system installations.  During the installation 
of the irrigation system, variances from the original plan may be authorized by the 
licensed irrigator if the variance from the plan does not: 

 

1. Diminish the operational integrity of the irrigation system; 
 
2. Violate any requirements of this ordinance; and 

 
3. Go unnoted in red on the irrigation plan. 

 
B. The irrigation plan must include complete coverage of the area to be irrigated.  If 

a system does not provide complete coverage of the area to be irrigated, it must 
be noted on the irrigation plan.  

208

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-18 

 

 
C. All irrigation plans used for construction must be drawn to scale.  The plan 

must include, at a minimum, the following information: 
 

1. The irrigator's seal, signature, and date of signing; 
 
2. All major physical features and the boundaries of the areas to be 

watered; 
 

3. A North arrow; 
 

4. A legend; 
 

5. The zone flow measurement for each zone; 
 

6. Location and type of each: 
a. Controller; and 
b. Sensor (for example, but not limited to, rain, moisture, wind, 

flow, or freeze); 
 

7. Location, type, and size of each: 
a. Water source, such as, but not limited to a water meter and 

point(s) of connection; 
b. Backflow prevention device; 
c. Water emission device, including, but not limited to, spray 

heads, rotary sprinkler heads, quick-couplers, bubblers, drip, or 
micro-sprays; 

d. Valve, including but not limited to, zone valves, master valves, 
and isolation valves; 

e. Pressure regulation component; and 
f. Main line and lateral piping; 

   
8. The scale used; and 
 
9. The design pressure. 

 
8.4.1.8. Design and Installation:  Minimum Requirements 

 
A. No irrigation design or installation shall require the use of any component, 

including the water meter, in a way, which exceeds the manufacturer's published 
performance limitations for the component. 

 
B. Spacing 

 

209

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-19 

1. The maximum spacing between emission devices must not exceed 
the manufacturer's published radius or spacing of the device(s).  
The radius or spacing is determined by referring to the 
manufacturer's published specifications for a specific emission 
device at a specific operating pressure. 

 
2. New irrigation systems shall not utilize aboveground spray 

emission devices in landscapes that are less than 48 inches not 
including the impervious surfaces in either length or width and 
which contain impervious pedestrian or vehicular traffic surfaces 
along two or more perimeters.  If pop-up sprays or rotary sprinkler 
heads are used in a new irrigation system, the sprinkler heads must 
direct flow away from any adjacent surface and shall not be 
installed closer than four inches from a hardscape, such as, but not 
limited to, a building foundation, fence, concrete, asphalt, pavers, 
or stones set with mortar. 

 
3. Narrow paved walkways, jogging paths, golf cart paths or other 

small areas located in cemeteries, parks, golf courses or other 
public areas may be exempted from this requirement if the runoff 
drains into a landscaped area. 

 
C. Water pressure   

 
Emission devices must be installed to operate at the minimum and not above the 
maximum sprinkler head pressure as published by the manufacturer for the 
nozzle and head spacing that is used.  Methods to achieve the water pressure 
requirements include, but are not limited to, flow control valves, a pressure 
regulator, or pressure compensating spray heads. 

 
D. Piping   

 
Piping in irrigation systems must be designed and installed so that the flow 
of water in the pipe will not exceed a velocity of five feet per second for 
polyvinyl chloride (PVC) pipe. 

 
E. Irrigation Zones   

 
Irrigation systems shall have separate zones based on plant material type, 
microclimate factors, topographic features, soil conditions, and 
hydrological requirements. 

 
F. Matched precipitation rate   

 
Zones must be designed and installed so that all of the emission devices in 
that zone irrigate at the same precipitation rate. 

210

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-20 

 

 
G. Irrigation systems shall not spray water over surfaces made of concrete, 

asphalt, brick, wood, stones set with mortar, or any other impervious 
material, such as, but not limited to, walls, fences, sidewalks, streets, etc. 

 
 

H. Master valve   
 
When provided, a master valve shall be installed on the discharge side of 
the backflow prevention device on all new installations. 

 
I. PVC pipe primer solvent  

 
All new irrigation systems that are installed using PVC pipe and fittings shall 
be primed with a colored primer prior to applying the PVC cement in 
accordance with the Uniform Plumbing Code (Section 316) or the 
International Plumbing Code (Section 605). 

 
J. Rain or moisture shut-off devices or other technology   

 
All new automatically controlled irrigation systems must include sensors or 
other technology designed to inhibit or interrupt operation of the irrigation 
system during periods of moisture or rainfall.  Rain or moisture shut-off 
technology must be installed according to the manufacturer's published 
recommendations.  Repairs to existing automatic irrigation systems that 
require replacement of an existing controller must include a sensor or 
other technology designed to inhibit or interrupt operation of the irrigation 
system during periods of moisture or rainfall. 

 
K. Isolation valve 

 
All new irrigation systems must include an isolation valve between the 
water meter and the backflow prevention device. 

 
L. Depth coverage of piping  

 
Piping in all irrigation systems must be installed according to the 
manufacturer's published specifications for depth coverage of piping. 

 
1. If the manufacturer has not published specifications for depth 

coverage of piping, the piping must be installed to provide 
minimum depth coverage of six inches of select backfill, between 
the top of the pipe and the natural grade of the topsoil.  All portions 
of the irrigation system that fail to meet this standard must be 
noted on the irrigation plan.  If the area being irrigated has rock at 

211

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-21 

a depth of six inches or less, select backfill may be mounded over 
the pipe.  Mounding must be noted on the irrigation plan and 
discussed with the irrigation system owner or owner's 
representative to address any safety issues. 

 
2. If a utility, man-made structure or roots create an unavoidable 

obstacle, which makes the six-inch depth coverage requirement 
impractical, the piping shall be installed to provide a minimum of 
two inches of select backfill between the top of the pipe and the 
natural grade of the topsoil. 

 
3. All trenches and holes created during installation of an irrigation 

system must be backfilled and compacted to the original grade. 
 

M. Wiring irrigation systems 
 
1. Underground electrical wiring used to connect an automatic 

controller to any electrical component of the irrigation system 
must be listed by Underwriters Laboratories as acceptable for 
burial underground. 

 
2. Electrical wiring that connects any electrical components of an 

irrigation system must be sized according to the manufacturer's 
recommendation. 

 
3. Electrical wire splices which may be exposed to moisture must be 

waterproof as certified by the wire splice manufacturer. 
 

4. Underground electrical wiring that connects an automatic 
controller to any electrical component of the irrigation system 
must be buried with a minimum of six inches of select backfill. 

 
N. Water contained within the piping of an irrigation system is deemed to be 

non-potable.  No drinking or domestic water usage, such as, but not limited 
to, filling swimming pools or decorative fountains, shall be connected to an 
irrigation system.  If a hose bib (an outdoor water faucet that has hose 
threads on the spout) is connected to an irrigation system for the purpose 
of providing supplemental water to an area, the hose bib must be installed 
using a quick coupler key on a quick coupler installed in a covered purple 
valve box and the hose bib and any hoses connected to the bib must be 
labeled “non potable, not safe for drinking.”  An isolation valve must be 
installed upstream of a quick coupler connecting a hose bib to an irrigation 
system. 

 
O. Beginning January 1, 2010, either a licensed irrigator or a licensed irrigation 

technician shall be on-site at all times while the landscape irrigation system 

212

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-22 

 

is being installed.  When an irrigator is not onsite, the irrigator shall be 
responsible for ensuring that a licensed irrigation technician is on-site to 
supervise the installation of the irrigation system. 

 
8.4.1.9. Completion of Irrigation System Installation 

 
Upon completion of the irrigation system, the irrigator or irrigation technician 
who provided supervision for the on-site installation shall be required to 
complete four items: 

 
A. A final “walk through” with the irrigation system's owner or the owner's 

representative to explain the operation of the system; 
 
B. The maintenance checklist on which the irrigator or irrigation technician 

shall obtain the signature of the irrigation system's owner or owner's 
representative, date, and seal the checklist.  If the irrigation system's owner 
or owner's representative is unwilling or unable to sign the maintenance 
checklist, the irrigator shall note the time and date of the refusal on the 
irrigation system's owner or owner's representative's signature line.  The 
irrigation system owner or owner's representative will be given the original 
maintenance checklist and a duplicate copy of the maintenance checklist 
shall be maintained by the irrigator.  The items on the maintenance 
checklist shall include but are not limited to: 

 
1. The manufacturer's manual for the automatic controller, if the 

system is automatic; 
 
2. A seasonal (spring, summer, fall, winter) watering schedule based 

on either current/real time evapotranspiration or monthly 
historical reference evapotranspiration (historical ET) data, 
monthly effective rainfall estimates, plant landscape coefficient 
factors, and site factors; 

 
3. A list of components, such as the nozzle, or pump filters, and other 

such components; that require maintenance and the 
recommended frequency for the service; and 

 
4. The statement, “This irrigation system has been installed in 

accordance with all applicable state and local laws, ordinances, 
rules, regulations or orders.  I have tested the system and 
determined that it has been installed according to the Irrigation 
Plan and is properly adjusted for the most efficient application of 
water at this time.” 

 

213

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-23 

C. A permanent sticker which contains the irrigator's name, license number, 
company name, telephone number and the dates of the warranty period 
shall be affixed to each automatic controller installed by the irrigator or 
irrigation technician.  If the irrigation system is manual, the sticker shall be 
affixed to the original maintenance checklist.  The information contained 
on the sticker must be printed with waterproof ink, and include; 

 
D. The irrigation plan indicating the actual installation of the system must be 

provided to the irrigation system's owner or owner representative. 
 

8.4.1.10. Maintenance, Alteration, Repair, or Service of Irrigation Systems 
 

A. The licensed irrigator is responsible for all work that the irrigator 
performed during the maintenance, alteration, repair, or service of an 
irrigation system during the warranty period.  The irrigator or business 
owner is not responsible for the professional negligence of any other 
irrigator who subsequently conducts any irrigation service on the same 
irrigation system. 

 
B. All trenches and holes created during the maintenance, alteration, repair, 

or service of an irrigation system must be returned to the original grade 
with compacted select backfill. 

 
C. Colored PVC pipe primer solvent must be used on all pipes and fittings used 

in the maintenance, alteration, repair, or service of an irrigation system in 
accordance with the Uniform Plumbing Code (Section 316) or the 
International Plumbing Code (Section 605). 

 
D. When maintenance, alteration, repair or service of an irrigation system 

involves excavation work at the water meter or backflow prevention 
device, an isolation valve shall be installed, if an isolation valve is not 
present. 

 
8.4.1.11. Reclaimed Water  
 

Reclaimed water may be utilized in landscape irrigation systems if: 
 

1. There is no direct contact with edible crops, unless the crop is 
pasteurized before consumption; 

 
2. The irrigation system does not spray water across property lines 

that do not belong to the irrigation system's owner; 
 
3. The irrigation system is installed using purple components; 

 

214

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-24 

 

4. The domestic potable water line is connected using an air gap or a 
reduced pressure principle backflow prevention device, in 
accordance with Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Section 
290.47(i) (relating to Appendices); 

 
5. A minimum of an eight inch by eight inch sign, in English and 

Spanish, is prominently posted on/in the area that is being 
irrigated, that reads, “RECLAIMED WATER – DO NOT DRINK” and 
“AGUA DE RECUPERACIÓN – NO BEBER”; and  

 
6. Backflow prevention on the reclaimed water supply line shall be in 

accordance with the regulations of the city’s water provider. 
 

8.4.1.12. Advertisement Requirements 
 

A. All vehicles used in the performance of irrigation installation, maintenance, 
alteration, repair, or service must display the irrigator's license number in the 
form of “LI________” in a contrasting color of block letters at least two inches 
high, on both sides of the vehicle.  

 
B. All forms of written and electronic advertisements for irrigation services must 

display the irrigator's license number in the form of “LI___________.”  Any form 
of advertisement, including business cards, and estimates which displays an 
entity's or individual's name other than that of the licensed irrigator must also 
display the name of the licensed irrigator and the licensed irrigator's license 
number.  Trailers that advertise irrigation services must display the irrigator's 
license number.  

 
C. The name, mailing address, and telephone number of the commission must be 

prominently displayed on a legible sign and displayed in plain view for the purpose 
of addressing complaints at the permanent structure where irrigation business is 
primarily conducted and irrigation records are kept.  

 
8.4.1.13. Contracts 

 
A. All contracts to install an irrigation system must be in writing and signed by each 

party and must specify the irrigator's name, license number, business address, 
current business telephone numbers, the date that each party signed the 
agreement, the total agreed price, and must contain the statement, “Irrigation in 
Texas is regulated by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ), 
MC-178, P.O. Box 13087, Austin, Texas 78711-3087.  TCEQ's website is: 
www.tceq.state.tx.us.”  All contracts must include the irrigator's seal, signature, 
and date.  

 
B. All written estimates, proposals, bids, and invoices relating to the installation or 

repair of an irrigation system(s) must include the irrigator's name, license number, 
business address, current business telephone number(s), and the statement: 
“Irrigation in Texas is regulated by the Texas Commission On Environmental 

215

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-25 

Quality (TCEQ) (MC-178), P.O. Box 13087, Austin, Texas 78711-3087. TCEQ's web 
site is: www.tceq.state.tx.us.” 

 
C. An individual who agrees by contract to provide irrigation services as defined in 

Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, Section 344.30 (relating to License Required) 
shall hold an irrigator license issued under Title 30, Texas Administrative Code, 
Chapter 30 (relating to Occupational Licenses and Registrations) unless the 
contract is a pass-through contract as defined in Title 30, Texas Administrative 
Code, Section 344.1(36) (relating to Definitions).  If a pass-through contract 
includes irrigation services, then the irrigation portion of the contract can only be 
performed by a licensed irrigator.  If an irrigator installs a system pursuant to a 
pass-through contract, the irrigator shall still be responsible for providing the 
irrigation system's owner or through contract, the irrigator shall still be 
responsible for providing the irrigation system's owner or owner's representative 
a copy of the warranty and all other documents required under this chapter.  A 
pass-through contract must identify by name and license number the irrigator 
that will perform the work and must provide a mechanism for contacting the 
irrigator for irrigation system warranty work.  

 
D. The contract must include the dates that the warranty is valid.  

 
8.4.1.14. Warranties for Systems 

 
A. On all installations of new irrigation systems, an irrigator shall present the 

irrigation system's owner or owner's representative with a written warranty 
covering materials and labor furnished in the new installation of the irrigation 
system.  The irrigator shall be responsible for adhering to terms of the warranty.  
If the irrigator's warranty is less than the manufacturer's warranty for the system 
components, then the irrigator shall provide the irrigation system's owner or the 
owner's representative with applicable information regarding the manufacturer's 
warranty period.  The warranty must include the irrigator's seal, signature, and 
date.  If the warranty is part of an irrigator's contract, a separate warranty 
document is not required.  

 
B. An irrigator's written warranty on new irrigation systems must specify the 

irrigator's name, business address, and business telephone number(s), must 
contain the signature of the irrigation system's owner or owner's representative 
confirming receipt of the warranty and must include the statement: “Irrigation in 
Texas is regulated by the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ), 
MC-178, P.O. Box 130897, Austin, Texas 78711-3087.  TCEQ's website is: 
www.tceq.state.tx.us.” 

 
C. On all maintenance, alterations, repairs, or service to existing irrigation systems, 

an irrigator shall present the irrigation system's owner or owner's representative 
a written document that identifies the materials furnished in the maintenance, 
alteration, repair, or service.  If a warranty is provided, the irrigator shall abide by 
the terms.  The warranty document must include the irrigator's name and 
business contact information.  

 

216

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-26 

 

8.4.1.15. Duties and Responsibilities of City Irrigation Inspectors 
 

A licensed irrigation inspector shall enforce the ordinance of the city, and shall be 
responsible for: 

 
1. Verifying that the appropriate permits have been obtained for an 

irrigation system and that the irrigator and installer or irrigation 
technician, if applicable, are licensed; 

 
2. Inspecting the irrigation system; 

 
3. Determining that the irrigation system complies with the requirements 

of this chapter; 
 

4. Determining that the appropriate backflow prevention device was 
installed, tested, and test results provided to the city; 

 
5. Investigating complaints related to irrigation system installation, 

maintenance, alteration, repairs, or service of an irrigation system and 
advertisement of irrigation services; and 

 
6. Maintaining records according to this chapter. 

 
8.4.1.16. Items not covered by this ordinance 

 
Any item not covered by this ordinance and required by law shall be governed 
by the Texas Occupations Code, the Texas Water Code, Title 30 of the Texas 
Administrative Code, and any other applicable state statute or Texas 
Commission on Environmental Quality rule. 

 
8.4.1.17. Fees 

 
The city council may create a schedule of fees for obtaining and renewing an 
irrigation permit.  These fees will be in amounts sufficient to cover the city’s 
costs in issuing and renewing the permits, including, but not limited to, staff 
time and other overhead costs as stated in Article 22, “Fee Schedule,” of the 
Unified Development Code. 

 
8.4.1.18. Enforcement 

 
A. The city shall have the power to administer and enforce the provisions of this 

chapter as may be required by governing law.  Any person, firm, corporation or 
agent who shall violate a provision of this code, or fails to comply therewith, or 
with any of the requirements thereof, is subject to suit for injunctive relief as well 
as prosecution for criminal violations.  Any violation of the ordinance codified in 
this chapter is declared to be a nuisance. 

 

217

Item 30.

http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=549


ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-27 

B. Any person violating any provision of chapter shall, upon conviction, be 
fined a sum not exceeding $2000.00.  Each day that a provision of this 
chapter is violated shall constitute a separate offense.  An offense under 
this chapter is a Class C misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of up to 
$2000.00.  

 
C. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed as a waiver of the city’s right to 

bring a civil action to enforce the provisions of this chapter and to seek 
remedies as allowed by law, including, but  not limited to the following: 

 
1. Injunctive relief to prevent specific conduct that violates the ordinance 

or to require specific conduct that is necessary for compliance with the 
ordinance; and 

 
2. Other available relief. 

 
 
SECTION 5 – LANDSCAPE ENHANCEMENTS 
 
8.5.1. A landscape plan that complies with the provisions of this article and stipulates whether 

native/adaptive (or combination) landscaping will be used shall be submitted to the 
Building Official prior to the issuance of a building permit for any development for which 
building permits are required and to which this article applies.  The landscape plan will 
be one component of the Site Plan and will be certified by a certified landscape architect.  
It is recommended that developers also develop a general outdoor annual water budget 
as a guideline for irrigation design and long-term landscape management.  (see National 
Association of Home Builders Model Green Home Building Guidelines, December 13, 
2004)   

    
A. Irrigation requirements may also be met/supplemented by the harvesting 

of rainwater using an approved rainwater collection system. 
 
B. Artificial Lot: If a developer wishes to develop a portion of a one-acre or 

larger tract, the developer may request that the Development Review 
Committee delineate the portion of the tract to be developed as an 
artificial lot, for purposes of calculating landscape requirements for the 
development.  Artificial lots may be delineated in any type of development, 
including schools and churches.  All artificial lots shall meet the following 
requirements: 

 
1. Contain the entire area on which the development is to occur, 

including all paved areas; and 
 
2. Contain a land area of less than 50% of the entire tract, or, if the 

proposed artificial lot contains more than 50% of the entire tract, 
the Development Review Committee must determine that a 

218

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-28 

 

substantial amount of the tract is not affected by the proposed 
development; and 

 
3. Be delineated on the landscape plan. 

 
C. Vehicle Protection:  All required landscape areas, planters, walls, and/or 

fences adjacent to vehicle use areas shall be protected by wheel stops, 
curbs, or other physical barriers (see Figure 1). 

 
Figure 1: Vehicle Protection 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

               
D. The Development Review Committee, upon receipt of a landscape plan 

may approve types of landscaping, other than those listed in Exhibit 5. 
 
E. In no case shall man-made landscape plant material be submitted for the 

required landscape vegetation. 
 

F. Due to seasonal considerations, if the developer cannot establish 
permanent turf, they shall be required to stabilize the landscape areas to 
prevent erosion with temporary grasses or turf (rye, fescue, etc.), until 
permanent landscaping is installed as stated in Section 8.5.1. 

 
8.5.2. Landscaping Required by Zoning Districts:  Construction projects subject to this section 

shall provide landscape areas from 4% to 15% of the total site plan as specified by the 
Concept Plan, Planned Development and/or Site Plan.  (See Chart A below) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

219

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-29 

Chart A: Landscape Requirement by Zoning District 

 
Zoning District Landscaping Percentage 

Neighborhood Services (NS) 10% 

Office (O) 10% 

General Retail (GR) 5% 

General Retail-One (GR-1) 10% 

Commercial (C) 5% 

Commercial-One (C-1) 10% 

Central Area (CA) & CBD1 5% 

Heavy Commercial (HC)2 10% 

Light Industrial (LI) 2 10% 

Heavy Industrial (HI) 2 10% 

Hospital District (HC) 10% 

Institutional Uses 
10% in Single Family (SF) and Two Family (2F) Districts; Same 

% of the Zoning District in the Non-Residential Districts 

Multi-Family-One (MF-1)3 15% 

Multi-Family-Two (MF-2) 3 15% 

Multi-Family-Three (MF-3) 3 15% 

Planned Development (PD) [Use Closest Related Zoning District] 

Agricultural (A)4 4% 
 

Notes: 
 

1. Percentage of undeveloped area. 
2. See Appendix X. 
3. Where not being used for agricultural purposes. 
4. Institutional Uses are considered to be Churches, Schools, and Governmental Facilities. 

 
 
SECTION 6 – LANDSCAPING FOR RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 
 
8.6.1. Landscaping requirements for single-family detached, single family attached, and single-

family townhome residential uses. 
 

A. Each residence at the time of occupancy shall have the following minimum 
landscaping: 

  
1. Tree planting requirement. 

 
a. For lots containing 5,000 square feet or less: One three-inch caliper tree 

planted in front of each residence.  Tree species shall be in accordance with 
the City of Grand Prairie approved tree list (See Exhibit 5).  Large and 
medium trees may NOT be planted beneath utility lines. 

 
b. For lots greater than 5,000 square feet in area: One three-inch caliper tree 

shall be planted in front of each house with a second three-inch caliper tree 
to be located per Developer/Owner preference.  Tree species shall be in 

220

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-30 

 

accordance with the City of Grand Prairie approved tree list (See Exhibit 5).  
Large and medium trees may NOT be planted beneath utility lines. 

 
2. Front yard shrubs shall be provided for each residence in any size increment 

totaling a minimum of 30-gallons per residential lot.  Shrub species to be in 
accordance with the City of Grand Prairie approved shrub list (see Exhibit 5). 

 
3. Residential lots may contain up to 40% of landscape area in groundcover.  

 
B. The Developer/Owner shall receive credit towards the single-family residential tree 

planting requirement for utilizing existing trees in accordance with criteria 
prescribed in Section 8.7.2.2 paragraphs (a) through (h), except that existing trees 
that die shall be replaced if the remaining trees are less that the amounts prescribed 
in Section 8.7.2.1. 

 
C. City staff shall administratively approve building setback variances for the purpose of 

preserving existing trees.   
 
8.6.2. Landscaping requirements for Multi-Family Landscaping  
 

The minimum amount of required landscaping shall include 15% of the total site plan 
area as specified by the Concept Plan, Planned Development and/or Site Plan. 

 
 
SECTION 7 – SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
8.7.1 Submittals and Requirements. 
 

Landscaping shall consist of two or more of the following types of planting materials 
including but not limited to planted grass, trees, shrubs, ground cover (up to 40% of 
landscape area), and/or other forms of plant material and may include the use of berms.  
The use of native or adapted plant material is encouraged to reduce irrigation 
requirements. 

 
A. A landscape plan submission must consist of two copies of blue line or black line 

prints.  The plan shall be drawn at a scale of 1-inch equals 50 feet or larger (e.g., 1 
inch equals 40 feet, 1 inch equals 30 feet, etc.) and be on a standard drawing sheet 
of a size not to exceed 24 inches by 36 inches.  A plan, which cannot be drawn in its 
entirety on a 24 inches by 36 inches sheet, must be drawn with appropriate match 
lines on two or more sheets.   

 
B. The following information shall ALSO be shown on the required landscape plan: 

 
1. Date, scale, north point, and the names, addresses and telephone numbers of 

both the property owner and the person preparing the plan;  

221

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-31 

 
2. Location of existing boundary lines and dimensions of the lot;  
 
3. Approximate centerlines of existing water courses, the location of the floodway 

and floodplain, and the location of existing and proposed streets and alleys, utility 
easements, driveways, and sidewalks on or adjacent to the lot;  

 
4. Project name, street address, and lot and block description;  
 
5. Calculation of gross site area showing all existing and proposed structures, parking 

and access, other paved areas, and all required buffer yard areas;  
 
6. Calculation of required landscape area and percentages of ground cover and turf;  
 
7. Location and dimensions of areas to be landscaped and total amount of 

landscaped area;  
 
8. Location, number, species and planting size of all trees, shrubs; 
 
9. Groundcover including both required and actual materials provided;  
 
10. Location and coverage of required irrigation system per Section 8.4.1; 
 
11. Delineation of artificial lot, if applicable, including depiction of all proposed and 

existing structures, access drives, appurtenant parking and other paved areas 
proposed for expansion or new construction; and 

 
12. The location of overhead utility lines. 
 
13. Any additional requirements as promulgated by the Director. 

 
8.7.2 Planting Materials. 
 

8.7.2.1 Trees   
 

All new trees required to meet the landscaping requirement shall be a 
minimum three-inch caliper measured at a height of 6 inches above the 
ground.  If a trunk tree splits into multiple trunks below the 6-inch level, then 
the multiple trunk trees are measured:  
 
1. Measure largest trunk circumference; 
2. Remaining trunks, measure circumference divided by two;  
 
Sum of (1) and (2) for the total circumference, divide total by 3.14 for caliper.   
 

222

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-32 

 

For every 500 square feet of required landscape area, or fraction thereof, of 
required landscape area, one tree of three-inch caliper or larger is required.  
Trees shall be located on the site in the following sequence:   
 
1. Street trees shall be planted a minimum of 25 linear feet apart and a 

maximum of 50 linear feet apart along collectors and arterials (the Director 
of Planning or his designee can permit the clustering of street trees); 

2. Parking lot trees shall be located in the parking area (one tree for each 20 
parking spaces);  

3. The remaining required trees may be located throughout the site.  Street 
trees and parking lot trees are included in the total tree requirements and 
are not in addition to that requirement.   

 
Trees may NOT be planted beneath utility lines.   
 
Up to 50% of the required number of parking lot trees may be replaced by five-
gallon shrubs at the rate of one-tree equals ten (10) shrubs.  Shrubs cannot be 
substituted for street trees. 
 
Existing trees of three-inch caliper (measured at a height of 4.6 feet above the 
ground) or larger may be substituted for required landscaping trees of equal 
size.  (see Exhibit 6 for planting detail). 

 
8.7.3 Tree Credits. 
 

A. Existing trees may be used to fulfill tree-planting requirements pertaining to 
screening and landscaping if such trees are in a healthy and growing condition.  When 
existing trees are used to fulfill screening and landscape requirements, their locations 
shall be accepted, and the formal spacing requirements of the screening and 
landscape standards may be waived. Protected Tree species can be used for tree 
credit according to Section 16: Tree Protection Standards. If existing trees are used for 
credit, the developer shall submit a tree protection plan according to Section 8.16.6.A 
and protect trees during construction according to Section 8.16.7. 

B. Residential property owners shall maintain and preserve all minimum required trees on 

their property that were required by ordinance at the time the residential lot was initially 

developed.  Waivers to this requirement shall be granted under the following conditions: 

 

1. Where the existence of such trees poses a threat to the health and/or safety of the 
general public, or 

2. To trees that expire naturally due to no negligence of the property owner. 
 

C. If a single-family residential development preserves an average of 30 or more trees per acre, 

the minimum lot size within the development or subdivision may be reduced by ten (10) 

223

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-33 

percent below base zoning district requirements. Use of preserved areas for this provision is 

subject to the following: 

 
1. Area of preservation may be dedicated to the City, including land required 

by the City’s Park Department, or to be maintained by a Homeowner’s 
Association or Public Improvement District,  

 
2. The City reserves the right to require maintenance by a Homeowner’s 

Association, PID, trust, or other entity if acceptance of the open space 
dedication is not in the best interests of the City. 

 
3. A tree survey is required to be approved with the Final Plat when utilizing 

this provision for credit (see Tree survey, Section 8.16.6.B). 
 

D. View Obstruction 
 

Trees shall not be planted within the visibility triangle areas of any street, alley and/or 
driveway intersections (subject to transportation’s current ordinance).  At time of 
building permit review, the Director of Transportation or designee may extend the 
visibility triangle areas adjacent to street, alley, and/or driveway intersections 
accessing or near a curvilinear street section in which sight easement and visibility 
demands are greater than for a straight street section.  (see Article 23, “Master 
Transportation Plan,” of the Unified Development Code)  All trees and landscaping 
must also comply with any sight easement restrictions established on the property.   

 
E. Additional Trees 
 

For every 3-inch caliper tree planted in addition to those required by this article, the 
required landscape area may be reduced by 200 square feet, provided however, the 
minimum required landscape area may not be reduced to less than 50 % of the original 
requirement. 

 
F. Shrubs 

 
In order to meet the landscaping requirement, shrubs shall be a minimum five-gallon 
container size and meet the standards of the American Association of Nurserymen.  
(See Exhibit 7 for planting detail).  For every 50 square feet, or fraction thereof, of 
required landscape area, one shrub a minimum of five gallons in size is required.  Up 
to 50% of the required number of shrubs may be replaced by three-inch caliper trees 
at the rate of 10 shrubs equals one tree. 

 
1. In addition to required trees and shrubs, all of the required landscape area must 

be covered with grass, organic mulch, or live groundcover (up to 40% of landscape 
area).  A native/adaptive materials landscape plan that reflects a variety of native 
or adapted plant materials having low maintenance and water requirements is 
encouraged. 

224

Item 30.

http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=547
http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=547


ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-34 

 

 
2. All plant materials, including replacement trees, shall be specified and planted with 

plants using the standards of most recently published version of the American 
Standards for Nursery Stock, by the American Association of Nurserymen.  All 
plants shall be clearly tagged by the providing nursery for easy inspection with the 
Botanical Name.  All landscaping shall be installed according to sound horticultural 
practices, in a manner designed to encourage quick establishment and healthy 
growth (see Exhibits 6 and 7). 

 
3. All required landscape areas shall be located outside the exterior perimeter of the 

footprint of a building or structure. 
 

4. Whenever practical, topsoil that is removed during construction shall be stored 
onsite and conserved for later use in required planting areas or topsoil of native 
type may be imported and placed to a depth of six inches in all landscaped areas 
while also maintain a level of no more than three inches within the critical root 
zone. 

 
8.7.4 Maintenance. 
 

All required landscaping shall be kept neat, healthy, and free of weeds and debris.  Upon 
written notification, any dead or deteriorated plants shall be removed and replaced 
within 30 days from date of notification.  Replacement plants may be selected from 
Exhibit 5 for fulfilling the requirements of the article.  In the event the developer uses 
trees not identified in Exhibit 5, the requested tree must be submitted to the Director for 
approval.  The owner shall maintain all landscape materials in good condition in 
accordance with the terms of this article. 
 
When an automatic, underground irrigation system has been required, it must be 
maintained as required by the manufacturer’s specification, in an operable condition and 
used on a regular basis.  Regular use of such system will be verified by water utility 
records. 

 
8.7.5 Temporary Landscaping. 
 

If a developer cannot establish the required landscaping on a site due to seasonal 
considerations, a delay of up to six months in the installation of such landscaping may be 
allowed by the Director of Planning and Development.  Stabilization of raw soil when 
seasonal conditions do not permit establishment of required landscaping.  Erosion 
control blankets/mats, mulch, straw anchoring, compost blankets, straw rolls, curlex 
blankets, straw erosion mats, spun bonded fabrics, may be used to hold the soil in place.  
During winter, temporary grass or turf (such as rye, fescue, etc.) may be planted until the 
required permanent turf is installed.  No final Letter of Compliance or Certificate of 
Occupancy shall be issued for a development until either the permanent, required 

225

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-35 

landscaping is installed or the temporary landscaping is replaced by permanent 
landscaping within six months. 

 
8.7.6 Lighting. 
 

Reference Article 10, “Parking and Loading Standards,” Section 15, “Glare and Lighting 
Standards.” 

 

SECTION 8 – PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICTS 
 
8.8.1 The City of Grand Prairie encourages and may require the creation of Public Improvement 

Districts (PIDs) under Chapter 372 of the Texas Local Government Code.  A PID is a defined 
geographical area established to provide specific types of improvements or maintenance 
within the area, which are financed by assessments against the property owners within 
the area.  The following improvements may be included within a PID: 

 
A. Landscaping and irrigation; 
B. Erection of fountains, distinctive lighting and signs; 
C. Construction/improvement of perimeter fencing; 
D. Construction/improvement of sidewalks; 
E. Acquiring/installing pieces of art or decorations; 
F. Acquiring/constructing or improving entry features; and 
G. Establishing or improving parks 

 
 
SECTION 9 – SCREENING 
 
It is the intent of the screening and fencing provisions of the UDC that applicants for all required 
screening and non-required fencing, both public and private, shall obtain a permit prior to 
beginning construction.  A site plan of an acceptable scale shall be submitted for review prior to 
issuance of a fence permit, which clearly indicates the location of the fence with reference to the 
property line, the height of the fence, and the materials to be used in its construction. 
 
8.9.1 Public Right-Of-Way. 
 

Landscaping located in the right-of-way shall not be counted toward the on-site 
landscaping requirement, unless otherwise provided for in this article. 

 
A. All plantings within the parkways and medians shall be reviewed and approved by the 

Public Works Department, Transportation Services Department, and the Parks and 
Recreation Department. 

 
B. The Directors of Transportation, Public Works and Parks and Recreation may modify 

these requirements based on site conditions. 
 

226

Item 30.

http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=561
http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=561


ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-36 

 

C. The Directors of Transportation, Public Works and Parks and Recreation may disallow 
any landscape materials to be placed in the parkway when a street widening is 
proposed. 

 
8.9.1.1 Parkways. 

 
A. A permit is required for irrigation system within the parkway or median.  

Such encroachment application shall be made to the Director or designated 
representative by submittal of a site plan.  Landscape materials, irrigation 
systems and the Departments of Transportation, Public Works, and Parks 
and Recreation shall approve their placement subject to the following 
requirements: 

 
1. All plant material, except grass, located within the parkway shall be no 

closer than eight feet laterally from the face of curb and no more than 
24” in height.  The plant material shall be located so that pedestrians 
can walk parallel to the street within the parkway whether a paved 
sidewalk is or is not provided. 

 
2. Public visibility easement of seven feet by 60 feet is required, by 

ordinance, at the intersection of two streets and eight feet by 70 feet 
at all driveways.  (see Article 23, “Master Transportation Plan,” of the 
Unified Development Code) 

 
8.9.1.2 Mow Strip for Landscaping Within Center Median of Thoroughfares. 

 
Reinforced concrete mow curbs 18 inches wide x 5 inches deep should be 
provided to separate all planted areas from turf areas.  All mow curbs shall 
have true radii and be tangent to adjacent segments.  A minimum radius of 100 
feet is recommended to allow for ease of maintenance with large equipment. 

 
8.9.1.3 Sidewalks. 

 
Specifications for the construction of sidewalks are given in Article 10, 
“Platting,” Section 26, and in Appendix H, “Sidewalk Matrix” of the Unified 
Development Code.  Where sidewalks abut a perimeter fence or wall, the 
pavement shall fill the gap between the column and the fence or mow strips 
the width of the pilaster may be used. 

 
8.9.2 Adjacent Public Right-of-Way. 
 

8.9.2.1 Street Trees. 
 

Street trees shall be provided in all districts, excluding Single Family and Two-
Family Districts except where indicated by this Section, along designated 

227

Item 30.

http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=547
http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=561
http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=561
http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=618


ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-37 

arterials and collectors as identified on the Thoroughfare Plan.  Where street 
trees front a property, they may be credited toward the total number of trees 
required by the Landscape Plan.  Large or medium street trees may NOT be 
planted beneath overhead utility lines. 

 
A. Landscape materials, irrigation systems and their placement shall be 

approved by the Departments of Transportation, Public Works and Parks 
and Recreation subject to the following requirements: 

 
5. Plant materials 24 inches or greater in height and located within the 

parkway shall be no closer than eight feet, laterally, from the back of the 
curb and four feet, laterally, from the sidewalk. 

6. All landscaping shall be located so that pedestrians can walk parallel to 
the street within the parkway whether a paved sidewalk is or is not 
provided. 

 
B. Street trees shall not be located within eight feet of back of curb and shall 

NOT be planted between the curb and sidewalk.  Trees must be spaced a 
minimum of 25 linear feet apart, and a maximum of 50 linear feet apart 
measured along the property line and/or linear frontage.  The 
Development Review Committee may allow the clustering of trees due to 
topographic or physical conditions. 

 
C. Be of the species listed in Exhibit 5. 

 
D. Have one type of fence treatment a minimum of six feet from said tree to 

allow access for maintenance on major thoroughfares behind the street 
tree buffer. 

 
E. Street trees are not required in Single Family and Two Family Districts, in 

accordance with this Section except where property backs up to a 
designated arterial or collector.   

 
1. Such street trees shall be installed at the time of construction of the 

arterial or collector, or at the time of development of the subdivision 
adjacent to such roadway by the developer and shall be accepted as 
part of the road improvements by the Director of Public Works. 

 
2. The two-year maintenance bond for the road improvements shall also 

cover the street trees, and the developer shall be responsible for 
maintenance and replacement of such trees.  

 
3. Issuance of building permits within the subdivision may be subject to 

compliance with this requirement. 
 

228

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-38 

 

F. No structure, object, or plant of any type may obstruct vision from a height 
of 24 inches to a height of 12 feet above the street grade and eight feet 
above the sidewalk, including, but not limited to, trees, shrubs, buildings, 
fences, walks, signs, cars, trucks, etc. 

 
G. The Directors of Transportation, Public Works and Parks and Recreation 

may modify these requirements based on site conditions. 
 

H. The Directors of Transportation, Public Works and Parks and Recreation 
may disallow any landscape materials to be placed in the parkway when a 
street widening is proposed. 

 
I. No trees, except under story trees, shall be planted within 25 feet of a 

street light or where they significantly inhibit the projection of illumination 
on the street surface to a point midway between the light in question and 
the adjacent street light. 

 
J. Plants that are thorny, such as Pyracantha, or bear non-edible fruit that 

may cause illness, such as Pyracantha or China Berry, and other landscape 
features, which may pose an unusual health or safety problem, are 
prohibited. 

 
8.9.2.2 Parking Areas Adjacent to Public Right-of-Way. 

 
Loading docks and trucks berths:  See Appendix X for buildings greater than 
20,000 square feet. For buildings less than 20,000 square feet or property 
under 5 net acres, a combination of opaque walls, screening fences, trees, 
shrubs, which are a minimum or eight feet in height, landscaped berms, or 
landscape areas that must be used to screen loading dock areas from view 
from the public street right-of-way adjacent to residential and/or retail areas; 
or from adjacent collectors and/or arterial streets that are defined in the 
Master Transportation Plan (defined as a major street in figures below).  
Screening shall be eight feet in height and of sufficient length to screen the 
maximum size trailer that can be accommodated on site. 
 

Figure 2: Berm Screening Options 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

229

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-39 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Figure 3: Screening of Loading Docks 

 

Example: Docks and berths that accommodate a sixty (60) foot trailer shall be screened with a 
sixty (60) foot wall parallel to the berth.  A minor street, with residential uses located across the 
street, will require the parallel screening.  A major street will require the parallel screening 
regardless of the type of land uses located across the street.  
 

8.9.2.3  Designated Easements. 
 

A. Water and Sewer Lines: 
 

1. Landscaping within all designated easements on site shall be restricted 
to grasses, ground covers, or decorative rock or gravel. 

 
2. The City of Grand Prairie shall not be responsible for any tree damaged 

by work on water or sewer lines in an easement.  If required trees are 
damaged or destroyed by such work, those requirements may be 
waived at the discretion of the Director. 

 

230

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-40 

 

3. No trees shall be planted over water and/or sewer lines. 
 

4. Rainwater harvesting devices may not be placed within utility 
easements or required setbacks. 

 
B. Overhead Electrical Transmission Lines and Fiber Optic Lines: 

 
1. Plant material within the parkway shall be restricted to grasses, 

ground cover, or aggregate rock and/or gravel, (not to include 
climbing ground covers such as ivy, honeysuckle, etc.) and medium 
size shrubs (six to ten feet) keeping a minimum of one mature spread 
from each tower and/or three feet from each pole. 

 
2. If a transmission line is located within a subdivision or a public or 

private Recreational area, no tree shall be planted which obtains a 
matured height that will pass within five feet of a transmission line 
conductor if it fell directly toward the line.  
 

Figure 4: Trees Planted Near a Transmission Line Tower 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
C. Transmission Line Tower Within a Subdivision: 

 
If a transmission line is located within a subdivision or a public or private 
recreational area, no tree shall be planted which obtains a matured height 
that will pass within five feet of a transmission line conductor if it fell 
directly toward the line. 

 
 
 

231

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-41 

8.9.2.4 Parking Areas. 
 

A. One tree shall be provided for each 20 parking spaces in all non-residential 
developments; however, no car parking space shall be located greater 
than 100 feet from the center of a tree.  Trees shall be a minimum of three-
inch caliper measured four and one-half feet from the ground and planted 
within a planting island with a minimum dimension of five feet in width.  
The tree-planting island must be further planted with a ground cover, 
grass, or shrubs and may be counted toward the total required square 
footage of required landscaping. 

 
B. Parking areas shall be screened along all streets by a minimum three-foot 

high solid shrub hedges when mature, berm, fence, or combination of 
these.  The height shall be measured from the finished grade of the 
parking lot at the front property line.  In no case shall the slope of a berm 
exceed 3:1 unless it is retained on the private property side of the berm 
by usage of Millsap stone or similar non-porous material. 

 
C. In CPTED areas/neighborhoods, shrubbery shall be no more than three 

feet high for clear visibility. 
 
D. Runs of parking spaces within multi-family developments shall be limited 

to a maximum of 10 spaces without a landscaped island.  However, up to 
20 spaces may be permitted in situations where it is required to save 
existing trees. 

 
8.9.3 Residential Screening. 
 

8.9.3.1. Thoroughfare Screening Fences at Subdivision Entrance.  
 

Required screening fences fronting along designated arterial or collector 
streets shall extend (or turn) into and along the side or rear lots lines, where 
such conditions exist, of residential lots that abut the local residential entry 
street(s) extending into the subdivision from the arterial or collector street. 
The extended (or turned) portion of said screen fence shall not encroach into 
the required front yard setback for any residential lot. Thoroughfare screening 
for residential development shall conform to the requirements found in 
Appendix W. 

 
8.9.3.2. Required Fences. 

 
All single family detached, single-family attached and two-family residential 
lots which back up to a collector and/or an arterial shall require a continuous 
screening fence in accordance with the following provisions. 

 

232

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-42 

 

A. The developer of lots platted after May 1, 1998 shall be required to 
construct a continuous screening fence along all lots which back up to a 
collector and/or an arterial as follows.   

 
1. For lots where City Council has approved an ordinance requiring a 

specific fence or a fence was required by a note on the plat, a fence shall 
be constructed in accordance with the requirements of that ordinance 
or plat. 

2. For all other lots, the screening fence shall meet the requirements for a 
"Type 1" screening fence as defined in Section 8.9.1 of this ordinance 
or, where the view beyond the fence is of a landscaped front or side 
yard, a "Type 2" fence as defined in Section 8.9.2 of this ordinance. 

 
B. The developer of lots platted between November 20, 1990 (the date the 

Unified Development Code was adopted) and May 1, 1998 shall be 
required to construct a continuous screening fence along all lots which 
back up to a collector and/or an arterial as follows: 

 
1. For lots where City Council has approved an ordinance requiring a 

specific fence or a fence was required by a note on the plat, a fence shall 
be constructed in accordance with the requirements of that ordinance 
or plat. 

 
2. For lots where a uniform fence has been constructed, as determined by 

the Development Review Committee as a uniform fence of consistent 
design and materials on more than 80% of the lots in a subdivision 
adjacent to a street, a fence shall be constructed which is built to the 
same standards and materials as the established uniform fence. 

 
3. For all other lots a fence shall be constructed which meets the 

requirements for a "Type 3" screening fence as defined in Section 8.9.3 
of this ordinance. 

 
C. For lots platted prior to November 20, 1990, a continuous screening fence 

shall be required along all lots which back up to a collector and/or an 
arterial as follows: 

 
1. For lots where City Council has approved an ordinance requiring a 

specific fence or a fence was required by a note on the plat, a fence shall 
be constructed in accordance with the requirements of that ordinance 
or plat. 

 
2. Where a specific type of fence has been established adjacent to an 

arterial or collector in a development where no fence has been formally 
required by an ordinance or plat, the existing fence must be replaced or 

233

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-43 

repaired with a fence built to the same standards as the established 
fence.  An established fence shall be a fence determined by the 
Development Review Committee as a uniform fence of consistent 
design and materials, which is in place on more than 80% of the lots in 
that subdivision on that block adjacent to a collector or arterial.  Chain 
link or other fence types more than 50% transparent shall not be 
considered a solid screening fence. 

 
D. If a required screening fence was not installed at the time of development, 

the screening fence shall be installed by the builder at the time of 
construction of the house on the subject lot. 

 
E. Detention Ponds:  The perimeter boundary of a detention/retention pond, 

or a portion thereof, that is situated within 120 feet of a street right-of-way 
designated on the Master Transportation Plan as a Collector or Arterial 
thoroughfare shall be fenced with a four-foot high wrought iron type fence, 
equal in design to a Type 2 screening fence as specified in Section 8.9.2 of 
the Grand Prairie Unified Development Code.  Any portion of said fence for 
pond that either directly adjoins or is situated within 15 feet of the 
designated street right-of-way shall contain brick columns.  Said brick 
columns shall equal or exceed the height of the fence and be spaced a 
maximum of 24 feet apart on center along the designated street right-of-
way.  Otherwise, no brick columns shall be required for fences that do not 
adjoin, or are situated more than 15 feet from the designated street right-
of-way. 

 
F. The use of a chain link type fence as a substitute to the above requirement 

shall be considered by City staff if there are intervening structures or 
mature landscaping (existing or proposed) that would effectively screen 
the fence from view along the designated street right-of-way. 

 
8.9.3.3. Common Lot to be established for Thoroughfare Screening Fences. 

 
New residential subdivisions platted after May 20, 2003 with required 
thoroughfare screening fences shall require the establishment of a separate 
common lot for the placement of required fences along designated arterial or 
collector streets.  Said common lot (s) shall be dedicated to the mandatory 
homeowners association or public improvement district at time of final 
platting and shall measure no less than 10 feet in depth. 

  
8.9.3.4. Upgraded Residential Fencing across the Street from Front Yards. 

 
Side or rear yard residential fences constructed after May 20, 2003 and not 
subject to the requirements of Appendix W that are located across a street 
from a front yard condition shall be constructed as a uniform fence to Type 3 
standards with cement fiberboard panels or planks, or with an approved 

234

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-44 

 

equivalent material, as described in Section 8.9.3.  Such fences shall be 
constructed such that stringers are not visible along the public street and shall 
be maintained by a mandatory property-owners association and/or a public 
improvement district (“PID”) as required by Section 8.7.1. 

 
8.9.4 Required Screening Regulations for Multi-Family Development. 
 

All multi-family development shall provide a screening fence in accordance with the 
following provisions. 

 
A. All multi-family development shall be required to erect a "Type 1" fence on property 

lines adjacent to any property which is zoned for single-family detached, single family 
attached or single-family townhome residential uses. 

 
B. All multi-family development shall be required to erect a "Type 3" fence on property 

lines adjacent to any other use except as provided in paragraph "A" above. 
 

C. All multi-family development shall be required to erect a "Type 2" fence adjacent to 
street right-of-way.   

 
8.9.5 Non-Residential Screening. 
 

All non-residential development shall provide a screening fence in accordance with the 
following provisions. 

 
A. All non-residential development, except for schools and day care centers, shall be 

required to erect a "Type 1" fence on  property lines adjacent to any property which 
is zoned for single family detached, single family attached, two-family, and multi-
family residential uses. 

 
B. All schools and day care centers shall be required to erect a "Type 3" fence on 

property lines adjacent to any property, which is zoned for single-family detached, 
single-family attached or two-family residential uses. 

 
C. Religious institutions shall be required to erect a “Type 2” fence along all property 

lines adjacent to any property, which is zoned for single-family detached, single-
family attached or two-family residential uses. 

 
8.9.6 Required Screening Regulations for Outside Storage. 
 

All outside storage shall require a screening fence in accordance with the following 
provisions. 

 
A. All outside storage shall be required to be screened with a "Type 1" fence on any 

property line adjacent to any property which is zoned for single family detached, 

235

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-45 

single family attached, two-family, and multi-family residential uses or for any outside 
storage area within 40 feet of street right-of-way line.  All screening fences for outside 
storage must be setback a minimum of 25 feet from any street right-of-way line. 

 

B. All outside storage shall be required to be screened with a "Type 3" fence on property 
lines adjacent to any other use except as provided in paragraph "A" above. 

 

8.9.7 Other Screening Requirements. 
 

8.9.7.1. Mechanical and Electrical Equipment. 
 

All non-residential building mechanical and electrical equipment other than 
utility service and equipment, located adjacent to the building, thoroughfare 
or a residentially zoned area shall be screened from view.  Rooftop equipment 
shall be concealed from eye-level public view from all areas of a public street 
right-of-way and from eye level public view of any residentially zoned property.  
Roof mounted equipment shall be screened with a 36 inch parapet of 
architecturally compatible material similar to that used on the main building.  
Sufficient clearance shall be provided and maintained between the equipment 
and the screening to provide adequate access for maintenance and ventilation.  
No roof-mounted equipment shall be within three feet of the roof perimeter. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Continue on Next Page … 

236

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-46 

 

8.9.7.2. Refuse 
 

Areas reserved for refuse storage shall be screened by a solid non-transparent 
masonry wall similar in material to the main structure and shall have a 
screening gate, which shall remain closed except when being serviced.  
Recycling and dumpster areas shall be located no closer than 20 feet to an 
adjacent residentially zoned property and shall not be located within any 
required building setback along a street right-of-way.  The screening gate side 
shall be concealed from eye-level public view from all areas of a public street 
right-of-way and from eye level public view of any residentially zoned property.  
Said screening fence shall be a minimum of six feet in height (see Appendix C 
for more detail).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Figure 5: Dumpster Screening Enclosure Detail 

 
 
 
 

237

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-47 

SECTION 10 – FENCING 
 
8.10 Fencing. 
 

  

Type 1: Masonry Construction Type 2: Wrought Iron with Masonry Columns 

 
8.10.1 Type 1 Screening Fence Materials and Construction (Masonry). 

 
Where a "Type 1" screening fence is required, the screening fence shall be a solid 
masonry wall, a minimum six feet high, unless an alternate design is authorized 
in accordance with the exception procedures of Section 8.9.6 detailed below.  
Such screening shall be located on private property, adjacent to the common 
property line.  The standard "Type 1" screening fence shall be constructed with 
the following standards: 

 
A. Said fence shall be a minimum of six feet in height, and shall have concrete 

mowing strips installed under the entire length of the wall with a minimum 
of six inches of the strip exposed on the side of the wall adjacent to a public 
right-of-way.  The mowing strips shall be constructed with a minimum four-
inch thick reinforced concrete.  The mowing strip shall be flush with finished 
grade and not interfere with natural drainage. 

 
B. All masonry construction shall be kiln-fired brick of natural colors, either 

double wall brick or thin wall brick, with a mortar bond finish on both sides, 
in earth tone colors achieved through color additives.  A reinforced concrete 
wall shall be allowed as a private screening wall fence, but shall not be 
allowed to face on a collector or arterial thoroughfare. 

 
C. Decorative stone or masonry columns or pilasters are required at an 

approximate maximum distance of 50-foot centers situated on lot corners. 
 

D. The use of a rowlock brick, cast stone or similar features shall be utilized as a 
cap at all walls, columns and pilasters along with other design elements to 
articulate the top of the wall. 

 

238

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-48 

 

E. Bottom of masonry wall panels suspended above the grade footing between 
columns or pilasters are to be supported by hot dipped galvanized continuous 
steel angle of sufficient dimension to support the wall panel. Tension cables 
or straps are not allowed as a supporting member. 

 
F. The required fence for non-residential uses shall be constructed of brick 

masonry, concrete panels, or architectural concrete masonry units for any 
portion of a fence adjacent to a residential zoning, adjacent to a street, or 
visible from and within 200 feet of a public street.  The minimum height of a 
required screening fence shall be six feet.  All other required screening fences 
must be of like materials or be the “standard screening fence.”  Standard 
fencing materials include masonry, wood, wrought iron type, vinyl-PVC, split 
rail, brick, and stone.   

 
8.10.2 Type 2 Screening Fence Materials and Construction (Wrought iron type with 

masonry columns). 
 

Where a "Type 2" screening fence is allowed, the screening fence shall be a 
wrought iron fence with masonry columns a maximum of 24 feet on center, 
unless an alternate design is authorized in accordance with the exception 
procedures of Section 8.9.6 detailed below.  Such screening shall be located on 
private property, adjacent to the common property line.  The standard "Type 2" 
screening fence shall be constructed with the following standards: 

 
A. Said fence shall be a minimum of six feet in height, and shall have concrete 

mowing strips installed under the entire length of the wall with a minimum 
of six inches of the strip exposed on the side of the wall adjacent to a public 
right-of-way.  The mowing strips shall be constructed with a minimum four-
inch thick reinforced concrete.  The mowing strip shall be flush with finished 
grade and not interfere with natural drainage.  

 
B. All masonry construction shall be kiln-fired brick of natural colors, or split face 

concrete masonry units (CMUs), or other CMU of appropriate texture, in 
earth tone color achieved through color additives. 
 

 

239

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-49 

 

 
Type 3: Cement Fiberboard or Wood Type 4: Wood without a Mowing Strip 

8.10.3 Type 3 Screening Fence Materials and Construction (Cement fiberboard or 
wood). 

 
Where a "Type 3" screening fence is required, the screening shall be a solid 
cement fiberboard wall or a wood screening fence, a minimum six feet high, 
unless an alternate design is authorized in accordance with the exception 
procedures of Section 8.9.6 detailed below.  Such screening shall be located on 
the subject property, adjacent to the common property line.  The standard "Type 
3" screening fence shall be constructed with the following standards (reference 
Appendix C for exhibit of Standard Screening Fence): 

 
A. Said fence shall be a minimum of six feet in height, and shall have a minimum 

of six-inch wide concrete mowing strips installed under the entire length.  The 
mowing strips shall be constructed with a minimum four-inch thick reinforced 
concrete.  The mowing strip shall be flush with finished grade and not 
interfere with natural drainage.  

 
B. All vertical posts shall be two and three eighths (2-3/8) inch minimum outside 

diameter standard pipe gauge, or two and one half (2-1/2) inch square by 
one-eighth (1/8) inch wall gauge galvanized steel. 

 
C. All wood materials shall be decay resistant, such as redwood, cedar or 

wolmanized pine exterior grade.  
 

D. Nail the vertical slats to three horizontal bracing stringers (bottom), middle, 
and top nailer boards) running from vertical post to post.  The size of the 
stringers shall be no less than two inch by three inch. 

 
E. All nails or fasteners shall be of non-rusting, non-corrosive metal such as hot 

dipped galvanized steel.  All nails or fasteners shall be of the type (such as 
screw shank, ring shank, or divergent point staples) that when properly 
driven, will not work free due to wind, vibration, or shrinkage of members.  

 

240

Item 30.

http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=624


ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-50 

 

F. All materials shall be securely fastened, vertical boards to horizontal 
stringers, stringers to vertical posts, top rail, to ensure an ongoing attractive 
appearance and safe condition, free from rust, rot, vandalism, and other 
sources of decay. 

 
G. The attached sketch indicates basic dimensional requirements and types of 

materials to be used.  Standard and customary fence construction practices 
are required.  (see Appendix C) 

 
H. When a "Type 3" screening fence runs parallel and adjacent to an alley, two 

additional stringers (bottom and middle) shall be required to be placed on 
the opposite side of the  three required stringers to stabilize and add rigidity.  

 
I. All "Type 3" fences shall be constructed such that the stringers are not visible 

along public right-of-way or public park facility (stringers will be on the inside, 
facing inward to the private lots, of all required fences). 

 
J. All "Type 3" fences running perpendicular to and being visible from a public 

street, and that face a vacant lot greater than one acre in size that has 
frontage on same public street, shall be constructed such that stringers are 
not visible along the public street or vacant lot (stringers will be on the inside, 
facing inward to the private lots, of all required fences). 

 
8.10.4 Type 4 Screening Fence Materials and Construction (Wood without mowing 

strip). 
 

Where a "Type 4" screening fence is required, the screening shall be a wood 
screening fence, a minimum six feet high, unless an alternate design is authorized 
in accordance with the exception procedures of Section 8.9.6 detailed below.  
Such screening shall be located on the subject property, adjacent to the common 
property line.  The standard "Type 4" screening fence shall be constructed with 
the following standards: 

 
A. Said fence shall be a minimum of six feet in height. 
 
B. All vertical posts shall be two and three eighths (2-3/8) inch minimum outside 

diameter standard pipe gauge, or two and one half (2-1/2) inch square by 
one-eighth (1/8) inch wall gauge galvanized steel. 

 
C. All wood materials shall be decay resistant, such as redwood, cedar or 

wolmanized pine exterior grade.  
 

D. Nail the vertical slats to three horizontal bracing stringers (bottom), middle, 
and top nailer boards) running from vertical post to post.  The size of the 
stringers shall be no less than two inch by three inch. 

241

Item 30.

http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=624


ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-51 

 
E. All nails or fasteners shall be of non-rusting, non-corrosive metal such as hot 

dipped galvanized steel.  All nails or fasteners shall be of the type (such as 
screw shank, ring shank, or divergent point staples) that when properly 
driven, will not work free due to wind, vibration, or shrinkage of members.  

 
F. All materials shall be securely fastened, vertical boards to horizontal 

stringers, stringers to vertical posts, top rail, to ensure an ongoing attractive 
appearance and safe condition, free from rust, rot, vandalism, and other 
sources of decay. 

 
G. The attached sketch indicates basic dimensional requirements and types of 

materials to be used.  Standard and customary fence construction practices 
are required.  (see Appendix C) 

 
H. All "Type 4" fences shall be constructed such that the stringers are not visible 

along public street or public park facility (stringers will be on the inside, facing 
inward to the private lots, of all required fences). 

 
I. All "Type 4" fences running perpendicular to and being visible from a public 

street, and that face a vacant lot greater than one-acre in size that has 
frontage on same public street, shall be constructed such that stringers are 
not visible along the public street or vacant lot (stringers will be on the inside, 
facing inward to the private lots, of all required fences). 

 
8.10.5 Nonconforming Fences. 

 
In the event of casualty, in which no more than 60% of the length of a fence is 
damaged or destroyed, the structure(s) may be rebuilt.  Non-conforming fences 
must be rebuilt to current standards if more than 60% of the fence’s length is 
damaged. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Continue to Next Page 

242

Item 30.

http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=624


ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-52 

 

Chart B: Required Fencing by Use 

Where, SF: Single Family; MF: Multi Family; NR: Non Residential 

 
Note: Where a specific type of fence has been established (a standard fence on more than 80% of the lots in that 
subdivision adjacent to that street) any fence must be replaced or repaired with a fence built to the same 
standards as the established fence. 

 
[Required Fences] 
 

8.10.6 Exceptions to Required Fences. 
 

8.10.6.1. An exception to the screening fence requirement may be granted by 
the City Council based on a recommendation from the Planning and 
Zoning Commission.  One or more of the following conditions must be 
present or apply for consideration of an exception: 

 
A. Topographical variations that would preclude a normal 

installation, or act as a screening mechanism.  A topographical 
variation may serve as a screening device if the zoning district 
requiring the screening fence is separated from the adjoining use 
by a 30% slope or greater; as long as the elevation between the 
two uses is at least six feet, (property requiring the screening fence 
is at the higher elevation). 

 
B. The land is located in the flood plain. 

 
C. An existing fence is in place on the applicant's property that is 

determined as sufficient and is structurally sound. 
 

Fence Type Materials Where Required 

Type 1 
Brick, Stone, or Masonry with 

Mortar Bond Finish on Both Sides 

SF: Rear lots adjacent to arterials and collectors. 
MF: Adjacent to a SF residential property line. 
NR: Adjacent to a residential property line and for outside 
storage adjacent to, and within 40 ft. of a street right-of-
way. 
Industrial: Adjacent to any use not zoned LI or HI or a 
Planned Development not intended for LI or HI uses (see 
Appendix X). 

Type 2 Wrought Iron with Brick Columns 

SF: May be used adjacent to collectors and arterials where 
the view beyond the fence is of a landscaped front or side 
yard and there is no view of a rear yard. 
MF: Adjacent to a street right-of-way line. 

Type 3 
Cement Fiberboard, 

Wood with Mow Strip, 
Vinyl PVC 

NR: All Outside storage areas except as otherwise required 
above. 
SF: Residential Fences across the street from front yards. 

Type 4 
Wood Fence, Metal Posts 

Vinyl PVC 

SF: For existing residential lots which back up to arterials 
or collectors and no existing standard fence has been 
established. 

243

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-53 

D. Vegetation exists which is at least six feet high and non-
transparent year-round. 

 
E. An exception for chain link fences or wood fences may be granted 

upon notification to property owners, which are adjacent to, or 
directly across the street from said fence. 

 
F. An exception to the screening fence requirements for single-

family development adjacent to designated arterials and 
collectors may be granted for an alternative fence upon submittal 
of an approved plan for maintenance of said fence. 

 
G. An exception to the screening fence requirements for public 

recreation facilities or public schools may be granted upon 
notification to property owners, which are adjacent to the fence. 

 
H. An exception to the screening fence requirements for churches, 

private recreation facilities, schools or day care centers may be 
granted upon notification to property owners which are adjacent 
to the fence and upon submittal of a petition signed by greater 
than 50% of the owners of the linear footage of adjacent land and 
signed by greater than 50% of the owners of parcels of adjacent 
land.    

 
8.10.6.2. Screening fence requirements may be waived by the Development 

Review Committee, or his/her designee, for public schools for 
portions of a school site, which are not within 50 feet of a building or 
parking area. 

 
8.10.7 Non-Required Residential Fences. 

 
No fence in a single family detached, single family attached and single family 
townhome residential zoned area that is erected along the front street property 
line or between a required front yard setback of the main building and the front 
street property, line shall be erected higher than 36 inches.  On corner lots no 
fence in a residential zoned area that is erected along the side street property 
line shall be erected higher than 36 inches for a distance of 50 feet as measured 
from the front street curb line.  This requirement does not apply in the following 
situations: 

 
A. When the fence is transparent, it may be 48 inches in height.  Transparent 

fencing materials include wrought iron, chain link, rail, and picket fences 
where at least 50% of the fence profile is transparent, but subject to the 
prohibition listed in Section 8.9.7.3 of this Article. 

 

244

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-54 

 

B. The City Council may approve solid fences greater than 36 inches in height 
along street frontages adjacent to Multi-Family developments through 
submittal and approval of a site plan in accordance with Article 16, "Site Plan 
Approval" of this Unified Development Code. 

 
8.10.7.1 No fence in a residential zoned area located in any other area above of 

the property shall be erected higher than eight feet.  The fences 
located on interior lot lines may be graduated in height along the side 
lot lines from the maximum height of eight feet, on the highest grade 
along the property line at the front building line as required by this 
ordinance, to the maximum height of 36 inches along the front street 
property line.  This requirement does not apply in the following 
situations: 

 
A. When the fence is erected to enclose property that is in acreage 

and used for enclosing animals or agriculture.  No fence, however, 
shall be erected higher than eight feet. 

 
B. Fences erected by the City or utility companies to enclose an 

allowable non-residential use. 
 

8.10.7.2 Residential fences shall be composed of materials recognized as 
standard, residential grade fencing material unless approval of an 
exception for use of an alternative fencing material has been obtained 
under Section 8.11.1 of this Article.  However, mMaterials used for 
fencing, such as corrugated metal, sheet metal, or corrugated 
fiberglass, are prohibited and shall not be used in the construction of a 
residential fence.  
 

 
8.10.8 Non-Required Non-Residential & Multi Family Fences  

 
8.10.8.1 Fences in non‐residential or multi-family zoned areas shall be 

transparent at the minimum required building setback lines adjacent 
to streets. Transparent fencing materials include wrought iron style 
fences and chain link fences where at least 50% of the fence profile is 
transparent.  

8.10.8.2 All non‐required non‐transparent fences must meet the screening fence 
requirements stipulated in Section 10 of this Article.  

8.10.8.3 Fences in the required building setbacks adjacent to designated 
arterials and collectors must be of a wrought iron type design style. 
Fences located in Light Industrial (LI) or Heavy Industrial (HI) zoned 
districts may install a black vinyl chain link fence in lieu of a wrought 

245

Item 30.

http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=618
http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=618


ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-55 

iron type fence (see Appendix V, “Fence Detail,” of the Unified 
Development Code for additional requirements for this substitution).  

8.10.8.4 No provision contained herein shall alter any provision, which requires 
any business to have a screening fence.  

8.10.8.5 No fence likely to endanger the health and safety of the public shall be 
located in or adjacent to a residential area.  Public utilities shall be 
exempted.  

8.10.8.6 Non‐Residential fences shall be composed of materials recognized as 
standard, residential grade fencing material and shall not be 
constructed with corrugated metal, sheet metal, or corrugated 
fiberglass. R‐Panel fences are permitted in the Light Industrial‐Limited 
Standards (LI‐LS) District only (standards for a metal fence can be found 
Appendix V, “Fence Detail” of the Unified Development Code).  

8.10.9 Visibility Triangle 
 

On corner lots, no fence shall be constructed within a 30‐foot visibility triangle 
or obstruct a minimum visibility line as established by the Director of 
Transportation Services for an intersection. The right angle of the visibility 
triangle shall be established at the point where the curb lines would intersect in 
the street if the curbs were extended beyond the curb return radius. 

 8.10.10 Electrified Fences  

8.10.10.1 Applicability  

Electrified fences are permissible in the Light Industrial (LI) District and 
Heavy Industrial (HI) Districts only.  

8.10.10.2 Exceptions 

1. In all other zoning districts, the installation and maintenance of an 
electrified fence is permissible for fences containing less than two 
energized strands and having a minimum height of less than twenty 
four (24) inches measured from grade to the energized strand, 
provided that the provisions of Section 8.10.10.6 of Article 8 are 
followed.    

 

2. Electrified fences installed for the keeping of livestock on 
agriculturally zoned property as defined in the Unified 
Development Code, provided that the provisions of Section 
8.10.10.6 of Article 8 are followed.   

8.10.10.3 Permit & Plan Submittal.  

246

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-56 

 

A building permit is required prior to the installation, repair, and 
alteration of electrified fences. A separate permit is required for the 
installation of a protective barrier.  Complete applications for 
electrified fences shall include the following: 

1. Site plan showing the location of the protective barrier and the 
electrified fence on the property in relationship to property lines, 
walkways and exiting buildings. 

 
2. Fence details showing both the electrified fence and protective 

barrier, including all gates. 
 
3. Electrical details showing the equipment, wiring diagrams, 

grounding, and other information to ensure compliance with the 
Electrical Code. 

 
4. Energizer Output Certification Form as prescribed in Section 

8.10.10.7. of Article 8. 
 

8.10.10.4 Location Restrictions.  

Electrified fences shall not be installed at the following locations: 

1. Within five (5) feet of a building exit. 
 
2. Within thirty (30) feet of a hazardous material storage or handling 

areas. 
 
3. On roof tops or within buildings. 
 
4. All residential uses 

 
8.10.10.5 Electrified Fence Height. 

Electrified fences shall be restricted to a maximum height of two (2) 
feet above the height of the protective barrier. 

8.10.10.6 Electrical Equipment Standards.  

Electrical equipment, wiring, and grounding shall comply with the 
provisions of this Code and the following standards: 

1. The energizer output shall comply with Section 22.108 of the 
International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC) 60335-2-76 
Standard, as amended. 

 
2. Energizers shall provide pulsed power. 
 

247

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-57 

3. AC current shall not be used to energize any electrified fence. 
 
4. The energizer shall be powered by a DC battery not to exceed 12 

volts. A trickle charger and solar panels may be used to recharge 
the battery but shall not directly energize the fence. 

 
5. All ground system cables shall be properly insulated. 
 
6. The electrified fence grounding system shall not be connected to 

any plumbing systems. 
 
7. Each energizer shall be connected to its own ground system and 

shall not be connected to any other grounding system. 
 
8.10.10.7 Energizer Output Certification.  

The applicant shall sign a form provided by the City of Grand Prairie 
certifying that the electrified fence energizer output characteristics 
comply with Section 22.108 of the IEC 6335- 2-76 International 
Standard, as amended. 

8.10.10.8 Protective Barrier.  

The perimeter of the secure area shall be protected by an additional 
non-electrified fence meeting the following standards: 

1. The protective barrier shall be a permanent fence or wall at least 
six (6) feet in height above the adjacent grade, subject to the 
limitations of the City of Grand Prairie Zoning Ordinance. A solid 
wall is required when the protective barrier fence is adjacent to all 
residential zoning.  

 
2. Openings in the protective barrier shall not allow for the passage 

of a two (2) inch sphere. The maximum vertical clearance between 
grade and the bottom of the protective barrier shall be two (2) 
inches. Exception: At rolling gates, the maximum vertical clearance 
between grade and the bottom of the protective barrier shall be 
four (4) inches. 

 
3. The protective barrier shall be separated from the electrified fence 

by a minimum of six (6) inches and a maximum of twelve (12) 
inches. Exception: Conductive stands installed at gates installed in 
protective barriers shall be separated from the gate by a maximum 
of twelve (12) inches. 

 
 
8.10.10.9 Warning Signs.  

248

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-58 

 

Electrified fences shall be clearly marked with warning signs. The 
warning signs shall be placed on the protective barrier at each 
entrance to the secure area and at intervals not to exceed thirty (30) 
feet along the entire perimeter of the fence line. Warning signs shall 
be located not less than five (5) feet above the adjacent walking 
surface. 

8.10.10.10 Graphics.  

Warning signs shall be printed on both sides in both English and 
Spanish with the following text: "WARNING ELECTRIC FENCE" and 
contain the international symbol for electrical shock hazard. Signs 
shall be reflective with a minimum two (2) inch letter height, minimum 
stroke of one-half (½) inch and have a contrasting background. 

8.10.10.11 Knox Box or Key Switch.  

A Grand Prairie Fire Department permitted and approved key switch 
shall be installed to provide secure access to the electrical power 
disconnect switch by public safety personnel. The key switch shall be 
located at the main entry point to the property in a location approved 
by the Fire Marshall. 

8.10.10.12 Commercial Business Hours of Activation.  

An electrified fence shall not be energized during the hours of normal 
business operation. However, where businesses are operating 
continuously on a twenty-four (24) hour basis the conductors of an 
electrified fence shall not be energized unless all authorized persons 
within or entering the secure area have been informed of the 
electrified fence location. 

8.10.10.13 Alarm Registration.  

In accordance with Section 17-63 of the Code of Ordinances, a Fire 
Alarm permit shall be secured prior to the operation of the security 
system.  

 

SECTION 11 – FENCING EXCEPTIONS 
 
8.11 Exceptions. 

8.11.1 Exceptions for Alternative Fencing Materials in Residential Zoning Districts 

A. An exception to allow for an alternative fencing material in a residential zoning 
district may be administratively approved by the Chief Building Official or designee 
upon satisfaction of the following criteria: 

i. The fence material shall not be one of the materials prohibited for 
construction of residential fences under Section 8.10.7.2. 

249

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-59 

ii. The material shall be manufactured in a factory. The material must provide 
above-average lifespan and meet all building code requirements.  The 
submission of a manufacturer specification sheet is required. 

iii. Visual depictions or elevations of construction shall be required for review of 
appearance prior to approval of the request. Examples of permitted 
alternative materials are shown in Exhibit 8 of this Article.  

1. If metal is proposed, the exterior must provide a durable finish. Material 
used for metal fences shall be anodized, baked, painted, or powder-coated 
at the factory. 

2. If precast masonry is proposed, the material shall simulate wood, stone, 
brick, or equivalent.   

iv. An alternative material, design or method of construction shall comply with 
the intent of the provisions of this code, and that the material, method, or 
work offered is, for the purpose intended, at least the equivalent of that 
prescribed in this ordinance in quality, strength, effectiveness, fire resistance, 
durability, and safety. 

v. If the Chief Building Official or designee determines that the proposed 
alternative fencing material does not meet the criteria of this Section or intent 
of this Code, the request may be appealed to the Zoning Board of Adjustments 
and Appeals for final determination.  

 
8.11.2 Other Exceptions 

A. For all other eExceptions to the requirements of this Section for Non-Required 
fences not covered in Section 8.11.1, a request may be granted by the Zoning 
Board of Adjustments and Appeals upon satisfaction of the following criteria: 

 
i. Proposed fence is primarily for security purposes, and 

 
ii. Proposed fence is composed of materials recognized as normal fencing 

material including, but not limited to, chain link and wood, and does not 
include such materials as corrugated metal or fiberglass. 

 
SECTION 12 – DIMENSIONAL GAP BETWEEN ABUTTING RESIDENTIAL FENCES 
 
8.12 Dimensional Gap between Abutting Residential Fences. 
 

Residential fences that abut an existing fence that is situated along the rear or interior 
side lot line of an adjoining lot shall be constructed within 12 inches of the existing fence. 

 
A. If a new residential fence is constructed adjacent to an existing fence that is situated 

along the rear or interior side lot line of an adjoining lot, the new residential fence 
shall not be constructed farther than six-inches away from the common property line. 

 

250

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-60 

 

B. New abutting residential fences shall require a gate providing access into the 
dimensional gap between abutting fences if said new fence cannot be constructed 
within six-inches of the rear or interior side lot line of the adjoining lot. 
 

 
SECTION 13 – FENCE MAINTENANCE 
 
8.13 Fence Maintenance. 
 

8.13.1 The area in front of any required screening wall or fence shall be maintained in 
a clean and orderly condition, free of weeds in excess of 12 inches in height, 
debris, and trash. 

 
8.13.2 Any type of fence treatment shall be a minimum of six feet from said tree to 

allow access for maintenance on major thoroughfares behind the street tree 
buffer. 

 
8.13.3 Required fence elements shall be maintained in a neat, orderly, and sound 

manner at all times.  Fences shall be in an upright position with all panels, wall 
brick or other parts in place and firmly attached.  Replacement of broken or 
missing parts shall occur on a prompt and regular basics.   

 
8.13.4 All fences shall be maintained by the property owner or a duly established 

property owners association or Public Improvement District.  Ultimately, the 
property owner shall be responsible for  maintenance of the required 
improvements in a manner consistent with the original installation 
requirements.   

 
8.13.5 For all new residential subdivisions with required fences platted after May 1, 

1998, deed restrictions must be filed for lots with a required fence notifying the 
lot owner of these fence maintenance requirements and authorizing the City to 
perform the needed maintenance and place a lien against a property to 
reimburse the City for associated costs, after proper notice has been given to 
the property owner. 

 
8.13.6 Uniform fence maintenance provisions required along collector and arterial 

thoroughfares. 
 

A. All new and existing fences along collector and arterial thoroughfares shall 
be maintained to the minimum quality standards indicated below:  

 
1. Completed fences shall not lean at an angle from the vertical plane any 

greater than five degrees. 
 

251

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-61 

2. Damaged or destroyed fences must be replaced or repaired with a fence 
built to exact same design standards, colors and materials as the 
established fence.  An established fence shall be a fence determined by 
the Development Review Committee as a uniform fence of consistent 
design and materials, which is in place on more than 80% of the lots in 
that subdivision on that block adjacent to a collector or arterial.  
Variations from original design and material standards may be approved 
by the Development Review Committee or appointed designee in those 
instances where the original fence materials are no longer available.  

 
B. New residential subdivisions with required fences platted after May 20, 

2003 shall Require the establishment of a mandatory property-owners 
association and/or a public improvement district (PID) to enforce and fund 
maintenance requirements contained herein at the expense of the 
mandatory property-owners association of the development and/or PID for 
all uniform fences constructed along all single family detached, single family 
attached and two-family residential lots which back up to a collector and/or 
an arterial street. 

 
 
SECTION 14 – GATED ENTRYWAY 
 
8.14 Gated Entryway. 
 

8.14.1 Gated entryways for single family detached and single family attached 
residential drive-ways shall be designed with a minimum gate setback of 20 feet 
from the current or future (which-ever is greater) street right-of-way line. 

 
8.14.2 Gated entryways for multi-family residential developments shall be designed in 

accordance with Article 11, “Performance Standards,” Section 11.13.1 of this 
Unified Development Code.  

 
8.14.3 Gated entryways for non-residential development shall be designed with a 

minimum gate setback of 100 feet from the current or future (whichever is 
greater) street right-of-way line.  Additional setback distance may be required 
by the Director of Transportation Services. 

 
SECTION 15 – EXHIBITS AND RECOMMENDED VARIETIES 
 
The City shall have the right to plant, prune, maintain and remove trees, plants and shrubs within 
the right-of-way lines of all streets, alleys, avenues, lanes, squares and public grounds, as may be 
necessary to ensure public safety or to preserve or enhance the symmetry and beauty of such 
public grounds. 
 
 
 

252

Item 30.

http://www.gptx.org/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=559


ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-62 

 

 
 
 

Continue to Next Page  

253

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-63 

 

Exhibit 1: Tree Care 
 
 

 
 
 
  

254

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-64 

 

 

Exhibit 2: Tree Measurement Methods 
 

 
 
 
 

255

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-65 

Exhibit 3: Tree Critical Root Zone 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Critical Root Zone (CRZ):  The area of undisturbed natural soil around a tree defined by a 
concentric circle with a radius equal to the distance from the trunk to the outermost portion of 
the drip line. 
 
Drip Line:  A vertical line running through the outermost portion of the canopy of a tree and 
extending to the ground. 
 
  

256

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-66 

 

Exhibit 4: Typical Divided Thoroughfare 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Continue to Next Page 
  

257

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-67 

Exhibit 5: Recommended Varieties (Large and Medium Trees) 

  

Common Name Botanical Name 
Height 

x Width 

Drought 
Tolerant 

Afghan Pine Pinus eldarica 40’x20’ Yes 

American Smoketree Cotinus obovatus 30’x20’ No 

Austrian Pine Pinus Nigra 40’x25’ No 

Bald Cypress Taxondium distichum 60’x30’ No 

Black Gum Nyssa sylvatica 50’x25’ Yes 

Black Hickory Carya texana 60’x50’ No 

Caddo Maple Acer barbarum 60’x40’ No 

Canaert Juniper Juniperus virginiana 30’x20’ No 

Chinese Pistache Pistachia chinesis 40’x30’ Yes 

Deodar Cedar Cedrus deodara 40’x30’ Yes 

Durand Oak Quercus durandii  No 

Ky. Coffee Tree Gymnocladus dioicus 75’x35’ Yes 

Lacebark Elm Ulmus parvifolia 50’x35’ Yes 

Leyland Cypress Cupressus arizonica 40’x15’ No 

Little-Leaf Linden Tilia cordata 60’x40’ No 

Live Oaks 1   Yes 

Sawtooth Oak Quercus accutisima 60’x50’ No 

Sycamore Platanus occidentalis 70’x60’ No 

White Ash Fraxinus americana 30’x30’ No 

Willow Oak Quercus phellos 60’x30’ No 

Bigtooth Maple Acer grandidentatum 50’x30’ No 

Black Walnut Juglans nigra 80’x60’ No 

Bur Oak Quercus macrocarpa 60’x40’ Yes 

Cedar Elm Ulmus crassifolia 50’x40’ Yes 

Chinquapin Oak Quercus muehlenbergii 60’x40’ Yes 

Chittamwood Bumelia lanuginosa 40’x30’ No 

Coastal Live Oak Quercus virginiana 50’x50’ No 

E’cpment Life Oak Quercus fusiformis 40’x40’ Yes 

Gum Bumelaa Bumelia lanuginosa  No 

Lacey Oak Quercus Laceyii 50’x45’ Yes 

Nogolito Juglans microcarpa 30’x20’ No 

Pecan Carya illinocensis 80’x60’ Yes 

Post Oak Quercus stellata 60’x45’ Yes 

Schumard (Red)Oak 1 Quercus shumardii 70’x50’ Yes 

Slippery Elm Ulmus rubra 70’x60’ No 

Sweet Gum Liquidamber styraciflora 60’x40’ Yes 

Texas Ash Fraxinus texansis 50’x40’ No 

Texas Buckeye Aesculus arguta 30’x20’ No 

Texas Persimmon Diospyrus virginiana 35’x20’ No 

Texas Red Oak Quercus texana 30’x30’ Yes 

Texas Walnut Juglandaceae texana  No 

Thornless Honey 
Locust 

Gleditsia triancanthos 
inermis 

80’x60 
No 

Water Oak Quercus nigra 50’x40’ Yes 

Western Soapberry Sapindus saponaris 30’x20’ No 

Winged Elm Ulmus alata 35’x40’ No 
Nogolito 

Western Soapberry Escarpment Live Oak 

Black Gum Lacebark Elm 

American Smoke Tree Live Oak 

Sycamore Caddo Maple 

Bur Oak 

258

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-68 

 

Exhibit 5: Recommended Varieties (Small Trees and Large Shrubs) 

 

Common Name Botanical Name 
Height 

x 
Width 

Drought 
Tolerant 

Buford Holly Ilex cornuta 20’x15’ Yes 

Carolina Cherry Laurel Orybys carikubuaba 25’x15’ Yes 

Crape Myrtle 1/2 Lagerstroemia indica 15’x10’ Yes 

Flatwoods Plum Prunus umbellata 15’x10’ Yes 

Flowering Crabapple Malus hybrida 20’x20’ Yes 

Forest Pansy Redbud Cercis canadensis 20’x15’ No 

Foster Holly #2 Ilex x attenuata 25’x15’ No 

Golden Rain Tree Koelreuterua paniculata 25’x15’ Yes 

Japanese Black Pine Pinus thunbergii 30’x30’ No 

Japanese Maple Acer palmatum 15’x10’ No 

Lemon Bottlebrush Callistemon citrinus 15’x15’ No 

Lettle-leaf Palo Verde Cercidium microphyllum 12’x15’ No 

Nellie R. Stevens Holly Ilex aquifolium 20’x15’ No 

Rocky Mtn. Juniper Juniperus scopulorum 30’x15’ Yes 

Roemer Acacia Acacia roemeriana 15’x15’ No 

Chaste Tree Vitex agnuscastus 15’x20’ No 

Weeping Bottlebrush Callistemon viminalis 20’x15’ No 

Weeping Holly Ilex vomitoria ‘Pendula’ 12’x8’ No 

Ashe Juniper Juniperus ashei 25’x15’ Yes 

Carolina Buckthorn Rhamnus caroliniana 20’x15’ No 

Desert Willow Chilopsis linearis 20’x15’ No 

Eve’s Necklace Tree Sophora affinis 20’x15’ Yes 

Flame-leaf Sumac Rhus lanceolata 20’x15’ Yes 

Fragrant Ash Fraxinus cuspidata 15’x10’ Yes 

Kidneywood Eysenhardtia polystachya 20’x12’ Yes 

Mexican Buckeye Ungnadia speciosa 20’x20’ Yes 

Mexican Plum Prunus mexicana 25’x25’ Yes 

Netleaf Hackberry Celtis reticulate 25’x25’ No 

Possumhaw Holly Ilex decidua 15’x10’ No 

Redbud Cercis canadensis 25’x20’ No 

Rusty Blackhaw Viburnum rufidulum 25’x20’ Yes 

Scarlet Buckeye Aesculus pavia 25’x20’ No 

Smooth Sumac Rhus glabra 15’x10’ No 

Southern Wax Mrytle Myrica cerifera 15’x10’ No 

Texas Madrone Arbutus xalafensis 25’x20’ No 

TX Mountain Laurel Sophora secundiflora 15’10’ Yes 

Texas Persimmon Diospyros texana 25’x20’ Yes 

Texas Pistache Pistacia texana 20’x15’ Yes 

Wright Acacia Acacia wrightii 15’x15’ No 

Yaupon Holly Ilex vomitoria VARIES No 

 

Flatwoods Plum Rocky Mountain Juniper 

Texas Persimmon Rusty Blackhaw 

Eve’s Necklace Tree Mexican Buckeye 

Carolina Cherry Laurel 

Crape Myrtle 

259

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-69 

Exhibit 5: Recommended Varieties (Shrubs) 
 

 
Common Name Botanical Name 

Height 
x 

Width 

Drought 
Tolerant 

Blue Vase Juniper Juniperus chinensis 5’x4’ No 

Bridalwreath Spirea Spirea prunifolia 7’x5’ Yes 

Carissa Holly Ilex cornuta ‘Carissa’ 4’x5’ No 

Cornpact Nandina Nandina domestica 5’x3’ Yes 

Cotoneaster Cotoneaster varies No 

Crimson Pygmy Barberry Berberis thunbergii 2’x1.5’ Yes 

Dwarf Burford Holly Ilex cornuta 7’x4’ Yes 

Dwarf Crape Myrtle Lagerstroemia indica 6’x4’ Yes 

Dwarf Flowering Quince Chaenomeles japonica 3’x3’ No 

Dwarf Horned Holly Ilex cornuta ‘Rotunda’ 4’x4’ No 

Dwarf Japanese Holly Ilex crenata ‘Compacta’ 4’x4’ No 

Dwarf Nandina Nandina domestica 3’x3’ No 

Dwarf Pfitzer Juniper Juniperus chinenesis 2’x6’ No 

Dwarf Pomegranate Punica granatum  5’x4’ No 

Dwarf Yaupon Holly Ilex vinutirua ‘Nana’ 4’x4’ Yes 

Ebbing’s Silverberry Eleagnus x ebbengei 10’x5’ No 

Edward Goucher Abelia Abelia grandiflora 5’x5’ No 

Firethorn Pyracantha varies No 

Flowering Quince Chaenomeles speciosa 7’x5’ No 

Forsythia Forsythia x intermedia 6’x6’ No 

Giant Liriope Liriope gigantea 3’x3’ No 

Glossy Abelia Abelia grandiflora 6’x5’ Yes 

Heller Japanese Holly Ilex crenata ‘Helleri’ 3’x4’ No 

Hypericum Hypericum henryii 3’x3’ No 

Japanese Acuba Acuba japonica 4’x4’ No 

Japanese Aralia Fatasia joponica 10’x10’ No 

Japanese Boxwood Buxus microphylla japonica 10’x10’ Yes 

Japanese Garden Juniper Juniperus procumbens 2’x6’ No 

Lantana Lantana varies No 

Lavender Cotton Santolina 2’x3’ No 

Leatherleaf Mahonia Mahonia bealei 4’x3’ No 

Nandina Nandina domestica varies No 

Needlepoint Holly Ilex cornuta 5’x5’ No 

Pfitzer Juniper Juniperus chinenesis 5’x10’ No 

Prostrate abelia Abelia grandiflora 2’x2’ No 

Prostrate Crape Myrtle Lagerstroemia indica 3’x3’ Yes 

Purpleleaf Barberry Berberis thunbergii ‘Atropurpurea’ 5’x4’ No 

Pygmy Barberry Berberis thunbergii ‘Chrimson Pygmy’ 2’x3’ No 

Rosemary Rosmarinus officinalis ‘Tuscan Blue’ 3’x4’ Yes 

Salvia   No 

Shore Juniper Juniperus conferta 2’x4’ No 

Texas Sage Leucophyllum frutescens Varies Yes 

Vanhoutte Spirea Spirea x vanhouttei 6’x5’ Yes 

Variegated Chinese Privet Ligustrum sinense ‘Variegata’ 7’x7’ No 

Wilson Holly Ilex cornuta ‘Wilsonii’ 5’x5’ No 

Wood Fern Thelypteris kunthii 2’x2’ No 

Agarita Mahonia trifoliata 5’x2.5’ Yes 

Beautyberry Callicarpa americana 10’x6’ No 

Buttonbush Cephalanthus occidentalis 8”x6’ No 

Coralberry Symphoricarpos orbiculatus 2’x2’ No 

Fragrant Sumac Rhus aromatica 8’x6’ No 

Roughleaf Dogwood Cornus drummondii 6’x5’ No 

White Honeysuckle Lonicera albiflora 4’x4’ Yes 

Wood Fern 

Lantana 

Beautyberry 

Fragrant Sumac 

260

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-70 

 

Exhibit 5: Recommended Varieties (Ground Cover/Bedding Plants) 
 

 

 

Exhibit 5: Recommended Varieties (Ornamental Grasses) 
 

  

Common Name Botanical Name 
Drought 
Tolerant 

 Asiatic Jasmine Trachelospermum asiaticum  Yes 

 Cast Iron Plant Apidistra elatior           No 

 Creeping Juniper Juniperus horizontalis (cultivars) No 

 Dalia Greggil Dalea greggii  No 

 Japanese Garden Juniper Juniperus procumbens (cultivars)  No 

 Lilyturf Liriope (cultivars)  No 

Mondo Grass Ophiopogon japonicus (cultivars) Yes 

 Periwinkle Vinca major & minor  No 

Shore Juniper Juniperus conferta No 

Trailing Lantana Lantana montevidensis No 

Wintercreeper Euonymus fortunel No 

Common Name Botanical Name No 

Coral Berry Symphoricarpos orbiculatus Yes 

 Horse Herb Calyptocarpus vialus   Yes 

Trumpet Creeper  Campsis radicans  Yes 

 Virginia Creeper {arthenocissus quinquefolia  Yes 

Bermuda Grass Cynodon dactylon  No 

 Buffalo Grass Buchloe dactyloides   No 

  Zoysia Grass Zoysia spp.  No 

Common Name Botanical Name 

Big Bluestem Amdropogon gerardil  

Broomsedge Bluestem Andropogon virginicus    

Canada Wild Rye Elymus canadensis   

Dwarf Fountaingrass Pennisetum alopecuroides ‘Hamelin’ 

Eulalia Micanthus spp. 

Fountain Grass Pennisetum spp. 

Indian Grass Sorghastrum nutans 

Inland Sea Oats Chasmanthium latifollum 

Lemon Grass Cymbopogon citrates 

Lindheimer’s Muhly Muhlenbergia lindheimeri 

Little Bluestem Schizachyrium scoparium 

Maiden Grass Miscanthus sinensis ‘Gracillimus’ 

Pampas Grass Cortaderia selloana 

Purple Fountain Grass Pennisetum setaceum ‘Rhubrum’ 

Purple Muhly Muhlenbergia filipes 

Reed Grass Calamagrostis spp. 

Seep Muhly Muhlenbergia reverchoni 

Sideoats Grama Bouteloua curtipendula 

Silver Bluestem Bothriochioa saccharoides 

Splitbeard Bluestem Andropogon ternaries 

Sugarcane Plumegrass Erianthus giganteus 

Switchgrass Panicum virgatum 

Varigated Japanese Silver Grass Miscanthus sinensis ‘Variegatus’ 

Zebra Grass Miscanthus sinensis ‘Zebrinus’ 

Buffalo Grass 

Dalia Greggil 

Trumpet Creeper 

Indian Grass Little Bluestem 

Switch Grass Silver Bluestem 

261

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-71 

 

Exhibit 6: Tree Planting & Staking 
 

 

  

262

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-72 

 

Exhibit 7: Shrub Planting 

 

 

  

263

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-73 

EXHIBIT 8 
 

The following illustrations are intended to provide clarity to the text of Section 8.11. If there is a conflict 
between these illustrations and the requirements of 8.11, these illustrations shall take precedence.  

 

Metal Fence Materials Allowed in Single-Family Residential Zoning Districts 
 

 

   

  
    

264

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-74 

 

Precast Masonry Fence Materials Allowed in Single-Family Residential Zoning 
Districts 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 
  

265

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-75 

SECTION 16 – Tree Protection Standards 
 

8.16 Purpose and Intent 

8.16.1 General Standards 

8.16.2 General Exemptions 

8.16.3 Exempt Development Applications 

8.16.4 Tree Removal Associated with Development 

8.16.5 Tree Removal Not Associated with Development 

8.16.6 Tree Protection Requirements 

A. Tree Protection Plan 

B. Tree Survey 

C. Mitigation Plan 

D. Implementation of Mitigation Plan 

E. Preservation of Large Trees 

8.16.7 Tree Protection During Construction 

8.16.8 Tree Removal Evaluation and Authorization 

A. Completeness of Application 

B. Decision on Exemption 

C. Decision 

D. Criteria for Approval 

E. Effect 

F. Occupancy Limitations 

G. Plan Verification and Enforcement 

8.16.9 Establishment of Urban Forest Fund 

A. Account Established 

B. Fee Established 

C. Collection of Fees 

D. Use of Urban Forest Fund 

8.16.10 Administration and Relief Measures 

A. Administration 

B. Relief Measures 

8.16.11 Definitions 
  

266

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-76 

 

8.16 Purpose and Intent 

The general purpose of these standards is to preserve and protect a diminishing natural 
resource, specifically existing native and adapted site trees located in the City of Grand 
Prairie. Furthermore, these measures are to encourage the planting of trees to replace 
and supplement the City’s urban forest during the development, construction, and 
redevelopment process.  

Primarily, the focus of this Section is to protect mature trees eight (8) Caliper Inches and 
larger of desirable species which are defined as Protected Trees. Undesirable species are 
listed in the definitions section and defined as Unprotected Trees. The City Council 
recognizes that Protected Trees often must be removed during the development process 
and has defined mitigation measures to aid in the reforestation of the City over time. 
Specific purposes include the following: 

A. To promote tree and tree canopy preservation through site design standards and 
by controlling indiscriminate removal of Protected Trees, 

B. To contribute to the long-term viability of existing trees through their protection 
during land disturbing and land development activities; while balancing the rights 
of property owners with the overall interests of the community, 

C. To preserve trees as an important resource that enhances the quality of life and 
the general welfare of the city; by promoting its unique character as well as the 
physical, historical, and aesthetically pleasing environment, 

D. To enhance the community with the cleansing and cooling of air as well as creating 
an environment that enhances the physical and mental wellness of the citizens, 

E. To promote environmental elements that increase property values, reduce energy 
costs, reduce the number of pollutants entering streams, and provide elements 
that are crucial for a healthy local ecosystem, 

F. To encourage the preservation of environmentally sensitive areas, such as natural 
areas, floodplains, Reparian Buffers or Erosion Hazard Setbacks, and open spaces 
that protect the water quality ecosystem, and 

G. To recognize the economic value added to properties with trees when the tree 
canopy coverage is maintained and supplemented with new trees. 

8.16.1 General Standards 

A. Applicability.  

The provisions of Section 16 – Tree Protection Standards apply as follows: 

1. To any activity resulting in removal of any Protected Tree on any lot, parcel, 
or public land that is not exempt under General exemptions, Section 8.16.2; 

2. To any plat application or site plan application that is not exempt under 
Exempt development applications, Section 8.16.3; 

3. To any building or clearing grubbing/earthwork permit application that is not 
exempt under Exempt development applications, Section 8.16.3; and 

4. This section applies to city property in the same manner as private property. 

B. Prohibitions. 

267

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-77 

1. No Protected Tree shall be removed unless: 

a. The tree is located on property subject to General exemption, Section 
8.16.2 or Exempt development applications, Section 8.16.3; or 

b. Removal of the tree has been authorized under an approved tree 
protection plan pursuant to Tree protection requirements, Section 
8.16.6, and authorized by Tree removal evaluation and authorization, 
Section 8.16.8. 

c. Removal has been authorized by the Tree Preservation 
Administrator. 

2. Clear-cutting of land without City approvals associated with this section is 
prohibited. 

3. Riparian Buffers or Erosion Hazard Setbacks (See Drainage Manual) shall be 
Non-disturbance areas unless authorized by the floodplain administrator. 

8.16.2 General Exemptions  

Exempt activities and conditions.  The following are exempt from the requirements of 
Section 16. A Protected Tree may be removed for the following activities without any 
other obligation imposed by these regulations related to tree protection.  The 
requirements specified in Section 16 shall not be required for and/or in the following 
circumstances: 

A. Single-family and Duplex Units.  

Removal of a Protected Tree by the owner or authorized agent of a finally platted 
lot or parcel occupied by a single-family or duplex dwelling unit, for which the City 
has authorized occupancy. 

B. Pruning.  

Pruning Protected Trees solely for the purpose of removing diseased limbs or to 
shape for aesthetic and safety purposes, according to the applicable provisions of 
the Texas Association of Nurserymen Grades and Standards. Pruning does not 
include tree topping a Protected Tree which is prohibited. 

C. Homeowners.  

An owner-occupied residence located in a residentially zoned district on five (5) 
acres or less is exempt from the tree protection and replacement requirements of 
this ordinance. 

D. City or School Sports and Recreation Facilities.  

Removal of Protected Trees within soccer, baseball, football, or other sports 
facilities such as golf courses along with hike and bike trails, which are open for 
public use. 

E. Diseased, Damaged, or Dead Trees.  

A diseased, damaged, or dead Protected Tree may be removed by the City or the 
owner of the land on which the tree is located upon contacting the Tree 
Preservation Administrator. 

F. Emergency Conditions.  

Trees posing an imminent or immediate threat to persons or property may be 
removed. However, photographs of the removal shall be submitted to the Tree 
Preservation Administrator within 72 hours of removal. 

G. Public Health and Safety.  

268

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-78 

 

A Protected Tree that is in danger of falling, creates unsafe vision clearance or 
otherwise poses a hazard to the public health or safety may be removed by the 
city or the owner of the land on which the tree is located, when approved by the 
Tree Preservation Administrator. 

H. Agricultural and Ranching Activities.  

Removal of a Protected Tree within a vacant parcel of land at least five (5) acres 
in size in conjunction with farming or ranching activities, except activities 
conducted within an Erosion Hazard Setback or Riparian Buffer Zone, where the 
area shall be a Non-disturbance area unless authorized by the floodplain 
administrator. 

I. Utility Service Interruption.  

The tree has disrupted a public utility service due to tornado, flood, or another 
natural act. Removal shall be limited to the part of the tree which is found 
necessary to re-establish and maintain the utility service. 

J. Utility Service Companies and Distribution/Transmission Lines.  

Utility companies shall not be subject to the tree protection or replacement in this 
section when establishing distribution and transmission lines. Right-of-Way, 
easements, or similar public property maintained by utility companies shall not be 
subject to this section. The foregoing notwithstanding, new utility service shall be 
routed in a manner that prevents the removal of Protected Trees. 

K. Utility and Drainage Easement Maintenance.  

Utility service providers, including the City, or their contractors, agents, 
successors, and assigns shall have the right to maintain their facilities, through 
removal or trimming of Protected Trees located within lawfully designated 
easements or rights-of-way, to prevent any part of such trees from becoming a 
danger to public health, safety, and welfare by interfering with utility service. 
Where possible, trimming shall be done in a manner such that the aesthetics and 
health of the trees are not destroyed.  

L. Public and Private Street Dedications.  

Newly dedicated Right-of-Way necessary for the orderly and efficient 
development of property. 

M. Plant or Tree Nursery.  

Activities within a plant nursery related to trees grown on the premises solely for 
sale, retail, or wholesale. 

N. Public Utilities and Infrastructure.  

Removal of a Protected Tree by the City, another governmental entity or a public 
utility in any right-of-way or easement dedicated to and accepted by the City. 

O. Pre-Existing Paved Surfaces.  

Replacement or maintenance of any paved surface that existed on or before the 
effective date of these regulations and is located within the critical root zone of a 
Protected Tree. 

P. Pre-Existing Public Contracts.  

Removal of a Protected Tree on property for which a design contract has been 
awarded by the City Council on or before the effective date of these regulations.  

8.16.3 Exempt Development Applications 

269

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-79 

The following development applications are exempt: 

A. Zoning applications.  

Any application to change the zoning district classification of property or amend 
the regulations applicable to the district. Subsequent site plans or plat requests 
for the property may be subject to tree protection requirements. 

B. Filed or Vested Plat applications, not including replats. 

C. Any plat application approved before or on the effective date of this section; or 

1. Any plat application pending for approval on such date, provided the 
application is subsequently approved; or 

2. Any subsequent plat application in the same series as the approved or 
pending plat application. 

3. For plat applications filed after the effective date of this section, the applicant 
must seek a determination from the Tree Preservation Administrator 
pursuant to procedures in Tree removal evaluation and authorization, Section 
8.16.8, that the application is exempt based on prior approvals. 

D. Filed or Vested Site plan applications.  

Any application for a site plan required by the Unified Development Code (UDC) 
and approved before or on the effective date of this section or any site plan 
application pending approval on such date, provided the application is 
subsequently approved. 

E. Filed, Pending Approval, or Vested Building permit applications. 

1. Any application for a building permit approved before or on the effective date 
of this section; or 

2. Any building permit application pending for approval on the effective date, 
provided the application is subsequently approved; 

3. Any building permit application filed after the effective date of this section for 
a single-family or duplex residential use on a lot or tract in a subdivision 
subject to an exempt plat application; or 

4. Any building permit application filed after the effective date of this section for 
a nonresidential or apartment use on land subject to an exempt site plan 
application; or 

5. Any building permit application for land on which all Protected Trees have 
been removed pursuant to an approved Tree protection plan. 

6. For building permit applications filed after the effective date of this section, 
or for applications for land on which all Protected Trees have been removed 
pursuant to an approved Tree protection plan, the applicant must seek a 
determination from the Tree Preservation Administrator pursuant to Tree 
removal evaluation and authorization, Section 8.16.8, that the application is 
exempt based on prior approvals. 

F. Vested applications.  

Any application for which it is determined that the applicant has a vested right to 
proceed under prior regulations, provided that the application or a prior approved 
application upon which the vesting claim is based remains in effect for such land. 

8.16.4 Tree Removal Associated with Development 

A. Every development application submitted after the effective date of Section 16 
shall include a tree protection plan that includes a tree survey or a certification 

270

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-80 

 

that no trees are present on the lot(s) or parcel(s) being developed unless waived 
by the Tree Preservation Administrator in accordance with this section. The tree 
protection plan or certification shall be submitted as part of the landscape plan if 
required. 

B. If the development application does not require a landscape plan, the Tree 
Preservation Administrator may waive the requirement to submit a tree 
protection plan and/or tree survey provided that the applicant submits the 
location, size (in caliper inches), species of the Protected Trees to be removed, 
trees used for mitigation, trees used for landscape tree credit; and mitigation fee, 
if applicable. 

C. For phased development, the submitted tree survey and tree protection plan may 
be limited to only those areas where development activity will occur during the 
current phase provided trees are not removed from future phases. 

8.16.5 Tree Removal Not Associated with Development 

A. Applicant seeks authorization to remove a Protected Tree for activities not 
associated with a development application approval. The following information or 
documents shall be submitted to the Tree Preservation Administrator: 

B. Name and contact information for the applicant; 

C. Address and location of the platted lot or tract where the subject tree removal is 
requested; 

D. Identification of each Protected Tree to be removed (see Tree survey, Section 
8.16.6.B for guidelines), description of the methods to be used to mitigate the 
removal of each Protected Tree (see Mitigation plan, Section 8.16.6.C). 

8.16.6 Tree Protection Requirements 

No plat, site plan or building permit application subject to this Section shall be 
determined to be complete unless accompanied by a proposed tree protection plan. 
The tree protection plan shall be submitted with the first application for the 
development, unless deferred in the following tree protection plan options. Plan shall 
be reviewed by the Tree Preservation Administrator for processing and decision in 
accordance with Tree removal evaluation and authorization, Section 8.16.7. 

A tree protection plan is required for plats and site plans. A tree protection plan must 
be prepared and submitted for approval with the submission of the following unless 
waived: 

• Plat applications that are non-exempt;  

• Site Plans that are non-exempt for non-residential, multi-family, and 
townhome uses; and  

• Building permit applications associated with non-exempt activities for which 
plat or site plan approval has not been obtained and is not required.  

A. Tree protection plan shall contain: 

1. A Tree survey, Section, 8.16.6.B 

2. A Mitigation plan; Section, 8.16.6.C 

3. A table summarizing the site inventory of Protected Trees, Unprotected Tree 
species equal to or greater than eight (8) caliper inches in diameter which are 
being removed, trees being utilized for mitigation and/or landscaping tree 
credit, including the key number, determination of mitigation requirement, a 

271

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-81 

notation if mitigation is not applicable due to the location or tree condition 
(see Sample Tree Survey Table below); 

4. The tree protection plan shall be incorporated into the required landscape 
plans associated with development applications;  

5. Name and contact information for the applicant; 

6. Name and location of the proposed subdivision or development for which the 
tree protection plan is being submitted; 

7. Clearly indicate Protected Trees “to be removed” with a bold “X,” show 
proposed Pad sight(s) with 10-foot offset, exemptions such as Rights-of-Way, 
and easements, as well as property lines. Protected Trees “to remain” shall 
also be clearly noted on the Tree Survey and incorporated into the landscape 
plan if required; 

8. Location and identification of each tree being used for mitigation or landscape 
tree credit purposes regardless of location. It shall include the species 
(common names), diameter, and key number; 

9. Boundaries of Non-disturbance areas; 

10. Include noted protection measures and/or illustrated details such as fencing 
for Non-disturbance (see SWPPP Standard Details). These areas shall be 

272

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-82 

 

protected during construction according to Tree protection during 
construction, Section 8.16.7; 

11. If applicable, include total Caliper Inches subject to mitigated fee payment into the 
Urban forest fund, Section 8.16.9. 

 
Sample Tree Survey Table 

Tree 
# 

DBH or 
Caliper 
Inches 

Species Protected 
Species 
Yes/No 

Save 
Or 

Remove 

Mitigation 
Status 

Condition 

200 9 Green Ash No Remove N/A-Bldg Fair 

201 10 Cedar Elm Yes Remove N/A-Bldg Fair 

202 7 Hackberry No Remove N/A-Esmt Good 

203 7 Cedar Elm Yes Remove - Poor- 
Severe 

204 23 Cedar Elm Yes Remove N/A Dead 

205 7 Hackberry No Remove - Fair 

206 8 Bois d’arc No Remove - Fair 

207 18 Cedar Elm Yes Save - Fair 

208 24 Texas 
Live Oak 

Yes Save - Fair 

209 6 Pecan Yes Remove - Fair 

210 3 Oak Yes Save - Good 

211 4 Oak Yes Save - Good 

 
Sample Mitigation Table 

Lot 

Non-exempt 
Protected Trees 
to be Removed 
Caliper Inches 

New Trees to 
be planted 

Caliper 
Inches 

Existing 
Tree 

Credit 
Caliper Inches 

Required 
Mitigation 

Fee 
Caliper 
Inches 

Lot 1 24 18 6 0 

Lot 2 131 90 0 41 

Lot 3 50 24 12 14 

Lot 4 24 12 12 0 

Total 229 144 30 55 

 

B. Tree survey. 

1. The tree survey shall be prepared by a Qualified Professional. During the tree 
survey, each tree eight (8) caliper inches or greater in diameter, shall be 
tagged and assigned a unique key number. Each tree species shall be 
identified and noted in the summary tree survey table as illustrated unless 
located in a Non-disturbance area. 

273

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-83 

2. The tree survey shall be a drawn at the same scale as the proposed 
development and identify the following: 

a. Location and identification of each tree eight (8) Caliper Inches or 
greater not located in a Non-disturbance Area. It shall include the 
species (common names), diameter and key number; 

b. The boundary of each individual Non-disturbance area, where 
vegetation will not be removed or otherwise disturbed during the 
development process, shall be clearly delineated and noted on the 
plan. The individual tree identification and measurements may be 
omitted in these areas if no landscape tree credit or mitigation is 
needed. These areas shall be protected during construction according 
to Tree protection during construction, Section 8.16.7; 

c. Mitigation and landscape tree credit shall be credited in the following 
manner. Existing Protected Tree species three (3) Caliper Inches or 
greater may be used for mitigation and/or landscape tree credit at a 
1 inch to 1 inch ratio; 

d. Identification of each Protected Tree to be removed by key number; 
and 

e. Total Caliper Inches of Protected Trees to be removed that are not 
exempt by this section and are to be mitigated. 

3. Alternative survey method.  

The Tree Preservation Administrator may authorize a tree survey method that 
differs from the one described in tree survey, above provided the method 
accurately indicates the number of trees, their species, and the total Caliper 
Inches of Protected Trees within the inventory area. 

4. Measurements.  

The following methods shall be used to measure the diameter of a tree (see 
illustration Section 8.15 Exhibit 2): 

a. Single-trunk tree. The diameter of a single-trunk tree shall be 
calculated by measuring the diameter of the trunk at breast height 
(four and one-half (4½) feet above grade). 

b. Multi-trunk tree. The diameter of a multi-trunk tree shall be 
calculated by combining the diameter of the largest stem or trunk 
with one-half (½) of the diameter of each additional stem or trunk, 
each measured at breast height (four and one-half (4½) feet above 
grade). 

C. Mitigation plan.  

The removal of any Protected Tree, except trees in Rights-of-Way, easements, or 
pad sites authorized for removal under a tree protection plan, shall be fully 
mitigated in accordance with one or more of the following methods. The applicant 
may elect among options one through three, or a combination of such options. 
Tree Preservation Administrator approval is required for option four. The 
mitigation plan shall include a detailed description of the methods proposed for 
mitigating removal of Protected Trees. 

274

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-84 

 

1. Transplanting Protected Trees. This method is reserved for small trees and 
replacement is required if the tree dies within two years of being 
transplanted. 

2. Planting new trees at approved locations that replace Protected Trees to be 
removed with equivalent Caliper Inches. 

3. Paying the cash equivalent (mitigation fee) of the number of Caliper Inches 
required to replace the Protected Tree(s) to be removed into the 
reforestation fund ("urban forest fund"), that will be used by the City to plant 
trees in public parks or on City-owned property. 

4. The preservation of smaller, more desirable trees, as described in the 
following Implementation of mitigation plan, upon approval of the Tree 
Preservation Administrator. 

D. Implementation of mitigation plan 

1. Planted, Transplanted, and Existing Landscape tree credit. All trees planted to 
mitigate removal of Protected Trees, including transplanting of a Protected 
Tree, shall be located on original property, or another location mutually 
agreed between the developer and Tree Preservation Administrator. 

2. Minimum tree size to be counted toward mitigation credit at a 1:1 ratio shall 
be three (3) Caliper Inches and species listed as a "large or medium tree” in 
Exhibits and Recommended Varieties, Section 8.15, Exhibit 5. 

3. Required landscaping trees shall not be counted towards mitigation. 

4. The species of trees planted shall be varied, with no one (1) species 
accounting for more than thirty (30) percent of the total trees planted. 

5. Ongoing maintenance for the newly planted and replanted trees shall be 
guaranteed for a period not less than two (2) years following acceptance of 
improvements or issuance of a building permit. Maintenance typically shall 
require installation of permanent irrigation unless alternative measures are 
authorized by the Tree Preservation Administrator. 

E. Preservation of large trees. 

When authorized by the Tree Preservation Administrator, preservation of 
trees of an Unprotected Tree species may mitigate removal of a Protected 
Tree. The total Caliper Inches of such preserved trees shall meet or exceed 
the total Caliper Inches of the Protected Tree to be removed. Trees to be 
preserved shall be no smaller than three (3) Caliper Inches in diameter, shall 
be in healthy and thriving condition prior to construction and shall be included 
in the Tree protection plan, Section 8.16.6.A. 

8.16.7 Tree Protection During Construction 

A. The subdivider or developer shall ensure that Protected Trees are preserved 
throughout the development process. 

B. Non-disturbance areas.  

Each Non-disturbance area within the development site shall be fenced to ensure 
that the area will remain in a natural state. Fencing shall be adequate to prevent 
entry of vehicles or machinery, storage of materials or goods, or any other type of 
trespass that could harm the preserved area during the construction period, as 
determined by the Tree Preservation Administrator. Pedestrian access is 
permitted. 

C. Construction areas.  

275

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-85 

The following measures shall be put into effect by the subdivider or developer to 
assure preservation of Protected Trees that are not to be removed during 
construction (see Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) Standard 
Details). 

1. A four-foot plastic fencing, silt fencing, or other method approved by the Tree 
Preservation Administrator shall be installed around the drip line of all 
Protected Tree(s) prior to commencement of construction. 

2. A construction entrance that avoids Protected Trees shall be established prior 
to commencement of construction. 

3. Construction, placement of fill, excavation, storage of construction materials, 
vehicles, or machinery, cleaning of equipment, the disposal of waste 
materials, or other construction related activity is prohibited under the 
canopy or within the drip line of any Protected Tree, unless expressly 
authorized in writing by the Tree Preservation Administrator. Major changes 
of grade (i.e., six (6) inches or greater) within the canopy or drip line is 
prohibited. A tree shall be considered protected if a minimum of 75% of the 
critical root zone is maintained at undisturbed natural grade and no more 
than 25% of the canopy is removed due to building encroachment. When 
roots more than two (2) inches in diameter are to be cut off, they shall be cut 
with a medium tooth saw and covered with pruning compound within two (2) 
hours of initial exposure. 

4. Trenching for utilities shall not be allowed within the critical root zone of 
existing trees that have been used to receive landscape tree credit, and boring 
under such trees may be required. 

5. Attachments or wires shall not be attached to any Protected Tree. Cables, tree 
rods, and similar hardware installation that aid structural integrity of a 
Protected Tree are exempt from this provision, if approved in writing by the 
Tree Preservation Administrator. 

6. Any trees removed shall be chipped and used for mulch on site or hauled off-
site. 

8.16.8 Tree Removal Evaluation and Authorization 

A. Completeness of application.  

The Tree Preservation Administrator shall review each tree protection plan for 
completeness in accordance with Tree protection plan, Section 8.16.6.A. If the tree 
protection plan is incomplete, any associated plat, site plan or building permit 
shall also be deemed incomplete. 

B. Decision on exemption claim.  

Exemptions shall be evaluated prior to submitting an application for a plat, site 
plan, or building permit application. The Tree Preservation Administrator shall 
evaluate exemption requests under General exemptions, Section 8.16.2 or Exempt 
development applications, Section 8.16.3. The applicant shall receive the 
determination in writing. The applicant may appeal the Tree Preservation 
Administrator's decision in the manner provided in Administration and relief 
measures, Section 8.16.10. 

C. Decision.  

The Tree Preservation Administrator shall decide whether to approve, 
conditionally approve or deny a Tree protection plan submitted pursuant to 
Section 8.16.6.A in accordance with this section. 

276

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-86 

 

1. The tree protection plan shall be approved prior to final plat, site plan, 
building permit, or clearing grubbing/earthwork permit. 

2. Denial of the tree protection plan is grounds for denial of the associated plat, 
site plan, building permit, or clearing grubbing/earthwork permit. 

D. Criteria for Approval.  

The tree protection plan shall be evaluated based on the following:  

1. The tree survey correctly identifies each Protected Tree and/or Non-
disturbance area on the development site; 

2. Each Protected Tree has been appropriately tagged and included on the tree 
survey table; 

3. The mitigation plan for each Protected Tree to be removed meets the 
mitigation requirements; and 

4. The proposed tree protection measures during construction satisfy 
protection requirements during all phases of construction. 

E. Effect.  

Protected Trees can be removed with building or clearing grubbing/earthwork 
permits in accordance with the approved tree protection plan. Protected Tree 
removal not associated with development can be approved with an approved tree 
protection plan in writing from the Tree Preservation Administrator. No Protected 
Tree shall be removed until all the following have occurred: 

1. All Non-disturbance areas and Protected Trees are demarcated and secured 
on the ground in accordance with measures set forth in the tree protection 
plan; 

2. All proposed mitigation fees have been paid, if applicable. 

F. Occupancy limitations.  

No building permit for a single-family or duplex residential use, nor a certificate of 
occupancy for other uses, shall be approved until all mitigation measures in the 
approved tree protection plan have been completed and fees paid. 

G. Plan verification and enforcement.  

1. Inspection.  Approval of a tree protection plan authorizes the Tree 
Preservation Administrator to inspect the property during or after 
construction to determine compliance with the plan. If the Tree Preservation 
Administrator determines that Protected Trees to remain have been 
removed, or that tree protection during construction is not being 
implemented, the Tree Preservation Administrator will request a revised tree 
mitigation plan and seek immediate enforcement of the approved plan, 
including measures to stop work as follows.  

a. Violation during permitted construction. Violations will be given five 
(5) days to revise the Tree protection plan. Section 8.16.6.A. if no 
additional tree removal takes place. 

b. If a revision is not submitted, all construction activities will receive a 
cease-and-desist stop work order. Construction activities will not be 
allowed to continue until a revised tree protection plan has been 
submitted. 

2. Acceptance and/or Permits.  Prior to final acceptance of public improvements 
for the development or issuance of a building permit, the Tree Preservation 

277

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-87 

Administrator shall verify that the developer's obligations under the tree 
protection plan have been fully satisfied. If obligations have not been fulfilled, 
measures shall be identified to bring the development into compliance with 
this section. The tree protection plan shall be updated and shall serve as 
conditions for final acceptance of public improvements or issuance of a 
building permit. 

8.16.9 Establishment of Urban Forest Fund. 

A. Account established.  

The City's finance department shall establish an interest-bearing account into 
which mitigation fees collected under this article are deposited and to which 
interest is allocated. Interest earned on the account into which the mitigation fees 
are deposited shall be considered funds of the account and shall be used solely for 
the purposes established herein. 

B. Fee established.  

A mitigation fee hereby is established in the amount of Two hundred dollars 
($200.00) per Caliper Inch for each Protected Tree removed and that has not been 
otherwise mitigated pursuant to this section. 

C. Collection of fees.  

Mitigation fees shall be collected either at the time of application approval of a 
tree protection plan required under tree protection requirements, or at the time 
of building permit application for fees due under tree removal permit. 

D. Use of Urban Forest Fund Mitigation fees deposited in the Urban Forest Fund and 
interest earned thereon shall be used solely to plant protected trees in public 
space, parks, or other City-owned property. Expenditure of such funds shall 
require approval of the Tree Preservation Administrator, City Manager, or City 
Council as appropriate. 

8.16.10 Administration and Relief Measures 

A. Administration.  

The Tree Preservation Administrator shall be the responsible official for 
administering the contents of this section. 

B. Relief measures require approval by the City Council upon a recommendation 
from the Planning and Zoning Commission. 

8.16.11 Definitions. The following definitions shall apply to this Section 16: 

Caliper Inches.  The measurement of the average cross-sectional diameter of the 
trunk of an existing tree at four and one-half (4½) feet above grade in inches, also 
known as diameter at breast height (DBH). If the tree is on a slope, it shall be 
measured from the high side of the slope. Newly planted trees shall be measured 
six (6) inches above grade. 

Clear-Cut.  The act of cutting down and removing every tree from an area.  

Mitigation.  The act of reducing the severity of tree removal from a development 
site by strategically preserving, planting, or paying into the Urban Tree Fund. 

Non-Disturbance Area. Any area of a proposed subdivision or site within which 
no grading or other development activities will take place. These areas shall be 
protected during construction according to Section 8.16.7. 

278

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 
 

Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department Last Update: DRAFT 

8-88 

 

Qualified Professional.  A Qualified Professional is a land surveyor, arborist, 
horticulturalist, or master gardener. 

Pad Site.  (Specifically for Tree Ordinance) The footprint of a principal building or 
addition to a principal building to be placed on a platted lot or tract, as evidenced 
from an approved building permit application, together with all land lying within 
ten (10) linear feet of such footprint. Platted lots that are zoned for single-family 
use and for which a permit for a single-family dwelling has been issued may 
include driveways, patios, swimming pools and other paved areas normally 
associated with single-family dwellings. 

Protected Tree.  Any species of tree eight (8) Caliper Inches or more in size that 
is not an Unprotected Tree. 

Removal of Tree.  The act of directly or indirectly cutting down, destroying, taking 
out, or effectively removing a tree. 

Right-of-Way.  The area of real property in which the City has a dedicated or 
acquired right-of-way interest. It shall include the area on, below or above the 
present and future streets, alleys, avenues, roads, highways, parkways or 
boulevards dedicated or acquired as right-of-way.  

Riparian Buffer Zone.  The transitional areas between uplands and adjacent 
streams, ponds, lakes, and other freshwater bodies, characterized by the 
presence of moisture tolerant vegetation on banks, edges, or limits of freshwater 
bodies. 

Street Yard.  Area defined by a line parallel to the building which extends to the 
property lines in both directions and public right-of-way. Includes multiple rights-
of-way, if applicable. 

Tree Preservation Administrator.  The person assigned by the City Manager to 
administer this Tree Preservation Ordinance or his designee. 

Unprotected Tree.  Any tree of the following species regardless of size: 

 

Silver Maple Acer saccharinum 

Sugar Hackberry Celtis laevigata 

Hackberry Celtis occidentalis 

Honey Locust Gleditsia tracanthos 

Bois d'arc Maclura pomifera 

Bradford Pear Pyrus calleryana 

Mimosa Albizia julibrissin 

Red Mulberry Morus rubra 

Ashe Juniper Juniperus ashei 

Redberry Juniper Juniperus pinchotii 

White Mulberry Morus alba 

White (Silver) Poplar Poplus alba 

Lombardy Poplar Populus nigra italica 

279

Item 30.



ARTICLE 8: LANDSCAPE AND SCREENING 

 Last Update: DRAFT Unified Development Code | Grand Prairie Planning Department 

8-89 

Cottonwood Populua deltoids 

Willow genus Salix 

Green Ash Fraxinus pennsylvanica 

Arizona Ash Fraxinus velutina 

Black Locus Robinia pseudoacacia 

 

280

Item 30.


	Top
	Item 1.	Minutes of the February 15, 2022 , City Council Meeting
	CC - Minutes (2)
	02-15-2022 City Council Meeting Minutes

	Item 2.	18073 Contract Assignment from Roadrunner Pharmacy to Covetrus
	220301 - 18073 Assignment of Contract

	Item 3.	Police Panasonic Toughbook Purchase
	Panasonic Toughbook Purchase CC

	Item 4.	Contract with Tyler Technologies for Software Maintenance for 1 year in the amount of $9,766 and four years of annual subscription in the amount of $44,193 which includes a 5% annual increase, for a total of $53,959
	Tyler Annual Software Maintenance 2022-2027

	Item 5.	Parkview PID Contract with Site Landscape Development for landscape maintenance $35,460.02, beautification, $24,621.07, and irrigation system maintenance services, $3,500 for a one year term in the amount of $63,581.09 (Council District 1)
	CC -PVPID Contract with Site 2022  3-1-22 CC Agenda
	Exhibit A-Budget 5yr service plan-FY22-PV

	Item 6.	Westchester PID Contract with Classic Construction and Restoration, Inc. for wall replacement for one year in the amount of $51,360 (Council District 6)
	CC -WCPID Contract with Classic Construction 3-1-22 CC Agenda
	Exhibit A-Budget 5yr service plan-FY22-WC

	Item 7.	Lake Parks PID Contract with Site Landscape Development for landscape maintenance $119,085.42, beautification, $85,000, and irrigation system maintenance services, $12,000 for a one year term in the amount of $216,085.42 (Council Districts 4 and 6)
	CC -LPPID Contract with Site 2022  3-1-22 CC Agenda
	Exhibit A-Budget 5yr service plan-FY22-LP

	Item 8.	Authorization of Payment for Cyber Liability Insurance
	Agenda Item - Cyber Insurance 2022-2023

	Item 9.	Appoint Members for Airport Zoning Board
	220216 - Agenda Item - Joint Airport Zoning Board

	Item 10.	Copy of Participation Agreement with 1301 Parker Rd, LLC for Right of Way Acquisitions, Right of Way Improvements and new Water/Sewer Lines (Copy to CC 03/01))
	Pariticipation Agreement 1301 Parker Rd LLC

	Item 11.	Change Order/Final No. 3 with La Banda, LLC for Dickey Road Storm Drain Improvements
	Agenda Item co 3 Dickey Road

	Item 12.	CO 3 w/Excel 4 Construction for Skyway and Small St Sewer Improvements
	CC - CO 1 - Skyway Small - Excel 4

	Item 13.	Price agreement for Guard Rail Removal and Installation with Van Elli, Inc., at an estimated annual cost of $290,100
	Guard Rail Installation & Removal CCC
	22059 - CC Exhibit

	Item 14.	Price agreement for Traffic Signals/Fiber Optic Ground Boxes with Techline, Inc. at an estimated annual cost of $76,235
	GROUND BOXES - CC
	GROUND BOXES - BUDGET EXPENDITURE FORM
	22055 - CC EXHIBIT

	Item 15.	Price agreement renewal #1 for Concrete Paving
	Concrete Paving Renewal #1 of 4 - CC
	Concrete Paving R1 - Santos - CO1 Worksheet - Price List
	Concrete Paving R1 - New Star - CO1 Worksheet - Price List
	Concrete Paving R1 - McMahon - CO1 Worksheet - Price List

	Item 16.	Copy of Summit Audio/Visual Equipment Replacement
	2022-3-1 Summit AV System Replacement
	Summit Building Upkeep Capital Project Summary

	Item 17.	HVAC Services Equipment, Installation, Repairs
	HVAC Equipment Installation & Repairs

	Item 18.	Plumbing Services
	Plumbing Services

	Item 19.	General Contracting Services
	General Contracting Services - Thatch

	Item 20.	Calvary Baptist Church Amendment To Lease Agreement
	Council Communication - Calvary Baptist Church First Amendment To Lease Agreement 03-01-2022

	Item 21.	TABLE: 2022-03-01 CC SUP-22-01-0027 Restaurant with Drive-Through at 2380 W Camp Wisdom Road
	2022-03-01 CC SUP-22-01-0027 Drive Through 2380 Camp Wisdom_FINAL

	Item 22.	PRES: 2022-03-01 CC STP-21-11-0022 Parkside on Carrier
	2022-03-01 CC STP-21-11-0022 Parkside on Carrier_FINAL
	Exhibit A - Location Map
	Exhibit B - Site Plan
	Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
	Exhibit D - Building Elevations
	Exhibit E - Appendix W Checklist
	Exhibit F - Project Narrative

	Item 23.	PRES: 2022-03-01 CC STP-21-12-0025 International Leadership Texas High School
	2022-03-01 CC STP-21-12-0025 International Leadership_FINAL
	Exhibit A - LM STP-21-12-0025
	Exhibit B SP STP-21-12-0025
	Exhibit C1 LSP STP-21-12-0025
	Exhibit D Elev STP-21-12-0025

	Item 24.	PRES: 2022-03-01 CC STP-22-01-0027 Retail F at Epic East Towne Crossing
	2022-03-01 CC STP-22-01-0027 Retail F at Epic East_FINAL
	Exhibit A - Location Map
	Exhibit B - Site Plan
	Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
	Exhibit D - Building Elevations
	Exhibit E - Appendix F Menu Items

	Item 25.	PRES: 2022-03-01 CC STP-22-01-0026 Centerline Supply
	2022-03-01 CC STP-22-01-0026 Municode Template_FINAL
	Exhibit A - Location Map
	Exhibit B SP STP-22-01-0026
	Exhibit C1 LP STP-22-01-0026
	Exhibit D Elev STP-22-01-0026

	Item 26.	ORD: 2022-03-01 CC CPA-21-12-0002 Villas at Bardin
	2022-03-01 CC CPA-21-12-0002 Villas at Bardin
	Exhibit A - Boundary Description

	Item 27.	ORD: 2022-03-01 CC ZON-21-11-0015 Villas at Bardin
	2022-03-01 CC ZON-21-11-0015 Villas at Bardin
	Exhibit A - Location Map
	Exhibit B - Concept Plan
	Exhibit C - Elevations

	Item 28.	ORD: 2022-03-01 CC SUP-21-12-0024 Gateway Multi-Family
	2022-03-01 CC SUP-21-12-0024 Gateway Multi-Family
	Exhibit A - Boundary Description
	Exhibit B - Site Plan
	Exhibit C - Landscape Plan
	Exhibit D - Building Elevations
	Exhibit E - Appendix W Checklist

	Item 29.	ORD: 2022-03-01 CC SUP-21-12-0023 Star Shell Convenience Store
	2022-03-01 CC SUP-21-11-0023 Star Shell at 925 N Belt Line Road_FINAL
	Exhibit A LM SUP-21-12-0023
	Exhibit B SP SUP-21-12-0023
	Exhibit C1 LSP SUP-21-12-0023
	Exhibit D - Building Elevations
	Exhibit E REN SUP-21-12-0023 3

	Item 30.	ORD: 2022-03-01 CC TAM-22-01-0001 Article 8: Landscaping and Screening Standards
	2022-03-01 CC TAM-22-01-0001 Municode Template_FINAL
	Exhibit A - Article 8

	Bottom

